

Improving the Quality of Care in Nursing Homes

Committee on Nursing Home Regulation ISBN: 0-309-55484-5, 432 pages, 6 x 9, (1986)

This PDF is available from the National Academies Press at: http://www.nap.edu/catalog/646.html

Visit the <u>National Academies Press</u> online, the authoritative source for all books from the <u>National Academy of Sciences</u>, the <u>National Academy of Engineering</u>, the <u>Institute of Medicine</u>, and the <u>National Research Council</u>:

- Download hundreds of free books in PDF
- Read thousands of books online for free
- Explore our innovative research tools try the "Research Dashboard" now!
- Sign up to be notified when new books are published
- Purchase printed books and selected PDF files

Thank you for downloading this PDF. If you have comments, questions or just want more information about the books published by the National Academies Press, you may contact our customer service department toll-free at 888-624-8373, visit us online, or send an email to feedback@nap.edu.

This book plus thousands more are available at http://www.nap.edu.

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Unless otherwise indicated, all materials in this PDF File are copyrighted by the National Academy of Sciences. Distribution, posting, or copying is strictly prohibited without written permission of the National Academies Press. Request reprint permission for this book.

Improving the Quality of Care in Nursing Homes

Committee on Nursing Home Regulation Institute of Medicine

NATIONAL ACADEMY PRESS Washington, D.C.1986

NATIONAL ACADEMY PRESS 2101 Constitution Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20418

NOTICE: The project that is the subject of this report was approved by the Governing Board of the National Research Council, whose members are drawn from the councils of the National Academy of Sciences, the National Academy of Engineering, and the Institute of Medicine. The members of the committee responsible for the report were chosen for their special competences and with regard for appropriate balance.

This report has been reviewed by a group other than the authors according to procedures approved by a Report Review Committee consisting of members of the National Academy of Sciences, the National Academy of Engineering, and the Institute of Medicine.

The Institute of Medicine was chartered in 1970 by the National Academy of Sciences to enlist distinguished members of appropriate professions in the examination of policy matters pertaining to the health of the public. In this, the Institute acts under both the Academy's 1863 congressional charter responsibility to be an advisor to the federal government, and its own initiative in identifying issues of medical care, research, and education.

This volume is the final report of a study conducted under Contract No. 500-83-0054 with the Health Care Financing Administration.

Publication IOM-85-10

Library of Congress Catalog Card Number 86-70373 International Standard Book Number 0-309-03646-1

First Printing, March 1986 Second Printing, February 1987 Third Printing, March 1988 Fourth Printing, September 1989 Printed in the United States of America

Committee on Nursing Home Regulation

- SIDNEY KATZ (Chair), Associate Dean of Medicine, Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island
- CARL E. ADAMS, Director, National Health Corporation, Murfreesboro, Tennessee
- ALLAN BEIGEL, Professor of Psychiatry and Vice President for University Relations and Development, University of Arizona, Tucson
- JUDITH F. BROWN, Vice President of Professional Services, ARA Living Centers, Houston, Texas
- PATRICIA A. BUTLER, Attorney, Boulder, Colorado
- IRIS FREEMAN, Director, Nursing Home Residents' Advocates, Minneapolis, Minnesota
- BARRY J. GURLAND, Director, Columbia University Center for Geriatrics and Gerontology, New York City
- CHARLENE A. HARRINGTON, Associate Professor, School of Nursing, University of California, San Francisco
- CATHERINE HAWES, Research Triangle Institute, Research Triangle Park, North Carolina
- ROSALIE ANN KANE, Center for Health Services Research, University of Minnesota, at Minneapolis St. Paul
- JUDITH R. LAVE, Professor of Health Economics, University of Pittsburgh, Graduate School of Public Health, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
- MAURICE I. MAY, Chief Executive Officer, Hebrew Rehabilitation Center for Aged, Roslindale, Massachusetts

- DANA L. PETROWSKY, Chief, Division of Health Facilities, Iowa State Department of Health, Des Moines
- SAM SHAPIRO, Professor, Department of Health Services Administration, The Johns Hopkins University, School of Hygiene and Public Health, Baltimore, Maryland
- PETER W. SHAUGHNESSY, Director, Center for Health Services Research, University of Colorado, Health Sciences Center, Denver
- JUNE L. SIDES, Consultant, Regency Health Centers, Inc., Clemmons, North Carolina
- HELEN L. SMITS, Associate Vice President for Health Affairs, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington
- DAVID ALAN WAGNER, Vice President for Planning and Marketing, Trimark Corporation, West Orange, New Jersey
- BRUCE C. VLADECK, President, United Hospital Fund of New York, New York City
- MAY LOUISE WYKLE, Associate Professor, Frances Payne Bolton School of Nursing, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, Ohio

Staff

David Tilson, Staff Director Jane Takeuchi, Staff Officer Robert E. Burke, Staff Officer Michael G. H. McGeary, Staff Officer Susan E. Sherman, Research Associate Peter Reinecke, Research Assistant H. D. Tiller, Administrative Secretary PREFACE

Preface

The Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation was given a complex and controversial task: to recommend ways to improve nursing home regulation. The regulation of nursing homes is a matter on which many knowledgeable people in all parts of the country have very strong and by no means unanimous views.

I was privileged to serve as chairman of the committee appointed by the president of the Institute of Medicine to conduct the study. The committee consisted of 20 individuals with substantial knowledge of and experience in nursing homes and with the perspectives of ownership, management, consumer advocacy, state regulation, and professional staff in both for-profit and not-for-profit nursing homes. Members of the committee have had substantial training and practical experience in medicine, health law, nursing, social work, public administration, public policy analysis, economics, statistics, sociology, health services research, and health care management. They come from 15 states and are familiar with the nursing homes in most parts of the country.

PREFACE vi

The study was prompted by controversy over changes in nursing home certification procedures, proposed by the Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA) in 1982. When the committee commenced its work it agreed that a serious look at many factors bearing on nursing home regulation was necessary if the study was to contribute significantly toward enhancing the quality of care and of life in nursing homes by improving the regulatory system. The range of relevant issues is large and the relationships are complex. Not all could be addressed by the committee, but an effort was made to at least recognize and discuss them and to point some directional arrows for future policy development.

To address its charge properly, the committee decided that the study should collect and analyze data and other information as follows:

. Views of interested parties. Knowledgeable, interested parties in various parts of the country—residents and their families, longterm-care ombudsmen, nursing home owners and administrators, professional and other staff who work in nursing homes, and state and federal regulatory agency officials—were asked to give their views of the problems.

This information was obtained in several ways. First, the staff conducted semistructured interviews with state and federal regulatory officials, nursing home administrators, professional staff, and consumer advocates, and they visited nursing homes in several states. Second, they reviewed the voluminous hearings conducted by the HCFA in 1978 and the congressional hearings on, and the written responses to, the HCFA's proposed changes in the federal certification regulations (the action that led, ultimately, to this study). Third, the committee held five public meetings during September 1984, in Philadelphia, Atlanta, Dallas, Minneapolis, and Los Angeles. The meetings were announced and publicized well in advance and all interested parties were invited to offer oral and/or written statements to the committee. Over 200 persons spoke at the meetings and

PREFACE vii

had informal discussions with committee members and staff. Many others submitted written statements. The discussions at the public meetings and the written materials were reviewed, analyzed, and summarized in a working paper used by the committee in shaping some parts of the study and as a basis for some statements made in this report. Finally, in the course of conducting the case studies in six states (discussed below), there was an opportunity to discuss in depth the perceptions of state regulatory officials, state agency staff, federal regional office staff, consumer advocates, nursing home operators, and professional staff.

How states actually regulate nursing homes. Information was 2. obtained in four ways. First, case studies of nursing home regulation were conducted in six states. The states (Connecticut, Maryland, Georgia, Texas, Minnesota, and California) were chosen because they represented widely varying local circumstances, different regions of the country, and different approaches to regulating nursing homes. In each state, three staff members conducted semistructured interviews with state regulatory agency officials, with state surveyors and those who conducted inspectionof-care reviews in nursing homes, with representatives of the state nursing home operators' associations, with for-profit and nonprofit nursing home administrators and professional staff, with state and local ombudsmen and other consumer representatives, with state legislative committee staff, and with representatives of the attorney generals' and governors' offices. They also talked to federal regional office staff.

Second, a mail survey of all 51 (including the District of Columbia) state licensure and certification directors was conducted. Its purpose was to get information on the resources being used by the states in carrying out their nursing home survey and certification responsibilities, on the intermediate sanctions they had available, the extent to which the sanctions were used, and the directors' opinions on several aspects of regulatory policy. Responses were received from 47 directors, although not all items were answered by all respondents.

PREFACE viii

Third, staff reviewed and analyzed the contents of 15 state nursing home investigatory commission reports issued in the last 10 years, to determine the kinds of regulatory problems that prompted these investigations.

Fourth, a workshop was conducted to examine problems of enforcing the certification regulations and to formulate recommendations to improve enforcement. Several papers by experts were commissioned, and a group of over 30 enforcement experts from state and federal government agencies (including attorney generals' offices), lawyers who represented providers and their associations, and consumer advocacy (including legal service) groups, discussed the issues for 2 days.

- 3. Quality and quality assessment. The work consisted mainly of a review of the published literature, some unpublished studies including evaluations of HCFA-sponsored demonstration projects, plus commissioned papers. A great deal of research has been conducted and published on these subjects in the past 10 years or so, and this was digested by a subcommittee of the full committee.
- 4. Medicaid reimbursement policies. A conference was convened to explore what is known about the relationships between various types of state Medicaid reimbursement policies and both quality of care of, and access to nursing homes by, Medicaid-financed residents and those requiring extensive care. A paper was commissioned that reviewed the published literature on this subject, and extensive discussions were held by knowledgeable participants representing all pertinent perspectives. Additional literature was also reviewed by staff and committee members. The committee believes this to be an important subject that merits deeper exploration, but it was beyond the scope of this study.
- 5. Demand for and supply of nursing home beds. In addition to a literature review conducted by staff, two papers were commissioned to examine this question. One projected population and morbidity and disability trends by age category. The other reviewed the published and unpublished information and analyses on the effects of nursing home bed supply on regulation, enforcement, and quality of care.

PREFACE ix

6. Staffing. A paper was commissioned to address the issues of training and accreditation (including licensure and/or certification) of four categories of nursing home staff: administrators, registered nurses, licensed practical nurses, and nurse's aides or nursing assistants. Another paper was commissioned on the role of physicians in nursing homes, and HCFA data on current staffing of nursing homes were analyzed.

- 7. Consumer role and community relations. A workshop was organized to explore the role of consumers (residents) and their advocates in quality assurance and to determine how this role should be enhanced by public policy changes. The same workshop also addressed the issue of nursing home/community relations. Several papers were commissioned that reviewed the ombudsman program, the development of nursing home residents' advocacy organizations, the development of residents' councils and family councils, and nursing home/community interactions.
- 8. *Management incentives*. The committee organized a workshop to explore the feasibility of introducing positive incentives into the regulatory system. The regulatory system now works almost entirely on negative incentives: There is punishment for inadequate performance, but no recognition or rewards for good or excellent performance. Nine papers were commissioned for the workshop.

I would like to call attention to two important considerations that affect the content of the report. First, although we used data and objective evidence as much as possible, many conclusions and recommendations rest largely on professional judgment. The committee was made up of people with diverse backgrounds and experience. Achieving consensus within this group after extensive discussion of the available evidence clearly is an appropriate and responsible way to recommend necessary adjustments in public policy. Of course, individual members did not agree in all cases with every conclusion and recommendation. But they all support the report as a whole.

PREFACE x

Second, for a number of reasons we did not address every issue that might be considered relevant. Two are of particular importance: Medicaid reimbursement policy and policy governing bed supply (that is, the administration of certificate-of-need for nursing homes). Both are state-administered policies and both clearly affect nursing home operations. Some members of the committee believed we should have addressed these issues directly, but the majority believed—for the reasons explained in Chapters 1 and 7 of the report—that we should not.

The results of our efforts are contained in this report. We hope they will contribute to achievement of the goals of improving the quality of care and the quality of life for nursing home residents and of producing a more efficient and effective regulatory environment.

SIDNEY KATZ, CHAIRMAN COMMITTEE ON NURSING HOME REGULATION ACKNOWLEDGMENTS xi

Acknowledgments

The committee wishes to express appreciation for the excellent cooperation and assistance it has received from hundreds of individuals and dozens of organizations throughout the country. The staffs of the Health Care Financing Administration, the American Health Care Association, the National Citizens' Coalition for Nursing Home Reform, the National Senior Citizens Law Center, the American Association of Homes for the Aging, the Association of Health Facility Licensure and Certification Directors, and the American College of Health Care Administrators were especially helpful. They received numerous requests from us for various types of information and documents. They always responded promptly and courteously. Other organizations, including the American Association of Retired Persons, the National Council of Senior Citizens, and the National Council on Aging, also were helpful.

Government officials in the six states in which we conducted case studies were generous in allotting time for interviews with our staff. The same was true of representatives of provider associations, consumer groups, ombudsmen, and staff in federal regional offices. We particularly appreciate the cooperation of the 47 state licensure and survey agencies who responded to our survey

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS xii

questionnaire. For many, a major effort was entailed to obtain the information needed to respond to our questions.

A study as complex and technically demanding as this requires competent professional staff. The committee was singularly fortunate in being supported by such a staff, effectively organized and directed by David Tilson. In addition to its deep appreciation for Mr. Tilson's leadership, the committee gratefully acknowledges the work of the other members of the professional staff: Robert Burke, Michael McGeary, Susan Sherman, Jane Takeuchi, and Peter Reinecke (who worked on the staff through January 1985). Don Tiller provided exceptionally effective administrative support. Staff members organized and coordinated conferences and workshops. They reviewed and abstracted hundreds of publications and technical documents. They carried out the survey of state licensure and certification agencies and analyzed the data. They prepared staff papers and drafted this report. In addition to long hours, the IOM professional staff displayed a sensitive commitment to nursing home residents. They never lost sight of the study's principal focus on residents as human beings with special needs for living and for care.

2

CONTENTS xiii

Contents

Preface	V
Introduction and Summary	1
Purpose of the Study	1
The Public Policy Context of the Study	2
Perspective on the Issues	8
Conclusions	21
Summary of Recommendations	25
Concepts of Quality, Quality Assessment, and Quality	45
Assurance	
Quality of Care in Nursing Homes	45
Quality of Life	5 1
Quality Assessment Criteria	53
Assessing Quality of Care	56
Perspective on Quality Assurance	60
Interpreting and Using Information for Quality Assur-	61
ance	-
Quality Assurance and the Regulatory System	67

from the original paper book, not from

from XML files created

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

CONTENTS xvi

1

Introduction and Summary

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

This is the report of a study of government regulation of nursing homes (excluding intermediate care facilities for the mentally retarded). The study's purpose was to recommend changes in regulatory policies and procedures to enhance the ability of the regulatory system to assure that nursing home residents receive satisfactory care.

In May 1982, the Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA) announced a proposal to change some of the regulations governing the process of certifying the eligibility of nursing homes to receive payment under the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The changes were responsive to providers' complaints about the unreasonable rigidity of some of the requirements. The proposed changes would have eased the annual inspection and certification requirements for facilities with a good record of compliance, and would have authorized states, if they so wished, to accept accreditation of nursing homes by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals (JCAH) in lieu of state inspection as a basis for certifying that Skilled Nursing Facilities (SNFs) and Intermediate Care Facilities (ICFs) are in compliance with

the federal conditions of participation and operating standards.

The HCFA proposal was strongly opposed by consumer groups and most state regulatory agencies because the proposed changes were seen as a movement in the wrong direction—that is, towards easing the stringency of nursing home regulation—and because they did not deal with the fundamental weaknesses of the regulatory system. The controversy generated by the proposal caused Congress in the fall of 1982 to order the HCFA to defer implementing the proposed changes until August 1983 and ultimately resulted in a HCFA request to the Institute of Medicine (IOM) of the National Academy of Sciences to undertake this study. The contract between the HCFA and the IOM became effective on October 1, 1983. The charge to the IOM Committee on Nursing Home Regulation was to undertake a study that would "serve as a basis for adjusting federal (and state) policies and regulations governing the certification of nursing homes so as to make those policies and regulations as appropriate and effective as possible."

THE PUBLIC POLICY CONTEXT OF THE STUDY

There is broad consensus that government regulation of nursing homes, as it now functions, is not satisfactory because it allows too many marginal or substandard nursing homes to continue in operation. The implicit goal of the regulatory system is to ensure that any person requiring nursing home care be able to enter any certified nursing home and receive appropriate care, be treated with courtesy, and enjoy continued civil and legal rights. This happens in many nursing homes in all parts of the country. But in many other government-certified nursing homes, individuals who are admitted receive very inadequate—sometimes shockingly deficient—care that is likely to hasten the deterioration of their physical, mental, and emotional health. They also are likely to have their rights ignored or violated, and may even be

subject to physical abuse. The apparent inability of the current regulatory system either to force substandard facilities to improve their performance or to eliminate them is the underlying circumstance that prompted this study.

In the past 15 years many studies of nursing home care have identified both grossly inadequate care and abuse of residents.²⁻²³ Most of the studies revealing substantial evidence of appallingly bad care in most parts of the country have dealt with conditions during the 1970s. However, testimony in public meetings conducted by the committee in September 1984, news reports published during the past 2 years, recent state studies of nursing homes, and committee-conducted case studies of selected state programs have established that the problems identified earlier continue to exist in some facilities: neglect and abuse leading to premature death, permanent injury, increased disability, and unnecessary fear and suffering on the part of residents. Although the incidence of neglect and abuse is difficult to quantify, the collective judgment of informed observers, including members of the committee and of resident advocacy organizations, is that these disturbing practices now occur less frequently.

Residents and resident advocates, both in public hearings and in a study of resident attitudes conducted by the National Citizens' Coalition for Nursing Home Reform, ²⁴ expressed particular concern about the poor quality of life in many nursing homes. Residents are often treated with disrespect; they are frequently denied any choices of food, of roommates, of the time they rise and go to sleep, of their activities, of the clothes they wear, and of when and where they may visit with family and friends. These problems may seem at first to be less urgent than outright neglect, but when considered in the context of a permanent and final living situation they are equally unacceptable.

The quality of medical and nursing care in many homes also leaves much to be desired. Geriatrics is becoming, in the mid-1980s, an area of concentration within internal

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

medicine, family medicine, and psychiatry. (Both the American Academy of Family Practice and the Board of Internal Medicine have decided to establish certificates recognizing geriatric competence.) Many conditions that were once accepted as inevitable consequences of old age now can be treated or alleviated. Physicians and nurses in nursing homes are not always aware of advances in geriatrics so that even in pleasant and humane institutions examples may be found of residents whose disability could be reduced, whose pain could be controlled, or whose depression could be treated if they received proper medical care. A lower standard of medical and nursing practice should not be accepted for nursing home residents than is accepted for the elderly in the community. Given the fragility of nursing home residents and their dependence on medical care for a satisfactory life, practice standards should even be higher. Thus, physicians, as well as nurses, have substantial responsibility for quality of care in nursing homes.

These observations do not mean that the picture of American nursing homes is entirely gloomy or that the regulatory efforts of the past decade have been entirely unsuccessful. Today, many institutions consistently deliver excellent care. Good care can be observed in all parts of the country; it exists under widely varying reimbursement systems and all types of ownership. Such facilities serve both as evidence that overall performance can be improved and as markers for how that improvement can be accomplished.

The question asked by the committee was: How can the problems observed in nursing homes in the 1980s best be addressed? The current national tone is antiregulatory. Nursing homes are a service industry. Could not the observed problems be solved by decreasing regulation and allowing market forces to work? This viewpoint was advocated by some who spoke at public meetings or submitted ideas to the committee. Those who wished to see a freer market were particularly anxious to have restrictions on bed supply lifted.

A freer market was not considered by the committee to be a serious alternative to more effective government regulation for two reasons.

First, under present circumstances, a free market for nursing home care will remain a theoretical concept until such time, if ever, that a major portion of the financing of long-term care services has shifted from public sources (primarily Medicaid) to private insurance. This is not likely to occur very soon. About half of current nursing home revenues come from appropriated state and federal funds through state-controlled Medicaid programs. Most people enter nursing homes as private-pay residents and soon "spend down" their income and assets until they become eligible for Medicaid. With few exceptions, community-based or home-based long-term care services—that might keep some people who require long-term care from entering nursing homes—are not eligible for Medicaid or other sources of public support. Most states maintain tight control on bed supply to control growth of their Medicaid budgets. They have learned that if they allow uncontrolled growth of nursing home beds, the additional beds would quickly be filled with residents now being cared for privately and informally in the community. Such residents would initially be private-pay, but would soon "spend down" to Medicaid eligibility.

Second, historical experience hardly supports an optimistic judgment about the effects on quality of care of allowing market forces, to exert the primary influence over nursing home behavior. Nursing homes were essentially unregulated in most states prior to the late 1960s. Their operations were governed almost entirely by market forces, and the quality of care was appalling. (See Appendix A.)

Persons needing nursing home care generally suffer from a large array of physical, functional, and mental disabilities. A significant proportion of all residents are mentally impaired. The average resident's ability to chose rationally among providers and to switch from one provider to another is therefore very limited even if bed occupancy rates are low enough to make such choices feasible. But they are not. In most communities, bed availability is the controlling factor because occupancy rates are very high. Moreover, some who reside in nursing homes lack close family to act as their advocates. Even

if they have family, the choice of a nursing home is usually made relatively hastily in response to a new illness or disability level; once in an institution, the opportunities for transfer to another nursing home are very limited.²⁵

The difficulties inherent in choosing among nursing homes are further exacerbated by the financial status of many residents. Because of the cost, few individuals or families can afford a prolonged nursing home stay. As a result, government programs, primarily Medicaid, assist in paying for more than 60 percent of all care. In most states, Medicaid rates are lower than those paid by private residents. As a result the nursing home market is in fact two markets—a preferential one for those who can pay their way and a second, more restricted one, for those whose stays are paid by Medicaid. ²⁷

Regulation is essential to protect these vulnerable consumers. Although regulation alone is not sufficient to achieve high-quality care, easing or relaxing regulation is inappropriate under current circumstances.

The federal regulations now governing the certification of nursing homes under the Medicare and Medicaid programs have been in place, essentially unchanged, since the mid-1970s. Their central purpose is to assure that nursing home residents²⁸ receive adequate care in a safe facility and that they are not deprived of their civil rights. The regulations have a number of conceptual and technical weaknesses that were recognized almost from the time the regulations were promulgated. And, the regulations are administered and enforced very unevenly by the states. Yet there is consensus that regulations have made a positive contribution, although reliable comparative data are not available to support this judgment. The committee found that the consumer advocates, providers, and state regulators with whom it discussed these matters believe that a larger proportion of the nursing homes today are safer and cleaner, and the quality of care, on the average, probably is better than was the case prior to 1974. But there is substantial room for improvement.

Providers, consumer advocates, and government regulators all are dissatisfied with specific aspects of the

regulations and the way they are administered.²⁹ Consumer advocates (nursing home residents, their families, and representatives of organizations concerned with protecting the interests of nursing home residents) contend that the standards are inadequate and their enforcement is too lax because too many nursing homes that pass inspection still provide unacceptably poor or only marginally adequate care. Moreover, they contend that violations of residents' rights occur in many homes and that often such violations either are not detected or are ignored by the regulatory authorities. The providers (nursing home operators, administrators, and professional staff) are concerned with the excessive attention to detailed documentation, the emphasis on structural specificity with the inherent (and sometimes irrational and costly) inflexibility that such specificity implies, and with the ambiguity of some of the standards (for example, the use of such words as "adequate") that result in inconsistent, subjective interpretations by state and federal surveyors. Some government regulators at both state and federal levels believe there is merit in both sets of contentions.

Since the present regulatory framework was set in place about 10 years ago, there have been developments that make possible a more effective regulatory system. There is deeper understanding of what is meant by high-quality care for nursing home residents and how to provide it, more knowledge of how to assess quality of care objectively, and better understanding of what it takes to operate a more effective quality assurance system. The nursing home industry itself has grown in managerial capability and professionalism. These developments make it possible now to redesign the regulatory system so that it will be much more likely to assure that all nursing homes provide care of acceptable quality.

PERSPECTIVE ON THE ISSUES

The Role of Nursing Homes

In most places in this country, when an elderly (or disabled younger*) person requires more assistance in the activities of daily living³⁰ than can be provided by immediate family or friends, and especially if the individual is incontinent and/or mentally impaired, he or she may be placed in a nursing home. Also, when an elderly patient, after surgery or an acute medical episode in a hospital, requires rehabilitative/convalescent nursing care for several weeks or months, and neither a rehabilitation hospital bed nor home health services are available in the community, the patient may be discharged to a nursing home. Home health services, congregate housing, domiciliary care, day-care centers, and other professionally organized arrangements exist in some communities and provide long-term care services to elderly persons with disabilities comparable to those found among some residents in nursing homes. Although more of these types of long-term care arrangements are being developed, they still represent collectively only a small fraction of the total person-days of care provided by nursing homes.³¹ In 1985, in most communities in this country, long-term care services for the physically frail and mentally impaired elderly are available only through informal support provided by family or friends or in nursing homes.

Nursing homes must provide care to a very heterogeneous resident population. Some require short-term, intense rehabilitation services. Many others are incontinent, mentally impaired, or so seriously disabled that they require extensive and continuous care for months or years. A small fraction are younger people who are severely disabled. A few are simply very old and very

^{*} In 1980, 13 percent of nursing home residents were under 65 years of age. This figure is projected to drop to 9 percent by the year 2000. (See Appendix D, Table Q.)

frail but are mentally competent and alert and require only moderate assistance in the activities of daily living and opportunities to participate in activities to satisfy their psychosocial needs.

It is not easy to provide high-quality care to meet such a broad spectrum of physical, medical, and psychosocial needs in one facility. Not all nursing homes admit all of these types of residents, but many do. If, in the future, alternate arrangements become available to provide proper care to some individuals requiring intensive short-term rehabilitation services (for example, stroke patients), and for those requiring on a long-term basis only moderate amounts of support services, nursing homes will not be expected to accommodate these kinds of residents. Nursing home beds are increasingly being filled with long-term, very disabled residents who cannot be cared for anywhere else. Pressures to admit a higher proportion of residents requiring "heavy care" (nursing home jargon referring to residents requiring at least 2-1/2 hours per day of personal and nursing care), many of whom are mentally impaired, has been experienced by nursing homes for some time. These pressures are certain to increase.³²

There were about 15,000 nursing homes in operation in the United States in 1985, with a total of about 1.5 million beds, that are certified to receive patients/ residents under the Medicare and/or Medicaid programs.³³ About 1,000 nursing homes and perhaps 6,000-7,000 "board and care" homes (sometimes referred to as "domiciliary care" facilities) without nursing services are licensed by the states but are not certified to accept Medicare or Medicaid payments.³⁴

There are two types of nursing homes recognized in federal regulations: Skilled Nursing Facilities (SNFs) and Intermediate Care Facilities (ICFs). SNFs are required to be staffed and equipped to care for residents requiring skilled nursing care. ICFs are required to be staffed and equipped to care for residents requiring less nursing care and more personal service care. In practice, the states are not consistent in making distinctions between the two types of nursing homes: some states have almost no SNFs; others have almost no ICFs. Forty-three percent of all nursing homes are ICFs (Appendix D, Table C).

The mix of characteristics and service needs of the residents found in SNFs in those states that have few ICFs do not appear to differ significantly from those found in ICFs in states that have few SNFs.

About 70 percent of the certified nursing homes, with 80 percent of the beds, are operated on a for-profit basis. Of the rest, 22 percent of the facilities are operated by nonprofit organizations and the other 8 percent are government-owned and -operated.³⁵ In almost every state, occupancy rates average well over 90 percent, an indication that the demand for nursing home beds is very high. ³⁶ Demographic trends—the rapidly growing numbers of persons over 75 years old, about I in 10 of whom are now in nursing homes—make it certain that the demand for nursing home beds will continue to grow. A recent report projected the population aged 75 and over in the year 2000 to be 17.3 million, a 46 percent increase over the 1985 population of that age group. For people 85 years of age or older, one in five of whom is currently in a nursing home, the numbers are projected to increase from 2.85 million in 1985 to 5.1 million in 2000, an 80 percent increase.³⁷ In 1984, over \$30 billion was spent on nursing home care.³⁸ According to Department of Labor estimates, "nursing and personal care" facilities employed over 1 million people in 1982.³⁹

Quality of Care and Quality of Life

Providing consistently high quality care in nursing homes to a varied group of frail, very old residents, many of whom have mental impairments as well as physical disabilities, requires that the functional, medical, social, and psychological needs of residents be individually determined and met by careful assessment and care planning—steps that require professional skill and judgment. This process must be repeated periodically and the care plans adjusted appropriately. Not all nursing homes have enough professional staff who are trained and motivated to carry out these tasks competently, consistently, and periodically. Care is expensive because it is staff-intensive. To hold down costs, most of the

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

care is provided by nurse's aides who, in many nursing homes, are paid very little, receive relatively little training, are inadequately supervised, and are required to care for more residents than they can serve properly. Not surprisingly, the turnover rate of nurse's aides is usually very high—from 70 percent to over 100 percent per year—a factor that causes stress in resident-staff interactions.

Quality of life is intimately related to the quality of resident-staff relationships. Kindness, courtesy, and opportunities to choose activities, food, and mealtimes are involved, as are factors such as privacy for intimate conversations with family or friends. This is difficult when most rooms are semiprivate—as is the case in most nursing homes. Making one's room as homelike as possible is important to many residents, but fire safety codes may limit the use of personal furniture or other belongings. And, it may not be possible to choose or change one's roommate.

Difficult as these problems may be, they can be handled satisfactorily by competent management and staff. In most regions of the country, very good homes can be found—places that are well-managed, where competent, caring staff provide services in a conscientious, sensitive manner; where the dignity, privacy, and human needs of the residents are respected and provided for in thoughtful, even imaginative ways. There are both for-profit and not-for-profit homes in this group. The exact number of very good homes is unknown because no objective, reliable methods exist for making interfacility comparisons of quality. The committee has the impression, obtained primarily from the Health Care Financing Administration's data collected from state reports on nursing home deficiencies, and from discussions with knowledgeable state and federal regulatory agency personnel, that the poor-quality homes outnumber the very good homes.

The Regulatory System

Government regulation of nursing homes has two broad goals: (1) consumer protection, that is, to ensure the safety of residents, the adequacy of care they receive, and that their legal rights are protected; and (2) to control and account for the large public expenditures—mainly Medicaid—used to pay for nursing home care.

Regulation for quality assurance in nursing homes involves three main components, all of which are more or less embodied in both federal and state regulations and are, to some extent, intertwined with one another. They include

- developing and promulgating explicit criteria (conditions of participation and standards) governing all aspects of the operation of nursing homes;
- developing and applying standard procedures and criteria for monitoring the performance of nursing homes and for determining the extent to which nursing homes are complying with the performance criteria (monitoring procedures include periodic surveys of nursing homes, inspections of care, and investigations of complaints of poor care, neglect, or abuse of residents); and
- 3. enforcing compliance with the performance criteria in cases where unsatisfactory performance is found.

Both the federal and state governments are actively involved in regulating nursing homes, but the states' role is much larger. There is no American nursing home regulatory system; there are regulatory systems in 50 states and the District of Columbia with substantial differences in such things as organizational arrangements, resources committed to the licensure and certification process, the size and composition of the survey teams and the amount of time they spend inspecting nursing homes, the extent and nature of the training provided to surveyors, and in organizational ethos, that is, whether the agency is "enforcement-oriented" or "compliance-oriented." (This issue is discussed in Chapter 4.)

The federal government prescribes detailed standards that must be met by certified nursing homes, but it is the

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

states that inspect (survey) the nursing homes to determine the extent of compliance with the certification standards. Although the federal government has the authority to "look behind" the states' survey and certification activities, it has never allocated much staff to this function. It conducts look-behind actions in about 3 percent of the facilities annually.

The states license nursing homes, but their licensure standards vary widely. About one-quarter have made them identical to the federal certification standards. About one-quarter have licensure standards that are less stringent than the federal certification standards. About half have more stringent licensure standards. (Appendix C contains a report of a survey of state licensure and certification agencies, conducted by the committee during 1984-1985, from which these data were obtained.)

The states also are responsible for enforcing the standards. The only federal sanction available, until recently, was decertification of a facility—that is, to make the facility ineligible to receive Medicaid or Medicare funds. In 1981 a federal intermediate sanction—suspension of payments for new admissions—was authorized by law. But regulations specifying how this authority should be used had not been issued as of February 1986. Since decertification is a very drastic measure when beds are in short supply, it is seldom invoked. Most states rely on a set of "intermediate" sanctions (fines, suspension of admissions, receiverships) available under their licensure authorities. But availability and use of intermediate sanctioning authority vary widely with states, as do enforcement attitudes and actions. Tolerance of inadequate care also appears to be widespread.

The history of nursing home regulation is relatively brief. Until the passage of the Medicare and Medicaid legislation in 1965, the regulation of nursing homes was entirely a state responsibility. (The history of the development of the federal role in nursing home regulation is summarized in Appendix A.) By 1965, there were hundreds of thousands of residents in nursing homes that did not meet Hill-Burton fire and health standards and were substandard in other respects as well—for example,

with poorly trained or untrained staff and few of the necessary services.

The problems were described extensively by the U.S. Senate Special Committee on Aging that conducted several sets of hearings starting in 1963. (See Appendix A.) The initial efforts to set federal standards for both Medicare "extended care facilities" (ECFs) and for Medicaid SNFs quickly exposed the problems. Of 6,000 facilities that applied for certification as ECFs, only 740 could be certified the first year. More than 3,000 others were certified as being in "substantial compliance."

Initially, the federal government planned to use ECF standards for Medicaid SNFs, but this idea was dropped when it became evident that most homes could not qualify. The 1967 amendments to the Medicaid legislation authorized two categories of Medicaid nursing homes: SNFs and ICFs. Development of certification regulations for both categories proved to be very controversial. The Congress, prompted by consumer advocates and some professional groups, wanted stringent standards to protect the patients/residents. Some state governments and the nursing home industry were concerned about costs of stringent standards and the ability of many nursing homes to meet them.

The final Medicaid SNF regulations were issued in 1974 and the ICF regulations in 1976. There was substantial evidence made public throughout this period that very large numbers of nursing homes were not in compliance with federal standards and that most states were not enforcing them. In 1974, the Office of Nursing Home Affairs in the U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare (HEW) began a study of the quality of care in nursing homes. The study found that "the extent to which nursing homes comply with the federal standards of care varies widely." The study also found that the survey and certification regulations were concerned only with a facility's capacity to provide the required services, not with the quality of the services being provided. Substantial efforts were made to develop new, and to revise, strengthen, and clarify existing, standards in the late 1970s.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

In 1980 the HCFA published its proposed new regulations in the *Federal Register*. These would have, among other things,

- combined the SNF and ICF regulations into a single set applicable to all nursing homes;
- consolidated all resident care planning requirements into a single condition of participation requiring a resident care management system that called for interdisciplinary teams to assess residents and plan their care; and
- 3. elevated the residents' rights standard to a condition of participation.

Only one of the 1980 proposed changes was actually promulgated: the elevation of residents' rights from a standard to a condition. This was signed in January 1981 by the outgoing Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), but was promptly rescinded by the new Secretary. Thus, the regulations that were issued in the mid-1970s are still in place today despite widespread agreement that they are inadequate.

A recent legal development—the 1984 decision by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals in the *Smith v. Heckler* case⁴¹—requires the HCFA to modify the federal certification regulations so that they are more effective in assuring quality of care in nursing homes. This lawsuit (originally filed as *Smith v. O'Halloran*) was filed in 1975 on behalf of a group of nursing home residents in a Denver, Colorado, facility, alleging poor care, violation of residents' rights, and failures by government to monitor the nursing home. Plaintiffs sued the nursing home owners as well as the state health and Medicaid agencies and the Secretary of HEW. During the trial, residents proved a variety of violations of regulatory standards, including theft of personal funds, overuse of psychotropic drugs, inadequate care resulting in decubitus ulcers, inadequate skin and nail care, inadequate bowel assistance, and sanitation problems.

The case against the government agencies was based on the theory that the Medicaid statute requires a federal nursing home survey process that determines whether

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

residents are receiving care they need, not merely whether facilities have the theoretical capacity to provide it. In 1978 the Colorado health and Medicaid agencies took the unprecedented step of agreeing with the nursing home plaintiffs and joining them in the case against HEW. The state's theory was that the federal survey system was both inadequate to determine whether residents received needed care and mandatory upon the state so that it could not develop a more appropriate system for Medicaid certification decisions. ⁴²

The case was nearly settled in 1980 when the HHS published proposed regulatory revisions that would have integrated a "patient care management system" into the survey system to evaluate actual resident care. But, these regulations were not promulgated, so the case was tried in 1982. The federal district court found that (1) serious deficiencies exist in some nursing homes, which it labeled "orphanages for the aged," (2) the current survey system is facility-oriented rather than resident-oriented, and (3) it is feasible for HHS to develop a survey system focusing on resident needs and care delivery. However, the court held that as a matter of law the Secretary of HHS had no duty to develop such a system under the Medicaid statute. The Federal Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the lower court's decision in 1984, holding that the Medicaid law does impose upon the Secretary a duty "to establish a system to adequately inform herself as to whether the facilities receiving federal money are satisfying the requirements of the Act, including providing high quality patient care."

The appeals court returned the case to the district court to determine what survey system would satisfy the Secretary's duty. The HCFA has indicated to the court that it will implement a resident-oriented survey system by January 1, 1986.

The recommendations contained in this report follow from the committee's conclusion that profound changes are needed in the regulatory system to make it substantially more effective. The changes thus far proposed by the HCFA in response to the court decision do not address all of the significant problems that limit the effectiveness of the current regulatory system.

Other Factors Affecting Quality of Care in Nursing Homes

Other Regulatory Policies

Three areas of regulatory policy other than certification regulations that may affect the quality of care provided by nursing homes are Medicaid payment policies, control of bed supply, and information reporting requirements. Despite the importance of these policy areas, the committee did hot make recommendations on them for two reasons: (1) It was beyond the scope of its charge to address these issues seriously as part of its study effort, and (2) there is not enough clear evidence or other information now available to support specific recommendations for federal policy in these areas.

Nursing home care is paid for mainly from the private incomes or assets of the residents or their families and from Medicaid for those whose incomes and assets are low enough to qualify them for such support. There is almost no private health insurance coverage for long-term nursing home care. Half of the industry revenues, paying for part or all of the care of about two-thirds of the nursing home residents, comes from state Medicaid programs.⁴³ In most states Medicaid reimbursement rates are lower than the rates charged by the same nursing homes to private pay residents.³¹ And because most states also have restricted the expansion of nursing home beds, the demand for beds exceeds the supply in all but a very few states. This supplier's market is advantageous to nursing home management because it allows nursing homes to be selective in their admissions and still keep their beds full. Administrators try to optimize (from their perspective) the mix of residents in their homes. In practice, this usually means they will favor admission of private-pay over public-pay residents, and—depending on the design of the state payment system—those who require less care over those who require a great deal. Demographic trends are likely to exacerbate the access problem, particularly for Medicaid and heavycare residents, because the total number of people requiring long-term care is growing, and

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

the proportion requiring a great deal of care also is growing.⁴⁴

Each state establishes its own Medicaid eligibility rules, payment policies, and the amounts to be paid to nursing homes for allowable services to eligible residents. The federal law simply requires that the states' Medicaid payment rates be on a "reasonable cost-related basis," but an operational definition of this phrase has never been issued by the federal government. State payment methods and amounts vary widely. Although Medicaid payment policies contain powerful behavioral incentives for nursing home operators, not enough is now known about this complex question to make specific recommendations for federal policy.

Regulation of nursing home bed supply also is a state responsibility. Most states have maintained tight controls over the expansion of nursing home beds, despite strong evidence of excess demand, to constrain growth of their Medicaid budgets. The issue and the considerations affecting policy on controlling bed supply are discussed in Chapter 7.

Timely access to necessary data and other information is the life blood of effective regulation and of sound public policy development. But despite the importance of both federal and state government regulation in the nursing home industry, and the large proportion of public funds that flow into the nursing homes, there is a striking paucity of detailed information available about almost every aspect of nursing home operations. Information about the demographic characteristics of the residents, their medical, cognitive, and functional disabilities, from where they were admitted and, for those who are discharged, to where they are discharged, date back almost 10 years or are not available at all. Accurate, complete, and current information on the characteristics of nursing homes (their number, size, ownership, certification status, age) is not readily available.⁴⁵ Within state governments, the availability of information, and the way it is kept, varies widely.

Key financial information also is not available. What proportion of Medicaid-eligible residents contribute significantly to the cost of their care? How much? How

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

does this vary by state? The federal government does not know. Very little is known about the effects of the "spend-down" requirement, the process by which private-pay nursing home residents "spend down" their assets to cover the cost of their care until they become eligible for Medicaid. How long does it take? What fraction of residents "spend down"? Data are fragmentary. Information on changing ownership patterns and on admission and discharge patterns are obtainable only from *ad hoc* studies conducted in limited areas for particular purposes. The last major survey (a sample survey) of nursing homes and residents was conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics in 1977. A new survey was started late in 1985, but the findings will not be available until late 1986 or 1987. Information on the outcomes of inspections and on enforcement actions also is incomplete and unreliable, both at the state and national levels.

By way of contrast, vast amounts of relatively current data and information are available about short-term hospitals, their patients, and finances. If more effective regulation and more rational public policy are to be developed in the long-term care area, serious efforts will have to be made to obtain the necessary data. The committee is firmly convinced that the federal government, particularly the cognizant committees of the Congress and the Department of Health and Human Services, should give this matter priority attention.

Consumers, the Community, and Nursing Home Management and Staff

Three other sets of factors affect quality of care and quality of life in nursing homes: (1) consumer involvement and consumer advocacy, (2) community interest and involvement in nursing homes, and (3) the motivation, attitudes and qualifications of nursing home management and staff. (All three are discussed in Chapter 6.)

Active participation by the residents in some aspects of management policy and care decisions can have important effects on quality of care and quality of life. Many

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot I retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

important facility policy decisions rest on value judgments—they are not based entirely, or even primarily, on technical or managerial imperatives. Because resident quality of life is affected by such decisions, resident participation and preferences should be sought. Although the regulatory system can facilitate resident participation in decision-making, ultimately it depends on the residents themselves, their families, consumer advocates, and, most important, on the attitudes of the management and staff of the facilities.

Consumer advocacy plays an important role in quality assurance. Consumer advocates are essential because residents are a particularly vulnerable group and nursing home regulators are only occasional visitors to nursing homes. Advocates handle complaints and help individual residents in a variety of other ways. They represent residents as a group to management and government agencies. The Long-Term Care Ombudsman Program, authorized in the Older Americans Act in 1978, provides a statutory basis for the role of consumer advocacy. Unfortunately, the ombudsman program, as presently constituted and financed, is much less effective than it should—and could—be. Recommendations to strengthen it are contained in Chapter 6.

Outside visitors from the community in which the nursing home is set have an important positive effect on the quality of life of residents and on the quality of performance of the staff. It is thus very important to stimulate and facilitate community involvement in nursing homes.

Positive motivation and attitudes on the part of the owners and managers of nursing homes, and well-trained, well-supervised, and properly motivated staff are essential for high-quality care. Although pressures by regulators and consumers can have important positive effects on staff and management attitudes and behavior, they are not sufficient to produce the motivation and attitudes that will attract the kinds and quality of personnel needed to provide high quality of care and quality of life to nursing home residents. Such attitudes must be nurtured by sources within the industry and the educational and professional institutions associated with

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

it. The regulatory system can encourage this process by recognizing and rewarding outstanding performance.

CONCLUSIONS

This report contains the following major conclusions derived in part from the prior experience and knowledge of the committee members and in part from the findings of this study.

- Quality of care and quality of life in many nursing homes are not satisfactory. Despite extensive government regulation for more than 10 years, some nursing homes can be found in every state that provide seriously inadequate quality of care and quality of life. At the same time, examples of good and even excellent care can be found in other nursing homes in the same states. Because most nursing home residents live in nursing homes for many months or years, quality of life is as important as quality of care in these institutions. It is possible to define and assess quality of care and at least some aspects of quality of life. Furthermore, it is possible to develop and employ techniques for quality assurance that incorporate reasonably objective measures to judge the quality of care being provided by a facility. The concepts of quality, quality assessment, and quality assurance are discussed in Chapter 2, and specific recommendations to strengthen the quality assurance effectiveness of the survey and certification regulations are' discussed in Chapters 3, 4, and 5.
- 2. More effective government regulation can substantially improve quality in nursing homes. A stronger federal role is essential. Regulation of nursing homes both by state and federal governments is necessary to assure safety and acceptable quality of care for nursing home residents because of the vulnerability of the residents and the lack of institutional choices available to them. The committee is convinced that more effective government regulation can achieve substantial improvement in quality of care in many nursing homes in all states. A stronger federal leadership role is essential for

- improving nursing home regulation because not all state governments have been willing to regulate nursing homes adequately unless required to do so by the federal government. Chapters 3, 4, and 5 discuss these issues at length.
- Specific improvements are needed in the regulatory system. A major reorientation of the regulatory system is needed to make it focus on the care being provided to residents and the effects of the care on their well-being. This will require revision of most aspects of the regulatory system, including the nursing home performance criteria and standards (the "conditions of participation" and the surveillance (survey) process, compliance "standards"), (enforcement) policies and procedures, and the systems for collecting and analyzing the data and other information needed for effective regulation. Chapter 3 discusses the problems with the current criteria and recommends some major changes. Chapter 4 discusses the problems with the survey process and recommends changes to strengthen it. Chapter 5 discusses enforcement problems and recommends ways to strengthen and improve the enforcement of performance standards.
- There are opportunities to improve quality of care in nursing homes that are independent of changes in the Medicaid payment policies or bed supply. It is especially important to reorient and strengthen nursing homes to reduce or eliminate the many remediable weaknesses in the process of monitoring nursing home performance, and to strengthen compliance (enforcement) policies and procedures. Immediate steps to remedy current inadequacies in these three interrelated aspects of the regulatory system should be undertaken immediately. The committee recognizes that Medicaid payment policies clearly influence management decisions on admission and retention of residents; on the numbers, types, qualifications, and training of staff; and on the amount and quality of food. supplies, equipment and other resources to be purchased. All of these decisions affect quality of care. Unfortunately, the evidence of the effects on nursing home operations—and especially on quality of care—of different state approaches to Medicaid reimbursement policy is still not conclusive enough, nor

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

is there sufficient professional consensus, to enable the committee to recommend adoption of a specific approach. For various reasons -including lack of precision in quality assessment—the complex relationships between costs, charges, reimbursement methods and amounts, and quality are not yet clear. There obviously must be a minimum reimbursement amount below which it is not possible to provide adequate care. But available evidence has not shown what that amount is. Since this is an issue of major importance, the HCFA should continue to support research and demonstration projects on the effects of Medicaid reimbursement policy on quality of care and quality of life in nursing homes. In this connection, one of the major recommendations discussed in Chapter 3—resident assessment—will make it feasible to arrive at objective methods of assessing quality of care that will be important for such studies. The issues are discussed more fully in Chapter 7.

Similarly, bed supply policy is a difficult issue. Although there clearly is excess demand for nursing home beds in most states, there also is evidence that some nursing home residents could be better cared for in alternative long-term-care settings if such were available. The main policy argument for constraining nursing home bed supply is that increasing bed supply would inhibit the development of more appropriate alternative long-term-care facilities and programs. But constraining the bed supply does not appear to have accelerated development of such programs because their development is probably tied closely to changes in payment policy. With only a few exceptions, the states control nursing home bed supply very tightly for a short-term political reason: to constrain growth of their Medicaid budgets. There is no federal policy either on bed supply or to facilitate development of alternatives to nursing home care. Some members of the committee favor policies that would encourage states to ease bed shortages. But the committee as a whole does not believe there is sufficient evidence or sufficient professional consensus to recommend either to the federal government or to the states a specific policy until the much larger

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

- issue of more appropriate financing of long-term-care services has been addressed.
- 5. Regulation is necessary but not sufficient for high-quality care. Skilled and properly motivated management, well-trained, well-supervised, and highly motivated staff, community involvement and support, and effective consumer involvement all are required. Although most of these factors are affected by regulation, they also contain important areas that are not. These issues are discussed, and recommendations are made, in Chapter 6.
- 6. A system to obtain standardized data on residents is essential. To reorient the regulatory system from its current "structural" and "facility-centered" orientation to a "resident-centered" and "outcome-oriented" approach will require development and introduction of a standard resident assessment data system that has multiple uses both for nursing home management and for government regulatory agencies. This concept is discussed in Chapters 2, 3, and 7.
- 7. The regulatory system should be dynamic and evolutionary in outlook. Specific regulatory standards should be modified to reflect changes in the art of long-term care, in experience with the regulatory system, and in the techniques of assessing outcomes more objectively.

The recommendations contained in this report collectively require many changes in all aspects of the regulatory system. These recommended changes should not be viewed as definitive and final. The effectiveness of the recommended modifications in the regulatory system should be followed closely. Experience is likely to expose the need for further changes. An effective regulatory system cannot be a static structure; it has to be conceived as being dynamic and evolutionary. The regulations will have to be modified periodically to keep pace as new knowledge becomes available about the changes in the domains of concern—the capabilities and performance of the facilities, the characteristics of the residents, and the knowledge of the effects of various care processes, techniques, and arrangements on the

quality of care and quality of life of nursing home residents.

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

The committee's recommendations are contained in Chapters 3-7. They deal primarily with regulatory criteria, with the process of inspecting and certifying nursing homes, with the enforcement process, with the ombudsman program, and with issues requiring further study.

Regulatory Criteria

The following changes in the federal certification criteria are recommended:

 The regulatory distinctions between SNFs and ICFs should be eliminated.

Recommendation 3-1: The regulatory distinction between SNFs and ICFs should be abolished. A single set of conditions of participation and standards should be used to certify all nursing homes. The current SNF conditions and standards, with the modifications and additions recommended below, should become the bases for new certifying criteria.

The reasons for making this recommendation are set forth in Chapter 3.

A new condition of participation on resident assessment is required.
 This is of fundamental importance because it has broad implications for both regulation and management (see Chapter 3, Resident Assessment).

Recommendation 3-2: A new condition of participation on resident assessment should be added. It should require that in every certified facility a registered nurse who has received appropriate training for the purpose shall be

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

responsible for seeing that accurate assessments of each resident are done upon admission, periodically, and whenever there is a change in resident status. The results should be recorded and retained in a standard format in the resident's medical record.

- 3. The existing SNF conditions of participation and standards should be rewritten in accordance with the following principles:
- Whenever appropriate, the criteria should address residents' needs and the effects of care on residents, and on the performance of a facility in providing care rather than on its capability to perform.
- The criteria should be based on the best professional standards for providing high quality of care and quality of life to nursing home residents.
- The criteria should be drafted clearly and with as much specificity as
 possible so that they can be understood by facilities, applied
 consistently by surveyors, and be legally enforceable.
- The criteria should be internally consistent, logical, and comprehensive.
- The criteria should include physical, mental, and social functioning; nursing care; nutritional status; social services; physician care; psychological care; pharmacy; dental care; environment; residents' rights; emotional well-being; personal choice; satisfaction; and community interaction.
- The criteria should be sensitive to each facility's case mix—that is, the
 variations in the services required and outcome expectations for
 residents with different needs found in one facility.
- The criteria should not be unnecessarily burdensome on facilities.

Recommendation 3-3: The existing SNF conditions and standards should be rewritten in accordance with the above principles and made applicable to all nursing homes.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

4. Because quality of life, in addition to quality of care, is particularly important in nursing homes, the committee believes that it should be incorporated as a condition of participation.

Recommendation 3-4: A new condition of participation concerning quality of life should be added to the certification regulations. The condition should state that residents shall be cared for in such a manner and in such an environment as will promote maintenance or enhancement of their quality of life without abridging the safety and rights of other residents.

5. There is a need to reorient the approach to regulation of nursing homes to make it more resident-centered and outcome-oriented. This requires a new condition of participation on quality of care.

Recommendation 3-5: A new condition of participation on quality of care should be added to the certification regulations. It should state that each resident is to receive high-quality care to meet individual physical, mental, and psychosocial needs. The care should be designed to maintain or improve the residents' physical, mental, and emotional well-being.

6. Residents' rights should be raised from a standard to a condition of participation and some new residents' rights standards should be added.

Recommendation 3-6: The existing standard on residents' rights should be made into a condition of participation. The condition should state that every resident has certain civil and personal legal rights that must be honored by the staff of the facility. Rights specified in this condition, as they pertain to a resident who has been adjudicated incompetent in accordance with state law, shall devolve to the resident's guardian, or, if required by the state, a responsible party. In cases where the attending physician determines that a legally competent resident is incapable of exercising a right, the

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

conditions and circumstances shall be fully documented in the medical record and the right shall devolve to a responsible party. The following standards should be added to the residents' rights condition:

- a. All residents admitted to the facility shall be told that there are legal rights for their protection during their stay at the facility and that these are described in an accompanying written statement. Reasonable arrangements shall be made for those who speak a language other than English. At such time as the rights set forth in this condition are revised, residents shall be given the updated information. Further explanation of the written statement of rights shall be available to residents and their visitors upon reasonable request to the administrator or other designated staff person.
- b. Each resident has the right to know the name, address, and phone number of the state survey office, state or local nursing home ombudsman office, and state or local legal service office. The facility shall post such information in a location accessible to residents and visitors.
- c. Each resident has a right to see written facility policies. Facilities shall make policies available on request. Facilities shall post state survey reports and plans of correction in a location accessible to residents.
- d. Each resident may inspect his/her medical and social records upon request to the facility. The resident may request and receive copies of the records at a photocopying cost not exceeding the amount customarily charged in the facility's community for similar services. (This overrides state law and/or regulations if they are in conflict.)
- e. Each resident must receive prior notice of transfer, discharge, and lapse of bed-hold periods. The facility must notify the resident, resident's representative, and attending physician in writing
- (1) at least 3 days prior to the lapse of bed-hold periods,
- (2) at least 3 days prior to intrafacility transfer,

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

(3) at least 4 days prior to discharge from the facility except as specified in documented emergencies.

The notice must contain the reason for the proposed transfer, the effective date, the location to which the facility proposes to transfer the resident, a statement that the resident may contest the proposed action, and the address and telephone number of the state or local nursing home ombudsman.

- f. Each resident, along with his/her family has the right to organize, maintain, and participate in resident advisory and family councils. Each facility shall provide assistance and space for meetings. Council meetings shall be afforded privacy, with staff or visitors attending only upon the council's invitation. A staff person shall be designated responsible for providing this assistance and for responding to written requests that result from council meetings. Resident and family councils shall be encouraged to make recommendations regarding facility policies.
- g. Each resident has the right to meet with visitors and participate in social, religious, and political activities at their discretion so long as the activities do not infringe on the rights of other residents. This includes the right to join others within and outside the facility to work for improvement in long-term care. The facility must permit each resident to receive visitors and associate freely inside or outside of the facility with persons and groups on the resident's own initiative. Visitors must be granted access to residents. The residents, however, have the right to refuse or terminate any visit.
- 7. Seven of the current conditions of participation—governing body and management, utilization review, transfer agreement, disaster preparedness, medical direction, laboratory and radiological services, and medical records—should be consolidated into one new condition to be called "administration." New standards should be added on nurse's aide training, access, Medicaid discrimination, notification, and consumer participation.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

Recommendation 3-7: A new condition of participation entitled "Administration" should be established. The following current conditions of participation should be reclassified as standards under this new condition: governing body and management, utilization review, transfer agreements, disaster preparedness, medical direction, laboratory and radiological services, and medical records.

Recommendation 3-7, A: The current requirements for institutional planning and submission of quarterly staffing reports should be eliminated in drafting the new administration condition.

Recommendation 3-7B: A new standard, nurse's aide training, should be added to the administration condition. The standard should require that all nurse's aides complete a preservice state-approved training program in a state-accredited institution such as a community college.

Recommendation 3-7C: A new standard should be written under the administration condition that prohibits facilities that have signed a Medicaid Provider Agreement from having different standards of admission, transfer, discharge, and service for individuals on the basis of sources of payment.

Recommendation 3-7D: When the governing body and management condition is rewritten and incorporated in the new administration condition, the current standard "j" should be changed to require the facility to record at admission and periodically confirm or update the identity of a guardian, conservator, or resident's representative to be notified in the event of (1) care conferences: (2) changes in the resident's physical, mental, or emotional status; (3) an accident involving the resident; (4) change in billing: (5) change of room; (6) discharge from the facility; or (7) changes in federal or state residents' rights. Notification should be timely.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

Recommendation 3-7E: A new standard should be added to the administration condition that would require every facility to develop and implement a plan for regular resident participation in decision-making in the facility's operations and policies and for presentation of resident concerns. Forms of resident participation can include, but are not limited to, resident councils, regularly scheduled resident forums, resident issue or program committees, and grievance committees. Facilities should include existing resident councils and/or other resident representatives in developing this plan.

Recommendation 3-7F: Two new elements should be added to the governing body and management standard as follows:

- a. Certified nursing homes should be required to permit access to the homes by an ombudsman (whether volunteer or paid) who has been certified by the state. With permission of a resident or legal guardian, a certified ombudsman should be allowed to examine the resident's records maintained by the nursing home.
- b. Any authorized employee or agent of a public agency, or any authorized representative of a community legal services organization, or any authorized member of a nonprofit community support agency that provides health or social services to nursing home residents should be permitted access at reasonable hours to any individual resident of any nursing home.
- 8. Standards in the social services and physical environment conditions should be strengthened.

Recommendation 3-8: Standard 5, "Other Environmental Considerations" in the Physical Environment Condition currently reads "... provision is made for adequate and comfortable lighting levels in all areas, limitation of sounds at comfort levels, maintaining a comfortable room temperature" It should be amended to add, at this point, "that is within acceptable ranges of operative temperature and humidity for persons clothed in typical summer or winter clothing at light, mainly sedentary activities, as specified in the ANSI-ASHRAE Standard

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

55-1981." This is the standard prescribed by the nationally recognized American National Standards Institute. Waivers may be granted for existing facilities until such time as substantial renovation takes place.

Recommendation 3-9: The present social service condition should be changed to require that each facility with 100 beds or more be required to employ at least one full-time social worker. Qualifications for this position should be a bachelor's degree in social work, a master's degree in social work, or some equivalent degree in an applied human service field at the bachelor's level or higher as approved by the state. Facilities with fewer than 100 beds or those in rural areas that have made a good-faith effort and have been unable to recruit a qualified social worker with the required credentials may substitute a contractual arrangement with a community agency or with an independent social work consultant. However, the HCFA should establish a minimum level of effort for social services in exempted facilities—for example, one day of consultation per week.

Monitoring Nursing Home Performance

The following recommendations are made to strengthen the process of determining the extent to which nursing homes are complying with the conditions of participation:

 Medicare and Medicaid survey and certification requirements should be consolidated.

Recommendation 4-1: Medicare and Medicaid survey and certification process requirements should be consolidated in one place in the Code of Federal Regulations to promote consistency.

2. The timing of surveys should be adjusted to make them less predictable.

Recommendation 4-2: The timing of surveys should maximize the element of surprise; the standard annual survey should

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

be conducted somewhere between 9 and 15 months after the previous annual survey, with the average across all facilities within each state remaining at 12 months. Additional standard surveys also should take place whenever there are key events, such as a change in ownership. Independent of the survey cycle, all facilities should be required to pass rigorous life safety code and food inspections at regular intervals.

- 3. The following two survey instruments and protocols based on the new conditions and standards should be developed:
- a standard, relatively short survey, that would be resident-centered and use key outcome indicators to determine quality of care, and
- b. an extended survey that would entail a comprehensive examination of the nursing horne's operations. The extended survey would be used if the standard survey findings indicated that there were—or might be—evidence of inadequacies in the quality of care being provided to some or all of the residents. Good nursing homes would normally experience only the standard survey.

Recommendation 4-3: Two new survey protocols should be designed and tested to implement the new conditions and standards recommended in Chapter 3: a standard survey and an extended survey. Both must be based on the revised conditions of participation and standards.

4. The standard survey process would entail an audit of the resident assessment data maintained by the facility and would rely on a casemix-referenced sample of residents to gather the information required by the standard survey instrument.

The extended survey would enlarge the sample of residents examined and increase the comprehensiveness of the standard protocol to look at compliance with all elements of all standards. It would further document poor resident outcomes and explore the extent to which structural and process factors may have contributed to these outcomes.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from print version of this publication as the from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed been accidentally inserted. Please use the retained, and some typographic errors may have

Recommendation 4-4: Both standard and extended surveys should assess samples of residents stratified by standard case-mix categories. Case-mix definitions, and the procedures and sample sizes required to attain a prespecified level of precision, should be established by the HCFA.

Recommendation 4-5: The standard survey should rely on "key indicators" of quality of resident life and care that would be prescribed by the HCFA. These key indicators would measure poor resident outcomes and other resident and facility conditions that might be caused by noncompliance with the federal conditions and standards and should be investigated further by the survey agency.

Recommendation 4-6: Facilities that perform poorly on key indicators of quality of resident care or life should be subjected to a full or partial extended survey, depending on the range of problem areas discovered. The purpose of the extended survey is to determine the extent to which the facility is responsible for the poor outcomes due to noncompliance with the federal conditions and standards.

Recommendation 4-7: Quality assessment in the survey process should rely heavily on interviews with, and observation of, residents and staff, and only secondarily on "paper compliance," such as chart reviews, official policies and procedures manuals, and other indirect measures of actual care given and resident outcomes.

The survey process should be coordinated with the complainthandling process, and the latter would be strengthened.

Recommendation 4-8: The HCFA should require states to have a specific procedure and sufficient staff to properly investigate complaints.

6. The survey process should formally seek information directly from consumers (residents and their advocates).

authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from files created from the original paper book, not accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

Recommendation 4-9: The HCFA should incorporate in its survey operations manual the following additional procedures to be followed by surveyors in addition to interviews with those residents sampled for the survey protocols:

- At the beginning of the survey, surveyors should meet briefly with members of the facility's resident council or with a group of willing and capable residents to elicit general information about services and resident satisfaction as well as to identify any areas of particular concern.
- Resident representatives should participate in the part of the exit conference where deficiencies are cited and the plan of correction is discussed.
- At the close of the survey, the following notice should be posted in a location accessible to residents and visitors:

The <u>(state survey agency)</u> completed its regular certification survey of <u>(facility name)</u> on <u>(date)</u>.

Anyone wishing to provide additional information may contact the (<u>state survey agency</u>) before (<u>date</u>).

(address) (phone)

7. Positive incentives for good performance should be incorporated into the survey and certification process.

Recommendation 4-10: In addition to exempting good facilities from extended surveys, ways should be explored to commend superior performance.

3. The HCFA should require the state agencies to implement a program to develop and support consistent and reliable surveys.

Recommendation 4-11: The new survey protocols, including the forms, procedures, and guidelines used by surveyors, should be designed in accordance with the revised and

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot authoritative version for attribution from from the original paper book, not print version of this publication as the files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the

amended conditions and standards recommended in Chapter 3, and they should be revised as the conditions and standards are changed in the future.

Recommendation 4-12: All survey protocols (instruments and procedures) should be tested so that they are capable of yielding reliable and consistent results when used by properly trained surveyors anywhere.

Recommendation 4-13: A sample of facilities should be subject to an extended survey each year. Information from this sample should be used to validate and improve the standard survey.

Recommendation 4-14: The HCFA should require the state agencies to implement a program to develop and support consistent and reliable surveys. This program should be based on effective training and monitoring of surveyor performance to reduce inconsistency.

- Several steps should be taken to strengthen the regulatory capacity of the states:
- Full federal funding should be provided for state survey and certification activities.
- State surveyor qualifications should be strengthened.
- Both federal and state surveyor training efforts should be increased.
- The results of research and evaluation studies should be analyzed and disseminated by the HCFA.

Recommendation 4-15: Title XIX of the Social Security Act should be amended to authorize 100 percent federal funding of costs of the nursing home survey and certification activities of the states. This authority should be extended for 3 years, after which time a federal-state matching ratio should be reestablished. The HCFA should develop a standard formula for distributing funds to the states under this authority so that each state is funded on an equal basis in proportion to its federal certification workload.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from files created from the original paper book, not from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the

Recommendation 4-16: The HCFA should revise its guidelines to make them more specific about the qualifications of surveyors and the composition and numbers of survey team staff necessary to conduct adequate resident-centered, outcome-oriented inspections of nursing homes. As a minimum, every survey team should include at least one nurse. For use on extended surveys, the survey agency should have specialists on staff (or, in small states, as consultants) in the disciplinary areas covered by the conditions and standards (for example, pharmacy, nutrition, social services, and activities).

Recommendation 4-17: Federal training efforts and support of state-level training programs should be increased, especially during the period of transition to the new survey process, and during the implementation of the new resident assessment condition of participation.

Recommendation 4-18: National data about survey operations and results, and from any experiments and demonstrations sponsored by the HCFA or the states, should be collected, analyzed, and disseminated by the federal government to facilitate continued improvement in survey methods.

10. Federal oversight capabilities vis-a-vis state survey operations should be strengthened and the HCFA should be given authority to withhold a portion of Medicaid matching funds from states that perform the survey and certification function inadequately.

Recommendation 4-19: The HCFA should increase its capabilities to oversee state survey and certification of nursing homes and to enforce federal requirements on states as well as facilities by

adding enough additional federal surveyors to each regional office to
ensure that the random sample of nursing homes surveyed each year in
each state is large enough to allow reasonable inferences about the
adequacy of the state's survey and certification activities;

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the

- scheduling "look-behind" surveys so that valid comparisons can be made of the findings of federal and state surveys; and
- amending Title XIX of the Social Security Act to authorize the HCFA to withhold a portion of Medicaid matching funds from states that perform inadequately in their survey and certification of nursing homes.
 - 11. Inspection of care should be integrated with the certification survey.

 Recommendation 4-20: The inspection-of-care function should be carried out as part of the new resident-centered, outcome-oriented survey process. But individual resident reviews should be required for a sample of residents (private-pay as well as Medicaid) rather than for all residents (although individual states may elect to continue 100 percent reviews).
 - 12. A realignment of federal and state certification role relationships vis-a-vis Medicare and state-owned facilities is necessary.

Recommendation 4-21: The respective roles and responsibilities of the federal and state governments should be realigned as follows:

- The states should be responsible for certifying all Medicare and Medicaid facilities (except state institutions) according to federal requirements.
- The HCFA should monitor state performance more actively and be responsible for conducting surveys of, and certifying, state-owned institutions directly.

Enforcing Compliance with Federal Standards

The following improvements in enforcement are recommended:

1. The HCFA should revise its guidelines for the post-survey enforcement process.

authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not print version of this publication as the files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed accidentally inserted. Please use the retained, and some typographic errors may have

Recommendation 5-1: The HCFA should revise its guidelines for the post-survey process. Revisions should include

- specifying that survey agency personnel not be used as consultants to providers with compliance problems;
- specifying how to evaluate plans of correction and what constitutes an acceptable plan of correction;
- specifying the circumstances under which onsite followup visits may be waived;
- specifying circumstances under which formal enforcement action should be initiated, and how actions should be taken; and
- requiring that states have formal enforcement procedures and mechanisms.
 - The Medicaid authority should be amended to authorize a set of intermediate sanctions for use by the states and the federal government.

Recommendation 5-2: The Medicaid authority should be amended to authorize a specified set of intermediate sanctions for use by states and by the federal government in enforcing compliance with nursing home conditions of participation and standards. The HCFA should then develop and issue detailed regulations and guidelines to be followed by the states and by the HCFA in using these sanctions. The sanctions should include

- ban on admissions,
- civil fines,
- receivership,
- emergency authority to close facilities and transfer residents.
 - 3. The Medicaid statute should be amended to authorize sanctions for use against chronic or repeat violators of certification regulations.

Recommendation 5-3: The Medicaid statute should be amended to provide authority to impose sanctions on chronic or repeat violators of certification regulations.

authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not print version of this publication as the files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the

The HCFA should develop detailed procedures to be followed by the states to deal with such facilities. Procedures should include, but not be limited to,

- the authority to impose more severe sanctions,
- a requirement to consider a provider's previous record before certifying or recertifying, and
- the responsibility to obtain satisfactory assurances prior to recertifying, that the deficiencies that led to a termination will not recur.
 - The Medicaid statute should be amended to strengthen the effectiveness of sanctions.

Recommendation 5-4: The Medicaid statute should be amended to make the appeals process on sanctions, particularly decertification, less permissive. The HCFA should issue regulations and guidelines to implement this new authority.

- 5. The HCFA should strengthen state enforcement capabilities.

 *Recommendation 5-5: The HCFA should strengthen state enforcement capabilities by
- requiring states to commit adequate resources to enforcement activities, including legal and other enforcement-related staff;
- requiring survey and certification survey agency staffs to include enforcement-related specialists, such as lawyers, auditors, and investigators, to work as part of special survey teams for problem situations and to help support enforcement decision-making;
- including more training in investigatory techniques, witness preparation, and the legal system in the basic surveyor training course; and
- providing federal training support for state survey agency and welfare agency attorneys in nursing home enforcement matters.

Other Factors Affecting Quality of Care and Quality of Life in Nursing Homes

The following means to enhance the effectiveness of consumers and consumer advocates in quality assurance are recommended:

1. The HCFA should require states to make public all nursing home inspection and cost reports.

Recommendation 6-1: The HCFA should require states to make public all nursing home inspection and cost reports. These documents should be required to be readily accessible at nominal cost to consumers and consumer advocates, including state and local ombudsmen.

The ombudsman program should be strengthened by amending the Older Americans Act.

Recommendation 6-2: The Older Americans Act should be amended to:

- establish the ombudsman program under a separate title in the Act;
- increase funds for state programs by authorizing federal-state matching formula grants for state ombudsman programs. The formula should provide each state with a minimum annual budget in the range of \$100,000 (1985 dollars) plus an additional amount based on the number of elderly residents in the state. The federal-state matching ratio should be two-thirds federal to one-third state funds. (Although the committee did not study in any depth the budget requirement, this minimum amount is intended to provide the ombudsman program with, for example, the capability to support, at a minimum, a full-time professional and secretary and sufficient travel and training funds to recruit, train, and certify volunteers as local ombudsmen.)
- establish a statutory National Advisory Council composed of state ombudsmen, state and local aging agencies, provider and consumer representatives, state regulators, health care professionals (physicians, nurses,

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from print version of this publication as the from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed accidentally inserted. Please use the retained, and some typographic errors may have

- administrators, social workers), and members of the general public to advise on administration, training, program priorities, development, research, and evaluation;
- authorize state-certified substate and local ombudsmen, including trained, unpaid volunteers, access to nursing homes and, with the permission of the resident, to a resident's medical and social records;
- authorize public legal representation for ombudsman programs;
- exempt the ombudsman programs, including substate ombudsmen who are supported by funds from the state ombudsman program, from the antilobbying provisions of OMB Circular A-122.
 - The Secretary of HHS should direct the Administration on Aging (AoA) to take steps to provide effective national leadership for the Ombudsman Program.

Recommendation 6-3: The Secretary of HHS should direct the Administration on Aging (AoA) to take steps to provide effective national leadership for the Ombudsman Program. At a minimum the Commissioner of AoA should designate a senior full-time professional and some supporting staff to assume responsibility for administering the program. Priority should be given to establishing a national resource center for the program that would develop, in consultation with state programs, an information clearinghouse, training and other materials to assist states, and guidance to states on data collection and analysis. The center should advise on establishing program priorities, and sponsor research and evaluation studies.

4. The HCFA should require state long-term care regulatory agencies to develop written agreements with state ombudsman programs covering information-sharing, training, and case referral.

Recommendation 6-4: The HCFA should require state long-term-care regulatory agencies to develop written agreements with state ombudsman programs covering information-sharing, training, and case referral.

Issues Requiring Further Study

Information Systems

HHS should undertake a study to design a system for acquiring and using resident assessment data. A study also should be initiated to determine what other data about nursing homes are needed for regulatory, policy development, and other public purposes.

Recommendation 7-1: The Secretary of HHS should order a study to design a system for acquiring and using resident assessment data to meet the legitimate and continuing needs of state and federal government agencies. The Secretary also should order a study to determine the needs for other data about nursing homes that would facilitate regulation and policy development. This study should recommend specific ways to collect, analyze, and publish or otherwise make such data publicly available.

Medicaid Payment Policies

Further study is needed to determine optimal Medicaid payment policies.

Nursing Home Bed Supply

The policy on controlling the supply of nursing home beds is related to the issue of developing a broader array of interrelated long-term-care services. This, in turn hinges on the development of more appropriate private and public financing arrangements and policies. The federal government should undertake a systematic study of these interrelated issues to facilitate development of appropriate policies in these areas.

If the committee's major recommendations are carried out there may be some effect on the number of currently certified nursing homes that will continue to participate in the Medicaid program. It is likely that poorly managed marginal or substandard facilities will be forced either

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

to improve their performance or go out of business. Most of those that go out of business are likely to be sold to other owners that will install more competent management and staff and continue in operation. It is possible, however, that some facilities may elect to withdraw from participation in the Medicaid program. There is no way of determining beforehand to what extent, if any, this is likely to occur. Or, if it does occur to a significant extent, whether states will respond by easing their restrictions on expansion of bed supply only for certified homes, or by making licensure contingent on participation in the Medicaid program.

Staffing of Nursing Homes

Based on the availability of systematic resident assessment data, two kinds of staffing studies should be undertaken: (1) studies to develop a minimum staffing algorithm relating staffing to case mix, and (2) studies on staff qualifications.

Single- Versus Multiple-Occupancy Rooms

The HCFA should commission a study of the costs and benefits of single-occupancy rooms compared to multiple-occupancy rooms in nursing homes.

Recommendation 7-2: The HCFA should commission a study of the costs and benefits of single-occupancy rooms compared to multiple-occupancy rooms in nursing homes. The study should be designed to obtain data about the effects of single rooms on the quality of life of various types of nursing home residents. It should be completed within 2 years after it has been authorized. It should contain recommendations for the desired proportions of single- and multiple-occupancy rooms in nursing homes. It also should recommend required proportions in future new construction and major remodeling of existing buildings.

2

Concepts of Quality, Quality Assessment, and Quality Assurance

This chapter discusses three basic concepts: (1) what is meant by quality of care and quality of life in nursing homes; (2) what is known about the techniques available for quality assessment—that is, for determining how good the quality of care and quality of life are in a nursing home; and (3) how these concepts should affect the design of a regulatory system that would effectively ensure that nursing homes provide care of acceptable quality.

The discussions in the chapters that follow presume understanding of these concepts.

QUALITY OF CARE IN NURSING HOMES

The attributes of quality in nursing homes are very different from those in acute medical care settings such as hospitals. The differences stem from the characteristics of the residents of nursing homes, their care needs, the circumstances and settings in which the care is provided, the expected outcomes, and the fact that for many residents the nursing home is their *home*, not merely a temporary abode in which they are being treated for a medical problem. Thus, quality of life is very

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

important for its own sake (that is, as an outcome goal) and because it is intimately related to quality of care in nursing homes.

Characteristics of the Residents

According to the 1977 National Nursing Home Survey, ¹ 70 percent of nursing home residents were 75 years of age or older, about 70 percent were women, only 12 percent had a living spouse, and they had a wide range of physical, emotional, and cognitive disabilities. Nursing home residents differ in their social circumstances compared with noninstitutionalized persons of the same age group. Thirteen percent of residents had no visitors in the course of a year, but about 62 percent had visits from family or others on a daily or weekly basis. Nursing home residents are disproportionately single, widowed, and childless, and they are poorer than the elderly population in general. ² These data are important because of the links that have been shown to exist between social support and health service needs and outcomes. ³⁻⁷

Residents fall into two broad categories classified by length of stay. The largest group, the "long stayers," consists of those who are no longer able to live outside of institutions and who generally reside in the nursing home for many months or years, often until they die. The second group, the "short stayers," generally comes from hospitals and will be discharged home or will die in a fairly short period of time.⁸

Care Needs

Nursing home residents vary in the amount and types of care they require as well as in their lengths of stay. Many of the "short stayers" require intensive nursing and rehabilitative services. For these, the goal of nursing home care is rehabilitation and discharge home. Some are rehabilitated and discharged; some die either in the nursing home or shortly after discharge. The "long

stayers" present a spectrum of care requirements, ranging from those who are relatively independent and require only modest amounts of care to those who are physically very disabled, mentally impaired, and incontinent and who require assistance in all activities of daily living (ADL). In a special study commissioned by the committee, longitudinal data derived from monthly assessments of all residents in 107 nursing homes in 11 states and the District of Columbia were analyzed.9 In these nursing homes, about 63 percent of new residents either died or were discharged within 3 months of admission. That is, a substantial proportion of persons admitted to the nursing homes stayed for a relatively short period of time. But those who remain in the homes for long stays account for most of the resident bed-days. About 70 percent of all residents in bed on a particular day in all of these nursing homes were still alive and in the same nursing home 18 months later. On the basis of standard assessments of all residents and a standard way of estimating nursing time required per day, the residents on any day in this set of nursing homes fell into three broad categories: 10.8 percent required little care (40 to 60 minutes per day); 48.9 percent required "medium" care (61 to 134 minutes per day) and 40.3 percent required "heavy" care (135 to 268 minutes per day).

The Care Setting

Nursing home care is both a treatment and a living situation. It encompasses both the health care and social support services provided to individuals with chronic conditions or disabilities and the environment in which they live. Nursing homes are "total institutions" in which care-givers, particularly nurse's aides, represent a large part of the social world of nursing home residents and control their daily schedules and activities. This is the total environment for many nursing home residents for the duration of their stay, which may be several years. As a result, deficiencies in medical or nursing care or in housekeeping

or dietary services, which could perhaps be tolerated during a brief hospital stay, become intolerable and harmful to well-being when they are part of an individual's day-to-day life over a longer period. The physical, psychosocial, and environmental circumstances and outcome expectations of nursing home residents distinguish the goals of nursing home care from those of acute medical care. In acute care, treatment goals are based on medical diagnosis. In nursing homes, the care goals are based on physical and psychosocial assessment. They focus on restoration, maintenance or slowing of the loss of function, and on alleviation of discomfort and pain. ^{11,12}

Requirements for High-Quality Care

The characteristics of nursing home residents, their care needs, and the care setting underlie the three central requirements for providing high-quality nursing home care: (1) a competently conducted, comprehensive assessment of each resident; (2) development of a treatment plan that integrates the contributions of all the relevant nursing home staff, based on the assessment findings; and (3) properly coordinated, competent, and conscientious execution of all aspects of the treatment plan. The assessments should be repeated periodically and the treatment plan adjusted accordingly.

Most nursing home residents suffer from various medical problems, and accurate, careful medical diagnosis and problem identification are very important. But a major determinant of care goals in nursing homes is functional status, that is, the ability of the individual to perform the activities of daily living (bathing, dressing, toileting, transfer, feeding, and continence).¹¹

Functional status is a sociobiologic construct that can be used to indicate the existence of chronic conditions and to objectively measure their severity. It also can be used to determine service needs and outcomes resulting from service use among homogenous groups of patients. For example, the Index of Activities of Daily Living, or its variants, has been used to study chronically ill

people, including those with hip fracture, cerebral infarction, multiple sclerosis, paraplegia, quadriplegia, rheumatoid arthritis, and other chronic conditions among institutionalized and noninstitutionalized people.¹³⁻¹⁹

The importance of functional status in predicting outcomes is also suggested by studies that were designed to measure the relationship between process and outcome measures of quality care. Those studies found residents' initial functional status to be the best predictor of health care outcomes. ²⁰⁻²²

Mental status also predicts disability levels and service needs among nursing home residents.²³⁻²⁵ An estimated 50 to 66 percent of nursing home residents have some type of mental or behavioral problem.^{1,26} A substantial amount is attributable to senile dementia of various types, but depression and psychosis also are prevalent. In part, this is attributable to the massive discharges of patients from state mental hospitals during the 1970s. During that period, the number of elderly persons in mental hospitals decreased by about 40 percent, while the mentally ill in nursing homes increased by over 100 percent. ²⁷

Although the elderly suffer from disorders that affect younger persons (for example, neuroses, alcoholism, schizophrenia), the two most frequent diagnoses among those in nursing homes are depression and intellectual impairment (organic brain syndrome, confusional states, dementia, and so on).²⁸ Contrary to the beliefs of many health professionals, age *per se* is no bar to effective psychiatric treatment. This is particularly true for depression.²⁹

Planning And Providing Care

The initial comprehensive assessment of a resident should include the resident's functional status, medical and dental conditions and needs, mental and emotional status, social interactions and support, personal activity preferences, and financial circumstances. This entails a team effort involving, at a minimum, a nurse, a physician, a social worker, and a physical therapist. The knowledge

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

and specialized skills of other professionals, such as dentists, psychologists, audiologists, speech therapists, occupational therapists, and podiatrists, should be drawn on as needed. Assessments must be recorded in such a way in the resident's medical records that they can be understood and used by all staff responsible for providing care—including nurse's aides.

The plan of care developed to meet the resident's needs requires participation by all professional staff in the nursing home because there is almost no aspect of care that is the exclusive domain of one professional group or another. Physicians need to know from nursing staff the effectiveness of efforts to deal with depressed patients and whether drugs should be adjusted in dosage or the regimen altered; nurse's aides need to be instructed on specific rehabilitation efforts—such as range-of-motion exercises—that should be incorporated as part of the ADL support provided to residents; staff in the recreation department need to know that a close watch is being kept on certain residents for the side effects of drugs. Clear, easily understood records are essential to carry out such coordinated care because there is seldom time for meetings to share all of the necessary information. Moreover, staff on duty evenings and weekends have to rely on records to make critical decisions.

In sum, long-term care is directed primarily at relieving conditions that result from chronic physical or mental disorders or the chronic after-effects of acute disorders. Equally important is relief of pain and discomfort. Assessing functional competence or impairment gives direct information about these conditions, which is needed for care planning.

Chronic conditions generally require restorative or maintenance services with an emphasis on attaining small improvements or preventing undue decline, rather than the intensive efforts of acute medicine that usually aim for cures, remissions, or other substantial improvements.

Many residents in nursing homes will remain there for long periods, often until death. Their well-being is affected by the *environment*, by the quality of the medical/nursing and social support services they receive, and by the nature of their health problems.

QUALITY OF LIFE

The quality of life experienced by anyone is related to that person's sense of well-being, level of satisfaction with life, and feeling of self-worth and selfesteem. 30,31 For nursing home residents this includes a basic sense of with oneself, the environment, satisfaction the care received. accomplishment of desired goals, and control over one's life.³² For instance, a resident's quality of life is enhanced by close relationships and meaningful interchange with others, an environment supporting independence and incorporating personal belongings, and the opportunity to exercise reasonable control over life decisions. Opportunities for choice are necessarily somewhat limited in a nursing home, but they need not be as limited as they are in some nursing homes.³³ Participation in care planning is one important aspect of personal autonomy. But even such seemingly small choices as mealtimes, activities, clothing, or times to rise and retire greatly enhance the sense of personal control that leads to a sense of well-being. Lack of privacy for visits with family and friends, for medical treatment, and for personal solitude contributes to lack of self-esteem. Opportunities to engage in religious, political, civic, recreational, or other social activities foster a sense of worth. The quality and variety of food are often cited as some of the most important attributes of quality from the resident's perspective.31,34 Quality of life also includes such life circumstances as personal assets, financial security, physical and mental health, personal safety, and security of one's possessions. 35-37

Many aspects of nursing home life that affect a resident's perceptions of quality of life—and therefore, sense of well-being—are intimately intertwined with quality of care. This is evident in the findings of a study conducted during 1984-1985 by the National Citizens' Coalition for Nursing Home Reform.³⁴ The study was designed to obtain nursing home residents' views on quality of care. Its findings are based on a series of discussions held in 15 cities involving 455 residents from more than a hundred nursing homes. The sample of

residents was drawn from a group who volunteered to be in the study, who were able to attend three meetings outside of their own facility, and who were able to participate actively in group discussions.

The highest importance was attached by residents to the qualifications, competence, attitudes, and feelings of staff, and the quality of the interactions among staff and residents. This follows from the circumstance that 80 to 90 percent of the care is provided by nurse's aides and the quality of their interactions with the residents—how helpful, how friendly, how competent, how cheerful they are and how much they treat each resident as a person worthy of dignity and respect—makes a big difference in the quality of a resident's life.

Success in improving function and greater independence are associated with enhanced sense of well-being. 8,38 A number of writers have stated that, because the major concern of quality of care is with improving or maintaining function, care should routinely incorporate rehabilitation exercises. This means reliance on nurse's aides to see that these exercises are done as prescribed. There are indications that some functional impairments in the elderly may be the result of inactivity and disuse and that even very elderly residents respond to rehabilitation exercises. 38-42

Conflicts of values and ethics are inherent in nursing home care—for example, conflicts between care requirements, as judged by professionals, and the rights and preferences of the resident. Should a very old, perhaps mildly demented resident, who is not legally incompetent and who declines to eat, be fed by nasogastric tube even if he strongly objects to it? What about residents who decline to take medication or other treatments prescribed to manage their chronic disease? Should dietary preferences of a resident override adherence to a medically prescribed dietary regimen? Should a frail, unsteady resident with osteoporosis, who insists on walking by herself, be permitted to walk around unescorted even though there is a substantial risk that she will fall and suffer a hip fracture?

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

The quality of medical and nursing care provided, the way it is provided, the quality of the interaction between staff and residents, the range of services and amenities available to residents and their ability to make personal choices and to influence the range of choices, and the facility's ambiance—all affect residents' functional, physical, and mental health status (objective well-being) and subjective well-being. Subjective well-being includes such factors as the extent of depression-demoralization, satisfaction-dissatisfaction, absence of discomfort-pain. For the very sick and disabled, the quality of the care and the way it is provided are probably the most significant contributors to well-being.

QUALITY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

The widely accepted criteria used in assessing medical care quality can be used for assessing quality of nursing home care. They have structural, process, and outcome components.⁴³

Structure

Structure refers to the health care facility's or provider's capacity to provide good-quality care. Structural criteria include the training, experience, and number of the care-givers; the organizational arrangements within which they function; the safety and appropriateness of the environment; and the adequacy and appropriateness of the equipment and other available technology. Structural factors are relatively easy to assess, although determining what technology, equipment, staff qualifications and numbers, and organizational arrangements are necessary to provide good medical care is a matter of professional judgment and subject to change as new knowledge is acquired and new technology developed. Moreover, structural factors have only a potential relationship to quality: the availability of the capacity to provide good

care does not mean that good care is delivered. ⁴³ The use of structural criteria to assess quality of care in nursing homes is based on the assumption that such criteria represent necessary, although minimal, conditions associated with acceptable levels of resident care services and outcomes. ⁴⁴ The evidence to support this assumption is mixed. Studies on the linkages between structural measures and the process of care in nursing homes have not found them to be strong. ⁴⁵⁻⁴⁸ But there is evidence that environmental circumstances influence personal well-being. ^{32,49-51} Environments that foster autonomy, integration, and personalized care promote better morale, life satisfaction, and adjustment. ⁵²⁻⁵⁵ They also have positive effects on staff attitudes and behavior.

There also is evidence that, in some circumstances, structural criteria directly affect the process of care. One study that investigated the use of psychotropic drugs in nursing homes found that staff-to-resident ratios are associated with rates of use of such drugs. That is, understaffed facilities may make excessive use of antipsychotic drugs to substitute for inadequate numbers of nursing staff.⁵⁶ Moreover, in such areas as life safety codes, structural measures of quality clearly predict outcomes.¹² In general, however, structural capacity, the care actually provided, and the outcomes of care are not always associated. Although the capacity to provide care may exist, it may not be used appropriately, or not be applied in sufficient quantity or with adequate skill.

Process

Process criteria assume that quality is related to the services provided, how they are provided, and the resources used in doing so. Some studies conducted on relationships between process measures and resident outcomes in nursing homes have yielded mixed findings, ^{20,22,57} but a few have shown positive relationships under certain circumstances. ^{46,58-60} (The studies vary in scientific

quality; many are descriptive rather than controlled.) These recent studies, and professional experience, suggest that process measures should not be ignored. If care related to improving function is neglected (for example, exercises to avoid contractures, bed positioning to avoid bed sores), residents' quality of life is affected adversely.⁶¹

Outcomes

Outcomes are changes in a resident's functional or psychosocial health that are associated with the care provided. Outcome measures of care have received a great deal of attention as the most direct way to approach the assurance of quality in long-term care. Proponents argue that a focus on outcomes avoids arguments about effectiveness of structure and process factors by letting the results, resident outcomes, speak for themselves. The use of outcomes allows providers flexibility in determining the most cost-effective means of achieving specific outcomes, an important consideration in "low-technology" care where substitution of personnel and technique seems possible. 31,49,62

Two kinds of outcomes are measured: subjective and objective. For nursing home residents, the subjective components may include a basic sense of satisfaction with oneself and one's environment and the level of satisfaction with a range of aspects of nursing home care. The objective components of outcome include such things as changes in functional and mental status.

Some outcomes have been defined and measured in long-term care. For example, rehabilitation outcomes have been studied, as have patient discharge rates. ^{22,48,63} Studies also have associated particular attributes of individuals to ranges of outcomes. Social isolation and intellectual decline have been linked with premature death. ^{64,65} Health status has been tied to morale and to behavior. ^{57,66-70} And expected intermediate and final outcomes have been studied for a number of specific conditions such as stroke and hip fracture. ^{18,71-73}

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

In sum, for quality assurance purposes, structural, process, and outcome criteria can contribute useful, complementary information for assessing the quality of care and the well-being of nursing home residents.

ASSESSING QUALITY OF CARE

The development and use of valid and reliable instruments to measure quality of care are critically important to quality assurance and to regulation. Moreover, good measurement has strong positive effects on the planning and provision of care. The practices of the regulatory system and of the nursing home industry in general have not been up to the state of the art for some time.

Much research has been devoted to this question in recent years. For example, about 15 years ago the Public Health Service supported research to develop a uniform terminology with which to describe residents' needs. An important result of this effort was the "Patient Classification for Long-Term Care," a collaborative effort of four research groups published in 1973.⁷⁴ In 1980 the Technical Consultant Panel on the Long-Term Health Care Data Set of the National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics recommended that all public and voluntary reporting systems for long-term health care clients and services collect a minimum set of information to establish standard measurements, definitions, and classifications for long-term care.

The information needs of the patient classification system and the minimum data set are similar and include sociodemographic items, functional competency/impairment, intellectual impairment/behavioral problems, and medical status. This and other information relevant to quality assurance, such as indicators of subjective well-being, must be obtained through valid and reliable data collection instruments.

Functional Competency/Impairment

This is defined in terms of discrete task performance in independently transferring, ambulating or wheeling, dressing, toileting, bathing, eating, and grooming. Other tasks also can be tested and the details of performance and assistance added. There is now wide agreement that a number of relatively brief assessment instruments and procedures can be used reliably by trained professionals from various disciplines. These instruments have been tested extensively for validity and reliability. More importantly, they can be used reliably by trained nonprofessionals. The following are examples:

- 1. The Katz Index of Activities of Daily Living provides rating scales of six functions: bathing, dressing, going to the toilet, transferring from bed to chair, continence, and feeding.¹⁸
- 2. The Barthel Index provides scores on self-care abilities.⁷⁵
- 3. The Kenny Self-Care Evaluation is used to measure functional ability in 17 activities that fall into 6 functional impairment categories: bed activities, transfers, locomotion, personal hygiene, dressing, and feeding.⁷⁶ The instrument has been found to successfully predict rehabilitation and the timing of discharge.⁷⁷
- 4. Linn's Rapid Disability Scale includes 16 ADL and related items that are scored according to severity or frequency of occurrence. Predictive validity has been demonstrated for physicians' prognoses, length of stay, and 6-month mortality.⁷⁸ Interrater reliability and test/retest reliability are high.

A number of states are using resident classification instruments that predict service use and nursing home cost. West Virginia assesses residents for dependency in functional impairment on the basis of 15 categories of service need, and Ohio on the basis of 14 categories.⁷⁹ The Resource Utilization Groups (RUGS) classification system,⁸⁰ which will be used to establish Medicaid reimbursement rates in New York

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

state, ⁸¹ categorizes residents into five clinically distinct and statistically different groups on the basis of the resources used to meet resident service needs. Each clinical group is further divided by an ADL index score into subgroups distinguished by level of physical functioning.

Instruments also have been developed by nursing home chains for purposes of rate setting and internal quality assurance. For example, the Patient Care Profile System assesses functional impairment in personal hygiene, bathing, dressing, mobility, eating, and positioning, as well as the presence of incontinence and decubitus ulcers, and the need for skilled procedures and restorative nursing. This system is being installed in over 300 Hillhaven Corporation nursing homes. The National Health Corporation has developed the Patient Assessment Computerized system to collect standardized information on functional impairment in the areas of walking, ADL, bladder and bowel continence, decubitus ulcers, special senses, communication, orientation, and behavior. Reliability is measured by quarterly audits of a 10 percent sample of residents' forms by nurse consultants. The state of Montana uses this instrument to obtain case-mix information for use in its Medicaid payment determinations.

These and other instruments (only a few have been mentioned) are useful for quality assurance because they make it possible to reliably identify residents who have similar characteristics—that is, similar levels of disability, need for personal assistance and nursing, likelihood of discharge, chance of recovery, and risk of mortality. By collecting the same assessment data on the same residents at regular intervals, longitudinal data on the distribution of outcomes for residents with similar characteristics can be obtained.

Intellectual Impairment/Behavioral Problems

Among nursing home residents, this debility usually occurs as dementia of the Alzheimer's or multi-infarct type. It can be assessed with brief interview techniques About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

that are reliable in the hands of both trained professionals, such as nurses and social workers, and trained nonprofessionals. For example,

- 1. The Mental Status Questionnaire has been used widely in geriatric research and practice. 84,85 It consists of 10 short questions testing cognitive function that have been correlated with clinical diagnosis of organic brain syndrome. It has demonstrated high reliability and can be administered without extensive training. The Philadelphia Geriatric Center Mental Status Questionnaire is an extension of the Mental Status Questionnaire and includes items that are sensitive to the specific situation of nursing home residents. 86
- The Mini-Mental State Examination measures cognitive functioning using items similar to those of a clinical mental-state examination.⁸⁷ External validity has been demonstrated on the basis of clinical assessments of the presence/absence of cognitive disorder.
- 3. The Comprehensive Assessment and Referral Evaluation Instrument (CARE), which includes the Geriatric Mental Status Schedule, is designed to replicate clinical judgments among community and institutional populations. 88 Instrument reliability and validity have been tested in various ways.

The information obtained from these instruments and others makes it possible to place residents into comparable groups with defined characteristics such as probability of being intellectually incapacitated (demented), needing special investigations, having a behavior problem (such as wandering), requiring supervision, progressively deteriorating, and dying. The measurements are repeatable. Additional information, such as duration and course, increases the relevance to quality assurance.

Corresponding evidence exists for other key content areas. Subjective well-being (demoralization-depression; dissatisfaction-complaints) has been measured and associated with social functioning, physical health status, mental status, and activity levels. 50,89,90 Standardized instruments have been used to assess

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

residents' satisfaction with nursing home care and relationships between satisfaction and nursing home characteristics. ^{63,91,92} Behavior problems have been described, measured, and associated with specific service interventions as a part of nursing home management systems (for example, the National Health Corporation's Patient Assessment Computerized system) and in research studies. ⁹³⁻⁹⁵

PERSPECTIVE ON QUALITY ASSURANCE

At the most general level, quality assurance is a mechanism or process for promoting excellence in the performance of services or the production of goods. It entails

- specification of criteria and standards of performance quality,
- collection of accurate information about the quality of current performance,
- comparison with information on desired or acceptable standards of performance,
- analysis of the reasons for the differences between actual performance and desired standards of performance and determination of what needs to be done to eliminate these differences,
- adoption of the changes necessary to eliminate the differences between current performance and desired standards of performance,
- repeated collection of information to monitor the extent to which resolution of differences is taking place, and
- periodic iterations of these linked steps.

Quality assurance—or quality control—is generally practiced with varying degrees of formality by providers of services and producers of goods, by consumers and clients, and by government regulatory authorities. In the nursing home industry, the main reliance has been on government regulation, but a significant responsibility for quality assurance rests on the nursing homes themselves. Other factors affecting quality in nursing

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

homes are important. They include the role of consumer advocacy groups (including ombudsmen), industry self-regulatory efforts (including accreditation), and efforts to increase the professional standards and training of administrators and other staff. These factors are discussed in Chapter 6.

INTERPRETING AND USING INFORMATION FOR QUALITY ASSURANCE

Measurement of Care Quality

In long-term care, there are areas where the medical needs of a subpopulation can be defined and the outcomes of care measured. Many measures used in general medical practice may be used in long-term-care settings: reduction in the blood pressure of hypertensives; reduction in pain and improvement in functional status of patients with angina; visual improvement for patients with cataracts; restoration of function and reduction of pain in patients requiring hip replacement.

Measures of effectiveness of care quality more specific to nursing homes include the level of restoration of function following such events as hip fractures and new strokes, infection rates in residents with indwelling catheters, skin breakdown in at-risk bedridden residents, and improvements in mood in depressed residents.

The choice of measure for evaluating quality of care depends not only on the innate value of that measure but on the context of its use as well. A measurement device that is satisfactory for a large-scale research project may be too expensive, too lengthy, or require too much training for regulatory purposes. Similarly, the nature and size of the target population must be considered. Restoration of function after hip replacement may be a very effective measurement of care quality when applied to an acute rehabilitation facility associated with an active orthopedic referral center, but it would be completely useless in measuring the effectiveness of rehabilitation services in a small nursing home in which only one or two hips are replaced per year. Many of the measuring devices described here have limited applicability for

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

regulatory purposes because the numbers of residents with even a common condition will be small within a single nursing home.

Measurement for regulatory purposes must be clear-cut and reliable. Both the regulated and the regulators must be able to understand easily what is being measured and why it is being used for regulatory purposes. Disagreements about a particular measurement must be capable of arbitration. The application of regulatory quality measures must be satisfactory as legal evidence in court.

The kinds of outcomes that have been suggested for use as a part of the regulatory process are mostly avoidable events that can occur across a fairly large subset of the population if care is insufficient: decubitus ulcers in the bedridden and catheter-induced infections are two examples. Others are discussed in Appendix F.

Standards

Interpreting information on the structure, process, or outcome of care in order to evaluate quality of care and well-being requires comparison with some standards of reference. Relative quality is more readily assessed than absolute quality. The standards of reference are specific to a given condition or circumstance since the definition of good care or a good outcome may vary with the particular circumstance or condition. Thus, when comparing an observed level of care with a given standard (for example, from institutions performing at a level above an agreed percentile of performance), the comparison must be made between residents with comparable conditions, or, when making group comparisons, between groups with comparable conditions.

Standards may be constructed on the basis of professional experience and judgment, as reflected in professional practice norms or standards, or by comparison with information that can be collected under defined circumstances:

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

- from institutions judged to be exemplary,
- from the same institution at an earlier point in time, or
- from the same or other institutions under varying conditions.

These standards (professional judgment and systematic comparisons) are not mutually exclusive. Professional judgment is informed by more systematic comparisons. It also may be necessary when systematic comparison data are not available. But systematic comparisons have the major advantage of objectivity and can be refined over time. Valid comparisons require that the information be collected uniformly and reliably and on a large scale. Also, the standards must be reviewed periodically and revised to keep them up to date.

Case Mix

Case-mix stratification entails grouping residents according to a select number of their characteristics (age, sex, functional status, mental status, and so on) and needs for services. Measurements of functional impairment, intellectual impairment, and subjective well-being, all of which predict needs for care, can be used to define case-mix reference groups. Thus the care given, as well as the changes in resident well-being associated with the care given, can be measured and evaluated for groups of residents with similar care needs.

Case mix is essential for measuring outcomes. The outcomes of care can be measured by changes in the health and functional status of residents. A study conducted by Jones and colleagues in Massachusetts in the early 1970s first demonstrated the feasibility of this approach to quality assessment in long-term care. Outcomes also can be related to groups in which members have similar expected outcomes. A series of studies of residents of "high-quality" nursing homes has been undertaken by Kane in an attempt to link nursing home payment to resident outcomes and nursing home costs. Data collected on residents included a

broad set of functional aspects covering six domains: physical, functional (ADL), cognitive, affective, social, and satisfaction, with measurements made at 3-month intervals. The study introduced the concept of "prognostic adjustment factor" (PAF) as an outcome measurement of quality of care. The PAF reflects the extent to which the actual outcome of care exceeds or falls short of an expected level. The system is based on resident data that are used to generate a predicted course for the resident based on the experience of similar residents: the resident gets better, stays the same, or gets worse. Comparing the actual status of the resident with the predicted status after a suitable period of time gives the PAF for that resident over that time interval.

Morris and colleagues did a longitudinal analysis of a multi-year data set on the residents of 107 facilities located in 11 states and the District of Columbia. The data were obtained from the National Health Corporation and the state of Montana. The authors developed a resident classification scheme differentiating among major categories of residents, classified by physical and mental functioning domains and care requirements. These characteristics were measured against a range of indicators that have quality-of-life implications, including ADL, communication, behavior, activities, outside contacts, family contacts, and decubitis ulcers. New admissions and current residents were studied over 1 year and the changes in these quality-of-life-related indicators, controlling for case mix, were shown. The study shows the powerful potential for monitoring outcomes and establishing standards that this type of data—collected regularly—can provide.

Standard Instruments

The use of standard instruments increases the power of interpreting and using information for quality assurance purposes. Standard information is necessary to make comparisons across institutions, which can lead to industrywide reference standards against which nursing homes can be evaluated for quality assurance purposes.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

Such instruments are currently being used by some nursing homes and nursing home chains, and by state regulatory bodies.

Nursing homes and nursing home chains are increasingly using standardized instruments to collect resident information for the purpose of service determination, internal quality assurance, and rate setting. As mentioned earlier, the National Health Corporation has used such an instrument in its Patient Assessment Computerized (PAC) system for about a dozen years. The PAC data include sociodemographic, medical, functional, and social components as well as service needs in determining case mix. The data are obtained from every resident each month and entered into a computer file. The instrument is used in conjunction with the Management Minutes System, an algorithm that uses resident assessment data to calculate daily nursing time requirements for each resident. ⁹⁷ PAC data can be used to establish the costs of care, resident charges, and to budget nursing labor. The data also can be used for various longitudinal analyses, including outcome-based quality-of-care measures. The PAC system is being used by Montana for its Medicaid case-mix reimbursement system.

A similar effort has been undertaken by the Hillhaven Foundation in the development and implementation of the Patient Care Profile (PCP) system.⁸² This instrument includes 19 variables related to functional status and service needs that form the lowest common denominator of need for nursing care, regardless of the resident's medical diagnosis. The PCP is used to help determine initial placement in the nursing home and to set rates for private-pay residents. On the basis of assessment findings, residents are grouped according to service need and mental status to promote resident satisfaction and effective use of human and material resources. The PCP is also used as an internal quality assurance tool to assess the effects of care on residents' physical performance over time.

A range of research and demonstration projects has standardized case-mix instruments to establish service needs and costs of care. For example, in 1983 the New York State Department of Health initiated a major study to

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

develop a case-mix reimbursement system for long-term care facilities. ⁸¹ The major objective was to develop a reimbursement methodology that matches residents' needs to services and resources. The system will also provide incentives for rehabilitation, discharge, and better outcomes for residents. The system is based on Resource Utilization Groups (RUGS II).⁸² It uses a classification instrument that categorizes residents into groups, each of which is different in clinical terms and different in resource use. The system will be implemented on a statewide basis in 1986.

National, Regional, and Local Uses

Interpretation of information for quality assurance is clearly critical to efficient regulation of nursing homes. Information collected through federal demonstration projects being conducted by state regulatory agencies is currently being used to categorize nursing home residents on the basis of service needs and costs of care.

Most state-level case-mix systems collect information for purposes of reimbursement. The same or similar information can be used for quality assurance by comparing the services actually received and resident outcomes with those expected for residents in comparable case-mix groups. The "expected" outcomes are determined empirically by collecting longitudinal assessment data on large numbers of residents.

The interpretation of information along the lines described here can also be of great value when practiced by the administrators and staff of the nursing homes themselves:

- to monitor the quality of their own performance in providing care
- · to track gains in productivity
- to review unexpected outcomes
- for planning and monitoring resource use to meet changing case-mix requirements.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

As noted earlier, nursing homes and nursing home chains have interpreted and used information about residents' characteristics and service needs for one or more of these purposes.

Such comparative statistical information about nursing home performance, developed from local, regional, or national sources, can also be useful to consumers by helping them to become better informed and, therefore, able to play a more effective role in the process of quality assurance.

QUALITY ASSURANCE AND THE REGULATORY SYSTEM

The current goals of federal regulation of nursing homes for quality assurance purposes are to ensure the safety of residents and the adequacy of their care. In practice, as used by most states and the federal government, the term "adequate" has been interpreted to mean "minimum" acceptable standards. This grew out of the original circumstances prevailing when the Medicare and Medicaid programs began. At that time, strict application of higher-quality standards would have made most existing nursing homes ineligible for certification. So two things were done: the proposed standards were lowered and the concept of "substantial compliance" was introduced to allow many homes to participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs while they undertook the necessary actions to bring them into compliance with the minimum standards. This established a tradition of allowing inadequate facilities to continue operating while the state regulatory agencies exerted varying amounts of pressure to bring them into compliance. (See Appendix A.)

In the last 10-15 years, however, there has been sufficient experience to enable the setting of more ambitious regulatory goals. It is now feasible for federal and state governments to strengthen their regulatory criteria, inspection processes, and enforcement procedures so that the regulatory system can be expected to reliably detect and quickly eliminate nursing home care

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

of unacceptably poor quality that occurs anywhere in the country. It also is reasonable to expect that better quality assurance capabilities should result in improvement in the level of performance of facilities that are providing only marginally adequate care. Many of these facilities are continuously in and out of compliance. The strengthened quality assurance criteria and procedures also are likely to exert a positive effect on all other facilities so that the level of performance of "average" nursing homes can be expected to improve. This would increase overall levels of quality of care and quality of life provided to most residents in most nursing homes throughout the country.

To achieve these goals, the current regulatory system will have to make major changes in quality assessment criteria, inspection techniques and procedures, information systems, and enforcement policies and procedures. Chapters 3, 4, and 5 examine the current regulatory system and recommend changes that are designed to provide it with the increased capabilities that are now possible.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

3

Regulatory Criteria

THE ISSUES

Government regulation of nursing homes for quality assurance purposes has three components: (1) the criteria used to determine whether a nursing home is providing care of acceptable quality in a safe and clean environment, (2) the procedures used to determine the extent to which nursing homes comply with the criteria, and (3) the procedures used to enforce compliance. The three components are like the legs of a three-legged stool: All are equally important. This chapter deals only with quality criteria. Chapters 4 and 5 discuss the other components.

Two sets of federal certification criteria for nursing homes currently exist: one for skilled nursing facilities (SNFs) and one for intermediate care facilities (ICFs). SNFs and ICFs are defined as being capable of providing different "levels" of care. SNFs are required to be staffed and equipped to provide more skilled nursing and rehabilitation services than are ICFs. The SNF criteria consist of 18 "conditions of participation" each of which contains one or more standards that must be met to comply with the condition. There are 90 SNF standards contained in the 18 conditions. The regulations containing these

criteria were issued in final form in 1974 and have remained in effect, essentially unchanged, since then. The ICF criteria do not have conditions of participation. Originally issued in 1974, they contained 15 standards comprising numerous elements. Later that year, the ICF standards—with three additional standards added, bringing the total to 18—were incorporated in a survey form. In 1978 the HCFA published a new set of ICF regulations containing 46 standards. The 1978 version was intended to be substantively the same as the 1974 standards, but better organized and worded more clearly. Most of the new standards were not new; they were elements in the 1974 version. However, the HCFA did not publish a new survey form based on the 1978 regulations. Surveyors continue to use the 1974 form that contains the 1974 version of the regulations. (Both the SNF and ICF criteria are contained in Appendix B.)

Dissatisfaction with both sets of criteria was expressed publicly and repeatedly almost from the time they were issued. In general, providers, consumer advocates, and many state and federal regulators agreed that

- the regulations do not require assessment of the quality of care being delivered; rather, they require assessment of the facility's structural capacity to provide care;
- the survey process emphasizes paper compliance rather than observation and interviews with nursing home residents;
- many of the standards are vague and depend too much on unguided judgments by surveyors, many of whom are untrained. Surveyor judgments are frequently inconsistent: what is deemed acceptable by one surveyor may be unacceptable to another.

These views were publicly voiced on numerous occasions by many people—most recently at the public meetings held by the committee in September 1984.

The committee is convinced that it is not sound policy to maintain two levels of care subject to two sets of quality assurance criteria. This is the first of the issues discussed below.

The second issue is the conceptual basis of the criteria. They rest on the implicit assumption that the presence of the potential capability and written intent on the part of the facility to provide appropriate care is sufficient to ensure —for regulatory purposes—that care of adequate quality is being provided. A major reorientation of the conditions and standards is necessary so that they require, whenever possible, assessment of the quality and appropriateness of care and the quality of life—a consideration not covered in current standards—being provided to residents, and the effects on residents' well-being.

A third issue is the excessive reliance the current standards place on unguided professional judgments by surveyors in three areas: (1) what constitutes good care for residents with differing service needs, (2) how to interpret survey findings, and (3) how to weight or score facility performance on individual standards, and how to aggregate performance on individual standards to determine whether a facility is in compliance with a condition of participation. Elimination of professional judgment—and the inconsistencies that are inescapably associated with it—will never be possible, but some steps to introduce more objectivity and reliability into the regulatory system are possible.

CONSOLIDATING THE TWO SETS OF CRITERIA

The two classes of nursing homes—SNFs and ICFs—are supposed to serve residents with different "levels" of nursing and rehabilitative care needs. The regulations differentiate between the two groups in their capacity to provide services (for example, in the professional staff required) and in the eligibility criteria (services needed by the residents) set by the states. Despite these regulatory distinctions, the actual distinctions between SNFs and ICFs—in the variety of services provided, and in the mix of residents they admit with different distributions of disability and nursing care needs—is blurred. Both types of facilities are nursing homes providing a range of services to residents with widely

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

varying service needs. (The history of the development of federal regulation of nursing homes, including the establishment of the two classes of nursing homes, is contained in Appendix A.)

SNFs are considered more medically oriented, as implied, for example, by the use of the term "patients" throughout the SNF regulations. The ICF regulations refer to "residents." SNFs are required to provide more nurse staffing -SNFs must have a nurse on duty 24 hours a day, whereas ICFs must have a nurse on duty only during each day-shift. In addition, SNF standards for other staff and for services provided are also more detailed and stricter than ICF requirements. The minimal requirements for each type of facility describe a broad range of facilities and range of intensity of service in both levels of care that overlap. Most nursing homes provide both nursing care and assistance with activities of daily living. Furthermore, the definitions of each, and especially of the ICF, leave a large amount of discretion to the states as to which facilities they will call SNFs and which ICFs, and which residents they will consider eligible for SNF or ICF care. The number of SNFs in a jurisdiction ranges from as few as 3 in the District of Columbia to as many as 1,148 in California, and the proportion of facilities that are classified SNF from 2 percent in Oklahoma to 100 percent in Arizona. The number of ICFs ranges from none in Arizona to 770 in Texas, and accounts for 98 percent of Oklahoma's facilities. The Medicaid reimbursement rates for SNFs must, by law, be higher than for ICFs. If the rate difference is large, there is an incentive for states to control costs by licensing more ICF beds than SNF beds, irrespective of the distribution of residents' needs.

States have different licensing criteria for nursing homes. They are allowed, under the Medicaid law, to set their own eligibility criteria for admission of residents to SNFs and ICFs. States can have more stringent requirements for licensure and eligibility for admission than the federal regulations require. Examples of different licensing requirements can be found in Connecticut and Iowa. The homes in each state serve residents with a wide range of service needs. In

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

Connecticut, about 90 percent of nursing homes are certified as SNFs. In Iowa, nearly all of the nursing homes are certified as ICFs. It is highly improbable that the reason there are mostly SNFs in Connecticut and mostly ICFs in Iowa is that the residents' requirements for services differ that much—that is, that they require, on the average, more skilled nursing care in Connecticut than they do in Iowa. The differences are more likely to be due to other factors such as the availability of chronic hospitals, state judgments on appropriate nurse staffing for nursing homes, and state attitudes about Medicaid funding.

It is hardly appropriate to apply different quality assurance criteria to SNFs and ICFs that are, or should be, providing similar services to similar residents. This will become even more important as the rapid population growth of those over age 75 increases the number of seriously disabled residents requiring "heavy care." The main difference between the SNF and ICF standards is the requirement for minimum numbers of licensed practical nurses and RNs. To raise the ICF nursing standards to the SNF level will require an increase in nurses in many homes. Since most of the care in nursing homes is provided by nurse's aides who have had relatively little training, and who tend, on the average, not to remain in the same job very long, it is essential that all nursing homes employ a sufficient number of licensed practical and registered nurses to properly supervise the aides at all times. In addition, professional nurses are needed to supervise resident assessments and to monitor delivery of resident health care and treatment.

In sum, the administrative distinctions between SNFs and ICFs do not in practice display clear differences in the residents they serve. Both kinds of facilities are nursing homes that admit and care for residents with wide ranges of disabilities and service needs. They therefore should be subject to the same quality assurance criteria and procedures. Since most of the care in nursing homes is provided by unlicensed nurse's aides who require careful supervision by licensed nurses, the SNF minimum staffing standards should be applied to all nursing homes.

Recommendation 3-1: The regulatory distinction between SNFs and ICFs should be abolished. A single set of conditions of participation and standards should be used to certify all nursing homes. The current SNF conditions and standards, with the modifications and additions recommended below, should become the bases for new certifying criteria.

This is a recommendation that requires a change in the law. It may lead to increases in Medicaid budgets in several states because it will require increased RN and LPN staffing in many nursing homes in those states. (This is discussed more fully in the last section of this chapter.) Some time will be needed to implement this change in states with many ICFs. But whatever the transition problems, applying one set of regulatory standards to all nursing homes is essential if the goal is to achieve overall improvement in the quality of care being provided to nursing home residents. The nursing home industry has matured in the past 15 years. The shortage of nurses—advanced as one of the important reasons for creating ICFs—that may have existed some years ago has eased, in part as a result of sharp drops in hospital bed occupancy rates, and the reductions in hospital employment. Moreover, understanding of what is required to provide high-quality care in nursing homes exists today than existed 15 years ago.

RESIDENT ASSESSMENT

Providing high-quality care requires careful assessment of each resident's functional, medical, mental, and psychosocial status upon admission, and reassessment periodically thereafter, with the changes in status noted. Current regulations do not require a standardized assessment of any kind, although the development of individual plans of care clearly depend on resident assessments. The outcomes of care are defined by changes in functional, medical, mental, and psychosocial status. As discussed in Chapter 2, much research over many years

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

has developed successful techniques and instruments that can produce valid, reliable assessment data that can be used for these purposes. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that these instruments can be used reliably by LPNs who have been trained to use them, as well as RNs.

The resident assessment data have several very important uses both for facility management and for government regulatory agencies. For the facility, standard resident assessment data, obtained on admission and periodically thereafter, are an essential tool for quality-of-care purposes and for other management uses. A careful assessment of every resident is needed to formulate a care plan for that resident. Typically, the resident care plan contains information on physical and mental function, health risk factors, diagnoses, prognoses, short- and long-term goals, as well as key social history items. Periodic reassessment—for example, every month for the first 2 months after admission, and quarterly thereafter—is essential for two reasons: (1) to check on the resident's status changes, and (2) to see what, if any, modifications in the care plan should be made. The data can be used by management for two other purposes: (1) to provide very precise information on case mix in the nursing home, how it is changing, and how appropriately residents, staff, and other resources are—or should be—distributed in the home; and (2) to conduct longitudinal studies on quality of care, controlled for case mix. For example, problems in particular bed sections—possibly attributable to inadequate nursing care—could be identified promptly and steps taken to remedy them. One nursing home chain has been using similar data for over 10 years for monitoring the case mix, staffing, and the quality-of-care performance in its 50 nursing homes from its central office.4

Standard, longitudinal assessment data are also essential for four state regulatory functions: (1) for obtaining case-mix information in each nursing home for use in sampling for survey purposes (see Chapter 4), (2) for obtaining outcome information by examining longitudinal assessment data in resident records, (3) for utilization review to assure that residents meet the eligibility requirements of Medicaid or Medicare, and (4)

for case-mix information needed for Medicaid payment (reimbursement) calculations (in states where case mix is used as a factor in Medicaid payment policy).

The standards for this condition should specify the items to be used in making the assessment, the qualifications of the staff authorized to do the assessing (for example, licensed nurses), the training they should receive before being authorized to do the assessments, how often assessments of each resident are required—for example, on admission, once a month for the first 2 months, once every 3 months thereafter, and at discharge. The standards should specify that these assessment records should be retained in the resident's medical record. Auditing by the state regulatory agency also should be covered in a standard, and acceptable error rates specified. Once the system has been in operation for some time, unacceptably high error rates by facilities should be viewed as indicators of inferior performance and subject to sanctions by the survey agency.

Introducing and phasing in this new set of requirements will take time. Several major steps are necessary. The assessment items will have to be selected. The assessment data should include (but not be limited to) medical problem identification (diagnoses), measures of physical function such as activities of daily living and mobility, and measures of mental and psychosocial functioning such as appropriate behavior, cognitive ability and depression. An operations manual will have to be written for the ultimate users—licensed nurses. Training programs and training materials will have to be developed. A major training effort will have to be initiated by the HCFA and continued by the states, possibly with the help of the state provider associations. All state nurse surveyors will need to be trained in collecting this standard data in a consistent manner since they will be responsible for auditing the facilities. Federal regional office surveyors also will have to be trained in addition to the thousands of facility staff. Auditing procedures and standards for the kinds and amounts of acceptable discrepancies between auditor's findings and facility data should be based on the findings of careful empirical studies.

The requirement for nursing homes to do standard assessments of all residents should not be immediately coupled to a requirement that the data be entered into a computer file. Eventually, computer access will be essential to be able to use the data for some of the important purposes noted above. But it will take at least 2-3 years to get the manual system installed and used with acceptable accuracy by most nursing homes.

During the period that this system is being developed and installed, there will be an opportunity to undertake simultaneously a careful study of the policy and technical problems involved in computerizing resident assessment data, and to agree on the use of such data by state and federal governments. The product of such a study should be a specific plan for doing so. This is discussed in Chapter 7.

Recommendation 3-2: A new condition of participation on resident assessment should be added. It should require that in every certified facility a registered nurse who has received appropriate training for the purpose shall be responsible for seeing that accurate assessments of each resident are done upon admission, periodically, and whenever there is a change in resident status. The results should be recorded and retained in a standard format in the resident's medical record.

REVISING AND STRENGTHENING THE CONDITIONS AND STANDARDS

The conditions of participation were introduced by the Medicare law in 1965. SNFs must comply with them to be eligible for certification under Medicaid or Medicare. There are 18 SNF conditions governing the following areas: state licensing, governing body, medical direction, physician care, nursing, dietary, specialized rehabilitation, pharmacy, lab and x-ray, dental, social services, patient activities, medical records, transfer agreement, physical environment, infection control, disaster preparedness, and utilization review. If a

skilled nursing facility is found to be out of compliance with one or more conditions, it is subject to decertification. This means the SNF is not eligible to receive payment for care provided to Medicaid- or Medicare-eligible residents.

The current SNF conditions and standards—which would, under our recommendation, become applicable to all nursing homes—need to be rewritten in accordance with the following principles:

- Whenever appropriate, the criteria should address residents' needs and the effects of care on residents, and the performance of a facility in providing care rather than its capability to perform.
- The criteria should be based on the best professional standards for providing high quality of care and quality of life to nursing home residents.
- 3. The criteria should be drafted clearly and with as much specificity as possible so that they can be understood by facilities, applied consistently by trained surveyors, and be legally enforceable.
- 4. The criteria should be internally consistent, logical, and comprehensive.
- 5. They should include physical, mental, and social functioning; nursing care; nutritional status; social services; physician care; psychological care; pharmacy; dental care; environment; residents' rights; emotional well-being; personal choice; satisfaction; and community interaction.
- The criteria should be sensitive to each facility's case mix, that is, to the variations in the services required and outcome expectations for residents with different needs found in one facility.
- 7. The criteria should not be unnecessarily burdensome on facilities.

An examination of the conditions of participation using the above principles reveals the areas where improvements are needed.

First, the current conditions and standards focus on the facility's capacity to provide services rather than on the quality of services received by the residents and their

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

effects on the residents. Most conditions and standards begin by stating "facilities will provide ... or facilities have policies to...." The conditions and standards need to be rewritten to state, "residents will receive ... appropriate to their needs (as documented in the resident's care plan)." The facility will still be held accountable for providing the services, but the surveyor should be concerned with how adequately the services were provided to the residents in accordance with their needs. That is, the emphasis should shift from facility capability to facility performance.

Second, the conditions do not consistently reflect current professional standards for long-term care in at least two respects: (1) they do not explicitly recognize the importance of quality of life, and (2) they do not require facilities to apply the state of the art in assessment and care planning. This is remediable by adding a new condition on quality of life and one requiring regular assessment of all residents. By use of longitudinal resident assessment data to develop statistics on outcomes of care controlled for case mix, objective outcome standards for assessing the quality of long-term care can be developed.

Third, a consistent criticism of the conditions is the vagueness of their language and lack of specificity compared to the licensing regulations in some states. The concept of the conditions—statements of broad requirements supported by detailed standards—is appropriate. The standards must be as precise and detailed as possible to be understandable to facilities, consistently applied, and enforceable by survey agencies. Terms such as "adequate" or "sufficient" are not precise, but they may not be entirely avoidable when there are no quantitative guidelines available. For example, the nursing condition requires "an organized nursing service with a sufficient number of qualified personnel to meet the total nursing needs" of the residents. Such a standard can be met through the exercise of professional judgment by facility staff. The facility's judgment may not be congruent with a surveyor's judgment, but the latter's judgment should rest in part on outcome assessments as well as observation of the workload of

available staff. Until such time as quantitative standards become available—for example, a standard that relates residents' service needs to nurse staffing by mathematical algorithm—professional judgment will have to remain. Vague, unmodified terms should be eliminated from the regulations, but professional judgment, guided by general standards, must remain where quantification is not currently feasible. The results of these modifications should allow surveyors to apply the criteria with greater consistency.

Fourth, the criteria should be sensitive to all major domains of resident care as well as to differences in residents' characteristics and service needs (case mix). For example, among residents who are bed-bound, the extent to which decubitus ulcers are found is a strong indicator of quality of care. Bed-bound residents have other important service needs that should be checked by surveyors, for example, bedside activities programs. Bedside activities would be inappropriate for ambulatory residents who require different services.

Standards that require facilities to use large amounts of staff time for purposes that do not contribute significantly to resident safety or the quality of care or quality of life should be minimized. Requirements that may disrupt resident care services also should be limited or avoided. Providers have reported during public meetings that the survey process requires such extensive maintenance, review, and abstracting of medical records and other documents that they are sometimes forced to assign resident care staff to these clerical tasks even though it interferes with the facility's ability to provide provision of necessary care to residents.

Recommendation 3-3: The existing SNF conditions and standards should be rewritten in accordance with the above principles and made applicable to all nursing homes.

In addition to rewriting the current criteria in accordance with the above principles, some new conditions and standards are needed and some of the current conditions and standards should be restructured. Specifically,

- 1. Two new conditions of participation should be added that deal with quality of life and quality of care.
- 2. Residents' rights should be raised from a standard to a condition of participation and some new residents' rights standards added.
- 3. Seven existing conditions of participation—governing body and management, utilization review, transfer agreement, disaster preparedness, medical direction, laboratory and radiological services, and medical records—should become standards in a new condition to be called "administration."
- 4. Five new standards should be added to the administration condition: one on training for nurse's aides and one banning discrimination on admission or retention of residents on the basis of source of payment, access, notification, and consumer participation.
- 5. Standards in the social service and physical environment conditions should be strengthened.

These recommendations are summarized in Table 3-1 and discussed separately below. Other existing criteria that address structural components remain as conditions of participation.

Quality of Life

A major weakness of the current regulations is that they do not address quality of life, despite its importance to the majority of nursing home residents (as discussed in Chapter 2). Certain key aspects of quality of life can be specified as regulatory standards, although there are difficult measurement problems. The importance of quality of life merits its being incorporated into the regulations as a condition of participation.

Recommendation 3-4: A new condition of participation concerning quality of life should be added to the certification regulations. The condition should state that residents shall be cared for in such a manner and in such an environment as will promote maintenance or enhancement of their quality of life without abridging the safety and rights of other residents.

been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

TABLE 3-1 Recommended Changes in Conditions of Participation

- Resident Assessment (new)
- 2. Quality of Care (new)
- 3. Quality of Life (new)
- 4. Residents' Rights (new)
- 5. Administration (new). This would involve reducing the following conditions to standards and adding five new standards:
 - Governing body and management (II)*
- Utilization review (XVIII)
 - Transfer agreement (XIV)
 - Disaster preparedness (XVII)
 - Medical direction (III)
 - Laboratory and radiological services (IX)
 - Medical records (XIII)
 - Nurse's aide training (new)
 - Access (new)
 - Medicaid discrimination (new)
 - Notification (new)
- Consumer participation (new)

The following would remain as conditions but require modification:

- 6. Nursing services (V)
- 7. Dietetic services (VI)
- 8. Physician services (IV)
- 9. Specialized rehabilitative services (VII)
- 10. Resident activities (XII)
- 11. Social services (XI) (strengthen)
- 12. Dental services (X)
- 13. Pharmaceutical services (VIII)
- 14. Infection control (XVI)
- 15. Physical environment (XV) (strengthen)
- 16. Compliance with federal, state, and local laws (I)

^{*} Roman numerals refer to the number of the condition of participation in the current federal regulations.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

Some standards that should be included under this condition are—

- Residents should have a supportive, comfortable, home-like environment.
- Residents should have choice over their surroundings, schedules, health care, and activities.
- 3. Residents should be treated with dignity and respect.
- 4. Residents should have opportunities to interact with members of the community inside and outside the nursing home.

Quality of Care

At present, the conditions of participation relating to care are disciplinary: there is a nursing condition, a social service condition, dietary condition, and so on. But much of the care actually provided has multidisciplinary involvement. Thus, in reorienting the approach of regulation to give more emphasis to the care being provided and its effects on the residents, a new quality-of-care condition is needed that has both process and outcome standards.

The standards for the quality-of-care condition should identify desirable resident outcomes of care processes in functional status, physical well-being and safety, emotional well-being, social involvement and participation, cognitive functioning, and resident satisfaction. Examples of outcome standards are: each resident is clean, dressed, has well-trimmed nails, and is well-groomed; each resident maintains physical functioning. Examples of process standards are: each resident is protected from accidents, injury, and infection; each resident has daily activities and exercise; each resident has social interactions throughout each day with staff members and other residents; each resident has mental stimulation, reality orientation, emotional support, and other psychological supports.

Specifying desired processes and outcomes is important because it focuses on the purpose of nursing home care.

Assessing the relationship between the quality of care provided and a particular outcome is not always easy in the absence of case-mix-controlled outcome data. Until such data become available, continued reliance on professional judgment will be necessary. Introduction of the resident assessment data system recommended below will make it possible to produce, in a few years, the data required for defining the ranges of outcomes. As quantitative outcome data become available, the standards in this condition should be updated.

Outcomes can be negative or positive. Negative outcomes are those that should not occur except in circumstances where a resident's medical and physical condition makes the outcome difficult or impossible to avoid. Negative include cognitive impairment or other side effects from overmedication; decubitus ulcers; upper respiratory, urinary tract, or other infections; urinary incontinence; dehydration; malnutrition; contractures; unnecessary physical restraints and immobility; social isolation; and physical inactivity. The standards should specify the negative outcomes to be avoided. For example: "Each resident should receive skin care that promotes health and prevents decubitus ulcers and skin breakdown due to pressure and/or friction." This standard is based upon the principle that good skin care can prevent skin breakdown except in unusual circumstances where a preexisting medical condition such as diabetes causes circulatory problems that make skin breakdowns a common occurrence. Decubitus ulcers (bedsores) are generally considered an indicator of poor-quality care.^{2,3} Protocols have been developed for identifying and measuring the severity of such skin breakdowns, and it can be determined whether care by the facility is improving the problem, maintaining an existing condition, or allowing the resident's condition to deteriorate. Positive outcomes are, for the most part, the obverse of the negative outcomes—for example, no decubitus ulcers among bed-bound residents, resident satisfaction with food and care, and so on. The importance of resident outcomes and process of care merits their inclusion in a new condition of participation.

Recommendation 3-5: A new condition of participation on quality of care should be added to the certification regulations. It should state that each resident is to receive high-quality care to meet individual physical, mental, and psychosocial needs. The care should be designed to maintain or improve the residents' physical, mental, and emotional well-being.

Residents' Rights

As discussed in Chapter 2, residents who receive good personalized care and opportunities for choice have higher morale, greater life satisfaction, and better adjustment. Research has shown that morale and activity are linked to physical health, and perception of social isolation is associated with premature death. Residents who have the information necessary to solve problems are better able to cooperate with both nursing home staff and state surveyors.⁵ These factors underly the importance of ensuring every resident's right to receive necessary information, to be given reasonable choices, and to be treated with dignity.

Although residents' rights are incorporated in a standard in the current regulations, at the committee's public meetings and at its special workshop on consumer issues (December 1984), the testimony of consumers, consumer advocates, and regulators cited numerous instances and patterns of serious rights violations. Many agreed that the ambiguity of elements in the current residents' rights standard is such that both residents' entitlements and facilities' obligations are unclear. The ambiguity hampers enforcement. The likelihood of improving facility performance and also of improving enforcement by the state regulatory agencies will be increased by (1) raising residents' rights to a condition of participation from its current status as 1 of 13 standards under the "governing body and management" condition of participation, and (2) clarifying the language of several enumerated rights and adding some that experience has demonstrated to be necessary.

Testimony at the public meetings and consumer issues workshop identified the particular topic areas where clarified, expanded, or additional standards are warranted. These are the rights to information (about community services, about one's medical condition, and about one's medical records), rights to notice and assistance in transfer or discharge, and rights of association. The enumerated rights set forth below are reasonable to expect all facilities to honor. They have been observed in many high-quality facilities for some time.

Recommendation 3-6: The existing standard on residents' rights should be made into a condition of participation. The condition should state that every resident has certain civil and personal legal rights that must be honored by the staff of the facility. Rights specified in this condition, as they pertain to a resident who has been adjudicated incompetent in accordance with state law, shall devolve to the resident's guardian, or, if required by the state, a responsible party. In cases where the attending physician determines that a legally competent resident is incapable of exercising a right, the conditions and circumstances shall be fully documented in the medical record and shall devolve to a responsible party. The following standards should be added to the residents rights' condition:

- a. All residents admitted to the facility shall be told that there are legal rights for their protection during their stay at the facility and that these are described in an accompanying written statement. Reasonable arrangements shall be made for those who speak a language other than English. At such time as the rights set forth in this condition are revised, residents shall be given the updated information. Further explanation of the written statement of rights shall be available to residents and their visitors upon reasonable request to the administrator or other designated staff person.
- b. Each resident has the right to know the name, address, and phone number of the state survey office, state or local nursing home ombudsman office, and state or

- local legal service office. The facility shall post such information in a location accessible to residents and visitors.
- c. Each resident has a right to see written facility policies. Facilities shall make policies available on request. Facilities shall post state survey reports and plans of correction in a location accessible to residents.
- d. Each resident may inspect his/her medical and social records upon request to the facility. The resident may request and receive copies of the records at a photocopying cost not exceeding the amount customarily charged in the facility's community for similar services. (This overrides state law and/or regulations if they are in conflict.)
- e. Each resident must receive prior notice of transfer, discharge, and lapse of bed-hold periods. The facility must notify the resident, resident's representative, and attending physician in writing
- (1) at least 3 clays prior to the lapse of bed-hold periods,
- (2) at least 3 days prior to intrafacility transfer,
- (3) at least 4 clays prior to discharge from the facility except as specified in documented emergencies.

The notice must contain the reason for the proposed transfer, the effective date, the location to which the facility proposes to transfer the resident, a statement that the resident may contest the proposed action, and the address and telephone number of the state or local nursing home ombudsman.

f. Each resident, along with his/her family has the right to organize, maintain, and participate in resident advisory and family councils. Each facility shall provide assistance and space for meetings. Council meetings shall be afforded privacy, with staff or visitors attending only upon the council's invitation. A staff person shall be designated responsible for providing this assistance and for responding to written requests that result from council meetings. Resident and family councils shall be encouraged to make recommendations regarding facility policies.

print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from the original paper book, not from files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed accidentally inserted. Please use the retained, and some typographic errors may have been

g. Each resident has the right to meet with visitors and participate in social, religious, and political activities at their discretion so long as the activities do not infringe on the rights of other residents. This includes the right to join others within and outside the facility to work for improvement in long-term care. The facility must permit each resident to receive visitors and associate freely inside or outside of the facility with persons and groups on the resident's own initiative. Visitors must be granted access to residents. The residents, however, have the right to refuse or terminate any visit.

Administration

According to the HCFA, the following seven conditions of participation are rarely cited as the reason for a nursing home being out of compliance:

- · Governing body and management
- · Utilization review
- Transfer agreements
- Disaster preparedness
- · Medical direction
- Laboratory and radiological services
- Medical records

Determining whether a facility is in compliance with these conditions involves review of documents such as organization charts, contracts, disaster plans, and medical records. To simplify the survey process, these seven conditions should be grouped together under a new condition of participation entitled, "Administration."

Recommendation 3-7: A new condition of participation entitled "Administration" should be established. The following current conditions of participation should be reclassified as standards under this new condition: governing body and management, utilization review, transfer agreements, disaster preparedness, medical

direction, laboratory and radiological services, and medical records.

Consolidating seven existing conditions into one administration condition will give more relative emphasis to resident quality-of-life and quality-of-care issues. In the process of rewriting the seven conditions as standards, two items should be eliminated because they are examples of paperwork requirements that do not seem to serve any regulatory function: the standard on institutional planning and the requirement for routine submission of quarterly staffing reports. Staffing records may be examined if resident care problems suggest insufficient numbers of staff, but submission every 3 months to survey agencies is unnecessarily burdensome to facilities, and the reports are almost never used by the regulatory agencies.

Recommendation 3-7 A: The current requirements for institutional planning and submission of quarterly staffing reports should be eliminated in drafting the new administration condition.

Several new standards should be added to the administration condition to strengthen it. These specify requirements for training nurse's aides, discrimination, legal access to facilities by ombudsmen, and resident participation in facility decision-making. In addition, the current standard (notification of changes in patient status) under the governing body and management condition should be modified to deal more clearly with the problem of the incompetent resident who has not been legally adjudicated as being incompetent.

Training of Nurse's Aides

There are now no federal requirements concerning qualifications of nurse's aides. In most states, nurse's aides occupy entry-level positions that have no experience or formal educational or training requirements. Over 70

percent of the nursing personnel in long-term care facilities are nurse's aides⁶ and as much as 90 percent of the resident care in nursing homes is delivered by them. Current federal regulations allow nurse's aides to deliver all resident care in ICFs without the supervision of a registered, licensed, or vocational nurse from 3 p.m. to 7 a.m. every day.

Nurse's aides usually are not experienced or adequately trained for their jobs, in some places many speak English poorly, and they often are new to the job as well. A Minnesota study found that 45 percent of the nurse's aides left their jobs within the first 3 months of employment and another 30 percent left within the first year. Another study found that 70 percent left within the first 6 months. Studies of the causes of the high attrition rate of nurse's aides have mentioned lack of respect from management, lack of autonomy, lack of job mobility, and low pay. 6-11

Seventeen states have mandated training programs for nurse's aides. Other training models have been developed by consultants to the federal government, by universities, and by facilities. States' training requirements range from as much as 50 classroom hours and 100 clinical hours of training for aides in California, to as few as 20 total hours in Nebraska. A majority of the states have no specific training requirements. Existing state programs follow no consistent educational model in content, goal, or organization. In many, the essential relationship between perceived training needs and on-the-job experience is riot present. Given the number of nurse's aides, and the importance of their role, training of nurse's aides prior to employment in the long-term facility should be federally mandated.

Nursing homes or other potential employers could arrange and pay for the training program for a newly hired aide. This would not put undue financial burden on the potential aide and may in fact screen out potentially unsatisfactory aides prior to their being given resident care responsibilities. There is no clear evidence at present of the amount of time and the content of the most effective nurse's aide training programs. This an important issue on which the HCFA should sponsor study.

In addition to preservice training, continuing on-the-job training by qualified supervisors is essential. A nurse-supervisor should be in all facilities on all shifts. Nurse's aides should be able to consult with a professional nurse while on the job. Considering the current trend of increasing numbers of residents who require substantial amounts of nursing care, aides must be trained and supervised. Improvements in aide training and job responsibility will help to improve nursing aide skills, elevate their self-esteem, improve resident care and, perhaps, decrease nurse's aide attrition rates as well.

Recommendation 3-7 B: A new standard, nurse's aide training, should be added to the administration condition. The standard should require that all nurse's aides complete a preservice state-approved training program in a state-accredited institution such as a community college.

Discrimination

There is widespread evidence that nursing homes actively discriminate against certain types of individuals. The two groups most at risk appear to be those individuals with "heavy care" needs and those whose primary source of payment is Medicaid. The evidence of this discrimination is very strong. As the U.S. Senate Special Committee on Aging¹² reported,

Findings of a recent committee investigation show that in some areas of this country, up to 80 percent of what are called federally certified nursing homes (that is, those that voluntarily participate in the Medicare and/or Medicaid programs) are reported to actively discriminate against Medicaid beneficiaries in their admission practices.

In addition, several other studies demonstrate that discrimination and limited access to nursing home services are particularly acute problems for Medicaid patients and

those individuals with heavy-care needs. ¹³⁻¹⁹ The National Summary of State Nursing Home Ombudsman Reports for the United States (FY 1982) stated that discrimination against Medicaid recipients or potential Medicaid recipients was identified as a major problem in 21 states and was the fourth most frequently mentioned problem out of 74 problems cited by the ombudsmen programs. The General Accounting Office²⁰ summarized 11 studies conducted since 1979 and concluded that severe access problems and discrimination were occurring on the basis of resident "handicap." Individuals who required especially heavy care or substantial hands-on care, such as those suffering from Alzheimer's disease and other related disorders, experienced access problems and were often in hospitals awaiting nursing home placement even when there were empty nursing home beds in the community. The nursing homes simply refused to admit these residents. The U.S. Senate Special Committee on Aging reports similar problems—as well as a variety of illegal discriminatory practices—by nursing homes. ¹²

The committee also heard about such practices in testimony at the public meetings it held around the country in 1984. State reports and empirical studies substantiate this finding of discrimination against Medicaid beneficiaries and against those with heavy-care needs. Nearly all observers agree that in almost every state there are more people seeking admission to nursing homes than there are beds available. This circumstance allows a nursing home administrator to select those applicants in the queue he or she prefers to admit. Nursing homes prefer to admit private-pay residents over public-pay residents because the Medicaid reimbursement rates are lower than charges to private-pay residents. Further, except in states that have ease-mix reimbursement systems, homes have an incentive to select residents with relatively low levels of need over the heavy-care residents because those requiring less service are less costly to care for. This is of particular concern because of the expected growth in heavy-care residents and because

the vast majority of individuals needing long-term care will rely on Medicaid for assistance in paying for that care. Currently, two-thirds of all middle-income residents in nursing homes spend their life savings within 2 years of admission and become Medicaid-eligible.

It is recognized that there are many complex and interrelated factors at work in the nursing home market that may contribute to discrimination. The committee's concern is to identify policies that may reduce or eliminate discrimination that strikes at those most vulnerable—the poorest and most disabled.

Congress intended that the disabled should be protected from discrimination in admission practices. The 1974 amendments to section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act makes such discrimination illegal. It is also recognized that a nursing home administrator cannot responsibly admit more heavy-care residents than can be cared for properly. The incentive to discriminate against heavy-care residents is strengthened by reimbursement systems that set Medicaid rates without taking into account the differences in amounts of services required by individual residents to meet their care needs. In some cases, the Medicaid rate may be too low for nursing homes to provide adequate care for certain individuals, but in all cases a rate that is the same for light-care residents as for heavy-care residents provides nursing homes with a strong incentive to discriminate.

Discrimination against individuals who receive assistance from Medicaid in paying for care poses complex questions. Such discrimination appears in several forms. Some nursing homes maintain separate waiting lists—one for private-pay residents and another for Medicaid residents—and give preference in admission to those individuals on the private-pay list. Another discriminatory practice is to require residents to remain in private-pay status for a specified period of time before the home will allow them to apply for Medicaid support. Still another practice followed by some nursing homes is to evict residents once they have exhausted their private funds and become eligible for Medicaid. Some residents have successfully challenged transfers out of facilities, but this is a time-consuming and inefficient

way to enforce such rights, and it has not led to widespread changes in facility practices. 15

The problem of discrimination against Medicaid recipients is further complicated by the phenomenon of residents spending down to Medicaid eligibility. Most nursing home residents whose care is covered by Medicaid will have originally entered the facility as private-pay residents. Conversely, most private-pay residents can be expected to spend down to Medicaid eligibility.

There is no simple solution to this problem. Because a seller's market exists in most states, increasing the Medicaid rate probably also would increase the private-pay rate. Increasing Medicaid rates also increases the speed with which private-pay residents spend down to Medicaid eligibility. Nor would increasing the bed supply necessarily eliminate the problem of Medicaid discrimination in its various forms. Increased bed supply would make more nursing home beds available to Medicaid residents, but it would not ensure their ability to enter the facility of their choice on an equal basis with private-pay residents. Separate waiting lists, forced discharges, and contracts stipulating a fixed period of private-pay status could still occur. Such discrimination should not occur in facilities that have chosen to participate in government programs. Discrimination against Medicaid recipients should not be permitted in certified facilities.

A few states have adopted laws to reduce or eliminate discrimination on the basis of source of payment. These states include Minnesota, Ohio, Washington, and New York. New Jersey requires a certified nursing home to allow up to a specified percent of its beds to be occupied by Medicaid residents. There is no known evidence of the effectiveness of these laws. The HCFA should analyze the experience in these states and develop federal criteria based on one or more of these state laws.

In developing antidiscrimination legislation, care should be taken to ensure that facilities are not permitted to avoid compliance by certifying different segments of the same institutions in different ways ("distinct part" certification).

Recommendation 3-7 C: A new standard should be written under the administration condition that prohibits facilities that have signed a Medicaid Provider Agreement from having different standards of admission, transfer, discharge, and service for individuals on the basis of sources of payment.

Notification

Many nursing home residents have strong feelings of personal isolation despite the group-living situation.⁵ These feelings are reinforced by the failure of facilities to notify residents' families about significant changes in a resident's status, failure to provide residents with a way to express opinions about aspects of the home's operation, and obstacles to community access. These problems should be addressed in specific standards in the administration condition.

Notification of those who might assist the resident when changes occur is now required by standard (j) under the governing body and management condition. It reads as follows:

(j) Standard: Notification of changes in patient status. The facility has appropriate written policies and procedures relating to notification of the patient's attending physician and other responsible persons in the event of an accident involving the patient, or other significant change in the patient's physical, mental, or emotional status, or patient charges, billings, and related administrative matters. Except in a medical emergency, a patient is not transferred or discharged, nor is treatment altered radically, without consultation with the patient or, if he is incompetent, without prior notification of next of kin or sponsor.

Recommendation 3-7 D: When the governing body and management condition is rewritten and incorporated in the

new administration condition, the current standard "j" should be changed to require the facility to record at admission and periodically confirm or update the identity of a guardian, conservator, or resident's representative to be notified in the event of (1) care conferences; (2) changes in the resident's physical, mental, or emotional status; (3) an accident involving the resident; (4) change in billing; (5) change of room; (6) discharge from the facility; or (7) changes in federal or state residents' rights. Notification should be timely.

Participation

Residents' rights to associate and express concerns should have an analog in the administration condition, one that obligates the nursing home to be receptive to regular, reasonable expression of views. The recommendation below recognizes the diversity of resident capabilities and administrative styles while fostering communication. It reflects current policy and practice in many facilities and is encouraged by the national nursing home trade associations and consumer organizations.

Recommendation 3-7 E: A new standard should be added to the administration condition that would require every facility to develop and implement a plan for regular resident participation in decision-making in the facility's operations and policies and for presentation of resident concerns. Forms of resident participation can include, but are not limited to, resident councils, regularly scheduled resident forums, resident issue or program committees, and grievance committees. Facilities should include existing resident councils and/or other resident representatives in developing this plan.

Access

Local area ombudsmen and other community volunteers are denied access to some nursing homes in some areas despite

the demonstrated benefits of community presence in nursing homes.^{21,22} Some local nursing home ombudsmen have been hampered in their response to residents' requests for assistance because they have been refused entry to the facility and/or access to the residents' records that are germane to the problem.²³ Given the long-term-care ombudsman's statutory role in handling complaints and serving as an advocate on behalf of residents (see Chapter 6), and in the process complementing the work of the state survey agency, it is essential that local ombudsmen have legal access to nursing homes. This authority should be clear both in the Older Americans Act (see Chapter 6) and in the HCFA's certification standards. It also is unreasonable to permit some facilities to isolate residents from contacts with community volunteers who can provide legal or social services to them.

Recommendation 3-7 F: Two new elements should be added to the governing body and management standard as follows:

- a. Certified nursing homes should be required to permit access to the homes by an ombudsman (whether volunteer or paid) who has been certified by the state. With permission of a resident or legal guardian, a certified ombudsman should be allowed to examine the resident's records maintained by the nursing home.
- b. Any authorized employee or agent of a public agency, or any authorized representative of a community legal services organization, or any authorized member of a nonprofit community support agency that provides health or social services to nursing home residents should be permitted access at reasonable hours to any individual resident of any nursing home.

Physical Environment

Older individuals are much more sensitive to changes in temperature. They have a lower tolerance for cold and heat and easily suffer from hypothermia and hyperthermia. Thus, nursing home temperatures should be carefully monitored. The comfort of staff also is important because

it affects quality of care. The current standards are too vague to assure that the temperatures are carefully controlled; they should be strengthened. But since retrofitting changes in the heating, ventilation, and air-conditioning systems in a nursing home can be very expensive, the recommended standard could be waived for older facilities if it would result in undue hardship.

Recommendation 3-8: Standard 5, "Other Environmental Considerations" in the Physical Environment Condition currently reads "...provision is made for adequate and comfortable lighting levels in all areas, limitation of sounds at comfort levels, maintaining a comfortable room temperature" It should be amended to add, at this point, "that is within acceptable ranges of operative temperature and humidity for persons clothed in typical summer or winter clothing at light, mainly sedentary activities, as specified in the ANSI-ASHRAE Standard 55-1981." This is the standard prescribed by the nationally recognized American National Standards Institute. Waivers may be granted for existing facilities until such time as substantial renovation takes place.

NOTE ON STAFFING STANDARDS

General

Many types of professional services are required to formulate care plans and to provide high-quality care to meet the needs of the nursing home population. Physicians, dentists, podiatrists, speech therapists, physical therapists, occupational therapists, dietitians, and activities directors are needed in addition to nurses, social workers, and administrators. The heterogeneity of the residents and their service needs makes it inappropriate to prescribe detailed staffing standards for each of these disciplines. The major recommendations earlier in this chapter to shift the regulatory emphasis from structural to outcome orientation has an implication for staffing; namely, that every nursing home should be obligated to provide its residents with the full range of

services they need to meet the standards in the new quality-of-care and quality-of-life conditions. This will require sufficient staff—both numbers and types of professionals—to meet the needs of the residents in each home. All professionals should be trained in geriatrics and gerontology. Special efforts are needed to ensure that adequate physician services are provided to residents even though physicians—except for a part-time medical director—are not on the staff of nursing homes.

The committee did not examine the staffing standards pertaining to all types of staff and for most does not recommend any changes. However, it did look at social services and nursing.

Social Services

The current social services condition of participation is weak. It requires a designated person to be responsible for social services in each nursing home, and consultation from a social worker with an MSW degree when the designee is not so qualified. Reliance on this weak requirement has produced uneven results at best. Studies in various parts of the country show that many facilities have a bare minimum of social services—that is, they hire an MSW for 4 hours per month of consultation and appoint designees who are less than full-time and have little professional or even general education. Studies of the consultant role have shown how difficult it is for a nursing home consultant to design a social work program, develop procedures for a socially and psychologically sensitive environment, train and supervise social service designees, and design and conduct in-service training for all nursing home staff, given the minimal time allotted to their role and their negligible authority as a consultant. ²⁴⁻²⁶

A full-time social worker with at least minimum professional credentials will be needed to help implement several of the recommendations contained earlier in this chapter, especially the new quality-of-life condition and the emphasis on resident outcomes. The latter implies that facilities will be held responsible for residents'

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

well-being, including social and emotional aspects as well as physical.

Social services in nursing homes can be effective in promoting a satisfactory quality of life and in improving social and psychological outcomes.²⁷⁻³⁰ Such programs develop interventions directed at the well-being of individual residents or subgroups of residents (for example, individual counseling to alleviate depression, counseling with the terminally ill, individual or group life review projects, orientation programs for new residents and their families). A social service program should be designed in collaboration with an activities program so that the social worker's knowledge of community resources can help residents take advantage of agencies and programs in the community that offer social, mental health, legal, educational, recreational, and spiritual affiliations. The social worker's function in a nursing home also should include training and assisting staff to positively influence residents' psychological and social states. One model program in a number of nursing homes also encouraged social workers to assist nursing staff in dealing with their own stress-induced family and personal problems, which in turn allowed those staff to be more comforting and supportive of residents.²⁹

Recommendation 3-9: The present social services condition should be changed to require that each facility with 100 beds or more be required to employ at least one full-time social worker. Qualifications for this position should be a bachelor's degree in social work, a master's degree in social work, or some equivalent degree in an applied human service field at the bachelor's level or higher as approved by the state. Facilities with fewer than 100 beds or those in rural areas that have made a good-faith effort and have been unable to recruit a qualified social worker with the required credentials may substitute a contractual arrangement with a community agency or with an independent social work consultant. However, the HCFA should establish a minimum level of effort for social services in exempted facilities—for example, one day of consultation per week.

Licensed and Registered Nurses

One of the major factors affecting quality of care and quality of life in nursing homes is the number and quality of nursing staff in relation to the facility's requirements. Greater numbers of nurses have been associated with improved resident outcomes in research studies. But many nursing homes still rely largely on untrained and unlicensed nursing personnel to provide most of the care, with very few professional or licensed practical nurses to supervise them. 31-33 Moreover, most professional nurses in nursing homes have had little or no formal training in gerontology and long-term care. Staffing patterns vary across facilities, regions, and states, but for the most part there are inadequate numbers of nurses to provide the minimum care needed. Further, the wages for nurses and nurse's aides are substantially below wages for comparable positions in hospitals. Poor working conditions combined with heavy resident workloads and inadequate training are all factors that contribute to poor quality of care and high turnover rates in some facilities. Although there has not been extensive research on staffing patterns, there is little doubt that qualified nursing personnel are one of the most important factors affecting high quality of care.

Federal SNF certification regulations require registered nurses to act as directors of nursing. Licensed practical or registered nurses may act as charge nurses. Nursing homes currently have roughly equal numbers of registered nurses and licensed practical or vocational nurses working in long-term care facilities. About 15 percent of the nursing personnel in the nation's nursing homes are registered nurses, 14 percent are licensed practical nurses, and 71 percent are nurse's aides. "Aides ... provide six times as much care in nursing homes as do registered nurses, and five times as much care as do licensed practical nurses."

On the assumption that adequate staffing improves quality of care, many states have adopted stricter nursing requirements, in the form of nurse-to-resident ratios, to supplement the federal regulations. These ratios range

from as little as 0.4 nursing hour per resident-day to as many as 4.0 hours.

There is a 4-fold variation in beds per licensed nurse, from 4.5 in Alaska to 18.8 in Oklahoma. The variation in RN/LPN ratio among the states is 9-fold, from 0.2 in Texas to 1.9 in New Hampshire.

Some states also set more specific duties for the director of nursing, such as planning staff development, setting nurse practice standards and resident care policies, assessing resident needs, and recommending staff ratios. Facilities in each of these states must meet the state's staffing requirements to be licensed. And homes must be licensed in order to be certified. Most state standards do not distinguish between professional and nonprofessional nursing. However, they do set a measurable standard for the amount of nursing care required in homes according to the number of residents.

There is evidence that many homes staff above minimal state requirements where requirements are low.³⁴ Some individual homes and chains of nursing homes have also adopted methods for determining necessary nurse staffing that exceed state standards.^{4,35}

Because of the complexities of case mix—that is, the widely differing needs of individual residents in the same facility—prescribing simple staffing ratios clearly is inappropriate. Although algorithms have been developed to estimate amounts of nursing time needed by residents that are based on functional assessment scores and requirements for special care needs, insufficient evidence of the validity and reliability of the algorithms is available. Until standardized resident assessment data become generally available, and some careful empirical studies have been completed, prescribing sophisticated staffing standards in the regulations will not be possible. However, the committee is convinced that minimums for professional supervision of the nurse's aides who provide most of the care are too low, not only in ICFs, but also in SNFs. Most good nursing homes now exceed these minimums, often by a considerable margin. If the case mix in a given nursing home, or a given bed section in a nursing home, is such that more licensed nurses are required to provide proper care to the residents, the

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

nursing home should be required to provide it. Further, the committee believes that as the case mix moves toward a larger proportion of heavy-care residents, the minimum requirements should be raised to increasingly higher levels.

Increasing staffing may cause some problems initially, but the committee believes that the benefits to the residents of increasing the ratio of better-trained staff far outweigh the costs of increased staffing. To this extent, nursing homes should place their highest priority on the recruitment, retention, and support of adequate numbers of professional nurses who are trained in gerontology and geriatrics to ensure an adequate number and appropriate mix of professional and nonprofessional nursing personnel to meet the needs of all types of residents in each facility.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

4

Monitoring Nursing Home Performance

THE ISSUES

The federal and state governments share responsibility for quality assurance in nursing homes. The performance criteria are federal, but the federal government has delegated to the states responsibility to inspect nursing homes using these criteria and to certify their eligibility to participate in the Medicaid program. For the Medicare program, state governments inspect the facilities on behalf of the federal government and make certification recommendations to the federal government; the certification decisions are made by the HCFA. The federal government has authority in both the Medicaid and Medicare programs to conduct independent inspections of certified nursing homes to audit the states' certification activities. The federal government also can decertify substandard facilities.

The federal conditions and standards were designed for use by state surveyors in inspecting nursing homes. The survey process is supposed to identify and measure performance deficiencies that result in poor-quality care and should produce documentation of the deficiencies that will support the government's case in contested enforcement actions.

State monitoring of the performance of nursing homes now includes three types of activities:

- Nursing home inspections (surveys) are conducted at least once a
 year by staff of the state health facilities licensure and certification
 agency to determine the extent of compliance of facilities with
 federal conditions and standards.
- 2. "Inspection of care" (IOC) is conducted either by the state Medicaid agency, the state health facilities licensure and certification agency, or a professional review organization. By law, inspection of the 'care provided to every Medicaid recipient must be done annually. It is conducted for two purposes: (1) utilization review, to be certain that the resident is eligible for nursing home care and is placed in the right level of care; and (2) quality of care, to be sure each resident is receiving appropriate care of adequate quality.
- Ad hoc complaints submitted by residents, their families, or ombudsmen or other third parties are also investigated. Complaints frequently concern possible violations of federal conditions and standards or other regulatory requirements.

Monitoring the performance of thousands of nursing homes for quality assurance purposes has been difficult to carry out effectively and reliably. The first set of problems stems from the inadequacies of the criteria and of the survey process used to determine the quality of care being provided. The problems with the current criteria are discussed in Chapter 3 and major changes are recommended to make them more resident-centered and outcome-oriented. The first set of issues discussed in this chapter covers the inadequacies of the current survey process. Changes are recommended that follow from the new conditions and standards recommended in Chapter 3.

A second set of issues concerns federal-state and intrastate role relationships. Four specific issues are discussed: the relationship of inspection of care to the survey process, the relationships of the survey process to

the long-term-care ombudsman program, the elimination of the differences in federal and state certification responsibilities for Medicare and Medicaid facilities, and shifts in the responsibility for surveying state-owned facilities.

The third set of issues deals with both state and federal capacity for effectively carrying out their quality assurance responsibilities. These issues include funding of federal and state survey units and the numbers, qualifications, and training of surveyors.

PROBLEMS WITH THE SURVEY PROCESS

The survey process has several problems that should be addressed to make it more effective: predictability, inefficiency, emphasis on paper compliance, insensitivity to resident needs, inconsistency, isolation from related monitoring processes, and variable state regulatory capacity.

Predictability

If the operators of a substandard facility know when it will be surveyed, they not only can clean it up and bring the records up to date, but they also may stock up, improve the menus, bring in additional personnel, and take other actions to bring the facility into temporary compliance. The committee heard anecdotal accounts in the public meetings and in case-study interviews of facilities being notified about impending survey visits. Prior notice, either formal or informal, was the policy in some states because it made the visit easier by ensuring the presence of key personnel in the facility. Prior notice was prohibited by the HCFA several years ago, but a few states apparently still follow this policy.

Even without direct notice, however, providers often can predict the timing of an annual survey visit within several weeks because certification lasts exactly 12 months and an annual survey is required by the regulations

at least 90 days before certification expires. The case studies found that some states routinely schedule visits during the same week each year. Others send in a team of auditors or the state fire marshal a specified number of weeks before the survey visit.

Inefficiency

All nursing homes are subjected to the same survey intensity regardless of their past record of compliance. Most state survey agencies have very limited budgets. They barely have enough staff to complete the round of annual required surveys and do not always have enough surveyors to follow up adequately on the major problem facilities. A more efficient survey process would permit them to spend more time in poor facilities and less time in good facilities.

Paper Compliance

Not only are the current standards focused on theoretical facility capability rather than actual performance, but compliance is often determined on the basis of record reviews rather than direct observation.^{1,2}

Insensitivity to Resident Needs

Nursing home residents have widely varying needs and some facilities specialize, either formally or informally, by accepting residents only of a particular type. The severely demented and those requiring active rehabilitation are two groups of residents often cared for in separate facilities or on separate floors. The existing survey process makes no allowance for the observed diversity among patients and across facilities. At present, all SNFs are surveyed in the same manner; the same is true for all ICFs with the exception of

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

intermediate care facilities for the mentally retarded, which are subject to a different set of standards.

Inconsistency

The case studies and survey of state licensure and certification agencies conducted by the committee revealed great variations among the states in the way they carry out the survey process. HCFA data show wide variations in the numbers and types of deficiencies typically cited from state to state. For example, the proportion of a state's SNFs having more than 25 deficiencies in 1983 ranged from 0 in Delaware to 100 percent in Washington, D.C. (mean = 24 percent).³ Another study found that the most common deficiencies in SNFs were very different from state to state.⁴ Part of the variation in findings may reflect real differences in facility characteristics from state to state, but much of the variation is probably due to differences in state agency interpretation of conditions and standards and in survey processes.

In addition to state-level variations, numerous anecdotes of inconsistencies from one surveyor to the next were cited in the public meetings and case-study interviews. These inconsistencies in surveyor judgments are evidently random and appear as "noise" in national survey statistics, but they are extremely annoying to providers and confound state agency efforts to manage the survey process effectively.

Isolation from Related Monitoring Processes

In some states, there is little or no sharing of information or coordinated effort between the survey process and the processes for monitoring and investigating complaints, even though complaints can be an important source of information about quality problems in nursing homes. Relationships between the state survey agencies and ombudsman programs are often undeveloped or even adversarial. In addition, only 17 states combine or

coordinate the inspection-of-care reviews with the survey process even though both involve annual inspections of resident care.

Variable State Regulatory Capacity

The survey results and case studies of the state survey and certification agencies revealed large differences in the level of funding and staffing and in the types and deployment of personnel relative to the number of facilities. These differences result in part from the absence of a federal formula for distributing survey and certification funds and the absence of guidelines for organizing and staffing the state agencies, but they also reflect differences in state budgeting contributions and inspection policies and practices. There also are differences in state regulatory standards, due-process rules, court interpretations, and availability of intermediate sanctions.

REDESIGNING THE SURVEY PROCESS

These problems can be dealt with effectively by redesigning the survey process to implement the resident-centered, outcome-oriented conditions and standards recommended in Chapter 3. The new conditions and standards will require surveyors to scrutinize the care being provided and its effects on residents, rather than emphasize reviews of records, forms, and written policies as is now the case. In conjunction with new survey protocols and scoring procedures based on empirical resident-outcome standards developed from standardized resident assessment data, the new conditions and standards should improve consistency of decision-making on deficiencies, although surveyor judgment will still play an important role. Development and use of a shorter inspection procedure and use of an outcome-oriented survey protocol will permit surveyors to identify and concentrate their efforts on facilities with problems. Also, the

inspection-of-care reviews should be incorporated into the survey process, permitting more efficient use of regulatory capacity. Other problems, such as predictability, could be solved by making minor changes in standard operating procedures.

The revised survey process should be resident-centered and outcomeoriented where appropriate, although it should not eliminate all concern for certain facility characteristics that relate to life safety, cleanliness, sanitary food service, basic capacity to provide proper care, or the process standards for therapeutic diets or drug administration. It should take into account the different mixes of resident characteristics and service needs (case mix) found in different facilities, spend less survey time in the better facilities and more in the poorer facilities, and decrease the predictability of survey timing.

The new process outlined in this chapter would be more efficient because it would use a shorter standard survey that would permit survey agencies to spend less time on good facilities and more time on substandard providers. It would also relieve good providers from being subjected to unnecessarily intensive inspections. More important, the new survey process would be more effective because it would rely on more appropriate indicators of compliance with federal quality-of-care and quality-of-life conditions and standards than the structurally focused survey in use today.

The main features of the new survey process are discussed in detail in the remainder of this chapter. The following points are covered:

- consolidation of Medicaid and Medicare survey procedures,
- two-stage survey approach,
- · case-mix referencing,
- key indicators of quality,
- scoring and decision-making,
- survey data sources,
- coordination with complaint programs,
- consumer involvement,

- retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed
- positive incentives, and
- continuous improvement of the survey process.

Consolidation of Medicare and Medicaid Survey Procedures

The procedures for certifying Medicaid and Medicare facilities are virtually identical. They should be consolidated.

Recommendation 4-1: Medicare and Medicaid survey and certification process requirements should be consolidated in one place in the Code of Federal Regulations to promote consistency.

Timing and Frequency of Surveys

Although some states have experimented with flexible survey cycles, there is still no valid information on the optimum periodicity of inspections for detecting violations before they become serious. Even excellent facilities may fall out of compliance very quickly after key staff, ownership, or resident mix changes. The consensus among consumer, regulator, and provider groups is that annual surveys of nursing homes are both reasonable and necessary.

The frequency and timing of standard surveys should be determined by each facility's performance history and should maximize the element of surprise. The objective is to encourage continuing compliance with the federal regulations. To ensure scheduling uncertainty, the actual interval between surveys for a particular facility might range from 9 to 15 months, depending upon past performance and its latest survey findings. Some facilities may need to be surveyed even more frequently if their performance has been exceptionally poor.

This increased flexibility in the timing of surveys should not, however, lead to an effective lengthening of the average time between routine surveys across all

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

facilities in each state. That should remain constant at 12 months.

As a general principle, surveys should be unannounced and unanticipated by facilities, with the exception of followup visits to determine whether satisfactory corrections have been made. Whatever their record, all facilities should be at risk for a random, full-scale extended survey at any time.

Facilities also should be surveyed within a specified period of time after key events occur that are likely to affect the quality of care and quality of life in a facility, for example, change in ownership, administrator, or director of nursing. (Surveys after changes in ownership are already required by current regulations.) A high rate of nursing staff turnover or extensive use of nursing pools also might trigger an inspection. Similarly, multiple validated complaints about a facility should warrant an immediate survey.

The introduction into the survey cycle of flexibility that is tied to performance and key events should enable survey resources to be targeted to those facilities most in need of attention: problem or marginal facilities and facilities where new circumstances could adversely affect residents. Facilities that are performing well would be rewarded for their good behavior by lessintense monitoring. That will allow survey agency staff to be used for more urgent tasks. The time-limited agreement requirement that was dropped in 1981 legislation, but is still required by regulation, should be eliminated to allow the annual survey to take place as late as 15 months after the previous annual survey. In practice, the time-limited agreement provisions have not made it easier to terminate facilities, because the courts have imposed the same dueprocess prior hearing requirements for terminating facilities with expired agreements as apply to facilities with agreements in force. For this reason, a group of providers, consumers, and regulators convened by the HCFA in 1983 to develop a consensus on regulatory changes recommended elimination of mandatory time-limited agreements.

Recommendation 4-2: The timing of surveys should maximize the element of surprise; the standard annual survey should be conducted somewhere between 9 and 15 months after the previous annual survey, with the average across all facilities within each state remaining at 12 months. Additional standard surveys also should take place whenever there are key events, such as a change in ownership. Independent of the survey cycle, all facilities should be required to pass rigorous life safety code and food inspections at regular intervals.

Two-Stage Survey Approach

After an initial audit of a sample of resident assessment records, each annual survey would begin with a short standard survey protocol. The standard survey would be designed to use "key indicators" of performance to identify facilities with poor resident outcomes that might have resulted from substandard nursing home performance. If a facility had problems on the key indicators (discussed below), it would be subjected to an extended survey protocol entailing observation and interview of additional residents to determine the extent to which staffing and other structural features of the facility, and the way care is being provided, may have caused the poor resident outcomes. The main purposes of the two-stage process are to relieve good facilities from the burden of a lengthy regular survey and to permit survey agencies to concentrate their efforts on poor and marginal facilities.

The Resident Assessment Audit

Surveyors would audit, by using the same resident assessment protocol the facilities are required to use, a sample of all residents to test the accuracy of the facility's assessment reports. A determination would then be made of whether the facility's resident assessment reports meet acceptable standards of accuracy. If

surveyors find that a facility's assessments of resident status differ from their own by more than a predetermined rate, they would conclude that the facility's misclassification of residents reflects either professional incompetence or deliberate inaccuracy. In either case, a complete extended survey of the facility would be called for.

For facilities that pass the audit, a standard survey would be conducted.

The Standard Survey

The standard survey would use a statistically valid, case-mix-stratified sample of the residents in a nursing home. (The case-mix definitions, sampling issues, and the key indicators are discussed more fully below.) It also would measure overall facility performance through such environmental indicators as the personal grooming of residents, cleanliness, and so on. To the extent possible, the standard survey would use a short protocol that would rely on "key indicators" of performance. Among the key indicators that may be used, depending on the availability of empirical evidence, are those elements in a standard that have been shown to be highly predictive of compliance with the other elements in that standard. Key indicators also may be specific negative (although sometimes unavoidable) or positive outcomes appropriate to case-mix groupings.

Use of the standard survey should enable surveyors to sort facilities into one of three categories: those that are superior or clearly adequate, those that are clearly inadequate or deficient in one or more areas of performance, and those whose performance is ambiguous. Facilities in the superior/adequate group would normally be exempt from further review at that time, except for life safety code and sanitation inspections that will be required for all facilities and scheduled independently of the survey cycle. All other facilities will be required to undergo a partial or complete extended survey.

The Extended Survey

The extended survey would enlarge the sample of residents examined and increase the comprehensiveness of the standard protocol to look at compliance with all elements and all standards. It would further document poor resident outcomes and explore the extent to which structural and process features of the facility may have contributed to these outcomes.

Partial extended surveys would be conducted in facilities where performance is questionable or clearly below par in particular areas, but where performance in other areas is not suspected of being substandard. Complete extended surveys would be conducted in facilities where serious or persistent questions about overall performance have been raised. For "ambiguous" facilities, a partial or complete extended survey would be conducted, depending on the nature of the ambiguity found during the standard survey.

Recommendation 4-3: Two new survey protocols should be designed and tested to implement the new conditions and standards recommended in Chapter 3: a standard survey and an extended survey. Both must be based on the revised conditions of participation and standards.

Case-Mix Referencing

The survey protocols should take into account the differing characteristics of residents in a facility, because some key indicators of quality are more relevant to residents with certain characteristics than to others. Accordingly, it is necessary to classify residents into defined case-mix groupings, using specified criteria. A simple stratification approach using key variables important in dealing with nursing home residents is proposed in this section for initial use in the revised survey process. Eventually, however, case-mix categories should be defined on the basis of resident groupings that emerge from the resident assessment scores and on empirical evidence from the resident assessment data that

residents in a particular case-mix grouping should have a statistically predictable distribution of outcomes (changes in status) over defined periods of time after admission. The numbers of residents in different case-mix groupings could then become the denominators in determining the prevalence of poor outcomes among relevant groups of residents (for example, the percentage of decubitus ulcers among bed-bound and chair-bound residents, the percentage of mentally confused residents under physical or chemical restraint, the percentage of residents with urinary incontinence who have indwelling catheters, and so forth).

The purpose of both the standard and the extended surveys is to evaluate the appropriateness of the care and the quality of life provided to the various types of residents found in a nursing home. Ideally, one would like to include the alert and oriented residents, short-and long-stayers, the physically and mentally dependent, younger and older residents, the well- and lesser-educated, and public- and private-pay residents, to name a few categories. However, it is not feasible to stratify nursing home residents by a large number of variables for survey purposes.

Initially, the case-mix categories would be based on measurements of physical and cognitive functioning and, if indicated, levels of mental depression. Most nursing home residents have either mental or physical impairments, or both. A few have neither. Residents in each of these categories have very different medical and social needs. The committee believes that the survey instruments and survey process can and should be organized to take into account these differences in resident need in different facility populations. It is time-consuming and therefore costly to have surveyors assess all residents in a nursing home. Moreover, it is not necessary to do so, because it is possible to assess a carefully selected sample of residents and obtain generalizable results.⁵

The survey instrument can be designed so that different sets of standards and elements may be used for different compositions of facility populations. The survey process can be referenced to resident case mix so that, for

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

example, different sets of criteria will be applied to evaluate quality of care and life for a bed-bound population than for a mostly physically independent population. It is important to measure the incidence of bed sores only among individuals at risk of skin breakdown because they are bed-bound or chair-fast rather than to measure the incidence of bed sores among all residents in a facility if a significant number are not at risk of acquiring bed sores. Otherwise, a facility with almost all ambulatory care residents and a 1 percent incidence of decubitus ulcers would be rated as superior to a facility with a totally bed-bound population and a 3 percent incidence of decubiti. Yet the comparison would not be valid.

Accordingly, the case-mix referencing system should center around two parameters of resident condition that are central to the special care needs and vulnerabilities of nursing home residents: mental status and physical dependency. For survey purposes, there would be four major case-mix groups, each of which should be defined by scores on the resident assessment instrument. In addition, of the two mentally competent groups, subsets of interest are those residents who are also clinically depressed. The process for sorting and stratifying residents into these categories would be as follows:

- 1. The facility would give the survey team a list of the residents and the case-mix categories to which they are assigned.
- 2. The survey protocol would then draw samples according to a prescribed sampling algorithm from each of the case-mix groupings. The sampling algorithm, which would specify the sampling methodology (for example, randomized within case-mix grouping) and sample size (perhaps to take account of overall facility population size), would have to be specified by the HCFA.

The resident assessment protocols applied to the sample residents by surveyors would require obtaining somewhat different information about sampled residents depending on their functional and mental status.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

- Mentally competent residents would be interviewed to determine their level of satisfaction with the care they are receiving and to provide concrete information about matters such as the availability of activities, the flexibility of meal and bedtime hours, and so on.
- Mentally confused residents would be observed to determine whether
 there is excessive use of physical or chemical restraints. Audited
 institutional data should be used to define the numbers of residents at
 risk so that negative outcomes could be evaluated by the ratio of such
 occurrences to the numbers of at-risk patients.
- For physically independent residents, the standard survey would seek information on the availability of appropriate activities.
- For the physically dependent residents, the survey would place
 particular emphasis on specific, measurable results of poor care, such
 as decubitus ulcers, urinary tract infections, contractures, malnutrition,
 and dehydration. Audited institutional data should be used to define the
 numbers of residents at risk so that negative outcomes could be
 evaluated using the ratio of such occurrences to the numbers of at-risk
 residents.

Recommendation 4-4: Both standard and extended surveys should assess samples of residents stratified by standard case-mix categories. Case-mix definitions, and the procedures and sample sizes required to attain a prespecified level of precision, should be established by the HCFA.

Key Indicators

The standard survey would consist of a number of key indicators, that is, outcome and process measures of quality of care and quality of life that are mostly resident-centered, although some relate to facility characteristics. Many of these indicators could be drawn from existing protocols. Examples of negative indicators include excessive use of psychotropic drugs, excessive rate of adverse drug reactions, high incidence of urinary tract infections among catheterized residents,

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

development of avoidable decubitus ulcers among physically dependent residents while in the nursing home, dehydration, contractures, avoidable declines in functional status, and unexplained weight changes. Examples of positive indicators are pain control and increased functioning in residents with angina, lowering of blood pressure in hypertensives, residents wearing street clothes, and service of palatable food.

Some of the key indicators would come directly from the resident assessment data, especially those resident outcomes based on change over time, as shown in medical and other types of facility records. But most would be measured by the inspectors through direct observation, interviewing, and assessment of the case-mix-referenced sample of residents and of the facility environment.

Several states have attempted to refine the federal certification process to save money and concentrate scarce regulatory resources on facilities demonstrating poor care.⁶ These states include New York,⁷ Massachusetts,⁸ Wisconsin,⁹ Colorado,¹⁰ and Illinois.¹¹ Ohio has a resident assessment system for reimbursement purposes that focuses on resident needs and service provision,^{12,13} and Iowa has developed an outcome-oriented licensure survey that focuses on selected domains of quality.¹⁴⁻¹⁶

Evaluations of some of these survey systems that focus on key indicators of quality of care and quality of life, such as New York's sentinal health events, indicate they are at least as successful in detecting serious deficiencies in the quality of nursing home care as the current certification surveys. ^{17,18} Thus it seems possible to develop key indicators, many of them drawn from or modifications of existing protocols, that are resident-centered and oriented toward appropriate—and away from inappropriate—resident outcomes and care processes and that can differentiate between facilities on the quality of resident care and quality of life they provide.

An example of a key indicator of potentially poor nursing and dietary care would be considerable weight loss (for example, 5 or more pounds) within 30 days (as determined from medical records and observations of

residents). If a given percentage of residents experience such weight loss, the extended survey would examine records for acceptable reasons for weight loss (diagnosis of cancer, treatment of obesity, recent physical activity level changes, and so on). The surveyors also would examine the current dietary program (caloric intake); observe residents for treatable conditions (poor or missing teeth, depression); observe meal presentation (temperature and taste of food); observe and interview residents regarding eating habits, need for assistance devices or staff assistance, and food preferences; and investigate nursing staff levels and policies regarding food supplementation and nursing assistance in eating. Appendix F contains other examples of key indicators and followup procedures in the extended survey.

Recommendation 4-5: The standard survey should rely on "key indicators" of quality of resident life and care that would be prescribed by the HCFA. These key indicators would measure poor resident outcomes and other resident and facility conditions that might be caused by noncompliance with the federal conditions and standards and should be investigated further by the survey agency.

Triggering an Extended Survey: Scoring and Decision-Making

After the number of poor outcomes or inadequate care procedures involving each key indicator is determined, the survey team would have to decide whether there are enough poor cases to warrant an extended survey. For the time being, these essentially normative decisions would have to be based on the judgment of the survey team or the policies of each state agency. In the long run, however, it should be possible to have data on national or regional norms, controlled for case mix, for each key indicator, that can be used as the bases for these decisions.

For each category of resident sampled in the standard survey, facility performance would be evaluated using key indicators. The contents of the particular instruments

and protocols used should differ for the four categories of residents and should be tailored to those aspects of care and quality of life that are most relevant and appropriate for each group. The proportion of the protocols for these different classes of residents that are based on interview, observation, and record reviews will also vary with the functional and mental status of the resident being evaluated.

For the sample of mentally competent residents, for instance, the standard survey should include an interview protocol that is designed to determine their level of satisfaction with the quality of care they receive and with their quality of life. Also, their views of the facility's performance, including such things as its flexibility in matters of rising and retiring, its arrangements for privacy, and consideration of food preferences in meal planning. The interview might also include the residents' perception of staff attitudes toward and treatment of the mentally impaired residents.

For the subset of mentally competent residents who are clinically depressed, the protocols will be designed to determine the adequacy of the facility's diagnosis and treatment of the condition.

For mentally impaired residents, the protocols will involve more observation and will focus on the appropriateness of their care and the nature of the activities program provided. The incidence of such undesirable practices as excessive use of physical or chemical restraints would be checked relative to the number of facility residents at risk for such practices. Cases of neglect and of verbal and physical abuse should be determined. (The complaint files may be a source of such data.)

For physically dependent residents, protocols will include a review of the presence of potentially avoidable negative outcomes such as decubitus ulcers, urinary tract infections, contractures, malnutrition, and dehydration.

Surveyors will use the audited data supplied by the facility to estimate the incidence of these and other such undesirable outcomes in relation to the numbers of residents at risk for such outcomes. These incidence data, as well as findings about the care provided to

sampled residents, will be used by surveyors to reach decisions about the adequacy of facility performance.

The number of physically independent and mentally unimpaired residents should be small in most nursing homes. The focus of the survey protocols for them should be on issues relevant to their functional and mental or emotional status, the availability of activities, alleviation of pain, and maintenance of or slowing of deterioration of function in their activities of daily living.

Pass/fail and other scoring criteria for facility performance in each area, and for each category of resident sampled, should be established in advance. At the beginning, however, scoring will have to be more discretionary until analyses of the data base from the residents' assessments reveal the population-based outcome norms for each key indicator. When the data become available, policy-level normative decisions on cutoff or pass/fail scores can be made. Facilities that score below the cutoff point in any area will then receive an extended survey for those areas in which their performance appears to be questionable or deficient.

Whenever there are doubts or ambiguities about the adequacy of a facility's performance on the standard survey, a partial or complete extended survey will be conducted to clarify the situation. Citations for noncompliance will be made only after completion of an extended survey. A facility that required no extended survey following the standard survey would thus pass inspection and be exempt from routine review for a certain period of time.

Careful consideration will have to be given to deciding how many instances of poor care or negative but avoidable outcomes should constitute failure and trigger an extended survey or citation for noncompliance. A single instance of resident abuse or serious neglect might constitute grounds for an extended survey and citation. For other undesirable outcomes the absolute number or percentage of residents manifesting the condition that should constitute "failure" will need to be determined.

Recommendation 4-6: Facilities that perform poorly on key indicators of quality of resident care or life should be subjected to a full or partial extended survey, depending on the range of problem areas discovered. The purpose of the extended survey is to determine the extent to which the facility is responsible for the poor outcomes due to noncompliance with the federal conditions and standards.

Survey Data Sources

As already noted, the standard survey would rely primarily (but not exclusively) on outcome and process indicators of facility performance. Extended surveys, whether partial or complete, would sample more residents and include more structural and process indicators than the standard survey.

Both the standard survey and extended surveys should be based primarily on observation of and interviews with residents and staff. Examination of facility records and written procedures would be secondary. Information may also be solicited from sources outside the facility, such as ombudsmen, community organizations, and residents' families and friends.

Instruments used for the extended survey, whether partial or complete, will be designed to elicit information that is more detailed, comprehensive, and intrusive in nature. In keeping with the committee's view that the residents themselves should be the focus of attention, and that resident status is best determined by direct contact between the surveyor and the resident, facility records will be used to validate observations, to check the accuracy and thoroughness of professional evaluations and facility tracking of resident needs and interventions, and to help locate the source of problems or weaknesses in facility performance.

There are potential difficulties in interviewing nursing home residents. First, there are questions as to the reliability and validity of the findings based on such

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

interviews, given the nature of the population being interviewed (the frail elderly) and their circumstances (as a somewhat "captive" population in an institutional setting). In addition, there may be scheduling and logistical problems, as well as ethical issues, associated with interviewing a physically and psychologically vulnerable population.

Despite these difficulties, there is evidence that such interviews are useful and produce valid information. The Iowa licensure surveyors, for example, routinely interview residents about feelings of comfort and social adjustment, sense of freedom, perception of fairness in terms of their treatment by staff, feeling of security, and enjoyment of food. They are convinced of its usefulness. Interviews with a sample of nursing home residents who are mentally competent, willing, and able to be interviewed without undue physical or psychological strain, can yield important information about the day-to-day performance of the facilities and the residents' satisfaction with the quality of care and life they experience. ^{19,20}

Recommendation 4-7: Quality assessment in the survey process should rely heavily on interviews with, and observation of, residents and staff, and only secondarily on "paper compliance," such as chart reviews, official policies and procedures manuals, and other indirect measures of actual care given and resident outcomes.

Coordination with Complaint Programs

Although complaints can be an important source of information about substandard conditions and form the basis for potential enforcement actions, federal guidelines about complaint handling are general (State Operations Manual, Section 3500), and sufficient staff for adequate complaint handling is not always available to state licensure and certification agencies. Each state agency has its own way of handling complaints. The committee's survey found that 46 (of 47) state agencies conduct complaint investigations. Forty-one reported that their state had a statutory complaint and abuse reporting

system, 34 operated by the survey agency and 7 by another agency. Of the survey agencies, 10 had separately staffed complaint units; the others used regular surveyors.

Complaints are a potentially important source of information about compliance between annual certification inspection visits. There should be HCFA guidelines for analyzing and reporting complaints. The complaint procedure should include criteria for deciding whether to conduct an investigation, whether to conduct an onsite visit, how to schedule followup visits, and when to cite deficiencies. Complaint histories might also be used to decide whether to initiate an earlier survey or go directly to an extended survey or both.

State licensure and certification agencies should be required to work out cooperative agreements for the reporting and handling of complaints with their state ombudsman program and the Medicaid fraud unit as well as with any statemandated patient abuse or complaint programs. (The Medicaid fraud unit often obtains information relevant to a facility's compliance with licensure and certification standards.)

Recommendation 4-8: The HCFA should require states to have a specific procedure and sufficient staff to properly investigate complaints.

Consumer Involvement

The principle of resident-centered standards is furthered by direct resident interviews. Testimony at the public meetings and at the consumer issues workshop conducted by the committee in December 1984 noted that in most states current survey procedures do not require communication with residents before, during, or after the survey. Residents are an important source of information to surveyors. If surveyors seek information directly from residents and inform them at the conclusion of a survey of deficiencies and plans of correction, survey objectives are more likely to be achieved. Information provided to residents at the conclusion of a survey should not abridge the confidentiality of individual residents' care or

authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not print version of this publication as the files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed accidentally inserted. Please use the retained, and some typographic errors may have

records. The recommendation below also provides a means for inviting further information without compromising the unannounced survey. It is intended to facilitate effective communication between residents and surveyors.

Recommendation 4-9: The HCFA should incorporate in its survey operations manual the following additional procedures to be followed by surveyors in addition to interviews with those residents sampled for the survey protocols:

- At the beginning of the survey, surveyors should meet briefly with members of the facility's resident council or with a group of willing and capable residents to elicit general information about services and resident satisfaction as well as to identify any areas of particular concern.
- Resident representatives should participate in the part of the exit conference where deficiencies are cited and the plan of correction is discussed.
- At the close of the survey, the following notice should be posted in a location accessible to residents and visitors:

The <u>(state survey agency)</u> completed its regular certification survey of <u>(facility name)</u> on <u>(date)</u>.

Anyone wishing to provide additional information may contact the <u>(state survey agency)</u> before <u>(date)</u>.

(Address) (Phone)

Positive Incentives

Facilities that pass the abbreviated survey will receive regulatory relief by not having to submit to further inspections until the next annual survey except for being subject to a random extended survey (and unless there is an ownership or other change requiring a new survey or a pattern of complaints triggers a new survey).

Surveyors and state agencies should be encouraged not to limit their comments to noting deficiencies, but to praise good or outstanding performance when they see it, both

privately and publicly. The use of letters of recommendation for outstanding performance (perhaps for no deficiencies for two or more consecutive inspections) should be explored. If surveyors find some good or outstanding aspects of a facility along with some deficiencies, they should not fail to note both at the exit conference. The effect on staff and management attitudes and morale is certain to be positive. The HCFA should introduce these concepts into its manuals and its training program.

Recommendation 4-10: In addition to exempting good facilities from extended surveys, ways should be explored to commend superior performance.

Continuing Improvement of the Survey Process

An effective and efficient survey process, like the conditions and standards it applies, cannot remain static. Survey procedures must be adapted to changes in the characteristics of residents (for example, increasing age and disability) and of nursing homes (size, staffing). More important, they must be updated as knowledge increases about the conditions and problems of nursing home residents, and with improvements in care techniques.

Administration of the survey process also must be monitored and evaluated to improve consistency and efficiency.

The development of new and better methods to assess quality of care and nursing home performance should be encouraged.

Reliability and Validity of Instruments and Procedures

The survey procedures should be designed to implement the new residentcentered, outcome-oriented conditions and standards and should be revised regularly as the conditions and standards evolve in the light of new knowledge and other changes (in resident, facility,

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from files created from the original paper book, not from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

or staff characteristics, and so on). Such changes will be especially common in the early years as the new system is implemented and the resident assessment data base develops.

Recommendation 4-11: The new survey protocols, including the forms, procedures, and guidelines used by surveyors, should be designed in accordance with the revised and amended conditions and standards recommended in Chapter 3, and they should be revised as the conditions and standards are changed in the future.

It is important that the survey instruments and procedures be tested so that when used by properly trained surveyors they produce consistent and reliable findings.

Recommendation 4-12: All survey protocols (instruments and procedures) should be tested so that they are capable of yielding reliable and consistent results when used by properly trained surveyors anywhere.

Survey findings must be valid and reliable as well as consistent—they should be capable of determining the extent to which a facility is in compliance with the conditions and standards of participation. This is particularly important for the standard survey which relies upon obtaining data from a sample of residents. To assure the validity of the standard survey, extended surveys should be taken in a random sample of facilities each year and the results compared with the findings of standard surveys of the same facilities. In addition to providing data for improving the conditions and standards, these surveys would provide a check on how well the two-stage survey process is working and should induce facilities to stay in compliance with all regulatory requirements, not just those that might be checked by the standard survey.

Recommendation 4-13: A sample of facilities should be subject to an extended survey each year. Information from this sample should be used to validate and improve the standard survey.

Consistency of Survey Results

A major criticism of the survey process by providers of long-term care has been the inconsistency of surveyors' interpretations of their findings on what constitutes acceptable or deficient performance. The results of a survey are likely to be dependent on the professional and personal values and biases of the individual surveyors. It is therefore essential that state survey agencies make a serious effort to increase consistency of interpretation and decision-making by surveyors. It should be possible to improve surveyor consistency by means of better training, monitoring, and evaluation of surveyor performance as well as better design of survey instruments and procedures. Such monitoring and training are done only in a few states, but such activities are essential to ensure consistency in translating survey findings into judgments of nursing home compliance with conditions and standards.

The importance of adequate training for surveyors to achieve consistency cannot be overemphasized. Such training should focus on the development among surveyors of a common language for describing what is observed during the course of a survey and the conclusions that are reached, techniques of eliciting relevant and useful information while surveying a facility, and methods and common points of departure for discussing a facility's performance and problems with its management, among other things. This training should not only increase the reliability and consistency of surveys, but also enhance the credibility of surveyors as a group with facility managers.

Recommendation 4-14: The HCFA should require the state agencies to implement a program to develop and support consistent and reliable surveys. This program should be based on effective training and monitoring of surveyor performance to reduce inconsistency.

PACS: A NEW HCFA SURVEY PROTOCOL

In 1984, the HCFA began to test a new resident-centered survey process that focuses on the provision of services and resident outcomes. It was named PaCS (for <u>Patient Care and Services</u>). The HCFA developed PaCS to redirect the survey process from emphasizing facility structure and theoretical caregiving capacity toward evaluating the actual delivery of care and its outcomes. The PaCS process was based on the preliminary results of a series of state experiments with demonstrations of modified survey processes (for example, the final evaluations of experiments and demonstrations in New York, Wisconsin, and Massachusetts, is Washington, and Iowa. 21,22).

A PaCS survey encompasses—

- evaluation through direct observation of certain aspects of the physical environment, including cleanliness, space, equipment, infection control, and disaster preparedness;
- detailed review of care provided to a sample of residents, through observation, interviews, and medical record reviews;
- 3. evaluation of meals, dining, and eating assistance by observing meal service; and
- 4. observation of drug administration for a sample of residents.

Currently, PaCS is being evaluated experimentally in three states— Connecticut, Rhode Island, and Tennessee. In addition, all other states have been asked by the HCFA to administer PaCS in a small number of SNFs with good compliance histories.

More recently, the PaCS survey process has become the HCFA's response to the court's decision in *Smith v. Heckler* that the HCFA produce a more effective regulatory process for assuring adequate quality of care in nursing homes. The HCFA plans to evaluate the PaCS experiments, make any needed modifications in the process, and implement it as early as April 1986.

The committee has reviewed the PaCS forms and

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

accompanying guidelines and has heard from state survey agency officials who have used the new survey process. There is general agreement that PaCS is a significant improvement over the traditional survey process, primarily because it focuses on resident outcomes rather than facility capacity and record reviews. In concept, it resembles the recommendation for a standard survey protocol made earlier in this chapter. It is a step in the right direction, but much additional work remains to be done before PaCS could become a valid and reliable resident-outcome-oriented survey protocol.

Five major problems exist with its present form. First, PaCS is being implemented without changing the conditions and standards, which remain oriented toward facility and capability and do not include quality-of-life factors. The conceptual problems of reliably relating findings from resident-centered data to compliance with structural standards have not been addressed. Major changes are necessary in the conditions and standards to make them more resident-centered and outcome-oriented before an effective survey process can be designed and implemented.

Second, PaCS has not designed a formal protocol for sampling of residents for detailed reviews of care-giving. There is no requirement to stratify by case mix, for example, nor recognition of the requirements of valid sampling. The PaCS process leaves it to the surveyors to select a sample of residents and to decide, relying exclusively on surveyor judgment, on the proportion of undesirable outcomes that are beyond the facility's control, those being appropriately handled, and those that are due to oversight or neglect. It is essential to incorporate statistically defensible sampling procedures to achieve valid, consistent, and reliable findings that can be sustained in enforcement proceedings.

Third, the PaCS survey process still relies on unguided surveyor judgment to make the important decisions of whether care problems demonstrated by a facility constitute deficiencies. PaCS does not have guidelines with criteria for making these decisions, but leaves them to unguided surveyor judgment. The PaCS experiments should therefore be carefully analyzed for interrater reliability in use of the instrument. As noted earlier in

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

this chapter, although many key decisions must continue to be left to the professional judgment of surveyors, many aids to guide such judgment must be built into the survey system.

Fourth, current PaCS procedures do not require the facilities to maintain standard resident assessment data. A sound quality assurance system for nursing homes has to rely on standard resident assessment data both for reliable casemix groupings and for tracking changes in resident outcomes. This was the reason for recommending that a standard resident assessment procedure be added as a condition of participation.

Fifth, PaCS does not integrate the PaCS survey with the inspection-of-care (IOC) function. The committee has recommended that IOC be combined with a resident-centered, outcome-oriented survey process to make it more efficient by preventing duplication. This depends on implementing the resident assessment program.

The recommendations made in Chapter 3 and those made in this chapter constitute an integral package. PaCS, properly developed to take account of the problems enumerated above, could become the standard survey protocol discussed earlier. But as currently envisioned, it is not conceptually or operationally part of a comprehensive revision of the nursing home regulatory system. It does not incorporate many of the other key changes in the nursing home performance criteria, in the survey process, and in the enforcement process that are necessary to make significant improvements in the regulatory system.

INCREASING STATE REGULATORY CAPACITY

To facilitate the attainment of regulatory goals, the federal government should help the states to increase their capacity to conduct effective, reliable surveys of nursing homes by providing the state survey agencies with enough resources (funds, training programs, and research results) to help achieve more adequate and consistent application and enforcement of federal standards.

Federal Funding of Certification Activities

Funding for Medicare certification activities comes from the Medicare trust funds. Historically, although states have submitted estimated budgets each year to their regional offices, they have received Medicare allocations incrementally larger than their previous year's budget. In 1981 the Medicare certification budget was cut from \$30 million to \$25 million and, in 1982 it was cut to less than \$14 million (see Table 4-1). When Congress restored the funding in 1983, the HCFA tried to reallocate the funding among states more in accordance with workload. The costs of average long-term care and other health facility surveys are estimated on the basis of 1980 expenditures, and are updated annually with an inflation factor. The figure is multiplied by the number of facilities in each region to determine its allocation. But each regional office uses a different allocation method to distribute the funds among its states.

For Medicaid, Title XIX authorizes the HCFA to match whatever the state spends in certain approved categories. From 1965 to 1972 the matching ratio was 75 percent federal to 25 percent state funds. In 1972 the law was changed to authorize 100 percent federal funding of the salaries, travel, and training of state surveyors. In 1980, Congress reduced the matching ratio back to 75 percent federal.

Federal funding of the survey and certification program is modest in total amount—less than \$70 million in fiscal year 1984—or about 0.6 percent of total federal Medicare and Medicaid expenditures for nursing home services. It is not distributed entirely according to a formula based on consistent criteria. The states are still feeling the effects of major cuts in the funding of Medicare surveys imposed in 1981-1982. The amount the states themselves contribute for the licensure part of the survey process varies greatly. As a result, the number of surveyors and the number of inspections (and their intensity as shown by average person-days of surveyor time in a facility) vary significantly from state to state.

The committee's survey of state licensure and certification agencies found that the average expenditures

TABLE 4-1 HCFA Expenditures for State Survey Agency Activities (in millions of dollars)

	1	, ,	,
Fiscal Year	Medicare	Medicaid	Total
1977	\$23.6	\$33.2	\$56.8
1978	24.9	36.2	61.1
1979	25.3	34.4	59.7
1980	27.4	38.4	65.8
1981	24.6	34.2*	58.8
1982	13.6	31.8	45.4
1984	35.6	32.2	67.8

SOURCE: The Health Care Financing Administration. 1984.

^{*} Federal (Medicaid) matching for surveyor salaries, travel, and training was cut from 100 to 75 percent in 1980.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

for nursing home licensure and certification surveys vary from \$1,296 to \$13,018 per nursing home (median = \$4,700). This variation apparently has more to do with the historical funding base provided by the HCFA and the willingness of a state to add state funds than to the current workload level (total number of facilities, adjusted by bed size), or mix (mostly skilled vs. mostly intermediate facilities, mostly large size vs. small, high vs. low Medicaid admission criteria, and so on).

The recommendations made earlier in this report for a resident assessment system and a new survey process and procedures will require extensive training for all surveyors, training of nursing home staff, and improved and better supervision of surveyors by state licensure and certification agencies. This will require larger budgets for the state licensure and certification agencies. To facilitate cooperation by the states in introducing the new survey process and the resident assessment system and enhancing their survey staff supervisory capabilities, the Congress should once again authorize 100 percent federal support for state survey and certification activities (in nursing homes). This authority should be extended for 3 years to facilitate installation of the new system. After 3 years, the matching ratio should be reviewed and a permanent ratio involving some state participation reinstated.

Recommendation 4-15: Title XIX of the Social Security Act should be amended to authorize 100 percent federal funding of costs of the nursing home survey and certification activities of the states. This authority should be extended for 3 years, after which time a federal-state matching ratio should be reestablished. The HCFA should develop a standard formula for distributing funds to the states under this authority so that each state is funded on an equal basis in proportion to its federal certification workload.

State Surveyor Qualifications

Federal regulations and the State Operations Manual are very general regarding survey agency staffing levels and qualifications. In practice, there are significant variations in the experience and educational backgrounds of the surveyors and the composition of the survey teams in each state, for example, how many nurses, generalists or sanitarians, and other specialists such as pharmacists, nutritionists, physicians are on the teams. Nationally, about half are nurses, a fifth are sanitarians, and most of the rest are engineers, administrators, and generalists. ^{23,24}

Surveyors come from a variety of backgrounds, and few have previous nursing home or long-term-care experience.

Federal guidelines for survey staff composition permit states a great deal of latitude, and the HCFA's data on surveyors indicate that some states are not staffed adequately to conduct surveys that are more oriented to resident care. For example, at least one state had no nurses on its survey staff in 1982.²³ In 1983, eight states had only one or two licensed nurses on staff.²⁴

Recommendation 4-16: The HCFA should revise its guidelines to make them more specific about the qualifications of surveyors and the composition and numbers of survey team staff necessary to conduct adequate resident-centered, outcome-oriented inspections of nursing homes. At a minimum, every survey team should include at least one nurse. For use on extended surveys, the survey agency should have specialists on staff (or, in small states, as consultants) in the disciplinary areas covered by the conditions and standards (for example, pharmacy, nutrition, social services, and activities).

Federal Training Support

Federal training requirements are minimal and federal training programs were cut back substantially in 1980-1981 because of budget constraints. According to the case

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from files created from the original paper book, not from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

studies, the states vary greatly in the scope of their training efforts. Three-quarters of the surveyors had at least 10 hours of in-service training in 1982, but one-quarter had less than 10 hours and, of those, a third had none.²⁴

Recommendation 4-17: Federal training efforts and support of state-level training programs should be increased, especially during the period of transition to the new survey process, and during the implementation of the new resident assessment condition of participation.

Dissemination of Research and Evaluation Results

Information about survey operations and their results are inadequate at the state and federal levels.⁴ Evaluation of the new survey system will depend on the availability of performance data. At the same time, the federal government should continue to sponsor experiments in improving the survey process. ^{18,21,22,25} The federal government should disseminate the results of experiments sponsored by it or the states to the other states.

Recommendation 4-18: National data about survey operations and results, and from any experiments and demonstrations sponsored by the HCFA or the states, should be collected, analyzed, and disseminated by the federal government to facilitate continued improvement in survey methods.

Federal Oversight and Sanctioning Responsibilities

The HCFA regional offices have not been able to carry out their monitoring responsibilities effectively in part because of inadequate resources and procedures. Regional office personnel devoted to certification work totals about 300, or about 30 per regional office.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

The HCFA has three ways to judge state survey agency performance, other than paper reviews of survey documents. They are—

- 1. Validation surveys. Theoretically, the federal surveyors are supposed to conduct validation surveys of a 5 percent sample of nursing homes assess state survey performance. In practice, this goal rarely has been attained. After the number of federal surveyors was cut from 100 to 70 in 1981, the sample size was reduced to 3 percent. Moreover, the validation surveys are often not performed until several months after the state survey, making it difficult to prove that the state overlooked or misinterpreted deficiencies found by federal surveyors. The new outcome-oriented conditions and standards and the new survey process should make it possible to judge state performance in a more reliable and consistent way. This will undoubtedly require an increase in the number of federal surveyors.
- Complaint investigations. Complaints pertaining to possible violations of federal requirements are usually referred to the appropriate state survey agency for investigation but they may be conducted directly by federal surveyors. In some cases, this should stimulate a "look behind" survey.
- 3. Look behind. The HCFA has long had the authority to review state survey and certification decisions and to deny federal Medicaid reimbursement to a facility that is improperly certified by a state survey agency. Technically, under this "old look-behind" provision, the HCFA did not have the authority to decertify Medicaid-only facilities, only the authority to recover from a state any federal funds paid to a certified facility on the grounds that the state had not followed correct procedures.

In 1981 the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act gave the HCFA direct authority to cancel the agreement between the Medicaid agency and the facility for not meeting federal standards, as determined by an onsite survey by a federal team. This is called "new look-behind." However, it requires a full evidentiary hearing before an administrative law judge before the effective date of

been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

termination (if the deficiencies do not pose an immediate and serious threat to patient health and safety). Termination can be further delayed pending appeal to an appeals council, and judicial review. This requirement for a prior hearing before an administrative law judge, except in cases of immediate and serious threats to residents, is not now required for other termination procedures under Medicare and Medicaid law. In the view of HCFA officials, it lessens the effectiveness of the new procedure.

There have been several problems with federal oversight. First, in recent years, insufficient numbers of federal surveyors have precluded surveys of 5 percent of nursing homes as called for in federal procedures.

Second, the nursing homes surveyed in each state are not for the most part randomly selected; most are selected because there has been a complaint or a pattern of complaints about care in the homes.

Third, the lack of timeliness of these surveys further reduces their value for evaluating state survey performance. They often take place weeks or months after the state visit and thus do not constitute a limited check on the reliability of the state's results.

Fourth, the HCFA is very limited in what it can do to states that do not carry out their federal surveying responsibilities. It does not have effective sanctions, short of terminating its agreement with the state (which has never been done), to use against states that underenforce or wrongly interpret federal standards. An intermediate sanction, such as reducing the amount of Medicaid matching funds, is needed.

Recommendation 4-19: The HCFA should increase its capabilities to oversee state survey and certification of nursing homes and to enforce federal requirements on states as well as facilities by

adding enough additional federal surveyors to each regional office to
ensure that the random sample of nursing homes surveyed each year in
each state is large enough to allow reasonable inferences about the
adequacy of the state's survey and certification activities;

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

- scheduling "look-behind" surveys so that valid comparisons can be made of the findings of federal and state surveys; and
- amending Title XIX of the Social Security Act to authorize the HCFA to withhold a portion of Medicaid matching funds from states that perform inadequately in their survey and certification of nursing homes.

ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGES

Incorporation of Inspection of Care in the Survey Process

Federal law and regulations currently require each state Medicaid agency to conduct at least one "inspection-of-care" (IOC) review of all patients annually to determine the appropriateness and quality of care given to recipients. The inspection of care involves a look at the care given to every Medicaid resident. It is done by a team of nurses and social workers, often with access to physician consultants. Traditionally, this inspection-of-care process has been performed independently of the facility surveys in all but a few states.

Federal guidelines for IOC are general, and inspection-of-care programs differ widely in the way they are conducted, the size and qualifications of the inspection teams, and the scope of the review. Many focus on level-of-care determinations rather than quality-of-care problems and do not have resident assessment tools and techniques adequate to determine quality of care for regulatory purposes.

In the past few years, some states have combined their inspection-of-care and survey staffs, usually for budgetary reasons. In some states, the processes are fully integrated—done by the same team on the same visit. In others, they are done separately, but the information derived from the two processes is shared. The responsible agencies regularly take joint action in some states. In most states, however, the two processes operate in isolation from each other.^{26,27}

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

In the 47 states responding to the committee's survey, 17 licensure and certification agencies were also responsible for inspection-of-care reviews. In nine of the states, the same team conducted both IOC and the certification surveys on the same visit; in the other eight states, IOC was conducted by a different team or on a different visit, or both. Of the 46 states answering the question of whether IOC should be integrated with the survey process, 32 said they should be done by the same team or at the same visit or both. Another seven thought they should be separate functions under the same supervisor. Only seven advocated keeping them as separately administered functions.

Inspection of care, as it is currently conducted in most states, provides resident-centered quality-of-care information that is not always available to or used by the certification surveyors. The survey and IOC should be combined because they are somewhat duplicative and IOC findings would help in the assessment of compliance with resident care standards.

Combining IOC with the recommended new survey process would require a statutory change to permit reviews of a sample rather than of all residents. The transfer of IOC also will affect utilization review and control responsibilities. Currently, the regulations governing IOC are included under the general subject of utilization control. These regulations require each state Medicaid program to have a surveillance and utilization control program to (1) guard against unnecessary or inappropriate use of services, (2) minimize excess payments, and (3) assess the quality of those services. Utilization control must include for each recipient a physician's certification and periodic recertification of the need for nursing home care, a medical evaluation and a rehabilitation plan for admission, and a discharge plan. In addition, there must be a utilization review (UR) plan for each facility that includes periodic reviews of each recipient's need for continuing stay in a nursing home, medical care evaluation studies, and discharge plan reviews. The state cannot receive the full federal share of payments for Medicaid services provided in a facility that does not have a proper utilization review program.

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from files created from the original paper book, not from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

In most states, utilization reviews, including the continuing stay reviews, are done by facility-based UR committees. The annual IOC visit, with its 100 percent review of Medicaid recipients, is the means by which the Medicaid agency monitors the performance of the UR committees. With consolidation of ICFs and SNFs, UR committees will be required to determine the need for continued nursing home care. The annual IOC has been used for this purpose. Accordingly, if IOC is transferred, the survey agency would need to perform this audit function for the Medicaid agency. The effort should be directed at a sample of residents most likely to be discharged. This function would be greatly facilitated by the availability of the standard resident assessment data. The placement of residents in the nursing home could be checked at the time of the standard survey and reported to the Medicaid agency. If the placement decisions for the sample are wrong in too many cases, a review of all residents could be triggered.

Recommendation 4-20: The inspection-of-care function should be carried out as part of the new resident-centered, outcome-oriented survey process. But individual resident reviews should be required for a sample of residents (private-pay as well as Medicaid) rather than for all residents (although individual states may elect to continue 100 percent reviews).

Restructuring of State and Federal Roles and Responsibilities

The federal and state role relationships in nursing home regulation must be clear and workable, because the two levels of government share the responsibility for maintaining the federal quality standards in nursing homes participating in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. In the past, federal statutes have given principal responsibility to the states for determining whether participating nursing homes comply with federal health and safety standards. The states do this by conducting onsite inspections and complaint investigations in all facilities

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

participating in Medicare and Medicaid. They certify the compliance or noncompliance of these facilities.

In the case of Medicaid-only facilities, which account for 61 percent of the participating facilities and 53 percent of the beds, 28 the state Medicaid agency makes the final decision to enter into a provider agreement with a certified facility. In the case of Medicare-only or Medicare and Medicaid facilities, however, it is the HCFA regional offices that make this decision. In both instances, the federal government's primary responsibility should be to monitor and assist the states in the performance of their jobs. One result of this difference in certification responsibilities for Medicare and Medicaid facilities has been federal preoccupation with Medicare SNFs and relative state autonomy over Medicaid-only facilities. Another result is state Medicaid certification of state-owned nursing homes and hospitals. It is a potential conflict of interest for a state to survey its own institutions. It puts the survey agency in the position of criticizing the performance of a sister agency (often in the same department) and, if it requires major state expenditures, it may come under pressure from the governor's office to modify its findings. Moreover, the survey agency is put at a disadvantage in taking a tough line with private facilities when it is widely believed that state facilities are borderline or worse.

The respective roles of the federal and state governments would be clarified and strengthened if the states assumed responsibility for approving certification of all (Medicare as well as Medicaid) facilities except state-owned institutions. The latter should be certified by the federal regional offices on the basis of inspections by federal surveyors. The primary role of the regional offices would still be to monitor the activities of the state survey agencies and to take steps, including the use of the sanctions referred to in the previous recommendation, to ensure adequate performance.

This recommendation concerning certification authority should be implemented by overhauling the so-called "1864 agreement"—the contract between the Secretary of Health and Human Services and each state health department to

authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from files created from the original paper book, not retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

carry out Medicare surveys—assuming the following other recommendations of the committee are implemented: (1) the development and adoption of more outcome-oriented conditions and standards and of a new survey process to implement them, (2) provision of adequate resources and training to the states to carry out their certification responsibilities, (3) increased and improved federal monitoring of state survey performance, and (4) the adoption of federal sanctions to use against states that do not adequately apply or enforce federal requirements.

Section 1864 of the Social Security Act directs the Secretary of Health and Human Services to make agreements with any "able and willing" state under which the state health department or other appropriate state agency surveys health facilities wishing to participate in Medicare and certifies whether or not they meet federal definitions, standards of care, and other requirements. In return, the secretary agrees to pay for the reasonable costs of the survey and certification activities of the state agency. Currently, 1864 agreements are openended in duration, but they may be terminated under certain conditions by either party.

Although the HCFA has been dissatisfied with the performance of some states from time to time, it has never terminated an 1864 agreement. Because section 1864 compels the secretary to enter into agreement with any state that wants to, and does not provide for alternative sponsorship of survey activities, the HCFA has not had much leverage with states that do not strictly comply with federal requirements.

The HCFA implemented a revised 1864 agreement on July 1, 1985, in an attempt to hold the states more accountable. It should continue this effort to clarify the respective roles of the federal and state levels in conjunction with the other major recommendations cited above, that is, implementation of a resident-centered, outcome-oriented standards and survey process and increased resources at the federal and state levels.

It should be noted that the federal cost savings resulting from the elimination of the paper reviews of the certification packages in the regional offices should

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from files created from the original paper book, not from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

offset in part the higher costs of the expanded federal oversight function called for in the last recommendation.

Recommendation 4-21: The respective roles and responsibilities of the federal and state governments should be realigned as follows:

- The states should be responsible for certifying all Medicare and Medicaid facilities (except state institutions) according to federal requirements.
- The HCFA should monitor state performance more actively and be responsible for conducting surveys of, and certifying, state-owned institutions directly.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

5

Enforcing Compliance with Federal Standards

THE ISSUES

Even with improved regulatory standards and a more effective survey process, it is unlikely that quality of care and quality of life for residents in marginal or substandard nursing homes will improve unless compliance with the standards is effectively enforced. The committee was made aware—at its public meetings, by many letters from individuals, from interviews conducted during its case studies, and by stories that appeared in the press and on television in several states during the course of this study—of the serious, even shocking, inadequacies of enforcement in many states. The problem appears to be national in scope. Although public attention is focused on the relatively few scandalous cases, a more serious issue appears to be the large numbers of marginal or substandard nursing homes that are chronically out of compliance when surveyed, may or may not be subject to mild sanctions, temporarily correct their deficiencies under a plan of correction, and then quickly lapse into noncompliance until the next annual survey. In one large city, the committee's staff was told by a federal regional official that the federal surveyors in that office estimated that about one-third of the nursing homes in

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

that city were of marginal or less-than-marginal quality. This estimate was considered reasonable by a state regulatory official in the agency responsible for inspecting the nursing homes in that city. The extent of the problem undoubtedly varies widely among the states and within states. Although data on the nature and extent of the problems are not available, the anecdotal evidence is very persuasive: inadequate enforcement is a major problem.

Enforcement issues can be grouped into four areas: (1) federal and state orientation and attitudes toward enforcement; (2) the federal rules and procedures; (3) state variations in enforcement authority, policies, and procedures; and (4) inadequate federal and state resources committed to enforcement.

ENFORCEMENT ATTITUDES

Federal procedures for dealing with facilities found to be out of compliance are oriented toward helping facilities to improve rather than enforcing the certification standards. This posture may be reasonable and beneficial in many cases, but it allows states to continue certifying facilities that provide poor or marginal care. Some poor facilities remain in operation over long periods to correct deficiencies, then meet standards for only short periods following the resurveys, and then repeat the same pattern of behavior. In other cases, facilities may be decertified, but then quickly correct the deficiencies and promptly be recertified.

When the federal government became directly involved in nursing home regulation after 1965, few nursing homes could meet federal standards. Strict enforcement of federal standards would have barred most nursing homes from participating in the Medicare program and therefore would have prevented many Medicare patients from receiving needed services. The Department of Health, Education, and Welfare then decided to certify nursing homes that were only in "substantial compliance" with Medicare standards.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

Although nearly 6,000 facilities had applied for participation in Medicare by December 1966, only 740 were able to achieve compliance by July 1967. Another 3,210 were certified as being in "substantial compliance." From the beginning, then, the goal of enforcement in federal nursing home regulation was to allow some substandard facilities to participate in the program while encouraging them to achieve compliance, rather than to bar such facilities until they were in compliance. The emphasis of federal and state regulatory efforts was, and in many states still is, on upgrading substandard facilities rather than keeping them out of the program.

The current survey policies and procedures encourage states to consult and coerce facilities into compliance, not to punish them. The state agency does not have the authority under federal regulations to punish a violation immediately. The survey agency must issue a notice to the operator of a substandard nursing home, giving the facility a period of time (usually 30 to 60 days) in which to correct deficiencies. The survey agency is instructed to try to resolve cases before referring them to the formal administrative or law enforcement system.⁴ The agency may apply formal sanctions only if the facility remains in violation beyond the deadline set for compliance. Consequently, the facility is not punished for violations directly, but rather for failing to carry out an administrative order to correct violations by a certain date. Resort to formal sanctions by a compliance-oriented agency therefore becomes the last step in a long series of follow-up visits and plans of correction designed to induce conformity on the part of substandard facilities.

In practice, in the interest of eliminating the hazard as quickly as possible, nursing home regulators typically continue their efforts to gain compliance well after the point at which they could resort to formal sanctions. Substandard nursing homes apparently come into compliance long enough to be recertified, without penalty, but are again found out of compliance with the same or similar standards in one or more subsequent annual inspections. Regulators in the

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot I retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

six states in which the committee did case studies reported having chronic problems with 10 to 15 percent of their nursing homes, which they called "roller-coaster," "yo-yo," "in-and-out," or "borderline" nursing homes. The HCFA has estimated that 5 percent of SNFs will fail to meet one or more conditions on their current and next two certification surveys, and 14.6 percent of ICFs will fail the same test. One condition out of compliance is grounds for starting decertification procedures. But the number of decertifications taking place does not match these estimates of numbers of facilities with conditions out of compliance.

Even when the state licensure and certification agencies and the HCFA regional offices do decertify facilities, facilities still reenter the program easily. The federal Medicare regulations call for "reasonable assurance" that the deficiencies which led to termination will not recur. (The HCFA has proposed more specific reinstatement rules.⁵)

Although it may have been necessary to work with facilities to bring them into compliance when federal regulations were new, the certification regulations have been in use for more than 10 years and the nursing home industry is much more sophisticated than it was. There is no longer a valid reason for facilities to operate with numerous and repeated deficiencies. The committee believes that current federal policies requiring consultation undermine state agency efforts to eliminate substandard providers and deter marginal facilities from repeating violations. Federal and state procedures for enforcement should be modified to reorient the program toward enforcement rather than consultation and to encourage states to adopt a stronger enforcement posture. This can be done by (1) separating the consultant and surveyor roles, (2) making survey follow-up procedures more specific, (3) making federal and state sanctions more comprehensive and applying them more rigorously, and (4) increasing both federal oversight and federal support of state enforcement activities. Each of these remedies implies changes in federal policy and a stronger federal role in the enforcement system. Some require statutory changes.

FEDERAL RULES AND PROCEDURES

Consultation

The law and regulations now require survey agencies to advise facilities on how to improve their performance. The state survey agencies organize the consultation work in several ways: In some states, surveyors are the consultants; in others, separate units are staffed with various professionals who serve as consultants to nursing homes.¹

There is potential conflict between the consulting and regulatory roles of a survey agency.⁶ The compliance-oriented consulting role, combined with professional attitudes of surveyors trained in the helping professions such as nursing and social work, can lead surveyors to be too understanding and lenient toward substandard providers. Compliance-oriented enforcement may allow surveyors to work with a facility for long-range improvements, but the dilemma of compliance-oriented enforcement is that threats of punishment are not credible if they are not used predictably under specified circumstances.⁷ Without a credible threat of sanctions, many marginal or poor facilities never improve. In many states, surveyors are responsible both for consulting with and disciplining providers, despite the potential conflict in these roles. Some states, notably Washington, New York, and Connecticut, use separate consultant teams. They consider this procedure successful.⁸

Survey Follow-up Procedures

Current federal guidelines for survey follow-up procedures are inadequate because they do not specify how plans of correction should be evaluated, how correction actions should be measured, or when more stringent enforcement actions should be initiated. Guidelines on consultation do not specify methods or extent of consultation to be given. Guidelines on plans of correction, follow-up visits, and the initiation of enforcement

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

are procedurally precise, but do not discuss content of plans or circumstances of visits and what specific circumstances should prompt imposition of sanctions.⁴ Most states lack internal guidelines on these matters.⁹

Plans of Correction

The post-survey phase of nursing home certification has been much less studied and is far less sophisticated than the annual survey process, but detecting deficiencies—as difficult as that may be—is only the first step in achieving compliance.⁸ State post-survey procedures vary widely. States may be more or less stringent in accepting plans of correction and in agreeing that adequate corrections have been made. They may give the facilities more or less time to make the corrections.^{1,9}

Under federal guidelines, the survey agency has 10 days after a nursing home inspection visit to issue its statement of deficiencies. These are listed and documented on a HCFA form. The provider is supposed to respond within 10 days with a plan of correction for every deficiency that is written on the statement of deficiencies. The plan of correction is supposed to list the actions the provider proposes to take, including expected dates of correction or completion dates for deficiencies already corrected, or to outline any disagreements the provider may have with the survey findings.⁴

Plans of correction are obviously crucial because they specify the actions to be taken by the facility to remedy the specific deficiencies for which it was cited. The state survey agency must decide if the proposed corrective actions are appropriate to remedy the deficiencies and the proposed correction dates are reasonable. An internal HCFA study showed that the failure to follow post-survey procedures is related to the survival of poor providers. The study found that in 126 problem facilities identified by the regional offices (most of them repeat violators) 60 had incidents of improper actions, including unmet deadlines, deviations from plan of correction procedures, and improper use of automatic cancellation clauses.⁵

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

The HCFA also determined that in the cases reviewed, formal enforcement was regularly not taken when warranted. Despite the importance of survey follow-up and plans of correction, the federal criteria for acceptable plans of correction are general. According to the State Operations Manual (Section 2340), "the plan must be specific (stating exactly how the provider or supplier intends to effect corrective action), and realistic. It should include expected completion dates and be signed by the Administrator or other authorized official of the health care entity." Although the procedures for obtaining a plan of correction are specific, the directions concerning the actual content of the plan are quite vague.⁴

States have different procedures for reviewing correction plans. In some, survey agency supervisors conduct the review; in others, plans are reviewed by surveyors. In some states, it is not uncommon, to send correction plans back for revision; in most, this is rarely done. In the case of Medicare or Medicare/ Medicaid facilities, the HCFA's regional office staff also reviews the acceptability of correction plans. Pollow-up visits and procedures also vary by state. The number of follow-up visits made by state agencies in 1983 ranged from none to 2,280. Follow-up visits average about one per facility survey, lasting about 1-1/2 to 2 days. Most (30) survey agency directors think that a single onsite follow-up visit is sufficient. Given the range in facility size, numbers of deficiencies cited, and variation in scope and duration of correction plans, a broader range in the numbers of follow-up visits to facilities, and in their duration, is warranted.

Only a few survey agencies have explicit guidelines for evaluating the correction plans submitted by the facilities, although sanctions may be imposed. Also, higher-level sanctions are usually based on a finding of noncompliance with a correction plan. Specific guidelines on evaluating a correction plan should be available to surveyors. Surveyors also must be trained to document deficiencies and evaluate plans to make the guidelines effective.

Initiation of Formal Enforcement

A major finding in the IOM case studies is that state survey agencies lack formal enforcement procedures and guidelines. They also lack explicit criteria for making decisions at important stages in the enforcement process. The survey of state agencies found that only 20 of the 47 states reporting have written guidelines for when and how to take formal enforcement actions.⁹

Generally, onsite post-survey revisits are made to facilities to check the progress of the correction plan. If the deficiency is a minor paper compliance item, such as amended bylaws or written policies, the facility may be allowed to mail the corrected documents for verification in lieu of an onsite visit. In most cases, however, onsite revisits are made to verify correction of deficiencies, generally within 60 to 90 days of the initial survey. Revisits must be made by a qualified surveyor or agency consultant.

Some states have a practice of making more than one revisit to verify immediate correction of acute situations and later to verify correction of the remaining deficiencies. Thirty states believe that one onsite follow-up visit is adequate in most cases, 13 think there should be more than one visit if there are multiple deadlines for corrections, and 3 said none were needed in most cases because corrections could be adequately verified by telephone or mail. (One did not reply.) ⁹

If all deficiencies are corrected at the time of the revisit, the surveyor is required to complete a post-certification revisit report that indicates to the HCFA or the state Medicaid agency or both that the facility is in full compliance.⁴

If there are still uncorrected deficiencies, the surveyor fills out a summary of the uncorrected deficiencies on a HCFA form that reports whether the provider made acceptable progress or showed effort or made inadequate or no progress, and provides details. In the last-mentioned case, the surveyor is urged by the State Operations Manual (Section 3306) to find out why and, if possible, through consultation, to work out a new plan of

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

correction. If the provider continues to fail or refuses to correct a deficiency, the surveyor must determine if the deficiency poses a clear hazard to resident health and safety. If so, the surveyor is supposed to recommend termination of the Medicaid agreement, the only federal sanction.⁴

Although the federal regulations outline the procedures for following up on a survey, they do not specify what constitutes a clear hazard to health and safety. Nor do the regulations set limits on the duration and number of plans of correction. Without federal guidelines on these matters, it can be difficult for a surveyor to judge when initiation of decertification is warranted. In the six states studied by the committee, those active in enforcement were more likely to have detailed enforcement procedures. Specific procedures were developed in Texas because the survey and Medicaid agencies found themselves losing too many court cases on the grounds of inconsistent procedures.¹

Guidelines on when to initiate sanctions are necessary for effective state enforcement. Surveyors need specific guidelines on when deficiencies found in the standard survey warrant further investigation, when violations should be cited, and what findings in the extended survey should be followed by sanctions. Specified enforcement procedures would encourage states to be less tolerant of substandard providers, and to be more consistent in initiating enforcement activity and in setting precedents for future activities. Written procedures are needed for both federal and state sanctions. Guidelines for use should accompany any new sanctions that are put into place. States also should have legal and administrative staff who specialize in nursing home enforcement issues to assist them in applying sanctions.

More-specific guidelines on consultation, plans of correction, follow-up visits, and initiation of enforcement are needed to direct state agencies to be less tolerant of substandard homes that are chronic or repeat violators. Stronger and more specific federal guidelines would facilitate stricter state enforcement. More intensive reviews of correction plans would not only ensure that plans are reasonable and carried out properly,

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from files created from the original paper book, not from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

but that standardized documentation on progress of corrections is completed. This would permit prompt penalization of facilities that do not correct deficiencies.

Recommendation 5-1: The HCFA should revise its guidelines for the postsurvey process. Revisions should include

- specifying that survey agency personnel not be used as consultants to providers with compliance problems;
- specifying how to evaluate plans of correction and what constitutes an acceptable plan of correction;
- specifying the circumstances under which onsite follow-up visits may be waived;
- specifying circumstances under which formal enforcement action should be initiated, and how actions should be taken; and
- requiring that states have formal enforcement procedures and mechanisms.

Sanctions

Current federal sanctions are inadequate. Until very recently, if a state found a facility out of compliance with regulations, its only option under the federal program was to threaten to terminate the provider's Medicaid contract.⁴ Termination of a contract essentially puts a provider out of business. Because of the undesirability of closing facilities and relocating residents, states rarely terminate contracts.¹

Federal survey and enforcement criteria do not take historical offenses into account. Facilities are recertified on the basis of evidence of facility compliance collected at the time of the survey or on follow-up visits. Records of owners and operators and administrators are not considered. Sanctions are not applied for repeat deficiencies. Each of the case study states reported that 10 to 15 percent of their providers are constantly found to be out of compliance; they file and comply with correction plans, then are found to be out of compliance at the following survey. Even facilities

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from files created from the original paper book, not from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

with repeated major deficiencies are recertified if they meet their correction plans within 60 to 90 days. Recertification of decertified facilities or providers is done without regard to a history of noncompliance. Most terminated providers reenter the certification program a short time after decertification.¹

The available federal sanctions are decertification and termination of the provider contract. Facilities also may be issued a temporary certification with an automatic cancellation clause. Early in 1985, the HCFA proposed additional federal rules allowing suspension of payments for new admissions, but (as of October 1985) this regulation has not been put into effect.

Decertification and Termination of the Provider Agreement

If the survey agency finds that a provider is out of compliance with one or more conditions of participation, is jeopardizing the health and safety of its residents, or has "limited capacity . . . to furnish adequate level or quality of care," it begins the process of decertification. Furthermore, if the provider has a Medicare contract, the state survey agency recommends to the federal regional office that the provider's Medicare contract be terminated. If the provider holds only a Medicaid contract, the state agency recommends to the state Medicaid agency that the provider's contract be terminated, and provides supporting documentation. The decision to terminate Medicare contracts rests with the federal office. The decision to terminate Medicaid contracts rests with the state Medicaid agency.

Decertification of providers is rare. It is an action of last resort, to be taken only when a provider demonstrates no intention of coming into compliance or the inability to do so. A facility has many opportunities during the lengthy process of decertification to come into compliance, however briefly, and thus be recertified.

From 1980 to 1984, the HCFA recorded the termination of 159 nursing home Medicare and Medicaid contracts. ¹⁰ Thirteen of the state agency directors report that their state decertified facilities in 1983. ⁹ The number of

etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

decertifications in those states ranged from I to 55 and totaled 129.

Voluntary Decertification

Facilities also may voluntarily terminate their Medicare or Medicaid contracts. This is usually done because the facility is unable or unwilling to correct deficiencies, or the facility is dissatisfied with reimbursement, or there is a change of ownership and the new owner does not wish to participate, or because the facility closes. ⁵

According to the HCFA data, there were 967 voluntary Medicare contract cancellations between 1980 and 1984. In many of the cases recorded by the HCFA, the facility may have voluntarily terminated its Medicare contract while retaining its Medicaid contract. National data on the number of voluntary Medicaid contract cancellations are not available.

Termination Without Decertification

The federal regulations provide a number of grounds for terminating a provider contract in addition to failure to comply with the federal health and safety standards (42 CFR Part 489, Subpart E, in the case of Medicare providers; 42 CFR Part 442, Subpart B, in the case of Medicaid providers). These include failure to meet civil rights requirements, failure to provide financial information needed to determine payments, submission of false information, nondisclosure of ownership or of information on an individual convicted of a program-related crime (for example, Medicaid fraud).

Automatic Cancellation Clause

If a state agency determines that a provider has any deficiencies, the agency must issue a certification with an automatic cancellation date upon which the provider's certification will expire if the facility fails to correct the deficiencies by the given date. The date of automatic

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

cancellation can be up to 60 days following the final date given in the provider's plan of correction. If the provider has corrected the facility's deficiencies, or if the provider "can document effort and progress to correct" the deficiencies by the date of the automatic cancellation clause, the cancellation is rescinded and the provider is given a routine 12-month certification. If the provider does not correct or make progress on correcting the deficiencies by the given date, the agency must initiate termination proceedings.

Of the 28 state certification agency directors who responded to questions regarding the cancellation clause, 7 states said they used the procedure often and 21 said they seldom or never used it. Twelve respondents said they thought the provision is an effective enforcement tool; 16 said it was ineffective. Several said that the ability to issue the clause is useful as a threat, whether or not they actually use it. According to HCFA guidelines, cancellation clauses should accompany all certifications to providers in which a plan of correction is requested. States, however, either use the cancellation clause as a sort of intermediate sanction or do not use it at all. Only a few states reported that they used the automatic cancellation clause as routinely as instructed.

Suspension of Payment

The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1981 provided authority to the Secretary of Health and Human Services to deny Medicare payments for new admissions to providers who are out of compliance with conditions of participation, as long as the deficiencies do not pose an immediate threat to the health and safety of the residents in the facility. The act assigns similar authority over Medicaid-only facilities to state agencies.

On February 21, 1985, the HCFA proposed regulations to implement the law and published them for review and comment. 11 The proposed regulations would allow the HCFA or the state Medicaid agencies to suspend Medicare or

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

Medicaid payments for new admissions to a facility. If a state agency finds that a facility has deficiencies on the condition level that do not pose immediate threats to the residents' health and safety, but "are serious enough to require more emphasis than just a plan of correction," it may recommend suspension of payments for new Medicare and Medicaid admissions to the facility for a period of up to 11 months. During a period of suspension of payments, the facility continues to receive payments for existing Medicare and Medicaid residents. The HCFA's New York regional office has, on the basis of a federal court order, used the federal authority to ban admissions to facilities. It reported that this mechanism is effective in coercing compliance with certification regulations. However, the statute and the proposed HCFA regulation on suspension of admission require that a formal hearing take place before the sanction takes effect, making the proposed sanction more difficult and slower to implement than decertification.

Until these regulations become final, a surveyor finding that a facility is consistently or repeatedly violating the certification standards may only decertify the facility and recommend termination of the provider's contract. For reasons previously cited, surveyors and state agencies hesitate to do this. Clearly, effective intermediate sanctions are needed.

Enforcement also could be more effective if the HCFA changed its procedures for hearings and appeals. It should develop regulations that would allow states to implement sanctions prior to hearings and appeals. The appeals process on sanctions should be made less permissive. This will require statutory change. Frivolous appeals could be discouraged by (1) clarifying the lack of a facility's right to a stay, pending judicial review of decertification decisions; (2) not making states prove that the violation is still outstanding at the time of the hearing in order to continue applying the sanctions; and (3) not reimbursing provider legal fees for unsuccessful appeals of survey-related cases. Currently, agencies cannot implement sanctions until the appeals process is exhausted. And many courts grant stays on decertification actions to facilities that have appealed

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

the action, until the close of the appeal hearing. Thus a facility that the HCFA or the state agency has recommended for decertification may continue to operate for months or even years. Furthermore, if the facility has come into compliance by the time the appeal hearing is held, courts often reverse the decertification decision. ^{1,7} This practice has the effect of greatly extending the time a facility has to correct violations.

Because decertification proceedings only take place in the most severe situations, facilities should not be allowed to use this tactic to extend the time they are allowed to eliminate deficiencies. Appeals initiated for the purpose of delaying correction of deficiencies should be discouraged by making it clear that serious violations do not merit stays, that sanctions will be based on the deficiency in performance found at the time of the survey and not on later events, and that reimbursement for legal and other costs of unsuccessful appeals will be denied.

Finally, federal regulations should allow states to take into account prior years' survey findings as well as the most recent survey findings in applying sanctions. This is necessary to solve the problem of the chronically substandard facility. States also must have a method of weighting offenses as to seriousness, defining repeat violations, matching sanctions to violations, and determining liability for offenses to effectively sanction repeat offenders. Statutory authority will be necessary to enable the HCFA to prescribe procedures to be followed by the states in dealing with chronic or repeat violators of the regulations.

A repeat violation is defined as any major violation of a standard under a resident-care-related condition of participation if any other standard under the same condition was found out of compliance on the previous visit. The repeat violation may be found at either the follow-up visit, a complaint investigation, or at the subsequent annual survey visit. (If the latter, the facility's correction of the violation following the first visit should not prohibit the state agency from counting the first violation as an initial offense.) Any

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

conditions that deal directly with the health and safety of residents should be included in this definition. Major violations of standards under a resident-care-related condition could include, for example, a facility's failure to employ a qualified dietetic supervisor one year, and then a failure to prepare and serve prescribed therapeutic diets the following year. Or a facility could be cited for poor resident care planning under the nursing services condition on an annual survey, correct the problem, and then be cited for poor administration of drugs on a follow-up or complaint visit. Procedures for punishing repeat offenses should include (1) the authority to apply stricter sanctions, such as more-severe fines, based on repeat offenses; (2) requiring states to consider the past record of an owner, administrator, or operator in their own and in other states prior to granting Medicaid certification; and (3) requiring states to obtain satisfactory assurances prior to granting a recertification that violations that led to a termination will not recur.

In determining the past record of owners for consideration in certification decisions, states should use the definition of ownership applied under current Medicaid fraud statutes: any party having 5 percent or more interest in the facility, land, or deed. The current Minnesota statutes covering nursing homes are a good example. The Minnesota statute states that a controlling person means (1) any public body, governmental agency, business entity, officer, nursing home administrator, or director whose responsibilities include the direction of the management or policies of the home; and (2) any person who, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns any interest in any corporation, partnership or other business association which is a controlling person, any interest in the land or structure, interest in any mortgage, contract for deed, or other obligation secured in whole or part by the land or structure, or interest in any lease or sublease of the land, structure, or facilities. ¹³

STATE RULES AND PROCEDURES

State Sanctions

Many states have authority to use various intermediate sanctions under their state licensing laws. States license nursing homes under their police power to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public. The federal courts have upheld state authority to sanction nursing homes under state licensing regulations.^{2,14}

The availability and use of intermediate sanctions vary widely by state. Although the median state has eight sanctions available, each state tends to use a subset of those sanctions, usually in a particular sequence that is graduated in severity. Since intermediate sanctions are authorized by state legislatures, the sanctions differ from state to state. There are no nationally consistent intermediate sanctions or enforcement procedures. The intermediate sanctions available to states, and their use in 1983, are shown in Table 5-1.

Although regulators interviewed by the committee in about 10 states estimate that at least 10 or 15 percent of the facilities they regulate are marginal or constantly going in and out of compliance, the number of sanctions reported is relatively small. In 1983, a total of 2,000 actions were taken against some 15,000 facilities. Most of the actions (85%) were taken in 13 states. (This statistic probably means that some states are more enforcement-oriented than others, not that facilities in the 13 states are consistently poorer providers than facilities in the other 37.)

The survey of state licensure and certification agencies found that the use of sanctions in a state is associated with (1) higher state appropriations for the survey agency, presence of special enforcement training for surveyors, more available sanctions, and higher state licensure nursing standards; and (2) survey procedures that required greater numbers of facility visits a year. It may be that increased resources available to a state survey agency lead to the increased detection of deficiencies, and this, in turn leads to more sanctions. Or it may be that states in which the

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

TABLE 5-1 State Sanctions and Use in 1983

Sanction	Number of States With	Number of States Reporting Use of Sanctions in 1983	Total Number of Actions Taken
Civil or administrative	26	13	900
fines	21	0	10
Court-appointed receiver	21	8	12
State-appointed monitor	7	•	3
Suspension of all admissions	32	15	96
Consideration of past record in CON approval	25	10	105
Court injunctions against substandard operation	37	9	13
State-initiated relocation of residents	36	14	27
Reduced Medicaid rates for interior performance	9	1	10
Conditional/ provisional licensing	35	14	268
Probationary license	15	5	154
Criminal penalties for patient abuse	30	5	376
License revocation	44	15	59
Involuntary decertification	40	13	129
Withholding of payments	19	3	272

SOURCE: Survey of State Licensure and Certification Agencies (see Appendix C).

authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

enforcement climate is favorable are more likely to provide their regulators with more resources and legal authority.

Directors of state survey agencies tended to give favorable ratings to the sanctions they use. Thirty-seven stated that particular sanctions seemed to be effective because they

- affect the income of the provider (20),
- can be implemented quickly (7),
- give the provider unwanted publicity (5), and
- can be used to remove the operator (4).

Nineteen states listed obstacles to the successful use of sanctions. These included

- administrative and legal time delays in implementation (11),
- administrative problems (3),
- fear of harm to residents (transfer trauma, service cutbacks to pay fines, and so on) (4), and
- insufficient impact on the provider's income (2).

Because current state sanctions are operated under state licensure programs, no two states impose the same sanctions or follow the same procedures. If the states are to conduct an effective and uniform enforcement program, it will be necessary for all states (and the federal government) to have the same set of intermediate sanctions and apply them in the same way. This change in enforcement policy and procedures will require federal statutory authority.

Intermediate sanctions must be available to the federal government as well as to the states. The HCFA needs sanctions to apply to facilities it certifies directly (state-owned facilities) and facilities it finds out of compliance in lookbehind surveys. States need uniform sanctions to be applied in the same way to all facilities and to maintain consistency and credibility in the regulatory process. At a minimum, both the federal and the state governments should have the authority to ban admissions to facilities, to impose civil fines upon facilities, to put a facility into receivership, and, in

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

the case of an emergency, to close a facility and transfer its residents to other facilities.

Intermediate sanctions should be authorized under the Medicaid program (as well as under state licensure authority) and implemented under a set of federal guidelines. This change would increase uniformity in enforcement activity and link intermediate sanctions directly to certification. Authorizing the same sanctions for both the federal government and the states will ensure that states have the same sanction to use in enforcing adherence to Medicare arid Medicaid nursing home standards. With appropriate federal guidelines on the use of sanctions, consistency among states will be increased and precedents within and among states will be set.

Procedures for implementing the sanctions should be specified by the HCFA. Intermediate sanctions adopted by the federal government and the states should operate so that they can be invoked promptly and be serious enough to the provider to deter violations as well as encourage immediate response. Procedures for *implementing* sanctions should include explanations of what sorts of deficiencies trigger the sanction, a method for ranking the seriousness of violations and corresponding punishment, timing of sanctions and appeals, and specific rules for designating responsibility for the violation and liability for punishment. For example, violations of residents' rights could be related to specific fines, increasing in amount based on the number of residents affected, the seriousness of the violation, the duration, and whether other rights have previously been violated. The fines could be implementable within a specified number of days, and applied to the controlling operator of the facility.

The particular sanctions recommended below are in use by a number of states as licensing sanctions. In the 32 states that currently have authority to suspend admissions to facilities, some have authority to suspend all admissions, and some can suspend only Medicaid admissions or payments for new Medicaid admissions. Suspension of admissions can work well because it combines a loss of new funds with adverse publicity. The sanction is also useful because it continues as long as the violation continues, but does not adversely affect current residents. The economic impact accumulates, but the loss of funds does

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

not include current residents. Additionally, with the exception of truly life-threatening situations, allowing current residents to remain in the facility recognizes that the injury of substandard care may be outweighed by the injury of being uprooted and transferred. Most suspensions of admissions last only 2 to 4 weeks. ^{1,14} For a suspension of admissions to be effective, it should include admissions for all residents, and it should be implementable prior to hearings and appeals.

Civil fines are used by 26 states, 19 of which consider their fining system effective. In some states, civil penalty systems have performed up to expectations; in others, fines have rarely been used, or have been plagued by administrative problems. He fines are a valuable enforcement tool because they can be applied to minor violations early and often, thus deterring facilities from making more serious transgressions. They also can be used for serious but isolated incidents. Use the versatility requires that violations be ranked according to seriousness and duration, and fines of appropriate size matched appropriately. It is sometimes argued that fines are inappropriate sanctions since they may come from resident care funds. Any sanction, however, may have that effect. It is possible to monitor quality of care through financial audits and the survey process, to guard against this problem.

For a fining system to be effective, it is essential that the administrative and legal delays be avoided by prompt, short hearings, that the fines be graduated according to seriousness, duration, and repetition of the violations, and that fines be used to deter further violations. All fines should be large enough to be more costly than the money saved by the violation. Fining systems should be versatile enough to allow correction of less-serious violations, but immediately punish life-threatening violations.

Receivership is used by 17 states. Six of the states considered it effective. Receivership can be a useful enforcement tool. It enables the state to prevent an owner or administrator from continuing to operate a seriously deficient facility but does not force the

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

facility to close and relocate residents. Receivership allows states to force dramatic upgrading of very poor quality facilities. Receivership can also be implemented quickly.¹⁴

An effective receivership program requires that the state licensure agency maintain a list of potential receivers, and a fund for paying them. Receivers should be experienced private parties who are assigned to operate the facility for a limited time. They should be paid for their services from an independent fund, and allowed reimbursement sufficient to cover required improvements in the facility.¹⁴

Additionally, residents, friends, families, interested community groups, and employees must be kept fully informed of the conditions leading to the receivership, and the scope and terms of the receivership order, including, for example, whether the receiver will transfer the residents or maintain the facility for possible purchase. If the receiver has indicated that he or she will not consider becoming the permanent operator of the facility, that should be clearly established. Coordination with the community is essential to successful receivership. If the purpose of receivership is to transfer residents, the receiver and the state should have a concrete and detailed transfer plan in place at the inception of the receivership, and residents, families, advocates, and the community should be consulted in developing this plan. Honest and full information to employees—and, as appropriate, their unions—also is essential. Fully informed employees are better able to assist in supporting the residents' needs. Although the facility may be reducing the number of employees over the receivership period, it would be harmful if employees left en masse. The receiver should develop a specific plan for relocation or job assistance for the employees. The employees' unions should be involved in this plan.

Receivership arrangements should be of short duration. Most state receivership statutes establish a time limit for operation of a receivership. The receiver should establish intermediate deadlines to accomplish particular objectives.

authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not print version of this publication as the files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed accidentally inserted. Please retained, and some typographic errors may have

Authority to close a nursing home and relocate residents in an emergency situation should be available to all state survey agencies. In extreme situations, such as fire, closing and relocation are clearly necessary, and should be a state-assisted effort. Thirty-six state agencies now have this authority.

Recommendation 5-2: The Medicaid authority should be amended to authorize a specified set of intermediate sanctions for use by states and by the federal government in enforcing compliance with nursing home conditions of participation and standards. The HCFA should then develop and issue detailed regulations and guidelines to be followed by the states and by the HCFA in using these sanctions. The sanctions should include

- ban on admissions,
- civil fines,
- · receivership,
- emergency authority to close facilities and transfer residents.

Recommendation 5-3: The Medicaid statute should be amended to provide authority to impose sanctions on chronic or repeat violators of certification regulations. The HCFA should develop detailed procedures to be followed by the states to deal with such facilities. Procedures should include, but not be limited to,

- the authority to impose more severe sanctions,
- a requirement to consider a provider's previous record before certifying or recertifying and
- the responsibility to obtain satisfactory assurances prior to recertifying, that the deficiencies that led to a termination will not recur.

Recommendation 5-4: The Medicaid statute should be amended to make the appeals process on sanctions, particularly decertification, less permissive. The HCFA should issue regulations and guidelines to implement this new authority.

ENFORCEMENT RESOURCES

Federal funds allocated to federal and state enforcement activities are inadequate. The federal role in improving the enforcement of nursing home standards should include not only developing new guidelines, procedures, and sanctions, but increasing federal enforcement activities, federal support for state enforcement resources, and federal oversight and support of state enforcement activities. The HCFA should have its own financial and legal resources for enforcement. Support of state programs should include both money and training. The HCFA also should increase data collection on enforcement resources and activities.

Enforcement is not currently recognized as a legitimate category of certification expenditures. Special funds are not set aside at the federal level for regional legal staff or legal actions. Regional offices have not allowed states to hire lawyers or other enforcement personnel or pursue hearings and appeals with certification funds. Survey agency staffs rarely include specialists trained in investigation and enforcement, although some states use separate teams of special investigators. Only 15 states have staff attorneys in their licensure agencies who are specifically designated to deal with enforcement issues. Only three have special investigators. When states take court action, 13 have staff attorneys to represent them: 31 have departmental attorneys available; 3 have none.

Surveyor training in enforcement is important. Health professionals are helpers by nature and training, and they are reluctant to invoke sanctions against violators except in extreme cases.⁶ Federal training of surveyors in enforcement is minimal. The 1-week federal training course devotes only part of 1 day to documentation and witness preparation.⁵ Thirty-three states conduct their own enforcement training. Programs vary from 1 to 96 hours, and average around 7.5 hours. Those who conduct specialized enforcement training find it to be effective. Without enforcement training, surveyors may not be able to

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

document deficiencies in ways that will hold up in formal enforcement proceedings or act as effective witnesses.

There is no federal training support for state officials involved in nursing home certification other than surveyors. Officials involved in nursing home regulatory enforcement outside the licensure and certification agency often are ill-prepared to handle intricacies of nursing home law.²

Finally, data on surveyor decision-making, the imposition of sanctions, and the duration of sanctions are not kept by most states or by the HCFA. Thirteen states apparently did not have the information to respond to questions in the committee's survey of state health facility licensing and certification agency directors on actions taken in 1980. A few agencies could not give *information on* actions taken in 1983. The availability of national data on enforcement is necessary to maintain consistent and fair enforcement among the states, to allow states to compare and evaluate enforcement activities, and to allow states to trace the compliance histories of multistate providers—information that is essential to deal effectively with repeat offenders.

Recommendation 5-5: The HCFA should strengthen state enforcement capabilities by

- requiring states to commit adequate resources to enforcement activities, including legal and other enforcement-related staff:
- requiring survey and certification survey agency staffs to include enforcement-related specialists, such as lawyers, auditors, and investigators, to work as part of special survey teams for problem situations and to help support enforcement decision-making;
- including more training in investigatory techniques, witness preparation, and the legal system in the basic surveyor training course; and
- providing federal training support for state survey agency and welfare agency attorneys in nursing home enforcement matters.

NURSING HOMES

6

Other Factors Affecting Quality of Care and Quality of Life in Nursing Homes

Effective regulation is essential, but regulation is not sufficient to ensure high quality of care and quality of life in nursing homes. Three other factors are important: (1) active consumer involvement and effective consumer advocacy, (2) active community interest and involvement in nursing homes, and (3) positive motivation on the part of the owners and managers of nursing homes, and well-trained, well-supervised, and properly motivated staff. The first two are needed to help improve quality of life for residents and influence the attitudes and performance of the government regulators and elected officials as well as the attitudes and behavior of the management and staff of nursing homes. The third is essential for high-quality care. Pressures by regulators and consumers certainly can influence management and staff attitudes and behavior, but such pressures are not sufficient to produce the management and staff attitudes and to attract the quality of personnel needed to provide high quality of care and quality of life to nursing home residents. The desire for excellent performance and the ability to create the climate that will attract highly motivated and well-qualified professionals to work in nursing homes must be nurtured by sources within the industry and the educational and professional institutions

that train and foster professional values, attitudes, and ethical standards.

INVOLVEMENT OF CONSUMERS AND CONSUMER ADVOCATES

Participation by residents and consumer advocates in some aspects of resident care policy-making in nursing homes is essential for achieving high quality of care and quality of life. Many important decisions on care policy rest on implicit value choices—that is, they are not based entirely on technical or managerial imperatives. Because quality-of-life considerations are so important in nursing homes, systematic arrangements should be made to determine the value preferences of the residents or those most concerned about their wellbeing, both at the individual and facility-wide levels.¹

Consumer Involvement

Whenever possible, facility staff and management should honor consumer preferences. An authoritarian style of decision-making is not appropriate in nursing homes, but many nursing homes appear to operate in this style because it is administratively more convenient for staff and management. It is not appropriate for two reasons: (1) Long-term care requires explicit recognition of the deep psychological need of all adults to be able to exercise some personal choice on matters involving the quality of their daily lives-food, clothing, recreation; (2) staff in a long-term-care facility need to obtain systematic feedback on the care needs and desires of individual residents to ensure that their plans of care fit the residents' perceptions—as well as those of the staff of their physical and psychosocial needs. Several recommendations in Chapter 3 address the issue of ensuring resident participation in nursing home decision-making.

Another important aspect of resident and consumer advocate participation is discussed in Chapter 4: participation in the survey process.

The Role of Consumer Advocacy

Although improving state and federal regulatory attention to residents' opinions is a fundamental requirement for improving nursing home quality, broader consumer protection measures are warranted for the following reasons:

- Regulatory agencies are constrained by their limited resources to inspecting nursing homes only once—or at most a few times—each year, and these agencies have no capacity to monitor the process of care or staff/resident interactions between their infrequent inspections.
- In many nursing homes some of the care-giving staff are undertrained, overworked, and unable to provide sufficient attention to very dependent residents. Moreover, there is considerable staff turnover. Under these circumstances, staff/resident interactions may be less than satisfactory, residents' rights may be violated by staff, by management, or by other residents, and there is an ever-present risk of neglect and even of abuse of residents by staff or other residents.²
- Physical, mental, cognitive, and financial infirmities (see data in Chapter 2) render many residents incapable of assertion and self-protection.² Thus, many nursing home residents are too frail and too vulnerable to effectively influence the attitudes and behavior of nursing home staff in homes that are not very sensitive to residents' needs. Without the assistance of effective consumer advocates, such residents usually cannot communicate complaints to outside agencies that could help them. There is abundant evidence that the need for strong consumer protection in nursing homes is still essential.

Access to Information

Consumer advocates require access to certain information to be effective in their roles of advising and helping consumers. In the case of individual residents, access to a resident's medical records (with the resident's

permission) may be necessary for an ombudsman concerned with investigating a complaint about an individual's care. Recommendation 3-7F in Chapter 3 addresses this issue. More broadly, it is important for local and other substate ombudsmen, as well as other consumer advocacy organizations, to have access routinely and easily to government inspection and cost reports on individual nursing homes. Although these are public documents, many states do not routinely make the information publicly available and it is often difficult for consumer advocates to obtain copies.³ The HCFA has no explicit policy on this matter. In the survey of state licensure and certification agencies conducted by the committee, 30 of 47 state agencies expressed support for the policy of making the results of nursing home inspections public.³ A few states already do so. The committee is convinced it would be desirable to make this practice universal.

Recommendation 6-1: The HCFA should require states to make public all nursing home inspection and cost reports. These documents should be required to be readily accessible at nominal cost to consumers and consumer advocates, including state and local ombudsmen.

The Ombudsman Program

The ombudsman program emerged in the early 1970s in response to growing public awareness of the need for stronger consumer protection activities in nursing homes to supplement government regulation. Eight pilot programs were funded by HEW in 1972 and 1973. In a program instruction dated May 1975, and issued to all state agencies on aging, the Commissioner of the Administration on Aging (AoA) explained the necessity for establishing the ombudsman program:

Our nation has been conducting investigations, passing new laws, and issuing new regulations relative to nursing homes at a rapid rate during the past few years. All of this activity will be of

little avail unless our communities are organized in such a manner that new laws and regulations are utilized to deal with the individual complaints of older people who are living in nursing homes. The individual in the nursing home is powerless. If the laws and regulations are not being applied to her or to him, they might just as well not have been passed or issued.⁴

The statutory authority for the ombudsman program dates from 1978 (minor amendments were added in 1984) when the Older Americans Act was amended to require that every state agency on aging include in its multiyear plan of proposed activities assurances that each state plan will

- (A) establish and operate, either directly or by contract or other arrangement with any public agency or other appropriate private non-profit organization not responsible for licensing or certifying long-term care services in the State or which is an association (or an affiliate of such an association) of long-term facilities (including any other residential facility for other individuals), a long-term-care ombudsman program which provides an individual who will, on a full-time basis:
 - investigate and resolve complaints made by or on behalf of older individuals who are residents of long-term care facilities relating to administrative action which may adversely affect the health, safety, welfare, and rights of such residents;
- (ii) monitor the development and implementation of Federal, State and local laws, regulations, and policies with respect to long-term care facilities in that state;
- (iii) provide information as appropriate to public agencies regarding the problems of older individuals residing in long-term care facilities;
- (iv) provide for the training of staff and volunteers and promote the development of citizen organizations to participate in the ombudsman program; and

- (v) carry out such other activities as the Commissioner deems appropriate;
- (B) establish procedures for appropriate access by the ombudsman to long-term care facilities and patients' records, including procedures to protect the confidentiality of such records and ensure that the identity of any complainant or resident will not be disclosed without the written consent of such complainant or resident, or upon court order;
- (C) establish a statewide uniform reporting system to collect and analyze data relating to complaints and conditions in long-term care facilities for the purpose of identifying and resolving significant problems, with provision or submission of such data to the agency of the State responsible for licensing or certifying longterm care facilities in the State and to the Commissioner on a regular basis;
- (D) establish procedures to assure that any files maintained by the ombudsman program shall be disclosed only at the discretion of the ombudsman having authority over the disposition of such files, except that the identity of any complainant or resident of a longterm care facility shall not be disclosed by such ombudsman unless
 - (i) such complainant or resident, or his legal representative, consents in writing to such disclosure; or
- (ii) such disclosure is required by court order;
- (E) in planning and operating the ombudsman program, consider the views of area agencies on aging, older individuals and provider agencies. ⁵

Several aspects of this authority are particularly significant:

• The responsibilities of the state ombudsman programs are defined in very broad and general terms. Their interpretation and implementation are left entirely to

NURSING HOMES

- the states. (The implementing regulations issued by AoA do not eliminate the vagueness.)
- The ombudsmen are to be available to help all residents of nursing homes and other long-term-care facilities, not only those funded by Medicare and Medicaid.
- The ombudsman program was evidently conceived as a bridge between the state government and the nongovernmental consumer advocacy groups. An ombudsman (according to Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary) is a government official appointed to receive and investigate complaints made by individuals against abuses or capricious acts of public officials; also one who investigates reported complaints from consumers and helps to achieve equitable settlements. But the ombudsman's role, as defined in the Older Americans Act, goes beyond the dictionary definition in that it mandates a consumer advocacy role for the ombudsman programs. It also explicitly authorizes contracting with "appropriate non-profit" organizations. In such organizations are consumer most organizations concerned with nursing home residents because the local or area-wide ombudsman role fits comfortably within the purposes and capabilities of such organizations. Many, though by no means all, states have thus merged the ombudsman and the voluntary consumer advocacy functions at the local level.
- The law makes state ombudsmen responsible for the collection and analysis of data and other information about complaints, about conditions in long-term-care facilities, and about other matters required to carry out their statutory responsibilities, and makes them responsible for submitting such data to the state licensure and certification agencies.
- The statute does not refer to substate ombudsmen—only to "the ombudsman" who is, presumably, the state ombudsman. Thus, for example, in paragraph B concerning access to facilities and patients' records, the reference is to "the ombudsman," although it is the local ombudsman program representatives (who may be volunteers) who do most of the complaint investigations.

There are ombudsman programs in virtually every state and territory, with more than 1,000 paid staff and more

than 5,000 volunteers, but the programs vary widely in their effectiveness. Moreover, there are many communities that are not adequately served. Successful programs tend to have the following factors in common: budget continuity, some professional staff, a qualified supervisor, organizational sponsorship but independence in operation, standard methods of intervening and representing residents, consistent documentation of findings and actions, and standard methods of correcting problems and coordinating with regulatory and community services agencies. ^{2,6-9}

Ombudsmen help individual residents and their families negotiate with nursing homes and regulatory agencies. They deal with individuals and their orientation is problem-solving rather than regulatory. They frequently deal with problems that are beyond the scope of regulation. And they are available to help all residents of long-term-care facilities, not just those supported by Medicare or Medicaid.7

Because of their orientation, the scope of their responsibilities, and because they see residents regularly and are acquainted with individual resident views and difficulties, ombudsmen in the effective programs have demonstrated their ability to serve as consumer representatives in dealing with nursing home staff and management and with government agencies. They can aid individuals and they can help residents obtain more formal assistance when it is needed.

Ombudsmen have a range of legitimate and necessary roles in consumer protection. They can serve as a resident's ally in a negotiation or serve as a thirdparty mediator. They can educate family groups in self-advocacy or help a community planning group develop a service for the elderly and handicapped. They can be a conduit of consumer information to nursing home professionals and to regulatory agencies. Whereas state government surveyors are responsible only for determining whether facilities are in compliance with licensure and certification regulations, an ombudsman addresses any problems faced by residents, ranging from unsatisfactory food to unexplained extra charges to personal worries. Because ombudsmen are not regulators, they can mediate between and among consumers, providers, and regulators. ⁷⁻⁹

Despite the breadth of the statutory authority provided to the ombudsman program, Congress implicitly accorded the program low priority within the Older Americans Act because (1) it is authorized in Title III, where it is juxtaposed with the service programs for the non-institutionalized elderly, that is, with AoA's major program responsibilities; and (2) each state program is authorized to use not more than 1 percent of its AoA Title III federal funding or \$20,000, whichever is larger, and to match federal funding at 15 percent of the total. The scope and responsibilities of the state ombudsman programs are defined by the act in very broad and general terms. Interpretation and implementation are left entirely to the states.

Local programs vary widely within and among states in their organizational arrangements and the training and qualifications of ombudsmen. Most ombudsman programs rely heavily upon volunteers to carry out the day-to-day work in nursing homes. Volunteers vary in background, experience, and aptitude. Local programs lack resources, staff, legal support, and training. Yet between FY 1982 and FY 1984, there was a 56 percent increase (29,699 to 46,325) in the complaints processed by these offices. Increased service requests are expected.

Concern has been expressed by state and substate ombudsmen about the lack of adequate professional staff support at the federal level for the ombudsman program. Concern has also been expressed about the adequacy of federal guidelines for structuring state ombudsman programs. There needs to be stronger national leadership to foster development of effective training and other necessary materials to assist state programs. No national clearinghouse has been established to facilitate exchange of information and experience among state programs. Inadequate information is being collected on the comparative effectiveness of different programs. The complex issue of standardizing data collection and analysis in the various state programs has not been solved.

Consistency and accountability would be enhanced by the statutory establishment of a National Advisory Council

whose members are appointed by the Secretary of HHS and who would not only advise the Secretary on the development and operation of the program but would submit an annual report to Congress on the status, progress, problems, and future plans of the ombudsman program.

Vague statutory language is responsible in part for problems of access to nursing homes experienced by local ombudsmen in some states. The law specifies that only "the ombudsman" has authorized access to facilities, residents, and documents. In many states, this is interpreted to mean that only the state ombudsman has this authority. Yet it is the local ombudsman who is most likely to visit residents and assist in resolving their individual problems. Substate and volunteer ombudsmen, who deal directly with the majority of residents, do not always have official access to residents and facilities. Some states have statutes addressing this issue. Many do not.8

Further, the ombudsman programs need legal advice and support to ensure careful interpretation of laws and regulations, and to withstand the occasional legal challenges with which they are confronted as a result of actions taken in carrying out their authorized responsibilities. Statutory language should authorize such support.

Another pressure constraining ombudsmen Stems from a recent circular of the Office of Management and Budget. In April 1984 the Office of Management and Budget issued a revision of OMB Circular A-122, "Cost Principles for Non-Profit Organizations." Among other provisions, the circular prohibits federally funded programs from lobbying. 12 The Older Americans Act makes ombudsmen responsible for monitoring legislative and regulatory events to advise public officials on the perceived effects of particular laws and regulations on nursing home residents. This statutory responsibility can be interpreted as conflicting with Circular A-22. Federal funds are usually the major portion of an ombudsman's budget. If federal auditors were to disallow use of ombudsman program funds on the ground that ombudsmen were violating the lobbying provisions of Circular A-122, they could destroy the program. To safeguard the continuance

of individual client services, many programs have ceased speaking publicly about nursing home issues. Although requested to do so, the OMB has declined to exempt the ombudsman program from compliance with the relevant portions of this circular. Most substate ombudsmen believe that advocacy involving such activities as testimony before state legislative committees will be challenged by federal auditors because of OMB Circular A-122, despite their statutory authority to act as advocates for long-term-care residents at the state policy level. 7,8 Congress should resolve this conflict by statutory action that confirms the legislative and regulatory advisory roles of ombudsmen. With the increases in resources and authorities recommended below, state and local programs should be obligated to screen, train, and monitor their professional and volunteer staff; set service standards and evaluate results; and coordinate services with other community and professional groups and with regulatory agencies.

The successful ombudsman programs have demonstrated the considerable value these programs have for nursing home residents, but there are too few successful programs. These circumstances are not likely to change without increased funding and stronger federal direction for the program.

Recommendation 6-2: The Older Americans Act should be amended to

- establish the ombudsman program under a separate title in the Act;
- increase funds for state programs by authorizing federal-state matching formula grants for state ombudsman programs. The formula should provide each state with a minimum annual budget in the range of \$100,000 (1985 dollars) plus an additional amount based on the number of elderly residents in the state. The federal-state matching ratio should be two-thirds federal to one-third state funds. (Although the committee did not study in any depth the budget requirement, this minimum amount is intended to provide the ombudsman program with, for example, the capability to support, at a minimum, a

full-time professional and secretary and sufficient travel and training funds to recruit, train, and certify volunteers as local ombudsmen.)

- establish a statutory National Advisory Council composed of state ombudsmen, state and local aging agencies, provider and consumer representatives, state regulators, health care professionals (physicians, nurses, administrators, social workers), and members of the general public to advise on administration, training, program priorities, development, research, and evaluation;
- authorize state-certified substate and local ombudsmen, including trained, unpaid volunteers, access to nursing homes and, with the permission of the resident, to a resident's medical and social records;
- authorize public legal representation for ombudsman programs;
- exempt the ombudsman programs, including substate ombudsmen who are supported by funds from the state ombudsman program, from the antilobbying provisions of OMB Circular A-122.

Recommendation 6-3: The Secretary of HHS should direct the Administration on Aging (AoA) to take steps to provide effective national leadership for the Ombudsman Program. At a minimum the Commissioner of AoA should designate a senior full-time professional and some supporting staff to assume responsibility for administering the program. Priority should be given to establishing a national resource center for the program that would develop, in consultation with state programs, an information clearinghouse, training and other materials to assist states, and guidance to states on data collection and analysis. The center should advise on establishing program priorities, and sponsor research and evaluation studies.

One other major issue requires attention: the relationships between state licensure and certification agencies and ombudsmen. Although reasonably good working relationships exist in some states, relationships are unfriendly in many states. The key issues are mutual

understanding of, and agreement on, roles, operational relationships, and access to information. These can be complex issues, and there are few states where they have been worked out fully. Obtaining copies of state nursing home survey reports is sometimes difficult and expensive for ombudsmen. In many states, surveyors seldom make an effort to contact local ombudsmen either before or after they survey a facility. 7,8 About one-quarter of the states regularly inform ombudsmen of survey findings; less than half receive information from ombudsmen.³ Survey agencies are often concerned that ombudsmen are assuming a quasi-regulatory role, or that they are ill-equipped to render beneficial services to nursing home residents. Only a few state regulatory agencies routinely share information with ombudsmen and receive and refer cases to ombudsmen.^{8,10} On the other side, ombudsmen often are suspicious of regulators and their findings.⁷

Conceptually, of course, the two roles are complementary: the state surveyor is concerned with legal compliance with regulatory standards by the nursing home, the ombudsman with ensuring that the individual residents' rights are observed and that they receive reasonable treatment by facility staff and management. In places where ombudsmen and state surveyors understand each others' roles, seek and offer each other advice and services, and cooperate on problems of mutual concern (whether the problem is a specific facility or a state policy), nursing home residents and their families benefit. A few states have developed formal, written agreements between state regulatory agencies and the state ombudsman program that cover information-sharing, training, and case referral between surveyors and ombudsmen. The committee is convinced that this is a desirable arrangement that all states should follow.

Recommendation 6-4: The HCFA should require state long-term-care regulatory agencies to develop written agreements with state ombudsman programs covering information-sharing, training, and case referral.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

In the last 20 years or so, research studies have explored issues of the effects on nursing home residents and staff of varying degrees of involvement with community groups. These studies have found that residents benefit and the quality of nursing home performance is likely to be higher than in homes with few outside visitors. 1,13-15 Residents who were able to maintain family relationships or create new relationships with others from the community were more likely to have more amenities for living, including favorite foods to supplement the institutional diet. Clothing and toiletries, which are difficult to obtain because most nursing home residents have a very small monthly personal allowance and are unable to shop outside the home, may be supplied by visitors. Moreover, the frequent presence of visitors encourages staff attention to the resident, and often roommates and others in the unit.

There are many examples of the involvement and commitment of local community groups such as churches and service organizations to some nursing homes in their communities, but-although data are not available-such involvement appears to be much less common than would be desirable.

Many nursing homes, despite their status as public facilities, generally receive little or no community support or attention. Increasing community involvement with nursing homes on a regular, sustained basis is important for three reasons: (1) to enhance the quality of life of nursing home residents by reducing their sense of isolation from the community and providing opportunities for stimulating social interactions, (2) to help improve the quality of care in nursing homes by making staff-resident interactions more visible to members of the community, (3) to increase the level of understanding in the community about the issues and complexities of long-term care so as to facilitate the development of more appropriate public policies in this area.

Serious exploration of ways to stimulate and foster such community involvement merits the attention of the

Administration on Aging. The possibility of enlisting the interest of one or more national service organizations to undertake a demonstration project should be considered.

MANAGEMENT AND STAFF MOTIVATION

The motivation, attitudes, qualifications, and skills of management and staff in nursing homes are among the most critical factors affecting quality of care and quality of life in nursing homes. Professionals in all fields are responsive to peer judgment. A professional's ethical and performance standards and associated values and attitudes are acquired as a concomitant of his/her education and training. They are sustained through interactions with peers in various settings and circumstances, both formal and informal.

Development of Professionalism

The emergence of professionalism in the nursing home industry is a recent phenomenon. There was very little professionalism in this field 30 to 35 years ago, but this has been changing. A number of professional organizations and institutions have contributed to this growth of professionalism.

Although the committee does not believe it would be sound public policy to allow JCAH accreditation to serve-in lieu of a state survey-as a basis for certifying a nursing home, it does believe that the accreditation process is an important and very desirable way for the industry to raise its own standards of performance using the techniques of peer judgment and consultation.

The Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals (JCAH) has had an accreditation program for nursing homes since 1966. Voluntary accreditation by JCAH has been the standard form of quality assurance used by hospitals for The JCAH accreditation process emphasizes years. participation, independent peer review, and professional responsibility. Individualized and ongoing

educational and consultation activities are key aspects of the program. About 1,400 nursing homes are now accredited. The JCAH publishes a Long-Term Care Standards Manual that is revised and updated periodically. 16

The health professional schools, particularly schools of nursing and schools of medicine, have begun to develop active research and educational ties with nursing homes. Both the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and the National Institute on Aging sponsor teaching nursing home programs. 17,18 These are recent developments—the programs have been under way for a few years—but in the long run they are likely to exert a powerful effect on professional values, on care practices, on training, and on quality of care in nursing homes.

The professionalism of nursing home administrators also is being strengthened. All states license nursing home administrators, although requirements for state licensure vary widely. Nursing home administrators have formed an active professional association—the American College of Health Care Administrators—to raise qualifications and to enhance the professionalism and skills of its members.

Although physicians' roles in nursing homes are much more limited than they are in hospitals, there is substantial concern that in many nursing homes physicians perform in only a perfunctory or pro forma manner. But this may be changing. There is growing interest in geriatric medicine among physicians and in medical schools. This has been stimulated by the programs of the National Institute on Aging, the Veterans Administration, and the Bureau of Health Professions in the U.S. Public Health Service. It seems probable that the growing numbers of elderly and the rapid growth in the number of practicing physicians in the 1980s also may be contributing. ^{17,19} In the long run, these trends are likely to result in better-motivated physicians, with some formal training in geriatric medicine, providing better medical care to nursing home residents.

The leadership of organized nursing has recognized for almost 20 years a specialty of "gerontological nursing." It emphasizes health promotion, health maintenance, disease prevention, self-care, and self-help. Gerontological nurses are expected to help older patients

reach their maximum potential level of physical, mental, and social functioning. Both the National League for Nursing and the American Nurses Association Division of Gerontological nursing have been promulgating national standards for long-term nursing care. As the regulatory system becomes more sensitive to the presence and importance of directors of nursing in nursing homes, the professional nursing organizations are responding by formulating standards, career development courses, and facility-based procedures that support the nursing director's role in the organization and management of care in nursing recruit employ Facilities should and specialty-trained gerontological nurses and encourage currently employed nurses to seek training in gerontological nursing.

Another step toward professionalism is indicated by the large interstate proprietary nursing home chains that have started internal corporate quality assurance programs. For example, the National Health Corporation introduced a computerized resident assessment system about 12 years ago in its eight-state chain of 50 nursing homes.²⁰ The system has multiple purposes, but among them is outcome-oriented quality assurance by means of longitudinal analysis of changes in resident status. The availability of the data makes it possible for corporate headquarters to determine whether specific nursing homes are having quality problems and to take steps to deal with them promptly. The Hillhaven Corporation, one of the largest chains, is in the process of installing a similar system. Beverly Enterprises, the largest of the chains, has developed an internal quality assurance program with a full-time executive in charge of it.

It is clear that both private efforts and government regulation are needed to improve quality of care for and well-being of nursing home residents. Private efforts to increase knowledge, to improve training, to enhance professionalism in the industry, to increase efficiency and effectiveness in providing care, and to strengthen commitments to self-regulation are essential. But the vulnerability of the residents and the widespread perceptions that current levels of performance still leave

much to be desired also make effective government regulation essential.

Incentive Systems for High-Quality Care

Modern management theory holds that excellent results are more likely to be achieved when the members of an organization are motivated not by fear of sanctions for inadequate performance, but by pride, accountability, cooperation, and loyalty. 21,22 The HCFA and state governments can apply this concept in their dealings with nursing homes. The current federal regulatory system is structured only to punish poor behavior. Good behavior goes unrecognized. Only a few states have developed systems for rewarding good or outstanding facilities.³ In part, this is attributable to the crudeness of the survey instruments. After the HCFA has implemented the new survey process recommended in Chapter 4, and after some statistically derived outcome standards are developed, it should be possible to reliably distinguish the very good from the poor or merely acceptable performers. It will then be possible to reward facilities for excellent performance and thus to encourage continued excellent performance.

The new survey process recommended in Chapter 4 ultimately can facilitate development of an incentive system. Facilities with proven records of good behavior would be praised by surveyors and would be surveyed in full less frequently. Extended surveys would be applied only to facilities whose outcomes of care indicate that further investigation is warranted. More reliance on outcome-oriented standards would enable the survey agency to allow facilities with records of good care to experiment with better procedures for delivering care. Methods that continue to produce good results, even though not strictly in keeping with structural or process regulations, such as the use of a geriatric nurse practitioner for a medical director, should be allowed in facilities that consistently demonstrate excellent performance on the standard survey.

The certificate-of-need (CON) process also can be used as part of an incentive system. Certificates of need are documents issued by the state to authorize health facilities to build or expand. States set criteria by which they judge whether the services proposed by a provider are needed, and whether the provider is qualified to provide services in the state. Currently, 46 states require nursing homes to obtain certificates of need before expanding services.²³ In 25 states, the agency granting a CON first reviews the facility's licensure and certification record. These states use the procedure as a sanction against poor providers, denying certificates of need to providers with records of poor care. (Ten states refused certificates of need to poor providers in 1983.³) Awarding a certificate of need also could be used as an incentive to provide superior care. Only facilities with records of providing superior care should be eligible to receive CONs.

Systematic use of rewards for superior performance would not only motivate providers who currently give superior care to continue to do so, but would encourage above-average and average facilities to try to improve so as to reap the benefits of this status.

7

Issues Requiring Further Study

There are five sets of issues that need study before federal policy positions on these issues can be developed and prescribed: (1) the scope and design of information systems needed to regulate nursing homes effectively and to facilitate development of sound policies for long-term care; (2) policies governing the methods and amounts of payments to nursing homes for care of residents eligible for support under the Medicaid program; (3) policies affecting the supply of nursing home beds in the context of the growing demand for all types of long-term-care services; (4) regulatory policies concerning (a) the training and qualifications of all staff in nursing homes and (b) minimum staffing patterns needed to provide adequate care to mixes of residents with varying needs; and (5) policies governing construction of new nursing homes, specifically, the proportion of single rooms that should be required.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS

Data About Residents

The introduction of the requirement (recommended in Chapter 3) for standard assessment data on every resident will produce a vast body of data about the characteristics of nursing home residents and how they change while in nursing homes. These data have potentially major significance for three purposes: (1) for improving nursing home management, (2) for improving the effectiveness of regulation, and (3) for obtaining essential information with which to develop more effective and efficient nursing home regulatory policies, and for facilitating development of more appropriate long-term-care policies.

It is a large undertaking to install a national standard resident assessment system in 15,000 nursing homes that has the capability of allowing needed information to be retrieved readily. It involves, among other things, determining the standard data to be collected and designing and testing techniques for Collecting it reliably, developing instruction manuals, and training thousands of people to conduct the assessment routinely and with reasonable integrity and reliability.

It also involves developing case-mix groupings based on definitions related primarily to assessment scores, and developing auditing procedures and the standards to be used by state auditors to determine whether the error rates they find are acceptable. With good planning, adequate resources, and strong, competent leadership, this set of tasks could be accomplished in 2 or 3 years.

Complex technical and policy decisions are involved in designing a sound system for gaining access to these data by computer. The decisions will require careful study and will take time. Introducing a manual resident assessment system should not be delayed until this study is completed. A great many nursing homes now have their own computers. Some—perhaps many—are likely to enter resident assessment data into their own computer files so that they can use it for their own management purposes.¹

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

But a great deal of work would have to be done to determine how best to use these data to meet both state and federal government (as well as resident care) needs. Some questions occur, such as whether all data on all residents should be acquired by the state regularly or whether the data should be sampled, and, if so, how, and how often. These questions can be answered largely by determining the priority uses to which the data are to be put—for example, for developing case-mix-controlled outcome standards for quality assurance purposes, for use in Medicaid payment decisions, for developing staffing and other resource algorithms tied to case mix, or for utilization review. There also are questions of cost, technical feasibility, privacy, authorized access to and uses of the data, and a number of other technically and legally complex and politically sensitive matters.

These questions can and should be resolved. The rapid advances and decreasing costs of computer technology make a computerized system for handling resident assessment data feasible from technical and economic standpoints. A study should be commissioned by the Department of Health and Human Services to design the system. Responsibility for conducting the study should be assigned to a group of technically competent and broadly knowledgeable people who are sensitive to the concerns and needs of all interested parties—the residents, the nursing home operators, state governments, and the federal government.

Such a study will have implications for the future role and contents of the National Nursing Home Survey conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics. This survey has been the most important source of information on nursing home residents and care resources. However, its utility has been limited by its small sample size, long intervals between surveys (almost 10 years since the last completed survey), the modest amount of data on the health and functional status of residents, and absence of longitudinal data. The recommended study could lead to a new strategy that would resolve these problems. In this process, consideration needs to be given to relevant recommendations of the National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics for a minimum data set on long-term care.

Other Data About Nursing Homes

As mentioned in Chapter 1, the committee was impressed by the paucity of information about nursing homes and their operations, as well as about regulatory activities available on both national and state levels. With more than half of all nursing home revenues coming from public funds, and with growing demand for nursing homes and other types of long-term-care services, the need for more information seems clear. But moving from that general conclusion to specific decisions on what information should be collected, how frequently, how it should be done, how it should be aggregated, analyzed, and made publicly available, and who should be responsible, is quite another matter. A study by a technically competent and broadly knowledgeable group—possibly the same group that is responsible for studying the resident assessment data system—should be asked to study the requirements and make recommendations on how they should be handled.

Recommendation 7-1: The Secretary of HHS should order a study to design a system for acquiring and using resident assessment data to meet the legitimate and continuing needs of state and federal government agencies. The Secretary also should order a study to determine the needs for other data about nursing homes that would facilitate regulation and policy development. This study should recommend specific ways to collect, analyze, and publish or otherwise make such data publicly available.

MEDICAID PAYMENT POLICIES

The Medicaid program was originally designed to pay for health care services for those on welfare and selected others whose incomes were low and who were "medically needy" because they had no health insurance. Medicaid was—and is—perceived at the state and federal levels as a component of the welfare system. As is true of the other components of the welfare system, the states are responsible for administering it under broad federal guidelines. This means that each state determines who

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

shall be eligible for Medicaid, what services it will pay for, and how (and how much) it will pay the health professionals and the institutions who provide authorized services to eligible patients. Medicaid funds are appropriated annually (or biennially) by state legislatures as are the matching federal funds. The federal contribution to state Medicaid budgets ranges from 50 to 78 percent. In most states, Medicaid is the second largest budget item after education and in recent years has been the fastest growing.² About 50 percent of nursing home revenues come from Medicaid. The funds pay for some or all of the costs of about two-thirds of the residents.³ In 1984, Medicaid expenditures for nursing home care totaled about \$14 billion.⁴

Medicaid payment policies—both the methods used to calculate how much to pay, and the actual rates of payment—provide strong incentives to nursing home operators. (Eighty percent of the beds are operated on a for-profit basis.) Nursing home operators adjust their operations so that the revenues they receive cover all of their costs (including capital costs) plus a profit. Nursing homes can control costs by controlling admissions (choosing a mix of residents whose needs for care can be paid for by the revenues they bring in), and by controlling such variable operating expenses as staffing, food, laundry, housekeeping, and plant maintenance. Because Medicaid rates are as much as 30 percent lower than private rates for comparable residents in some states, there is a clear incentive to try to attract and keep as many private-pay residents as possible.

At least six goals have been suggested (or implied) as appropriate for state Medicaid payment policy. It should

- 1. control public expenditures for Medicaid;
- ensure adequate provider participation and access to care by those eligible—or likely to become eligible—for Medicaid, irrespective of degree of disability;
- 3. encourage appropriate and high-quality care;
- 4. deliver service efficiently (provide the maximum appropriate service per dollar);
- 5. be administratively simple to implement; and
- 6. minimize the potential for fraud and abuse.

The committee commissioned a review of the research literature to ascertain what is known about the effects of different Medicaid payment policies both on access and quality of care in nursing homes.⁵ The findings suggest that the relationship between quality and payment policy is highly variable and somewhat unpredictable. Some facilities provide excellent care at the same payment rate, and with the same resident mix, as other facilities in the same geographic area that provide substandard care. Some rates or payment levels may be insufficient to provide desirable quality of care and quality of life, but the distribution of the payment into cost line items within a facility may have a greater impact on quality than the amount of the total payment. Furthermore, such aspects of facility performance as the quality, motivation, and efficiency of the care-giving staff, and managerial skill, are not pricesensitive. These performance characteristics vary greatly across facilities. Since the relationships among costs, charges, and quality of care are very complex, simply paying more is no guarantee of improved quality. In some cases, paying less (up to a point) need not lower quality. No studies, however, have adequately investigated the complex relationships among costs, charges, reimbursement, and quality.

The fact that the current literature does not show strong relationships among cost, charges, payment policy, and quality does not imply that there are no relationships. Available ways to measure are neither valid nor reliable. Most studies have measured structure or process because they were the only known proxies for quality. It would be desirable to know how the quality of life (as perceived by the resident) and the quality of the care (as determined by case-mix-controlled outcomes compared to national norms) are related to costs.

In sum, there is now no evidence to establish the superiority of any Medicaid payment policy with respect to its effects on quality of care. There has been little systematic evaluation of the impact of different systems, in part because many have been implemented recently. Ideally, if a particular approach to Medicaid reimbursement policy proves to be more successful than

print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the

others in having the desired effects on nursing home behavior, it should be adopted by all states. Thus, it is an important area for further federal policy development. But much additional research is needed and it merits continued high-priority attention by the HCFA. Research and demonstrations to test innovative payment systems should be encouraged. They should include, for example, all-payer rate setting, to assess its effects on quality of care and access for heavy care and Medicaid residents. The research opportunities in these questions will be enhanced considerably once the standardized resident assessment data system is in place. It will then become possible to control for case mix and apply outcome measures of quality.

DEMAND FOR AND SUPPLY OF NURSING HOME BEDS

Demand

In most states⁶ there is evidence of excess demand for nursing home beds: occupancy rates are well over 90 percent and there are waiting lists at many facilities. The demographic trends suggest that the demand for the kinds of long-term care services now being provided mainly by nursing homes is certain to increase. The number of persons over 65 is projected to increase from 25.7 million in 1980 to 36.3 million in 2000, a 41.2 percent increase. For the over-85 group, the projected increase is 108 percent during this period, from 2.6 to 5.4 million.⁷

The rapid growth of the population aged 85 and over is likely to have a significant impact on the size and structure of the nursing home population.⁸ If current age and sex-specific institutionalization rates hold, the proportion of the residents in nursing homes who are age 85 and over can be expected to rise from 31 percent in 1980 to 43 percent in 2000. This increase in the mean age of the nursing home population implies a greater proportion of heavy-care residents.

Two additional factors may affect demand for nursing home beds. One is the rate and direction of change in health status at advanced ages. That is, in addition to

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

the effects of health status on survival, changes in health status may directly affect the risk of institutionalization for the elderly. For example, with increasing numbers of persons over 85 there may be an increase in the prevalence of chronic diseases if the increases in survival are concentrated among chronically morbid and impaired people. This would increase the demand for intensive nursing home care. (Alternately, it may be that the future survivors will be proportionately healthier than those in the same age group today, and that projecting current rates will overestimate future morbidity rates. But there is no evidence to suggest this is happening.)

Another factor affecting future demand will be increases in the availability of alternative long-term care services, perhaps stimulated by the, emergence of alternative financing patterns, for example, the growth of private, long-term-care insurance.

Irrespective of the nature and extent of such developments, the need for nursing home care will not diminish during the next 15 years. There is no evidence that either the population's health status (physical, functional, and mental) will so improve that nursing home care requirements will decrease, or that other long-term-care services could be substituted for nursing home care for the majority of individuals now found in nursing homes. The population in nursing homes is likely to be more aged and more disabled, and some form of mental disability (particularly Alzheimer's disease) is likely to be more common. But the current pattern of a mix of residents with different treatment and service needs (that is, a fairly heterogeneous population) is likely to continue.

Bed Supply

In most states there are more people seeking admission to nursing homes than there are beds available. This excess demand results from three interrelated factors: (1) There are many individuals now living in the community who are just as disabled as nursing home residents, and some of them would enter a nursing home if a bed were

available; (2) to control the costs of the Medicaid program, some states have sharply constrained or completely stopped construction of new nursing homes or expansions of existing nursing homes; (3) in some states Medicaid reimbursement rates are so low that at current rates, the marginal cost of treating some (heavy-care) residents may exceed the reimbursement rate.

The supplier's market for nursing home beds that exists in most states allows nursing home operators to select among applicants for beds. Business logic suggests that they will try to optimize net income by favoring private-pay over Medicaid-eligible and, generally, the easier-to-care-for resident over those who are more difficult (and, therefore, more costly) to care for properly. However, the latter judgment is affected by payment policy: if payment for heavier-care residents is more than sufficient to offset higher costs so that it is more profitable to admit them than lighter-care residents, and if adequate staffing to care for such residents is feasible, heavier-care residents may be given preference for admission. But there are still likely to be some types of residents who will be hard to place. A recent study was done on patients in Massachusetts hospitals who were "backed-up"; that is, they were in hospital beds for administrative necessity."8 Although they no longer needed hospital care, they could not be discharged to their homes because they needed nursing home care. The hospitals could not find nursing homes willing to admit them, so they were allowed to remain in more costly hospital beds pending availability of nursing home beds. The study found that the backup population consisted of two groups of patients: one group spent a short time in the queue before being admitted to nursing homes; the second group spent a long time in the queue. The second group of patients was sicker and often had severe mental problems. The findings of this study support the judgment that, other things being equal, nursing homes will select the easier-to-care-for patients from the queue.

Another important factor about which there is currently insufficient information is the influence of hospital prospective payment systems and other cost-containment

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

measures on demand for, and availability of, nursing home beds. A special effort is needed to study these relationships.

Regardless of the payment system, however, the supplier's market also places heavier demands on the regulatory system to assure quality because the market pressure to maintain high quality to attract residents does not exist. And the business logic that tempts nursing home administrators to cut operating costs to minimum levels or even below is hard for many to resist.

The question of what constitutes the best policy with respect to bed supply has no simple answer. The variation among states in the number of nursing home beds per thousand is very large: the national average is about 1 bed per 20 persons aged 65 or over. Minnesota has more than twice the national average; Florida has about half the national average. Thus, there is a fourfold variation. But bed occupancy rates—and excess demand—appear to exist in most states. ⁶

The uncharted policy areas that are related to bed supply are (1) alternative ways of financing long-term care—particularly the possibility of private insurance arrangements for financing long-term-care services that are not primarily health-related and are not limited to payment for services provided in nursing homes; and (2) the development and greater availability in most communities of a much larger number of alternative long-term-care arrangements such as home health care, homemaker services, congregate housing (including domiciliary care), meals-on-wheels, special transportation facilities, adult day-care, and respite care.

If good alternatives to nursing homes were readily available and could be paid for from third-party insurance, a fraction—the exact number is not now known—of residents could be cared for more appropriately in alternative service arrangements or facilities. If this were to occur, then a certain number of nursing home beds now occupied by residents requiring lesser levels of care would become available to help cope with the growing numbers of older heavy-care residents who must be in nursing homes. The development of alternative long-term

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

care arrangements on a large scale is not likely to occur until alternative financing arrangements become available.

Exploration of some alternative care arrangements—on a small scale—is proceeding. The HCFA has sponsored some innovative long-term-care demonstration projects during the past 10 years. More recently, under statutory authority contained in the 1981 budget legislation, states have been granted waivers to permit them to use Medicaid funds to finance services in community-based, long-term projects designed to prevent unnecessary institutionalization for individuals who otherwise could receive Medicaid support only in nursing homes. Systematic evaluation of these programs has just begun.

In sum, the policy issue concerning supply of nursing home beds is related to the broader policy issue of developing a more appropriate array of long-term-care services. This, in turn, hinges on the development of more appropriate private and public financing arrangements and policies. A systematic study of these issues is necessary to design sound public policies to facilitate development of both the new financing mechanisms and of the array of long-term-care services needed. This study should be viewed as a matter of high priority by both the Congress and the executive branch of the federal government.

STAFFING OF NURSING HOMES

Once a data base derived from systematic, periodic resident assessments becomes available, two kinds of staffing studies will become possible that have not yet been done satisfactorily. The first will be studies to develop an algorithm for relating minimum nursing staff requirements to case mix. Perhaps something analogous to the "management minutes" concept¹⁰ could be developed. (Management minutes is an empirically derived algorithm used to estimate the daily nursing time requirements for a resident based on his/her assessment scores and service needs.) This is a complex study that will require considerable sophistication in study design and execution to produce valid and reliable results. If

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

completed successfully, it could provide the basis for a regulatory tool of considerable power.

The second kind of study deals with the issue of staff qualifications and training. At present, only professional judgment is used to define the requirements. But with outcome measures that can be derived from resident assessment data, studies to compare the effectiveness of different staffing patterns, types of staff, and training requirements will be possible. The HCFA should support well-designed studies within this area. If convincing evidence becomes available that some approaches to staffing and training are distinctly superior (in quality of care/life and cost) to others, the HCFA will be in a position to incorporate the desirable approaches into its regulatory standards.

SINGLE- VERSUS MULTIPLE-OCCUPANCY ROOMS

Most nursing homes have been constructed with either all or most of their rooms designed for double occupancy. Because beds in most places are in short supply, residents seldom can choose either private rooms or their roommates. The nursing home population is heterogeneous, so this is a thorny issue. It is clear that quality of life for an undemented resident can be seriously affected by the functional, mental, and behavioral status and service needs of a roommate. Moreover, the issues of privacy and of choice—for example, whether or not to watch TV or listen to music, and which programs—loom very high in the quality-of-life values of most residents. Most mentally alert residents probably would prefer private rooms if they could have one. The question is: Should the HCFA require that all new construction, or additions to existing nursing homes, be required to have a specified fraction of private rooms? If so, what should that fraction be? Not enough is known to answer this question with confidence. The effects on construction costs or on operating costs of requiring a specific proportion of single rooms are not known. Moreover, not enough is now known either about the preferences of residents for private rooms and of the desirability of

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

having certain residents—particularly some who are demented—share a room, and whether four-bed rooms might be better than two-bed rooms.

In the next 10 to 20 years there may be a substantial amount of new construction or major remodeling of nursing homes. The committee believes that the HCFA should commission a study of this issue to determine the proper balance between single- and multiple-occupancy rooms that should be required in newly constructed nursing homes and in additions to—or major remodelings of—existing homes.

Recommendation 7-2: The HCFA should commission a study of the costs and benefits of single-occupancy rooms compared to multiple-occupancy rooms in nursing homes. The study should be designed to obtain data about the effects of single rooms on the quality of life of various types of nursing home residents. The study should be completed within 2 years after it has been authorized. It should contain recommendations for the desired proportions of single- and multiple-occupancy rooms in nursing homes. It should recommend required proportions in future new construction and major remodeling of existing buildings.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

8

Actions Required and Cost Implications of the Recommendations

The recommendations contained in Chapters 3, 4, 5, and 6 will require the following major implementing actions: (1) amending the Social Security Act and the Older Americans Act, (2) promulgating new survey and certification regulations and major revisions of existing regulations, (3) designing and testing a standard procedure for resident assessment to be done by nursing home staff and then developing training materials and launching a major program to train all RNs and LPNs (LVNs) in nursing homes to conduct such assessments properly, and (4) designing and testing new survey and certification instruments and procedures and training state and federal regulatory personnel to conduct the new standard and extended surveys. The recommendations are likely to affect both the costs of regulation and the costs of resident care. Although insufficient information is available to make quantitative estimates, the implications of the recommendations for both types of costs are discussed in general terms in the last section of this chapter.

LEGISLATIVE ACTIONS REQUIRED

Amendments to the Social Security Act

The Social Security Act will have to be amended to implement the following recommendations:

- 1. Recommendation 3-1. Consolidate the two levels of care into one and have current SNF standards (with the other changes recommended) apply to all nursing homes. The two levels of care are now specified in Title XIX of the Social Security Act. Since the two levels of care are embedded in current state and federal policy, eliminating the distinctions between ICFs and SNFs will require changes in language in many sections of the law and also will require numerous changes in both federal and state regulations.
- 2. Recommendations 3-2 through 3-7. These recommendations involve major revisions in the language and structure of the existing regulations, including promulgating new conditions of participation covering quality of life, quality of care, resident assessment, residents' rights, and administration. The following current conditions would be reclassified as standards under the administration condition: governing body and management, utilization review, transfer agreements, disaster preparedness, medical direction, laboratory and radiological services, and medical records. Ten of-the current conditions of participation have statutory authorization either in Title XVIII or Title XIX of the Social Security Act. These are
- I. Compliance with Federal, State, and Local Laws
- II. Governing Body
- IV. Physician Services
- V. Nursing Services
- VII. Rehabilitation Services
- VIII. Pharmaceutical Services
- XIII. Medical Records
- XIV. Transfer Agreements
- XV. Physical Environment
- XVIII. Utilization Review

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

It will be necessary to modify the statutory language in some cases to authorize the recommended revisions in the language and structure of the conditions and standards of participation.

3. Recommendation 4-7. The HCFA should increase the federal share of funding of state survey and certification activities from 75 percent to 10.0 percent.

Between 1965 and 1972, Title XIX authorized federal funding of 75 percent of the states' costs of surveyor salaries, travel, and training for survey and certification of Medicaid facilities. This was increased to 100 percent between 1972 and 1980. In 1980, Congress reduced federal participation to 75 percent. Restoration of 100 percent federal funding will require an amendment to Title XIX.

- 4. Recommendation 4-11. This recommends that HHS be given authority to withhold a portion of a state's federal matching funds for Medicaid as a sanction to be used against any state that does not carry out its survey and certification responsibilities properly. Since this is a politically sensitive matter, statutory authority specifying the circumstances under which the sanction may be used seems necessary because the current law is not clear on this point.
- 5. *Recommendation 4-14*. The HCFA should use federal surveyors to inspect and certify state-owned institutions.
- 6. Recommendations 5-2 and 5-4. The HCFA should require states to have a standard, federally prescribed set of intermediate sanctions to be used in specified circumstances to improve enforcement of the conditions and standards. The HCFA also will need statutory authority to authorize states to decertify facilities that have a record of chronic or repeated violations of important conditions and standards, rather than accept another plan of correction.
- 7. Recommendation 5-3. The HCFA should have intermediate sanctions comparable to those available to the states. At present, the only federal intermediate sanction authorized by law (in 1981) is a ban on admissions, but, as of February 1986, the regulation for implementing this authority had not yet been promulgated.

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

 Recommendation 5-5. The HCFA should develop guidelines to make legal appeals of the decertification process less permissive. Although this may not require statutory action, it probably would be more effective if explicitly authorized by law.

Amendments to the Older Americans Act

The following recommendation will require amendments to the Older Americans Act:

Recommendation 6-2. The ombudsman program should be strengthened by the following statutory actions:

- authorizing the ombudsman program as a separate title in the Older Americans Act;
- authorizing federal-state matching formula grants for the ombudsman program;
- authorizing a statutory national advisory council;
- authorizing access to nursing homes and to residents' records (with the residents' permission) by certified substate and local ombudsmen;
- authorizing state legal assistance for ombudsmen; and
- exempting ombudsmen from lobbying restrictions in OMB Circular A-122.

REVISION AND ADDITION OF SURVEY AND CERTIFICATION REGULATIONS

With acceptance of most of the recommendations, the process of revising the current regulations governing the survey and certification process would have to be done in three phases: (1) Drafting of the new conditions of participation covering quality of life, quality of care, resident assessment, and residents' rights, and revision of some of the existing conditions and standards could be started immediately, although they could not be formally proposed for issuance until the statutory changes have been enacted; (2) after the amendments to the Social Security Act have been enacted, their detailed

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

requirements will have to be reflected in the regulations; and (3) detailed specifications of the standards governing survey procedures and facility-administered resident assessment procedures will have to be deferred until completion of the design and testing of the instruments and procedures and training of thousands of state regulatory and nursing home personnel. This development phase may require 2 or 3 years to complete.

Preliminary work on developing and testing the two new survey instruments and procedures—the standard survey and the extended survey—could begin promptly. Design of these instruments has to be based on the revised conditions of participation and standards. Policy decisions on the latter must be made before the scope of the instruments can be finally set. The survey procedures depend on access to standard resident assessment data, so that high priority should be given to developing the resident assessment data set, the procedures for collecting it, recording the data, prescribing standard case-mix definitions for survey purposes, specifying sampling procedures, and developing training programs and materials for nursing home staff who will be required to conduct resident assessments.

DESIGN AND TESTING ACTIVITIES

Resident Assessment Data

Design, testing, and installation of a standard facility-administered resident assessment system is a large and complex undertaking. It involves several tasks, each of which requires considerable technical knowledge and skill. The main tasks are—

Standard assessment elements must be selected for recording in a
prescribed way. A standard approach to resident assessment will be
necessary to get comparable information on all residents in nursing
homes. Fortunately, so much research has been done on resident
assessment that this task can be accomplished quickly. The data
probably will be a hybrid of several of the

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

instruments that already have been designed and tested and that have been shown to be effective and reliable. It is very important that the required standard data be viewed by facility professional staff as a subset of that considered to be essential for sound resident-care planning and facility management. (The amount of data on each resident needed by the facility for developing an individual's plan of care usually will be much more extensive than that needed for regulatory purposes.)

- Standard assessment procedures must be designed for use by nursing home staff in assessing residents, scoring, and recording the data. Guidelines, an instruction manual, and problem resolution techniques will have to be developed and tested.
- 3. Methods must be developed to ensure the reliability of the data collectors. A training program and training materials for RNs and LPNs (LVNs) will have to be prescribed. Auditing procedures (including sampling procedures) will have to be developed and pass/fail criteria specified that are based on the results of interrater reliability tests. (The standards may vary for various aspects of the data—higher consistency of scoring might be required for functional status assessments than for mental or behavioral status.) Instruction manuals will then have to be developed and the surveyors in every state will have to be trained to audit the accuracy of facility resident assessments as part of the new survey process.
- 4. Policy decisions must be made on how frequently assessments are to be conducted on each resident. For example, the first assessment should be done on admission, then reassessments might be required once a month for the next 2 months, and once every 3 months thereafter. The frequency of regular assessments is a major issue and the decision should be based, ideally, on empirical evidence.
- 5. Case-mix groupings must be defined on the basis of resident assessment scores. The groupings will be needed for survey sampling purposes. The initial groupings are likely to be based on limited data and will need to be revised as empirical evidence from longitudinal assessment data become available and analysis reveals that alternate

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

- case-mix groupings would be more appropriate for sampling purposes.
- 6. Sampling algorithms must be developed for auditing the accuracy of the facility's resident assessment data and for conducting the standard survey. Statistically sound sampling is essential to establish both public and provider confidence in the validity of a somewhat abbreviated standard survey process.

Once this manual system for resident assessment data has been introduced and implemented in nursing homes, the steps needed to gain ready access to the data for regulatory purposes should be studied. Many nursing homes are likely to enter the data into their own computers to take full advantage of it for their own management purposes. But many others—probably most—are unlikely to do so at first. A study of the important regulatory and other government uses for the data, and ways to obtain access to it, will be needed. The study will have to examine and propose methods for dealing with numerous technical and policy questions inherent in handling large data sets about individuals. The product should be a proposed plan that would permit access to and analysis of the data on a regular basis to improve the precision and objectivity of the new regulatory system.

Survey Instruments and Procedures

The development of a short, resident-centered, outcome-oriented standard survey procedure and a complementary extended survey procedure must reflect the requirements of the new and revised conditions of participation and standards if the findings are to be enforceable. Although development of the survey instruments, the scoring criteria and pass/fail standards, and the procedures for conducting the surveys can be tested on the assumption that the revised conditions and standards will in fact be promulgated, they cannot be introduced until the proposed new and revised conditions and standards become official. Moreover, the new standard survey is tied to the

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

availability of data from the assessment system—a system that will have to be developed and tested. The time required to complete each of the three sets of activities—(1) enactment of amendments to the Social Security Act and promulgation of new and revised conditions, (2) development and introduction of the resident assessment system, and (3) development and introduction of the new survey and certification procedures—is likely to be 2 to 3 years. It therefore would be desirable to proceed simultaneously with all three activities, making scheduling and substantive adjustments necessary to fit the policy decisions as they are made. If all goes well, the entire system could be in place and functioning in 3 years.

COST IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATIONS

The effects of the recommendations on the costs of regulation and on the costs of providing care to residents are not easily calculated for two reasons: (1) The quantitative and qualitative changes in behavior of the various actors in the system, and the effects on efficiency of the regulatory agencies and nursing homes, cannot be predicted on the basis of current data; (2) current data about staffing and costs in nursing homes and in state regulatory agencies are not available in sufficient detail; and (3) some immediate costs are likely to produce long-term savings that cannot be estimated.

Given these uncertainties, any estimates made—even with the assistance of a very elaborate cost model—would have to present a wide range of costs to account for interactions of varying assumptions. For this reason, the committee chose not to divert any of its limited time and resources to this purpose. It concentrated on developing recommendations that will improve the regulatory system's ability to ensure better quality of care and quality of life for nursing home residents.

Regulatory Costs

The combined effects on state regulatory agency staffing requirements of (1) the integration of inspection of care with the survey process, (2) the resident assessment system, (3) the use of the standard and extended survey system, and (4) increased enforcement capabilities is by no means clear.

Most states now use, and are funded for, separate staff to conduct inspections of care (IOC). In those states, integrating the functions of surveying nursing homes with IOC would eliminate the requirements for separate staff and the additional travel, training, and overhead costs. However, the new system will require well-qualified and well-trained survey staff and this may, in some states, require larger survey agency budgets. How much larger will depend on the performance of the nursing homes. If the introduction of the resident assessment system and the standard survey improve performance of the poor and marginal facilities so that fewer extended surveys are necessary, there may be no significant requirement for additional staff. On the other hand, if many extended surveys should be necessary, this could lead to requirements for staff increases. The experience is likely to vary widely among the states. Similar uncertainties pertain to the costs of strengthening enforcement capabilities.

There will be costs for developing, testing, and conducting the training necessary to install the resident assessment system and the new survey instruments and procedures. These costs will have to be borne largely by the HCFA, both in its own operating budget and in larger federal grants to the states to carry out state survey and certification responsibilities.

The federal regional offices will need more staff to strengthen their lookbehind capabilities and to conduct surveys of state-owned facilities. On the other hand, they will be relieved of the responsibility for certifying Medicare facilities, so some of the staff devoted to those time-consuming activities could be shifted to the increased oversight activities.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

The cost effects of strengthening the ombudsman program are not entirely clear. The federal and state contributions to the ombudsman program are now too small; they will have to be increased if the program is to become more effective. But the effects of an improved ombudsman program on state survey agency costs are not clear. One possibility is that it could increase the number of complaints that have to be investigated by the survey agency. But another is that it could have the opposite effect: The volume of complaints could go down as ombudsmen work more effectively in resolving problems within nursing homes. Probably both types of effects will occur, but it is clearly impossible to make any quantitative forecasts of the net effect on costs.

Program Costs

The recommendation to eliminate ICFs will increase the costs of care in some states more than in others, but it is not clear by how much. In many states that have mainly ICF facilities, the actual average staffing is already well above the minimum federal requirements because the homes have had to accommodate a growing proportion of heavy-care residents. Nevertheless, requiring compliance with SNF standards almost certainly will increase costs in some nursing homes in some states. This may lead to increases in Medicaid budgets in some states.

The costs to the nursing homes of the resident assessment system are not likely to be significant. All nursing homes should be doing resident assessments as a basis for care planning anyway. The good nursing homes have been conducting very comprehensive assessments of their residents as part of their normal resident care activities. The federal requirement to do so in a standard way should not add significantly to resident care costs.

In sum, the regulatory changes recommended in this report will increase both regulatory and program costs in the short term, but the benefits to society and to the nursing home residents will be well worth the additional costs. About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

NOTES 213

Notes

Chapter 1

- The original contract specified a 22-month study. The contract completion date was subsequently extended 7 months.
- U.S. Senate Special Committee on Aging. 1974. Nursing Home Care in the United States: Failure in Public Policy. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- 3. Mendelson, Mary Adelaide. 1974. Tender Loving Greed.
- Moss, Frank, and Val Halamanderis. 1977. Too Old, Too Sick, Too Bad—Nursing Homes in America. Germantown, Maryland: Aspen Systems Corporation.
- Arkansas Legislative Joint Performance Review Committee. 1978. Nursing Home Study—1978: Evaluation of State Regulation of the Nursing Home Industry.
- Commission on California State Government Organization and Economy. 1983. The Bureaucracy
 of Care: Continued Policy Issues for Nursing Home Services and Regulation.
- Auditor General of California. 1982. The Department of Health Services. Long-Term Care Facilities.

from the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot not paper book, from the original files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed been accidentally inserted. Please use retained, and some typographic errors may have

NOTES 214

 Colorado Attorney General's Office. 1977. Report of the Attorney General Concerning the Regulation of the Nursing Home Industry in the State of Colorado.

- Governor's Blue Ribbon Nursing Home Commission. 1976, 1980. Report of the Blue Ribbon
 Committee to Investigate the Nursing Home Industry in Connecticut.
 Office of the Inspector General, Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services.
- 1981. Nursing Home Evaluative Report.11. Office of the Inspector General, Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services.
- 1983. An Evaluation of the District XI Long-Term Care Unit.
 12. Illinois Legislative Investigating Commission. 1984. Regulation and Funding of Illinois Nursing
- Homes.

 13. Maryland Commission on Nursing Homes. 1973. Report of the Governor's Commission on
- Nursing Homes.

 14. Plante and Moran Consultants Inc. 1981. Michigan Department of Public Health, Bureau of Health Care Administration, Division of Health Facilities Certification and Licensure
- Management and Operations Review.

 15. Minnesota House and Senate Select Committees on Aging. 1976. Final Report, Nursing Home Study
- New Jersey State Nursing Home Study Committee. 1978. New Jersey Report on Long-Term Care.
- 17. New York State Moreland Act Commission. 1975. Regulating Nursing Home Care: The Paper Tigers.
- New York State Moreland Act Commission. 1976. Long-Term Care Regulation: Past Lapses, Future Prospects.
- Ohio General Assembly Nursing Home Commission. 1978. A Program in Crisis: An Interim Report.
- Ohio General Assembly Nursing Home Commission. 1979. A Program in Crisis: Blueprint for Action.
- Oregon Joint Interim Nursing Home Task Force. 1978. Report of the Joint Interim Task Force on Nursing Homes.
- State of Texas Nursing Home Task Force. 1979. Report on Nursing Homes to the Attorney General of the State of Texas.
- 23. Joint Legislative Audit and Review Commission. 1978. Long-Term Care in Virginia.

Spalding, Joy. 1985. A Consumer Perspective on Quality Care: The Residents' Point of View.
 Analysis of Residents' Discussions. National Citizens' Coalition for Nursing Home Reform. Washington, D.C.

- Weisbrod, B. A., and M. Schlesinger. December 1983. Public, Private, Non-Profit Ownership and the Response to Asymmetric Information: The Case of Nursing Homes. Unpublished paper.
- U.S. House of Representatives. Select Committee on Aging. July 1985. America's Elderly at Risk. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Scanlon, William J. 1980. Nursing Home Utilization Patterns: Implications for Policy. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law* 4(4):619-641.
- 28. The terms "patients" and "residents" often are used interchangeably when referring to the recipients of care in nursing homes. The current federal regulations pertaining to Skilled Nursing Facilities use the term "patients." The Intermediate Care regulations refer to "residents." The committee prefers the term "residents" for those being cared for in nursing homes because it more clearly conveys the idea that most people admitted to nursing homes live in them for many months or years.
- 29. The committee received testimony to this effect from dozens of witnesses at the public meetings it conducted in Philadelphia, Atlanta, Dallas, Minneapolis, and Los Angeles in September 1984. Similar testimony was recorded in public hearings conducted by the HCFA in 1978.
- Katz, S., and C. A. Akpom. 1976. A Measure of Primary Sociobiological Function. *International Journal of Health Sciences* 6(3):493-507. The "activities of daily living" are bathing, dressing, toileting, transfer, continence, and feeding.
- 31. Scanlon, W. J., and J. Feder. January 1984. The Long-Term Care Marketplace: An Overview. Health Care Financial Management. Pp. 1-13.
- 32. These pressures are attributable primarily to demographic trends—the rapid growth in the numbers of very old and very frail elderly persons in the population, and the constraints on nursing home bed

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

NOTES 216

supply which have resulted in a nursing home bed shortage in most parts of the country. Unfortunately, good recent data to demonstrate the increasing proportion of heavy-care residents are not available. The last national nursing home survey was conducted in 1977. The National Center for Health Statistics now plans to conduct its next national survey of nursing homes in 1986. The most recent analysis of the available data is contained in: U.S. General Accounting Office. 1983. Medicaid and Nursing Home Care: Cost Increases and the Need for Services Are Creating Problems for the States and the Elderly. Report to the Chairman of the Subcommittee on Health and the Environment, Committee on Energy and Commerce, U.S. House of Representatives. GAO/IPE-84-1, October 21, 1983.

- Health Care Financing Administration. 1985. Unpublished data based on "cleaned" 1984 Medicare/Medicaid data.
- 34. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Inspector General. April 1982. Board and Care Homes: A Study of Federal and State Actions to Safeguard the Health and Safety of Board and Care Home Residents. Washington, D.C.
- Sirrocco, A. 1983. An Overview of the 1980 National Master Facility Inventory Survey of Nursing and Related Care Homes. National Center for Health Statistics.
- 36. National Center for Health Statistics. 1981. Utilization Patterns and Financial Characteristics of Nursing Homes in the United States: 1977 National Nursing Home Survey. Data from the National Health Survey Series B, No. 53, HHS Pub. No. (PH5) 81-1714.
- U.S. Senate, Special Committee on Aging. 1984. Developments in Aging: 1983. Vol. 1. Washington, D.C.
- Arnett, R. H. III, C. S. Cowells, L. M. Davidolf, and M. S. Freeland. Spring 1985. Health Spending Trends in the 1980s. Health Care Financing Review.
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 1984. Employment Projections for 1995, Bulletin 2197. Washington, D.C.
- 40. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. 1974. Enforcement of Life Safety Code Requirements in

- Skilled Nursing Facilities. Office of Nursing Home Affairs, Public Health Service. January. 41. Smith v. Heckler, 747 F.2d 583 (10th Cir. 1984). Smith v. O'Halloran, 557 F. Supp. 289 (D.
- 41. Smith v. Heckler, 747 F.2d 583 (10th Cir. 1984). Smith v. O'Halloran , 557 F. Supp. 289 (D. Colo. 1983), rev'd sub nom.
- Kemanis, V. 1980. A Critical Evaluation of the Federal Role in Nursing Home Quality Enforcement, 51 University of Colorado Law Review 607.
- 43. Estimated. The actual fraction may be larger. In states with "medically needy" programs, many of the residents with private incomes below the "medically needy" eligibility ceiling share the costs of nursing home care with Medicaid.
- 44. National Center for Health Statistics. 1979. The National Nursing Home Survey: 1977 Summary for the United States, Vital and Health Statistics. Data from the National Health Survey Series 13, No. 43. HHS Pub. No. (PHS) 79-1794.
- 45. U.S. General Accounting Office. October 1983. Medicaid and Nursing Home Care: Cost Increases and the Need for Services Are Creating Problems for the States and the Elderly. Report to the Chairman of the Subcommittee on Health and the Environment, Committee on Energy and Commerce, House of Representatives.
- 46. Systemetrics, Inc. December 1983. The MMACS Long-Term Care Data Base: Construction of a New Research File and an Assessment of Its Quality and Usefulness. Report prepared for the Health Care Financing Administration.

Chapter 2

- National Center for Health Statistics. April 1981. Characteristics of Nursing Home Residents, Health Status, and Care Received: National Nursing Home Survey, United States, May-December 1977. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Pub. No. (PHS) 81-1712.
- Linn, M., and J. Mossey. Summer 1980. The Role of Payment Sources in Differentiating Nursing Home Residents, Services and Payments. Health Care Financing Review.

 Sangl, J. 1982. The Family Support System of Elderly. In Long-Term Care: Perspectives from Research and Demonstrations. R. Vogel and H. Palmer (eds.). Health Care Financing Administration.

- Shanas, E. April 1979. The Family as a Social Support System in Old Age. The Gerontologist 19 (2):169-174.
- Nahemow, L., and R. Bennett. 1967. Attitude Change with Institutionalization of the Aged. Unpublished Final Report, Biometrics Research, New York State Department of Mental Hygiene.
- Brown, B. F. November 1980. The Impact of Confidants on Adjusting to Stressful Events in Adulthood. Paper presented at the Annual Meetings of the Gerontological Society of America. San Diego.
- 7. National Center for Health Statistics. 1979. The National Nursing Home Survey: 1977. Summary for the United States. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Morris, J. N., S. Sherwood, and E. Bernstein. 1984. Quality of Life Standards in Long-Term Care
 Institutions. Unpublished paper commissioned by the Institute of Medicine Committee on
 Nursing Home Regulation and presented at a workshop in December 1984.
- National Academy of Sciences, Institute of Medicine. 1976. Assessing Quality in Health Care: An Evaluation.
- 10. Goffman, E. 1961. Asylums: Essays on the Social Situation of Mental Patients and Other Inmates. New York: Anchor Books.
- 11. Katz, S., and C. A. Akpom. 1976. A Measure of Primary Sociobiological Function. International Journal of Health Sciences 6(3):493-507.
- Kurowski, B., and P. Shaughnessy. 1982. The Measurement and Assurance of Quality. In Long-Term Care: Perspectives from Research and Demonstrations. R. Vogel and H. Palmer (eds). Health Care Financing Administration.
- 13. Staff of the Benjamin Rose Hospital. 1958. Multidisciplinary Study of Illness Among Aged

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from print version of this publication as the About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the

- Persons: I. Methods and Preliminary Results. Journal of Chronic Disorders 7:332-344.
- Katz, S., A. Ford, A. Chinn, and V. Newill. 1966. Prognosis After Stroke. Part II. Long-Term Course of 159 Patients. *Medicine* 45:236-246.
- Katz, S., P. Vignos, R. Moskowitz, H. Thompson, and K. Svec. 1968. Comprehensive Outpatient Care in Rheumatoid Arthritis, a Controlled Study. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 206:1249-1254.
- Steinberg, F., and M. Frost. 1963. Rehabilitation of Geriatric Patients in a General Hospital: A Follow-Up Study of 43 Cases. *Geriatrics* 18:158-164.
- Kark, S. 1974. Disease and Disability. In Epidemiology and Community Medicine. New York: Appleton-Centry-Crofts.
- Katz, S., A. Ford, R. Moskowitz, B. Jackson, and M. Jaffe. 1963. Studies of Illness in the Aged. The Index of ADL: A Standardized Measure of Biological and Psycho-Social Function. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 185:914-919.
- Grotz, R. T., N. D. Henderson, and S. Katz. 1972. A Comparison of the Functional and Intellectual Performance of Phenylketonuric, Anoxic and Down's Syndrome Individuals. *American Journal of Mental Deficiencies* 76(6):710-717.
- Mitchell, J. 1978. Patient Outcomes in Alternative Long-Term Settings. Medical Care 16:439-452.
- Kurowski, B., R. Schlenker, and G. Tricarico. 1979. Applied Research in Home Health Services, Vol. II: Cost per Episode. Denver, Colorado: Center for Health Services Research, University of Colorado, Health Sciences Center.
- 22. Chekryn, J., and L. L. Roos. 1979. Auditing the Process of Care in a New Geriatric Unit. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 27:107-111.
- Gurland, B., P. Cross, A. Mann, and A. MacDonald. 1984. Comparisons of the Care of the Demented Elderly in New York and London. Pp. 327-337 in Senile Dementia: Outlook for the Future. J. Wertheimer and M. Marois (eds.). New York: Alan R. Liss, Inc.
- Mann, A. H., K. Wood, P. Cross, B. Gurland, P. Schieber, and H. Haefnere. 1984. Institutional Care

- of the Elderly: A Comparison of the Cities of New York, London and Mannheim. *Social Psychiatry* 19(3):97-102. Springer-Verlag.
- National Academy of Sciences, Institute of Medicine. 1984. Summary of Committee on Nursing
 Home Regulation Public Meetings on Nursing Home Regulation. Unpublished staff
 working paper.
- Cross, P., B. Gurland, and A. Mann. 1983. Long-Term Institutional Care of Demented Elderly People in New York City and London. *Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine* 59 (3):267-275.
- Kramer, Morton. 1984. Trends of Institutionalization and Prevalence of Mental Disorders in Nursing Homes. In Mental Illness in Nursing Homes: Agenda for Research. Mary Harper and Barry Lebowitz (eds.). National Institute of Mental Health. Rockville, Maryland. August 1983.
- U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. Public Health Service; National Center for Health Statistics. 1980. Health in the United States. Washington, D.C.: HEW Pub. No. (PHS) 78-1232. December 1978.
- Cohen, G. D. July 1977. Approach to the Geriatric Patient. Medical Clinics of North America 61 (4):855-866.
- Campbell, A., P. E. Converse, and W. L. Rodgers. 1976. The Quality of American Life. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- 31. Andrews, F., and S. Withey. 1976. Social Indicators of Well-Being. New York: Plenum Press.
- 32. Lawton, M. P. 1982. Competence, Environmental Pressure, and the Adaptation of Older People. In Aging and the Environment: Theoretical Approaches. M. Lawton, P. Windley, and T. Byerts (eds.). New York: Springer-Verlag.
- 33. Bennett, Clifford. 1980. Nursing Home Life: What It Is and What It Could Be. New York: Tiresias Press.
- 34. Spalding, Joy. 1985. A Consumer Perspective on Quality Care: The Residents' Point of View. Analysis of Residents' Discussions. National Citizens' Coalition for Nursing Home Reform. Washington, D.C.

- 35. Gastil, R. 1978. Social Indicators and Quality of Life. *Public Administration Review* 30:596-601.
- Morgan, J. N., and J. D. Smith. 1969. Measures of Economic Well-Offness and Their Correlates. American Economic Review 59:912-926.
- George, L., and L. Bearon. 1980. Quality of Life in Older Persons. Meaning and Measurement. New York: Human Sciences Press.
- 38. Ward, Daniel H. 1984. A Nursing Home Management System for Doing More for Less: The Responsive Caregiving Model. Unpublished paper commissioned by the Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation and presented at a workshop in December 1985.
- Miller, M. B. 1975. Iatrogenic and Nursigenic Effects of Prolonged Immobilization of the Ill Aged. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 23:360-369.
- Miller, M. B., H. Clara, and Evelyn M. Hamil. Rehabilitating Patients with Chronic Disease. Nursing Outlook 6:324-325.
- Margolin, Reuben J., and Francis Hurwitz. 1963. The Number One Need in the Nursing Home? Rehabilitation. *Nursing Homes*. January 1963 (pt. 1) and February 1963 (pt. 2).
- 42. Bier, Ruth Irwin. 1961. Rehabilitation on a Shoestring. *The American Journal of Nursing* 61:98-100.
- Donabedian, Avedis. 1980, 1982. Explorations in Quality Assessment and Monitoring: The Definitions of Quality and Approaches to Its Assessment (Vol. 1); The Criteria and Standards of Quality (Vol. 2). Ann Arbor, Michigan: Health Administration Press.
- 44. Katz, S. December 1978. A New Approach to Quality Assurance. Paper presented at the First National Long-Term Care Conference of the Academy for Gerontologic Education and Development.
- Connelly, K., P. K. Cohen, and D. Walsh. April 1977. Periodic Medical Review: Assessing the Quality and Appropriateness of Care in Skilled Nursing Facilities. The New England Journal of Medicine 296(15):578-880.

46. Shaughnessy, P., R. Schlenker, B. Harley, N. Shanks, G. Tricarico, V. Perry, B. Kurowski, and A. Woodson. 1980. Long-Term Care Reimbursement and Regulation: A Study of Cost, Case Mix, and Quality. Working Paper 4, First-Year Analysis Report. Denver, Colorado: Center for Health Services Research, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center.

- 47. Greenberg, J. 1980. Cost, Case Mix, Quality and Facility Characteristics in Minnesota's Nursing Homes: An Exploratory Analysis. First-Year Progress Report. Minneapolis, Minnesota: Center for Health Services Research, University of Minnesota.
- Linn, M. W., L. Gurel, and B. S. Linn. 1977. Patient Outcome as a Measure of Quality of Nursing Home Care. American Journal of Public Health 67(April):337-344.
- Lawton, M. 1980. Residential Quality and Residential Satisfaction Among the Elderly. Research on Aging 2:309-328.
- Larson, R. 1978. Thirty Years of Research on the Subjective Well-Being of Older Americans. *Journal of Gerontology* 33:109-125.
- 51. Bennett, R. 1963. The Meaning of Institutional Life. The Gerontologist 3:117-125.
- Coe, R. W. 1965. Self-Conception and Institutionalization. In Older People and Their Social World. A. Rose and W. Peterson (eds.). Philadelphia: F. A. Davis.
- Kahana, E., S. Liang, and B. Felton. 1980. Alternative Models of Person-Environment Fit: Prediction of Morale in Three Homes for the Aged. *Journal of Gerontology* 35:584-595.
- 54. Lieberman, M. 1974. Relocation Research and Social Policy. *The Gerontologist* 14:494-501.
- Noelker, L., and Z. Harel. 1978. Predictors of Well-Being and Survival Among Institutionalized Aged. The Gerontologist 19:562-567.
- Ray, W., C. Federspiel, and W. Schaffner. 1980. A Study of Antipsychotic Drug Use in Nursing Homes: Epidemiological Evidence Suggesting Misuse. *American Journal of Public Health* 70(May):485-491.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

NOTES 223

57. Keeler, E., R. L. Kane, and D. Solomon. March 1981. Short- and Long-Term Residents of Nursing Homes. *Medical Care* 19(3):363-369.

- Langer, E. J., and J. Rodin. 1976. The Effects of Choice and Enhanced Personal Responsibility for the Aged: A Field Experiment in an Institutional Setting. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 34:191-198.
- Papsidero, J., S. Katz, S. Kroger, and C. Apkom. 1979. Chance for Change. *Implications of the Chronic Disease Model*. East Lansing, Michigan: Michigan State University Press.
- 60. Harley, B., D. Landes, and B. Kurowski. 1981. Working Paper 10. Case Mix and Quality: Design and Development of a Methodology for Data Collection. Denver, Colorado: Center for Health Services Research, University of Colorado, Health Science Center.
- Kane, Rosalie A. 1984. Working paper for the National Academy of Sciences, Institute of Medicine, Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.
- Kane, R. L., R. Bell, S. Riegler, A. Wilson, and E. Keeler. 1983. Predicting the Outcomes of Nursing Home Patients. *The Gerontologist* 23(2):200-206.
- Kane, Rosalie A. 1981. Assuring Quality of Care and Quality of Life in Long-Term Care. Quality Review Bulletin 7(October):3-10.
- Anderson, N., and L. Stone. 1969. Nursing Homes Research and Public Policy. The Gerontologist 9:214-218.
- Gonnella, J., D. Louis, and J. McCord. January 1976. The Staging Concept—An Approach to the Assessment of Outcome in Ambulatory Cases. *Medical Care* 14(1):13-21.
- Greenfield, S., N. Solomon, R. Brook, and A. Davies-Avery. 1978. Development of Outcome Criteria and Standards to Assess the Quality of Care for Patients with Osteoarthritis. *Journal of Chronic Diseases* 31:375-388.
- Bowker, L. H. 1982. Humanizing Nursing Home Care. Lexington, Massachusetts: Lexington Books, D.C. Health and Company.

68. Morris, J. N., and C. Granger. 1982. Assessing and Meeting the Needs of the Long-Term Care Person. Pp. 104-141 in *Adult Day Care: A Practical Guide*. C. O'Brien (ed.). Monterey, California: Wadsworth Health Sciences.

- 69. Keith, R. 1984. Functional Assessment in Program Evaluation for Rehabilitation Medicine. Pp. 122-139 in Functional Assessment in Program Rehabilitation Medicine. C. Granger and G. Gresham (eds.). Baltimore, Maryland: Williams and Wilkins.
- Granger, C. V., and M. A. McNamara. 1984. Functional Assessment Utilization: The Long-Range Evaluation System. Pp. 99-121 in Functional Assessment in Program Rehabilitation Medicine. C. Granger and G. Gresham (eds.). Baltimore, Maryland: Williams and Wilkins.
- 71. Granger, C., C. Sherwood, and D. Greet. 1977. Functional Status Measures in a Comprehensive Stroke Care Program. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 58:555-561.
- Lehman, J. F., et al. Summer 1984. Stroke: Does Rehabilitation Affect Outcome? *Journal of Health and Human Resources Administration* 7(1):32-60.
- Miglietta, O., T. S. Chung, and V. Rajeswaramma. 1976. Fate of Stroke Patients Transferred to a Long-Term Rehabilitation Hospital. Stroke 7:76-77.
- Jones, E. 1973. Patient Classification for Long-Term Care: User's Manual. Washington, D.C.:
 U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare Pub. No. HRA 74-3017.
- 75. Sherwood, S., J. Morris, V. Mor, and C. Gutkin. 1977. Compendium of Measures for Describing and Assessing Long-Term Care Populations. Hebrew Rehabilitation Center for the Aged, Boston, Massachusetts. Unpublished paper.
- Schoening, H., L. Anderys, D. Bergstrom, M. Fonda, N. Steinke, and P. Ubrich. 1965. Numerical Scoring of Self-Care Status of Patients. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 46:689-697.
- Schoening, H., and I. Iversen. 1968. Numerical Scoring of Self-Care Status: A Study of the Kenny Self-Care Evaluation. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 49:221-229.

 Linn, M. W. 1967. A Rapid Disability Rating Scale. Journal of the American Geriatric Society 15:211-214.

- 79. Zahn, M., R. Schlenker, and J. Johnson. March 1984. An Analysis of Long-Term Care Payment Systems. Study Paper 2. Denver, Colorado: Center for Health Services Research, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center.
- Fries, E., and L. M. Cooney. 1983. A Patient Classification System for Long-Term Care. Report to Health Care Financing Administration. New Haven, Connecticut: Yale School of Organization and Management.
- 81. New York State Department of Health and Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute. December 1984. New York State Long-Term Care Case Mix Reimbursement Project. Executive Summary: Derivation of RUG-II.
- 82. Thoms, W., and L. Schlesinger. 1985. Steps to REAL Nursing Home Reform. National Academy of Sciences, Institute of Medicine, Committee on Nursing Home Regulation Working Paper.
- Adams, Carl E., and Judy Williams (Powell). 1978. Patient Assessment Computerization. National Health Corporation. Murfreesboro, Tennessee.
- Kahn, R., A. Goldfarb, M. Pollack, and I. Gerber, 1960. Relationship of Mental and Physical Status in Institutionalized Aged Persons. American Journal of Psychiatry 117:120-124.
- Kahn, R., A. Goldfarb, M. Pollack, and A. Peck. 1960. Brief Objective Measures for the Determination of Mental Status in the Aged. American Journal of Psychiatry 117:326-328.
- Fishback, D. B. 1977. Mental Status Questionnaire for Organic Brain Syndrome with a New Visual Counting Test. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society* 25:167-170.
- 87. Folstein, M. G., S. Folstein, and P. R. McHugh. 1975. Mini-Mental State: A Practical Method for Grading the Cognitive State of Patients for the Clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 12:189-198.
- 88. Gurland, B., J. Kuriansky, L. Sharpe, R. Simon, P. Stiller, and D. Birkett. 1977. The Comprehensive

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

- Assessment and Referral Evaluation (CARE). Rationale, Development and Reliability: Part II. A Factor Analysis. *International Journal of Aging and Human Development* 8:9-42.
- 89. Gurland, B., L. Dean, and P. Cross. 1983. The Effects of Depression on Individual Social Functioning in the Elderly. In *Depression in the Elderly: Causes, Care, and Consequences*. L. Breslau and M. Haug (eds.). New York: Springer Publications.
- Bennett, R. (ed). 1980. Aging, Isolation and Resocialization. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold Press.
- McCaffree, K. M., and E. M. Harkins. 1976. Final Report for Evaluation of the Outcomes of Nursing Home Care. Seattle, Washington: Battelle Human Affairs Research Centers.
- Pincus, A., and V. Wood. 1970. Methodological Issues in Measuring the Environment in Institutions of the Aged and Its Impact on Residents. Aging and Human Development 1:117-126.
- 93. Powell, J. W. 1984. The Systematic Use of Patient Assessment Data for Managing Nursing Homes. Paper commissioned by the IOM Committee on Nursing Home Regulation and presented at a workshop in December.
- Mesnikoff, A., and D. Wilder. 1983. Behavior Problems Encountered in Adult Homes. In *The Acting Out Elderly*. M. Aronson, R. Bennett, and B. Gurland (eds.). New York: Haworth Press.
- Grau, L. A., and V. Barrett. 1984. Management of Disturbing Behaviors of Elderly Day Care Centers' Clients. Paper presented at the Annual Meetings of the American Geriatric Society.
- 96. Jones, Ellen W., Paul M. Denson, and Barbara J. McNitt. July 1978. Assessing the Quality of Long-Term Care. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, National Center for Health Services Research. HHS Pub. No. (PHS) 78-3192.
- 97. Thomas, B. 1975. Proposed Criteria for Long-Term Care Quality and Cost Control Systems. Unpublished paper. Greenbriar Terrace, Nashua, New Hampshire.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

NOTES 227

Chapter 3

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 1985. Health Care Financing Administration, Office of Research and Demonstrations, Washington, D.C. Unpublished data.
- Michoki, R. J., and P. P. Lamy. 1976. The Care of Decubitus Ulcers Pressure Sores. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 24:217-24.
- Zimmer, J. G. 1979. Medical Care Evaluation Studies in Long-Term Care Facilities. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 27:62-72.
- Powell, J. 1984. The Systematic Use of Patient Assessment Data for Managing Nursing Homes. Background paper prepared for the Committee on Nursing Home Regulation, National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C.
- Holder, E. L., and B. W. Frank. 1984. Resident Participation in Nursing Homes. Paper prepared for consumer issues workshop conducted by the Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation and presented at a workshop in December 1984.
- Weisfeld, N. 1984. Accreditation, Certification, and Licensure of Nursing Home Personnel: A
 Discussion of Issues and Trends. Background paper prepared for Committee on Nursing
 Home Regulation, Institute of Medicine, National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C.
- 7. Stryker, R. Summer 1982. The Effect of Managerial Intervention on High Personnel Turnover in Nursing Homes. *Journal of Long-Term Care Administration*. 10(2):21-33
- Schwartz, A. N. February 1974. Staff Development and Morale Building in Nursing Homes. The Gerontologist 14(1):50-53.
- Sand, P., and R. Berni. March 1974. Incentive Contract for Nursing Home Aides. American Journal of Nursing.
- Crawford, S., H. Waxman, and E. Carrier. 1983. Using Research to Plan Nurse Aide Training. *American Health Care Association Journal* 9:59-61.

 Feldman, J., R. E. Burke, and J. Schwarzmann. 1978. The Training of Unlicensed Long-Term Care Personnel. Final Report for Contract #HRA 230-76-0272. Chicago, Illinois: Johnston R. Bowman Health Center for the Elderly, Rush-Presbyterian. St. Luke's Medical Center, and Medicus Systems Corp.

- U.S. Senate, Special Committee on Aging. October 1, 1984. Senate Hearing 98-1091 on Discrimination Against the Poor and Disabled in Nursing Homes. 98th Congress, 2d Session. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Greenless, J. S., J. M. Marshall, and D. E. Yett. May 1984. Nursing Home Admissions Policies Under Reimbursement. The Bell Journal of Economics.
- Schlenker, R. E. October 1984. Nursing Home Reimbursement, Quality, and Access—A Synthesis of Research. Paper commissioned by the IOM Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.
- Scanlon, W. J. 1980. Nursing Home Utilization Patterns: Implications for Policy. *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law* 4(4):619-641.
- 16. Scanlon, W. J. 1980. A Theory of the Nursing Home Market. Inquiry 17:25-41.
- Feder, J., and W. Scanlon. 1980. Regulating the Bed Supply in Nursing Homes. Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly 58(1):54-88.
- Feder, J., and W. Scanlon. 1982. The Underused Benefit: Medicare's Coverage of Nursing Home Care. The Urban Institute. Washington, D.C.
- Cotterill, Philip G. 1983. Provider Incentives Under Alternative Reimbursement Systems. Chapter XVIII in Ronald J. Vogel and Hans C. Palmer (eds.). Long Term Care: Perspectives from Research and Demonstrations. Health Care Financing Administration. Washington, D.C.
- U.S. General Accounting Office. October 1983. Medicaid and Nursing Home Care: Cost Increases and the Need for Services Are Creating Problems for the States and the Elderly.
- 21. Barney, Jane L. March 1974. Community Presence as a Key to Quality of Life in Nursing Homes. *American Journal of Public Health* 64(3):265-268.

22. Dobrof, Rose. December 1984. Community Involvement: An Approach to Enhancement of Quality of Life in Nursing Homes. *Unpublished* paper prepared for National Academy of Sciences/Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.

- 23. Buford, A. O. III. October 1984. Advocacy for the Nursing Home Resident: An Examination of the Ombudsman Function and Its Relationship to Licensing and Certification Activities in Insuring Quality of Care. Paper presented to consumer issues workshop conducted by the Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.
- Dobrof, R. 1977. Social Work Consultation in Nursing Homes. National Association of Social Workers, Contract No. HRA 230-75-0203. Washington, D.C.
- Gehrke, J., and S. Wattenberg. 1981. Assessing Social Services in Nursing Homes. Health and Social Work 6:274-282.
- Mercer, S., and D. Garner. 1981. Social Work Consultation in Long-Term Care Facilities. Health and Social Work 6:5-13.
- Brody, E. 1974. A Social Work Guide for Long-Term Care Facilities, National Institute of Mental Health, Contract No. HSM-42-71-76, Rockville, Maryland.
- Jorgerison, L. A., and R. Kane. 1976. Social Work in the Nursing Home: A Need and an Opportunity. Social Work in Health Care 1:471-482.
- Mercer, Susan, and Rosalie A. Kane. 1979. Helplessness and Hopelessness Among the Institutionalized Aged. Health and Social Work 4:9-116.
- Pearman, L., and J. Scares. 1976. Unmet Social Service Needs in Skilled Nursing Facilities. Social Work in Health Care 1:457-470.
- U.S. Senate, Special Committee on Aging. December 1974. Nursing Home Care in the United States: Failure in Public Policy. An Introductory Report. Senate Report No. 93-1420. 93rd Congress, 2d Session.
- 32. Vladeck, B. 1980. Unloving Care: The Nursing Home Tragedy. New York: Basic Books.

 Waxman, H., E. Carner, and G. Berkenstock. 1984. Turnover and Job Satisfaction Among Nursing Home Aides. The Gerontologist 24(5):503-509.

- 34. Iowa State Department of Health, Division of Health Facilities. December 1982. Quantity of Health Care in Iowa Nursing Homes: Results from the ICF Outcome-Oriented Survey.
- 35. Thomas, W. H., and L. Schlesinger. December 1984. Steps to Real Nursing Home Reform. Paper presented to workshop on management incentives conducted by Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.

Chapter 4

- U.S. General Accounting Office. October 14, 1982. Audit of Medicaid Costs Reported by Autumn Hills Convalescent Centers, Houston, Texas. Washington, D.C.: GAO/HRD-83-9.
- Smith v. O'Halloran, 557 F. Supp. 289 (D. Colo. 1983), rev'd sub nom. Smith v. Heckler, 747 F.2d 583 (10th Cir. 1984).
- Health Care Financing Administration, Health Standards Quality Bureau. 1981. Unpublished analysis of 1981 MMACS data.
- Systemetrics, Inc. December 1983. The MMACS Long-Term Care Data Base: Construction of a New Research File and an Assessment of Its Quality and Usefulness.
- Shaughnessy, P. W., R. Schlenker, and I. Yslas. 1983. Case Mix, Quality, and Cost: Major Findings and Implications of the Colorado Nursing Home Study. Center for Health Services Research, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center. Denver, Colorado.
- 6. Kurowski, B., and P. W. Shaughnessy. 1983. The Measurement and Assurance of Quality. Chapter IV in Long-Term Care: Perspectives from Research and Demonstrations. R. J. Vogel and H. C. Palmer (eds.). Washington, D.C.: Health Care Financing Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

 Schneider, D., and A. O'Sullivan. 1980. Quality Assurance for Long-Term Care: Revising the Periodic Review. Schneider and Associates. Troy, New York. Mimeograph.

- Massachusetts Department of Public Health. 1984. Quality Assurance by Sampling: First Annual Report. August 29, 1983-February 14, 1984. Unpublished.
- Wisconsin Department of Health and Social Services, Division of Health. 1979. Annual Report: Nursing Home Quality Assurance Project, FY 1978-1979. Madison, Wisconsin.
- Colorado Department of Health, Medical Care Licensing and Certification Division. 1980. "QC"
 Factors, a Relationship Between Computerization, Patient Care, and the Regulatory Process. Denver, Colorado.
- Illinois Department of Public Health and Medicus Systems Corporation. November 1976.
 Regulatory Use of a Quality Evaluation System for Long-Term Care. Final report to Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Contract #HSM 110-73-499.
- Ohio Nursing Home Commission. 1979. A Program in Crisis: Blueprint for Action. Final Report of the Ohio Nursing Home Commission. Ohio General Assembly. Columbus.
- 13. Shanks, N., et al. 1983. Evaluation of the Reimbursement Provisions of Amended Substitute House Bill 176. A Report to the Ohio Department of Public Welfare. Center for Health Services Research, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center. Denver.
- Lee, Y. S., and S. Braun. 1981. Health Care for the Elderly: Designing a Data System for Quality Assurance. Computers, Environment, and Urban Systems 6(Spring):49-82.
- 15. Lee, Y. S. 1984. Performance of Intermediate Care Facilities in Iowa: A Preliminary Analysis. Performed for the Iowa Department of Health, Division of Health Facilities [or Nursing Homes and Quality of Health Care: The First Year of Results of an Outcome-Oriented Survey. *Journal of Health and Human Resource Administration* 7(Summer): 32-60].

16. Bisenius, M. F. 1984. Quality of Health Care in Iowa Nursing Homes: Results from the ICF Outcome-Oriented Survey, December 1, 1982-November 20, 1983. Iowa State Department of Health, Division of Health Services, Des Moines.

- 17. New York Department of Health. May 1984. Report to the Governor and the Legislature on the New Surveillance Process for New York State Residential Health Care Facilities. Office of Health Systems Management. Albany, New York.
- Mathematica Policy Research, Inc. January 1985. Evaluation of the State Demonstrations in Nursing Home Quality Assurance Processes. Final report.
- DiBernardis, J., and D. Gitlin. November 1979. Identifying and Assessing Quality Care in Long-Term Care Facilities in Montana. Report to the Department of Social Rehabilitation Services, State of Montana, under Contract No. 80-070-0016. Center of Gerontology, Montana State University. Bozeman.
- Donabedian, A. 1980. Explorations in Quality Assessment and Monitoring. Vol. 1: The Definition of Quality and Approaches to Its Assessment. Ann Arbor, Michigan: Health Administration Press.
- Glascock, J. 1985. The Modified Survey Process—Traditional Survey Process Evaluation Project. Seattle, Washington: The Hesperides Group.
- 22. Rehabilitation Care Consultants. Evaluation of the Iowa Outcome-Oriented Survey Process.
- 23. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 1983. Inventory of Surveyors of Medicare and Medicaid Programs, United States, 1983. Health Care Financing Administration, Health Standards and Quality Bureau. Unpublished, Baltimore, Maryland.
- Association of Health Facility Licensure and Certification Agency Directors. October 1983.
 Summary Report: Licensure and Certification Operations.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 1980. Proceedings of Symposium on Integration of Health and Safety Survey and Inspection of Care Review. Health Standards and Quality Bureau, Baltimore, Maryland.
- 26. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. May 1984. Inspection of Care Report. Health Care

Financing Administration, Health Standards and Quality Bureau. Baltimore, Maryland.

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 1981. Unpublished data from research in progress. Health Care Financing Administration, Office of Research and Demonstrations. Washington, D.C.
- Health Care Financing Administration, Medicare Medicaid Automated Certification System. 1981. Unpublished analysis.

Chapter 5

- Institute of Medicine, Committee on Nursing Home Regulation. December 1984. Case Studies of Nursing Home Regulation in Six States. Unpublished Reports.
- National Association of Attorneys General. February 1978. Enforcing Quality of Care in Nursing Homes. Committee on the Office of Attorney General.
- U.S. Senate. February 9, 1970. Medicare and Medicaid: Problems, Issues, and Alternatives.
 Report of the staff to the Senate Committee on Finance, 91st Congress, 2d Session.
 Committee print.
- Health Care Financing Administration. 1981. Provider Certification State Operations Manual. Unpublished manual.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 1984. Survey and Certification National Review. Unpublished Briefing Materials. Health Standards and Quality Bureau, Health Care Financing Administration.
- 6. Casper, S. K., and R. E. Burke. February 1985. Policy Recommendations for the Survey Process.

 Prepared for the Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.
- Jost, Timothy S. December 1984. Enforcement of Quality Nursing Home Care in the Legal System. Prepared for the Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.
- 8. Mathematica Policy Research, Inc. January 1985. Evaluation of the State Demonstrations in Nursing Home Quality Assurance Processes. Final report.

9. Institute of Medicine. 1984. Survey of State Health Facility Licensure and Certification Agency. (See Appendix C for a report on the survey.)

- Data from Medicare Medicaid Automated Certification System on terminations during fiscal years 1983 and 1984. 1983-1984. Health Care Financing Administration, Health Standards and Quality Bureau.
- U.S. Federal Register. February 21, 1985. Medicare and Medicaid Programs: Intermediate Sanction of Long-Term Care Facilities. 50(35):7191-7198.
- Association of Health Facility Licensure and Certification Agency Directors. 1983. Licensure and Certification Directors. Unpublished summary report.
- Minnesota General Statutes. 1982. Nursing Homes, section 144A.01
- 14. Johnson, Sandra H. January 7, 1985. Evaluation of the Use of Intermediate Sanctions by the States and Recommendations for State and Federal Enforcement Policies. Prepared for the Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.

Chapter 6

- Holder, E. L., and B. W. Frank. December 1984. Resident Participation in Nursing Homes: A Key to the Improvement of Life in Nursing Homes and Improvement in the Nursing Home Regulatory System. Prepared for Institute of Medicine conference.
- Institute of Medicine, Committee on Nursing Home Regulation, Public Meetings. October-December 1984.
- Institute of Medicine, Committee on Nursing Home Regulation. 1985. Survey of State Licensure and Certification Directors. (Appendix C contains a summary of the findings of this survey.)
- U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Administration on Aging. May 1975. Program Instruction 75-30.
- U.S. Congress. 1985. Older American's Act of 1965, as amended in 1984. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.

 Testimony before House Select Committee on Aging, Committee on Human Services. September 10, 1985.

- Buford, A. D. 1984. Advocacy for the Nursing Home Resident: An Examination of the Ombudsman Function and Its Relationship to Licensing and Certification Activities in Ensuring Quality of Care. Prepared for the Institute of Medicine Conference on Nursing Home Regulation.
- 8. Institute of Medicine, Committee on Nursing Home Regulation. 1984. Consumer Workshop.
- 9. Meeting of State Long-Term Care Ombudsmen, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, November 1984.
- Kosberg, J. I. October 1984. Advocacy Organizations for Nursing Home Residents: A National Study.
- U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, National Center for Health Statistics, July 1979. National Nursing Home Survey: 1977 Summary for the United States. HEW Pub. No. 79-1794.
- U.S. Office of Management and Budget. April 27, 1984. Circular 1-12: Cost Principles for Non-Profit Organizations; Lobbying Revision, Federal Register 49(83):18260-18277.
- Zischka, P. C., and I. Jones. February 1984. Volunteer Community Representatives as Ombudsmen for the Elderly in Long-Term Care Facilities. The Gerontologist 24(1):9-15.
- Barney, Jane L. March 1974. Community Presence as a Key to Quality of Life in Nursing Homes. American Journal of Public Health 64(3):265-268.
- Dobrof, Rose. December, 1984. Community Involvement: An Approach to Enhancement of Quality of Life in Nursing Homes. Unpublished paper prepared for Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.
- 16. Zwick, Daniel. November 1984. The HCFA Proposal to Accord "Deemed States" to Nursing Homes Accredited by JCAH. Unpublished paper prepared for the Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.
- Weisfeld, N. 1984. Accreditation, Certification, and Licensure of Nursing Home Personnel: A Discussion of Issues and Trends. Unpublished paper.

NOTES 236

 Aiken, L. H., M. Mezey, J. Lynaugh, and C. Buck. March 1985. Teaching Nursing Homes: Prospects for Improving Long-Term Care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 33 (3):196-201.

- Pattee, J. December 1984. Physicians Serving Nursing Homes. Unpublished paper prepared for Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.
- Adams, Carl, and Julia Powell. 1980. Patient Assessment Computerized. National Health Corporation. Murfreesboro, Tennessee.
- Gustafson, D. H., and D. Zimmerman. December 1984. The Potential for Incentives to Improve Quality of Care in Nursing Homes. Prepared for Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.
- Institute of Medicine, Committee on Nursing Home Regulation. 1984. Report on Management Workshop.
- 23. Association of Health Facility Licensure and Certification Directors. 1983 Survey.

Chapter 7

- 1. In Rhode Island, the state licensure and certification agency obtained voluntary agreement from all nursing home operators to maintain up-to-date standard resident assessment data on all residents. These data were to be used by state surveyors for sampling purposes in testing the new Health Care Financing Administration PaCS survey instrument. Although it was not suggested by the state agency, about half of the nursing homes immediately began entering the data into their own computers and offered to transmit it by telephone to the regulatory agency to facilitate sampling by the surveyors.
- Urban Systems Research and Engineering, Inc. 1984. Short-Term Evaluation of Medicaid: Selected Issues. Unpublished Report. Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- U.S. General Accounting Office. October 1983. Medicaid and Nursing Home Care: Cost Increases and the Need for Services Are Creating Problems for the States and the Elderly.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

NOTES 237

 Levit, K.R., H. Lazenby, D. R. Waldo, and L. M. Davidolf. Fall 1985. National Health Expenditures, 1984. Health Care Financing Review 7(1):20.

- Schlenker, R. 1984. Nursing Home Reimbursement, Quality, and Access—A Synthesis of Research. Paper commissioned by Institute of Medicine.
- 6. Texas is a major exception. It has statewide occupancy rates below 85 percent, although this is not true in a couple of the larger cities. Texas also pays among the lowest Medicaid nursing home rates in the country.
- Bayo F., and J. Fabler. 1980. United States Population Projections for OASDI Cost Estimates, 1980. Social Security Administration, Office of the Actuary: Actuarial Study No. 82, SSA Pub. No. 11-11529.
- Morris, J. M., S. Morris, and S. Sherwood. 1984. Assessment of Informal and Formal Support Systems in High Risk Elderly Populations. Pp. 223-253 in *Functional Assessment in Rehabilitation Medicine*. C. V. Granger and G. E. Gresham (eds.). Baltimore, Maryland: Williams and Wilkins.
- 9. Curtis, R. E., and L. R. Bartlett. 1984. The. High Cost of Long-Term Care Squeezes State Budgets. *Generations* 9(1):22-25.
- Powell, Julia. 1984. The Systematic Use of Patient Assessment Data for Managing Nursing Homes. Paper commissioned by National Academy of Sciences/Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation.

Appendix A

History of Federal Nursing Home Regulation

The federal government first became involved in nursing homes with the passage of the Social Security Act of 1935.^{1,2} The Act established a federal-state public assistance program for the elderly called Old Age Assistance (OAA). Because the drafters of the legislation opposed the use of the public poorhouse to care for the poor elderly, the act prohibited the payment of OAA funds to residents of public institutions. This stimulated the growth of voluntary and proprietary nursing homes. By the time of the first national survey of nursing homes in 1954, there were 9,000 homes classified as skilled nursing or personal care homes with skilled nursing facilities; 86 percent were proprietary, 10 percent were voluntary, and 4 percent were public.³

In 1950, amendments to the Social Security Act authorized payments to beneficiaries in public institutions and enabled direct payments to health care providers. The 1950 legislation also required that participating states establish programs for licensing nursing homes, but it did not specify what the standards or enforcement procedures should be. Although most states licensed hospitals (it was a requirement of the 1946 Hill-Burton hospital construction program), few of them licensed nursing homes until after 1950.

Federal involvement in nursing homes accelerated after that. Studies showed that there were few nursing homes providing skilled nursing services, 4,5 and a consensus began to develop that the federal government should promote their development. In 1954 the Hill-Burton Act was amended to provide funds to nonprofit organizations for the construction of skilled nursing facilities that met certain definitions and hospital-like building standards. In 1956, amendments to the Social Security Act increased the level of federal funding of OAA payments and created a separate, matching program for medical services to public assistance recipients, including nursing home services; payments for OAA jumped from \$35.9 million in 1950 to \$280.3 million in 1960.6 In 1960 the latter program was replaced by the Kerr-Mills Act with a more extensive program called Medical Assistance for the Aged (MAA). This covered the "medically needy" for the first time. By 1965, 47 states had MAA programs, with a total outlay of \$1.3 billion a year. There were about 300,000 recipients.

In the meantime, legislation in 1958 and 1959 authorized the Small Business and Federal Housing administrations to aid proprietary nursing home construction and operation.⁷

Various studies in the 1950s found that between 30 and 60 percent of the residents in private nursing homes were public assistance recipients.⁸ A Public Health Service survey of nursing home residents in 13 states during 1953-1954 found that 51.3 percent were public assistance recipients.⁵ Another study of expenditures for nursing and convalescent homes found that, in 1957, even before the 1956 amendments took effect, 53 percent of the expenditures for nursing and convalescent homes were from federal, state, and local governments.⁹ In 1965, 60 percent of the residents of nursing and convalescent homes were supported by welfare.¹⁰

With this increasing federal financial involvement in nursing home services and construction, federal attention began to focus on quality issues. In 1956, the Commission on Chronic Illness called attention to problems with the quality of care in nursing homes. ¹¹ The states themselves began to report problems. ¹² A 1955 study

by the Council of State Governments reported that the majority of nursing homes were functioning with low standards of service and relatively untrained personnel.¹³

There were concerns about the adequacy of state licensing standards and the variability of state enforcement efforts throughout the period leading up to the passage of the Medicare and Medicaid acts in 1965. The 1950 "standard-setting amendment" to the Social Security Act did not specify minimum state licensure standards or procedures, and there was no mechanism for assuring that states enforced licensure standards. The Public Health Service found in 1958 that few states had adequate numbers of survey staff and that the qualifications of survey personnel varied widely. About 44 percent of 308,000 skilled nursing beds did not meet Hill-Burton fire and health standards in 1960.

A special Senate Subcommittee on Problems of the Aged and Aging was established in 1959. It reported that only a few nursing homes were of high quality. Most facilities were substandard, had poorly trained or untrained staff, and provided few services. But, the subcommittee concluded, "because of the shortage of nursing home beds, many states have not fully enforced the existing regulations, failure to do so reflecting the policy of the states to give ample time to the nursing home owners and operators to bring the facilities up to the standards. Many states report that strict enforcement of the regulations would close the majority of the homes."

As a result of concerns about the quality of care and safety of conditions in nursing homes, the chronic disease program of the Public Health Service began to study state licensing programs in 1957. The program began to work with the states and the industry to develop federal -guidelines for nursing home licensure programs.¹⁷ The final product, the *Nursing Home Standards Guide*, was issued in 1963. It was mostly concerned with standards, but also made some recommendations for regulatory organization and procedures.¹⁸

The Senate created the Special Committee on Aging in 1961, and began to hold hearings on nursing home problems in 1963, chaired by Senator Frank Moss. The Moss

Committee hearings in 1965 documented great variations in state nursing home standards and enforcement efforts on the eve of the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The 1974 report of the Moss Committee restated the reasons for these variations:¹⁹

- 1. Enforcement meant the closure of facilities, already in short supply, with no place to put the dispossessed patients.
- 2. States have few weapons other than the threat of license revocation to bring a home into compliance.
- 3. The license revocation itself was of very little use because of protracted administrative or legal procedures required.
- Even if the revocation procedure was implemented, judges were reluctant to close a facility when the operator claimed that the deficiencies were being corrected.
- 5. Nursing home inspections were geared to surveying the physical plant rather than assessing the quality of care.

THE ADVENT OF MEDICARE AND MEDICAID

The next major event was the enactment of the Medicare and Medicaid programs in 1965. This greatly expanded federal funding of nursing home services and gave the U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare (HEW) the authority to set standards for nursing homes choosing to participate. The Medicare Act provided funding for beneficiaries needing post-hospital convalescence in what was called an "extended care facility" (ECF). Medicaid paid for skilled nursing services.

The Medicare ECF program had immediate problems. Few nursing homes could meet the health and safety standards or provide the level of services envisioned under the program. Of 6,000 applicants, only 740 could be fully certified the first year. More than 3,000 nursing homes that could not otherwise comply were certified as being in "substantial compliance."²⁰

Meanwhile, given the fact that thousands of Kerr-Mills

recipients were in nursing homes that could not meet Medicare standards, the Medicaid program had to give up the idea of using ECF standards for its skilled nursing facilities and essentially left it to the states to decide on nursing home participation. Amendments made in 1967 to the Medicaid program included those sponsored by Senator Moss authorizing HEW to develop standards and regulations to be applied uniformly by the states. The Moss amendments included a statutory definition of a skilled nursing facility (SNF) and specified standards for participating homes. They also provided HEW with the authority to withhold federal funds from nursing homes not meeting the standards.

The new Medicaid SNF regulations were supposed to be implemented at the beginning of 1969, but a lengthy battle over their scope and substance ensued. The outgoing Johnson administration went through several drafts, and interim regulations were finally issued by the Nixon administration later in the year.

The 1967 amendments also resulted in the establishment of intermediate care facilities (ICFs). They were intended to care for residents who did not need the 24-hour nursing services provided in skilled nursing homes, but who needed more than custodial care.² The committee report said that ICFs would lower the overall costs of long-term care and allow many nursing homes to participate that could not meet SNF or ECF requirements. ICFs were established under Title XVI (OAA). This left federal standard-setting authority ambiguous. HEW withdrew proposed ICF regulations in 1969 when states protested.

Pressure to increase the standards for nursing homes participating in Medicare and, especially, Medicaid, and to improve their enforcement, began to build in the early 1970s. The Moss Committee began a series of hearings in 1969 that lasted until 1973 and resulted in 3,000 pages of testimony and, in 1974, a series of well-publicized reports critical of federal regulatory efforts. In 1970 and 1971, nursing home problems became front-page news with a fire that killed 32 residents in Ohio, a case of food-poisoning in Maryland that killed 36, and Congressman

David Pryor reporting on the floor of the House his experiences as a nursing home orderly.²

Meanwhile, a Senate Finance Committee staff study found that some states were reclassifying nursing homes as ICFs "wholesale." (ICFs were not brought into the Medicaid program, where they would be subject to federal regulation, until 1971.) HEW discovered that the states were certifying Medicaid SNFs merely on the basis of licensure requirements and that Medicaid was making vendor payments to homes that did not comply with federal standards. The U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO) audited skilled nursing homes in three states and found that half were in violation of Medicaid standards for nurse staffing, physician visits, or fire safety. 22

The Senate Finance Committee staff study of Medicare and Medicaid in 1970 was very critical of Medicare certification. Congress forced HEW to stop using "substantial compliance" as a basis for certifying nursing homes. The department instead adopted the procedure of certifying nursing homes with deficiencies that were not considered an immediate hazard to patient health or safety. The undersecretary of HEW testified at a Moss Committee hearing in 1971 that 74 percent of the nursing homes participating in Medicare were certified with deficiencies and more than 70 percent of them had had deficiencies from 1968 through 1971. He concluded that "reliance on state enforcement machinery had led to widespread nonenforcement of federal standards." Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare Elliot Richardson told the White House Conference on Aging that 39 states had not been complying with federal procedural requirements.

In June 1971, with the White House Conference on Aging pending, President Nixon made a major speech deploring conditions in nursing homes and pledging to end federal payments to substandard facilities. In a second speech 2 months later, Nixon announced an eight-point plan to improve nursing home regulation. Among the points were initiatives to centralize Medicare and Medicaid enforcement activities and to expand HEW's enforcement

staff, to increase funding for training state surveyors, to provide full federal reimbursement for the costs of state nursing home inspection programs, and a promise to decertify substandard facilities. The president also proposed training programs for nursing home staff, experimental funding of state nursing home ombudsmen, and the creation of an Office of Nursing Home Affairs in HEW to coordinate the new enforcement efforts and conduct a "comprehensive study" of federal long-term-care policies.

During 1972 Congress passed the remnants of Nixon's comprehensive welfare reform bill, which still contained many changes in the social security, Medicare, and Medicaid programs. The law included full federal funding of state survey and certification activities, redefined Medicare ECFs and Medicaid skilled facilities as "skilled nursing facilities" (SNFs), and directed HEW to develop a single set of standards for Medicare and Medicaid SNFs. Although the Senate Finance Committee's report said the provision to unify Medicare and Medicaid standards for SNFs was "not intended to result in any dilution or weakening of standards for skilled nursing facilities," the law itself reduced some Medicare provisions, such as eliminating social workers in SNFs, reducing RN coverage in rural SNFs from 7 to 5 days a week, and extending indefinitely the grandfathering from state licensure requirements of nursing home administrators with 3 years of practical experience.

Work began in earnest to develop the regulations for SNFs and ICFs in 1972. But interim regulations were not issued until 1973 and the final regulations were promulgated in January 1974. Senator Moss criticized the interim SNF regulations as being significantly weaker than those for ECFs, and some requirements, such as those for medical direction, residents' rights, and 7-day RN staffing were reinstated later in 1974. But the final ICF regulations were less stringent than the interim regulations in several areas, such as nurse staffing requirements, and waivers for life safety code provisions were allowed. The department defended the increased generality of some of the requirements on the ground that they were "performance standards," which could be more flexibly applied by skilled health professional surveyors.²⁴

Meanwhile, until 1974, states were able to use their discretion in allocating Medicaid funds to support residents in facilities not meeting the ICF level of care or that could not meet new requirements for federal reimbursement, such as the most recent life safety code (LSC).²⁵ The 1974 regulations made official the inclusion of ICFs in the Medicaid program and applied to them SNF certification procedures (but not the standards) and left approvals of LSC and RN staffing waivers to the states. A study by the Office of, Nursing Home Affairs (ONHA) in January 1974, just prior to the promulgation of the ICF standards, found that 59 percent of SNFs were being certified with life safety code deficiencies.²⁶ The new standards triggered another wave of conversions from SNF to ICF.²⁵

Finally, in 1974, "as a result of an increasing awareness on the part of the federal government that many nursing home facilities which were receiving Medicare (Title XVIII) and Medicaid (Title XIX) funds were not meeting standards," HEW established offices of long-term care standards enforcement in the federal regional offices.²⁵ Its regional directors were delegated the authority to approve provider agreements with Medicare and Medicare/Medicaid SNFs and to monitor state agency certifications and agreements with Medicaid-only providers.

POST-1974 EFFORTS TO REVISE FEDERAL REGULATIONS

Since 1974 there has been a series of attempts to revise the federal nursing home certification regulations.²⁷ In 1974 the Office of Nursing Home Affairs began a study of the quality of care in nursing homes. Teams of health professionals made surprise visits to 288 SNFs to assess their management, structural, and staffing characteristics. They also investigated the quality of patient care by looking at a sample of 3,454 residents with a standardized patient assessment form. The study found that "the extent to which nursing homes comply with the federal standards of care and safety varies widely."²⁸ The ONHA also found that the

surveys and certification regulations only looked at whether facilities had the capacity to deliver required services, not whether services of adequate quality were actually being delivered.

This finding, that the certification process focused on the institutional framework within which care is provided, rather than on the patient, led to an effort to develop a patient assessment instrument based on outcome measures, called Patient Appraisal and Care Evaluation, or PACE. The ONHA's original intention was to test PACE and, after evaluation and modification, to use it in a national study of nursing homes. The ONHA then planned to use it to develop a survey process based on the quality of care and, ultimately, as the basis for reimbursement. As it turned out, the PACE form and process became too unwieldy and complex for use as a regulatory instrument. In the end, the Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA) merely published it for voluntary use by nursing homes in patient assessment.

The ONHA, now called the Office of Long-Term Care, was overseeing a substantial revision of the SNF standards by an interagency work group as early as 1976. HEW began another effort to revise the nursing home survey program as part of President Carter's regulatory reform effort, "Operation Common Sense." The HCFA announced plans to revise the SNF conditions of participation and ICF standards.³⁰ The announcement was followed by public hearings in five cities³¹ and numerous written comments and meetings with interested parties. Commentators criticized certain features of the regulations: their medical orientation, focus on input and process rather than outcomes, costs imposed on providers not related to better outcomes, and emphasis on paperwork and paper review.

While most of the comments focused on quality-of-care issues, it was evident that there were enforcement problems in the survey process. From this came the idea of elevating certain requirements to the condition level, to make them more enforceable. The HCFA also concluded that revisions of the certification procedures contained in Subpart S of the regulations were necessary (42 CFR

Part 405), and began work on them in 1980 (internal HCFA documents).

After 2 years of work and three drafts, the HCFA published its proposed new rules in 1980.³² From the beginning, and in line with the PACE effort, the HCFA had planned to shift the focus of the regulations from paper reviews of facility capability to an evaluation of patients and the care they were actually receiving. The new regulations would have³³

- consolidated all patient care planning requirements into a single condition, and required a patient care management system that called for interdisciplinary teams to assess patients and plan their care;
- deemphasized the medical model by increasing the minimum time required between attending physician visits, reducing the medical director requirements, and making consultant services discretionary after I year;
- 3. elevated the residents' rights standard to the status of a condition of participation; and
- 4. combined the SNF and ICF regulations into a single set in the *Code of Federal Regulations*.

The nursing home industry disputed the HCFA's estimates of the costs the new regulations would impose. The HCFA said, in its regulatory impact analysis, that the changes would cost about \$80 million a year (revised in 1981 to \$135 million), but consultants engaged by the industry estimated first-year costs of \$586 million and annual costs thereafter of \$435 million. The proposed rules stayed in limbo until the final hours of the Carter administration, when the rule elevating residents' rights to the condition level was published.

The new regulation was immediately rescinded by the new administration, which began a new regulatory reform effort. The HCFA established a Task Force on Regulatory Reform that reevaluated the regulations according to a detailed protocol. Although the task force decided to retain major elements of the 1980 proposed regulations,

including the patient care management system and the elevation of residents' rights to a condition, it also proposed the deletion or revision of many other conditions and standards or made them effective only if there were no applicable state laws. The reaction from consumer groups, state regulators, the Congress, and providers was so strong that Secretary of Health and Human Services Richard Schweiker announced that the draft regulations would be dropped, leaving the 1974 rules in effect.

Finding it impossible to change the standards, the HCFA turned to an attempt to change the procedures for applying the standards. Many of the changes proposed had long been considered desirable within the HCFA, such as combining Medicare and Medicaid procedural requirements (Subpart S of 42 CFR Part 405 and Subpart C of 42 CFR Part 442), allowing more flexible survey cycles, and eliminating a number of requirements that had proved unworkable or ineffective. But the proposed regulations also would have permitted states to accept accreditation of a nursing home by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals (JCAH) as sufficient evidence that facilities met federal requirements for Medicare and Medicaid participation. Taken together, these changes were viewed as another attempt to reduce federal protection of the health and safety of nursing home residents by Congress, which promptly imposed a moratorium on them.

In the summer of 1983, the HCFA and Congress agreed to postpone virtually all changes in the regulations until a committee appointed by the Institute of Medicine studied the issues and reported its recommendations for changes, except for certain minor changes agreed to by all members of a group of consumer, provider, and state regulatory representatives. The latter group, called the Subpart S Consensus Group, met until January 1984, and agreed to some of the 1982 procedural changes (consolidation of Medicare and Medicaid rules, elimination of the 90-day resurvey rule but requiring 120-day resurveys of significant deficiencies, and elimination of quarterly staffing reports except for problem facilities (internal HCFA documents). It rejected some of the proposals ("deemed status" for JCAH-accredited nursing homes and less-than-annual surveys), and suggested that others be

optional, at the discretion of the state in the case of a Medicaid-only facility or according to a joint federal-state agreement in the case of a Medicare or a Medicare/ Medicaid facility (elimination of time-limited agreements, automatic cancellation clauses, and the repeat deficiency requirements). But the Consensus Group changes have not been implemented.

In the meantime, the HCFA has begun to develop a modified survey instrument, called Patient Care and Services (PaCS), that is based primarily on direct patient assessments and outcome-oriented indicators of care. Conceptually, PaCS is a lineal descendant of PACE. It is also based in part on the results of a series of HCFA-sponsored demonstrations and experiments with modified survey instruments and processes. Currently (1985), the new instrument is being tested extensively in three states and every state is experimenting with it in a few facilities.

NOTES

- Markus, G. R. 1972. Nursing Homes and Congress: A Brief History of Developments and Issues. Congressional Research Service. Education and Public Welfare Division. Report No. 72-224 ED. November 1. Washington, D.C.: Library of Congress.
- 2. Vladeck, B. C. 1980. Unloving Care: The Nursing Home Tragedy. New York: Basic Books.
- Solon, J., and A. M. Baney. 1955. Ownership and Size of Nursing Homes. Public Health Reports 70(May):437-444.
- Solon, J., and A. M. Baney. 1954. Inventory of Nursing Homes and Related Facilities. *Public Health Reports* 69(December):1121-1132.
- Solon, J., D. W. Roberts, D. E. Krueger, and A. M. Baney. 1957. Nursing Homes, Their Patients and Their Care: A Study of Nursing Homes and Similar Long-Term Care Facilities in 13 States. U.S. Public Health Service Pub. No. 503. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Moroney, R. M., and N. R. Kurtz. 1975. The Evolution of Long-Term Care Institutions. In S. Sherwood (ed.).

Long-Term Care: A Handbook for Researchers, Planners, and Providers. New York: Spectrum Publications.

- Regan, J. J. 1975. Quality Assurance Systems in Nursing Homes. *Journal of Urban Law* 53
 (2):154-244.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 1980. Proceedings of Symposium on Integration
 of Health and Safety Survey and Inspection of Care Review. Health Standards and Quality
 Bureau.
- Brown, F. R. 1958. Nursing Homes: Public and Private Financing of Care Today. Social Security Bulletin 21 (May):7-8.
- U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. 1967. Chronic Illness Among Residents of Nursing and Personal Care Homes, U.S., May-June 1964. U.S. Public Health Service Pub. No. 1000, Series 12, No. 7. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- 11. U.S. Senate. 1957. Recommendations of the Commission on Chronic Illness on the Care of the Long-Term Patient. Pp. 75-94 in Studies of the Aged and Aging. vol. 2, November 1956. Committee on Labor and Public Welfare. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Senate. 1956. Recommended State Action for the Aging and Aged: A Summary of Recommendations on Problems of the Aging as Compiled from Reports of State Agencies, by the Council of State Governments. Pp. 275-309 in Studies of the Aged and Aging. vol. 1, November 1956. Committee on Labor and Public Welfare. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- 13. U.S. Senate. 1956. A Bill of Objectives for Older People and a Program for Action in the Field of Aging, by the Council of State Governments, August 1955. Pp. 183-189 in Studies of the Aged and Aging. vol. 1, November 1956. Committee on Labor and Public Welfare. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. 1958. Report on National Conference on Nursing Homes and Homes for the Aged, Washington, D.C., February

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

251

- 25-28, 1958. U.S. Public Health Service Pub. No. 625. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- 15. U.S. Senate. 1960. The Condition of American Nursing Homes. A Study by the Subcommittee on Problems of the Aged and Aging, Committee on Labor and Public Welfare. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- 16. U.S. Senate. 1960. The Aged and Aging in the United States: A National Problem. Report No. 1121. 86th Congress, 2d Session. February 23. Subcommittee on Problems of the Aged and Aging, Committee on Labor and Public Welfare. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- 17. Underwood, B. 1961. The Development of a National Nursing Home Standards Guide. Pp. 13-20 in the Proceedings of the National Nursing Home Institute, Improving Patient Care Through Education and Regulation . Washington, D.C., October 12-14, 1960. Washington, D.C.: American Nursing Home Association.
- 18. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. 1963. Nursing Home Standards Guide: Recommendations Relating to Standards for Establishing, Maintaining, and Operating Nursing Homes. Public Health Service, Division of Chronic Diseases, Nursing Homes and Related Facilities Program.
- 19. U.S. Senate. 1974. Nursing Home Care in the United States: Failure in Public Policy. An Introductory Report. Senate Report No. 93-1420, 93rd Congress, 2d Session, December 19. Subcommittee on Long-Term Care, Special Committee on Aging.
- 20. U.S. Senate. 1970. Medicare and Medicaid: Problems, Issues, and Alternatives. Report of the Staff to Committee on Finance. Committee Print, 91st Congress, 1st Session, February 9. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- 21. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. 1971. Report on the Skilled Nursing Home Certification Project. August 20. Washington, D.C.: Social and Rehabilitation Service, Medical Services Administration.
- 22. U.S. General Accounting Office. 1971. Problems in Providing Proper Care to Medicaid and Medicare

from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX A 252

- Patients in Skilled Nursing Homes. Report No. B-164031(3). May 28. Washington, D.C.
- U.S. Senate. 1971. Trends in Long-Term Care, Part 18. Subcommittee on Long-Term Care, Special Committee on Aging.
- 24. U.S. Federal Register. 1974. 39(January 17):2238-2257.
- U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. 1976. Five Years of Accomplishments of the Office of Long-Term Care, 1971-1976. Public Health Service, Office of Long-Term Care. October.
- U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. 1974. Enforcement of Life Safety Code Requirements in Skilled Nursing Facilities. Office of Nursing Home Affairs, Public Health Service. January.
- Trocchio, J. 1984. Nursing Home Deregulation: Regulatory Reform Efforts. Nursing Economics 2(May-June): 185-189.
- U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. 1975. Interim Report: Long-Term Care
 Facility Improvement Study. Office of Nursing Home Affairs, Public Health Service.
 March.
- Lynch, M. 1976. Patient Assessment—A Way to Improve Quality of Care and Reduce Paper Compliance. *Journal of the American Health Care Association* 2(May):42-43.
- 30. U.S. Federal Register. 1978. 43(June 8):24873-24875.
- 31. U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. 1978. New Directions for Skilled Nursing and Intermediate Care Facilities: Summaries of Public Hearings, June-August 1978. Rockville, Maryland: Health Care Financing Administration.
- 32. U.S. Federal Register. 1980. 45(July 14):47368-47385.
- 33. Sherman, S. E. 1984. Background Paper on Certification Standards. Prepared for the Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation. September 7.
- 34. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 1980. Draft Regulatory Analysis: Proposed Conditions of Participation for Skilled Nursing and Intermediate Care Facilities. Health Standards and Quality Bureau, Health Care Financing Administration. June 30.

35. Applied Management Sciences. 1980. Examination of the Economic Impact of the Proposed Medicare and Medicaid Conditions of Participation for Skilled Nursing and Intermediate Care Facilities. Washington, D.C. August 29.

- Kemanis, V. 1980. A Critical Evaluation of the Federal Role in Nursing Home Quality Enforcement. *University of Colorado Review* 51(Summer):607-640.
- 37. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 1984. Inspection of Care Report. Baltimore: Health Care Financing Administration, Health Standards and Quality Bureau, May 9.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

APPENDIX B 254

Appendix B

Existing Snf Conditions of Participation and **Icf Standards**

A. SNF CONDITIONS OF PARTICIPATION (42 CFR 405.1120 THROUGH 405.1137 (1974))

1. Condition Of Participation—Compliance With Federal, State, And Local Laws.

The skilled nursing facility is in compliance with applicable Federal, State, and local laws and regulations.

- (a) Standard: Licensure. The facility, in any State in which State or applicable local law provides for licensing of facilities of this nature:
- (1) Is licensed pursuant to such law; or
- (2) If not subject to licensure, is approved by the agency of the State or locality responsible for licensing skilled nursing facilities as meeting fully the standards established for such licensing, and
- (3) Except that a facility which formerly met fully such licensure requirements, but is currently determined not to meet fully all such requirements, may be recognized for a period specified by the State standard-setting authority.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 255

(b) Standard: Licensure or registration of personnel. Staff of the facility are licensed or registered in accordance with applicable laws.

(c) Standard: Conformity with other Federal, State, and local laws. The facility is in conformity with all Federal, State, and local laws relating to fire and safety, sanitation, communicable and reportable diseases, postmortem procedures, and other relevant health and safety requirements.

2. Condition Of Participation—Governing Body And Management.

The skilled nursing facility has an effective governing body, or designated persons so functioning, with full legal authority and responsibility for the operation of the facility. The governing body adopts and enforces rules and regulations relative to health care and safety of patients, to the protection of their personal and property rights, and to the general operation of the facility.

- (a) Standard: Disclosure of ownership. The facility complies with the disclosure requirements of 42 CFR 420.206
- (b) Standard: Staffing patterns. The facility furnishes to the State survey agency information from payroll records setting forth the average numbers and types of personnel (in full-time equivalents) on each tour of duty during at least 1 week of each quarter. Such week will be selected by the survey agency.
- (c) Standard: Bylaws. The governing body adopts effective patient care policies and administrative policies and bylaws governing the operation of the facility, in accordance with legal requirements. Such policies and bylaws are in writing, dated, and made available to all members of the governing body which ensures that they are operational, and reviews and revises them as necessary.
- (d) Standard: Independent medical evaluation (medical review). The governing body adopts policies to ensure that the facility cooperates in an effective program which provides for a regular program of

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 256

independent medical evaluation and audit of the patients in the facility to the extent required by the programs in which the facility participates (including, at least annually, medical evaluation of each patient's need for skilled nursing facility care).

- Standard: Administrator. The governing body appoints a qualified administrator who is responsible for the overall management of the facility, enforces the rules and regulations relative to the level of health care and safety of patients, and to the protection of their and rights, plans, organizes, and directs responsibilities delegated to him by the governing body. Through meetings and periodic reports, the administrator maintains ongoing liaison among the governing body, medical and nursing staffs, and other professional and supervisory staff of the facility, and studies and acts upon recommendations made by the utilization review and other committees. In the absence of the administrator, an employee is authorized, in writing, to act on his behalf.
- (f) Standard: Institutional planning. The skilled nursing facility, under the direction of the governing body, prepares an overall plan and budget which provides for an annual operating budget and a capital expenditure plan.
- (1) Annual operating budget. There is an annual operating budget which includes all anticipated income and expenses related to items which would, under generally accepted accounting principles, be considered income and expense items (except that it is not required that there be prepared, in connection with any budget, an item by item identification of the components of each type of anticipated income or expense).
- (2) Capital expenditure plan. (i) There is a capital expenditure plan for at least a 3-year period (including the year to which the operating budget described in paragraph (f)(1) of this section is applicable), which includes and identifies in detail the anticipated sources of financing for, and the objectives of, each anticipated expenditure in excess of \$100,000 for items which would, under generally

APPENDIX B 257

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

accepted accounting principles, be considered capital items. In determining if a single capital expenditure exceeds \$100,000, the cost of studies, surveys, designs, plans, working drawings, specifications and other activities essential to the acquisition, improvement, modernization, expansion, or replacement of land, plant, building, and equipment are included. Expenditures directly or indirectly related to capital expenditures, such as grading, paving, broker commissions, taxes assessed during the construction period, and costs involved in demolishing or razing structures on land are also included. Transactions which are separated in time but are components of an overall plan or patient care objective are viewed in their entirety without regard to their timing. Other costs related to capital expenditures include title fees, broker commissions, architect, legal, accounting, and appraisal fees; interest, finance, or carrying charges on bonds, notes and other costs incurred for borrowing funds. (ii) If the anticipated source of such financing is, in any part, the anticipated reimbursement from title V (Maternal and Child Health and Crippled Children's Services) or title XVIII (Health Insurance for the Aged and Disabled) or title XIX (Grants to States for Medical Assistance Programs) of the Social Security Act, the plan states: (a) Whether the proposed capital expenditure is required to conform, or is likely to be required to conform, to current standards, criteria, or plans developed pursuant to the Public Health Service Act of the Mental Retardation Facilities and Community Mental Health Centers Construction Act of 1963, to meet the need for adequate health care facilities in the area covered by the plan or plans so developed; (b) Whether a capital expenditure proposal has been submitted to the designated planning agency for approval pursuant to section 1122 of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. 1320a-1) and implementing regulations; (c) Whether the designated planning agency has approved or disapproved the proposed capital expenditure if it has been so presented.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 258

(3) Preparation of plan and budget. The overall plan and budget is prepared under the direction of the governing body of the skilled nursing facility by a committee consisting of representatives of the governing body, the administrative staff, and the medical staff (or chief medical officer, or patient care policies advisory group as described in 405.1122(a)) of the skilled nursing facility.
(4) Annual review of plan and budget. The overall plan and budget is reviewed and updated at least annually by the committee referred to in paragraph (f)(3) of this section under the direction of the

- governing body of the skilled nursing facility.

 (g) Standard: Personnel policies and procedures. The governing body, through the administrator, is responsible for implementing and maintaining written personnel policies and procedures that support sound patient care and personnel practices. Personnel records are current and available for each employee and contain sufficient information to support placement in the position to which assigned. Written policies for control of communicable disease are in effect to ensure that employees with symptoms or signs of communicable disease or infected skin lesions are not permitted to work, and that a safe and sanitary environment for patients and personnel exists and incidents and accidents to patients and personnel are reviewed to identify health and safety hazards. Employees are provided, or referred for, periodic health examinations, to ensure freedom from communicable disease.
- (h) Standard: Staff development. An ongoing educational program is planned and conducted for the development and improvement of skills of all the facility's personnel, including training related to problems and needs of the aged, ill, and disabled. Each employee receives appropriate orientation to the facility and its policies, and to his position and duties. Inservice training includes at least prevention and control of infections, fire prevention and safety, accident prevention, confidentiality of patient information, and preservation of patient dignity,

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 259

including protection of his privacy and personal and property rights. Records are maintained which indicate the content of, and attendance at, such staff development programs.

- Standard: Use of outside resources. If the facility does not employ a qualified professional person to render a specific service to be provided by the facility, it makes arrangements to have such a service provided by an outside resource—a person or agency that will render direct service to patients or act as a consultant to the facility. The responsibilities, functions, and objectives, and the terms of agreement, including financial arrangements and charges, of each such outside resource are delineated in writing and signed by an authorized representative of the facility and the person or agency providing the service. Agreements pertaining to services must specify that the facility assumes professional administrative responsibility for the services rendered. The outside resource, when acting as a consultant, appraises the administrator of recommendations, plans for implementation, and continuing assessment through dated, signed reports, which are retained by the administrator for followup action and evaluation of performance. (See requirement under each service—405.1125 through 405.1132.)
- (j) Standard: Notification of changes in patient status. The facility has appropriate written policies and procedures relating to notification of the patient's attending physician and other responsible persons in the · event of an accident involving the patient, or other significant change in the patient's physical, mental, or emotional status, or patient charges, billings, and related administrative matters. Except in a medical emergency, a patient is not transferred or discharged, nor is treatment altered radically, without consultation with the patient or, if he is incompetent, without prior notification of next of kin or sponsor.
- (k) Standard: Patients' rights. The governing body of the facility establishes written policies regarding the rights and responsibilities of patients and, through the administrator, is responsible for

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

retained, and some typographic errors may have

been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 260

development of, and adherence to, procedures implementing such policies. These policies and procedures are made available to patients, to any guardians, next of kin, sponsoring agency(ies), or representative payees selected pursuant to section 205(j) of the Social Security Act, and Subpart Q of 20 CFR Part 404, and to the public. The staff of the facility is trained and involved in the implementation of these policies and procedures. These patients' rights policies and procedures ensure that, at least, each patient admitted to the facility:

- (1) Is fully informed, as evidenced by the patient's written acknowledgment, prior to or at the time of admission and during stay, of these rights and of all rules and regulations governing patient conduct and responsibilities;
- (2) Is fully informed, prior to or at the time of admission and during stay, of services available in the facility, and of related charges including any charges for services not covered under titles XVIII or XIX of the Social Security Act, or not covered by the facility's basic per diem rate;
- (3) Is fully informed, by a physician, of his medical condition unless medically contraindicated (as documented, by a physician, in his medical record), and is afforded the opportunity to participate in the planning of his medical treatment and to refuse to participate in experimental research;
- (4) Is transferred or discharged only for medical reasons, or for his welfare or that of other patients, or for nonpayment of his stay (except as prohibited by titles XVIII or XIX or the Social Security Act), and is given reasonable advance notice to ensure orderly transfer or discharge, and such actions are documented in his medical record:
- (5) Is encouraged and assisted, throughout his period of stay, to exercise his rights as a patient and as a citizen, and to this end may voice grievances and recommend changes in policies and services to facility staff and/or to outside representatives of his choice, free from restraint, interference, coercion, discrimination, or reprisal;

APPENDIX B 261

(6) May manage his or her personal financial affairs, may designate another person to manage them, or may authorize the facility, in writing, to hold, safeguard, and account for his or her personal funds in accordance with paragraph (m) of this section. In the event that the Social Security Administration has determined that a Title II or Title XVI (SSI) benefit to which the patient is entitled should be paid through a representative payee, the provisions in 20 CFR 404.1601 through 404.1610 (for OASDI benefits) and 20 CFR 416.601 through 416.690 (for SSI benefits) apply;

- (7) Is free from mental and physical abuse, and free from chemical and (except in emergencies) physical restraints except as authorized in writing by a physician for a specified and limited period of time, or when necessary to protect the patient from injury to himself or to others;
- (8) Is assured confidential treatment of his personal and medical records, and may approve or refuse their release to any individual outside the facility, except, in case of his transfer to another health care institution, or as required by law or third-party payment contract;
- (9) Is treated with consideration, respect, and full recognition of his dignity and individuality, including privacy in treatment and in care for his personal needs;
- (10) Is not required to perform services for the facility that are not included for therapeutic purposes in his plan of care;
- (11) May associate and communicate privately with persons of his choice, and send and receive his personal mail unopened, unless medically contraindicated (as documented by his physician in his medical record);
- (12) May meet with, and participate in activities of, social, religious, and community groups at his discretion, unless medically contraindicated (as documented by his physician in his medical record);
- (13) May retain and use his personal clothing and possessions as space permits, unless to do so would infringe upon rights of other patients, and unless

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 262

medically contraindicated (as documented by his physician in his medical record); and

(14) If married, is assured privacy for visits by his/her spouse; if both are inpatients in the facility, they are permitted to share a room, unless medically contraindicated (as documented by the attending physician in the medical record).

All rights and responsibilities specified in paragraphs (k)(1) through (4) of this section—as they pertain to (i) a patient adjudicated incompetent in accordance with State law, (ii) a patient who is found, by his physician, to be medically incapable of understanding these rights, or (iii) a patient who exhibits a communication barrier—devolve to such patient's guardian, next of kin, sponsoring agency(ies), or representative payee (except when the facility itself is representative payee) selected pursuant to section 205(j) of the Social Security Act and Subpart Q of 20 CFR Part 404.

- Standard: Patient care policies. The skilled nursing facility has written patient care policies to govern the continuing skilled nursing care and related medical or other services provided.
- (1) The facility has policies, which are developed by the medical director or the organized medical staff (see 405.1122), with the advice of (and with provision for review of such policies from time to time, but at least annually, by a group of professional personnel including one or more physicians and one or more registered nurses, to govern the skilled nursing care and related medical or other services it provides. The policies, which are available to admitting physicians, sponsoring agencies, patients, and the public, reflect awareness of, and provision for, meeting the total medical and psychosocial needs of patients, including admission, transfer, and discharge planning; and the range of services available to patients, including frequency of physician visits by each category of patients

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 263

admitted. These policies also include provisions to protect patients' personal and property rights. Medical records and minutes of staff and committee meetings reflect that patient care is being rendered in accordance with the written patient care policies, and that utilization review committee recommendations regarding the policies are reviewed and necessary steps taken to ensure compliance.

- (2) The medical director or a registered nurse is designated, in writing, to be responsible for the execution of patient care policies. If the responsibility for day-to-day execution of patient care policies has been delegated to a registered nurse, the medical director serves as the advisory physician from whom she receives medical guidance. (See 405.1122(b).)
- (m) Standard protection of patients' funds.
- (1) Definition: Representative. "Representative" as used in this paragraph is a patient's legal guardian, conservator, or representative payee as designated by the Social Security Administration, or person designated in writing by the patient to manage his or her personal funds.
- (2) Statement provided at time of administration. The facility must provide each patient and representative with a written statement, at the time of admission, that: (i) Lists all services provided by the facility, distinguishing between those services included in the facility's basic rate and those services not included in the facility's basic rate, that can be charged to the patient's personal funds; (ii) States that there is no obligation for the patient to deposit funds with the facility; (iii) Describes the patient's right to select how personal funds will be handled. The following alternatives must be included: (A) The patient's right to receive, retain and manage his or her personal funds or have this done by a legal guardian, if any; (B) The patient's right to apply to the Social Security Administration to have a representative payee designated for purposes of Federal or State benefits to which he or she may be entitled; (C) Except when

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

APPENDIX B 264

paragraph (B) of this section applies, the patient's right to designate, in writing, another person to act for the purpose of managing his or her personal funds; and (D) The facility's obligation, upon written authorization by the patient, to hold, safeguard, and account for the patient's personal funds in accordance with this paragraph. (iv) States that any charge for this service is included in the facility's basic rate. (v) States that the facility is permitted to accept a patient's funds to hold, safeguard, and account for, only upon the written authorization of the patient or representative, or if the facility is appointed as the patient's representative payee; (vi) States that, if the patient becomes incapable of managing his or her personal funds and does not have a representative, the facility is required to arrange for the management of his or her personal funds in accordance with paragraph (m)(14) of this section.

(3) Basic requirements. The facility must, upon written authorization by the patient, accept responsibility for holding, safeguarding and accounting for the patient's personal funds. The facility may make arrangements with a Federally or State insured banking institution to provide these services but the responsibility for the quality and accuracy of compliance with the requirements of paragraph (m)(4) through (m)(13) of this section remains with the facility.

The facility may not charge the patient for these services, but must include any charges in the facility's basic daily rate.

(4) Individual records. The facility must maintain current, written, individual records of all financial transactions involving patients' personal funds which the facility has been given for holding, safeguarding, and accounting. The facility must keep these records in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' Generally Accepted Accounting Standards, and the records must include at least the following: (i) Patient's name; (ii) Identification of patient's representative, if

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 265

any; (iii) Admission date; (iv) Date and amount of each deposit and withdrawal, the name of the person who accepted the withdrawn funds, and the balance after each transaction; (v) Receipts indicating the purpose for which any withdrawn funds were spent; and (vi) Patient's earned interest, if any.

- (5) Access to records. The facility must provide each patient reasonable access to his or her own financial records.
- (6) Quarterly statements. The facility must provide a written statement, at least quarterly, to each patient or representative. The quarterly statement must reflect any patient funds which the facility has deposited in an interest bearing or a non-interest bearing account as well as any patient funds held by the facility in a petty cash account. The statement must include at least the following: (i) Balance at the beginning of the statement period; (ii) Total deposits and withdrawals; (iii) Interest earned, if any; (iv) Identification number and location of any account in which that patient's personal funds have been deposited; (v) Ending balance; and (vi) For patients eligible for Supplemental Security Income or Medical Assistance, the difference between the ending balance and the applicable benefits eligibility level.
- (7) Commingling prohibited. The facility must keep any funds received from a patient for holding, safeguarding, and accounting separate from the facility's funds, and from the funds of any person other than another patient in that facility.
- (8) Types of accounts; distribution of interest—(i) Petty cash. The facility may keep up to \$150.00 of a patient's money in a non-interest bearing account or petty cash fund. If a patient's monthly personal needs allowance increases after October 22, 1980, the facility may increase the threshold amount by an amount equal to the increase in the personal needs allowance. (ii) Interest-bearing accounts. Unless precluded by State law, the facility must, within 15 days of receipt of the money, deposit in an interest bearing account any

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 266

funds in excess of \$150.00 from an individual patient. The account may be individual to the patient or pooled with other patients in the facility. If a pooled account is used, each patient must be individually identified. The account must be in a form that clearly indicates that the facility does not have an ownership interest in the funds. The account must be insured under Federal or State law. (iii) Distribution of interest. The interest earned on any pooled interest bearing account must be distributed in one of the following ways, at the election of the facility: (A) Pro-rated to each patient on an actual interest-earned basis; or (B) Pro-rated to each patient on the basis of his or her end-of-quarter balance.

- (9) Access to funds—(i) Funds held in the facility. The patient must have access to funds daily, at least two hours during normal business hours and for some reasonable time on Saturdays and Sundays. The facility must, upon request or upon the patient's transfer or discharge, return to the patient, the legal guardian, or the representative payee all or any part of the patient's personal funds that the facility has received for holding, safeguarding, and accounting, and that are maintained in a petty cash fund. (ii) Funds held outside the facility. For a patient's personal funds that the facility has received and that are deposited in an account outside the facility, the facility, upon request or upon the patient's transfer or discharge must, within 5 business days, return to the patient, the legal guardian, or the representative payee, all or any part of those funds.
- (10) Handling of monthly benefits. When a facility is a patient's representative payee and directly receives monthly benefits to which the patient is entitled, it must fulfill its duties as representative payee in accordance with 20 CFR 416.620 and 404.1603, that define those duties.
- (11) Accounting upon change of ownership. (i) Duties to new owner. Upon sale of the facility or other transfer of ownership, the facility must

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 267

provide the new owner with a written accounting, prepared by a Certified Public Accountant in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' Generally Accepted Auditing Procedures, of all patient funds being transferred, and obtain a written receipt for those funds from the new owner. (ii) Duties to patient. The facility must give each patient or representative a written accounting of any personal funds held by the facility before any transfer of ownership occurs. (iii) Rights of patients. In the event of a disagreement with the accounting provided by the facility, the patient retains all rights and remedies provided under State law.

- (12) Accounting upon death of patient. Unless precluded by State law, the facility must provide the executor or administrator of a patient's estate with a written accounting of the patient's personal funds within 10 business days of a patient's death. If the deceased patient's estate has no executor or administrator, the facility must provide the accounting to: (i) The patient's next of kin; (ii) The patient's representative; and (iii) The Clerk of the probate court of the county in which the patient died.
- (13) Surety bond. The facility must purchase a surety bond to guarantee the security of a patient's funds retained in the facility. Facilities of less than 60 beds must purchase a surety bond only when the amount of patients' money it is holding in the facility exceeds \$5,000.00.
- (14) Patient incapable of managing funds. If a patient is incapable of managing personal funds and has no representative, the facility must refer the patient to the Area Agency on Aging, to the State protective agency with appropriate jurisdiction, or to the State Guardian's Office, if one exists. If there is no such office, the facility must: (i) In the case of a patient who is eligible for Medical Assistance (Title XIX), or SSI (Title XVI), notify the local office of the Social Security Administration (SSA) and request that a representative payee

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 268

be appointed. Whoever is appointed must fulfill the duties of representative payee in accordance with 20 CFR 416.620 and 404.1603 that defines those duties. (ii) In the case of a patient who is not eligible for Medical Assistance (Title XIX), or SSI (Title XVI), institute a proceeding in accordance with State law for the appointment of a guardian, conservator, or committee. Unless precluded by State law, the costs of instituting the proceeding and administering the patient's estate may be charged against the patient's estate; or, (iii) In the time period between notification to the appropriate agencies, institution of formal guardianship proceedings, or notification to the local SSA office and the actual appointment of a guardian or representative payee, the facility must serve as temporary representative payee for the patient. During this period, the facility must fulfill its duties in accordance with 20 CFR 416.620 and 404.1603.

Substitution of existing system. (i) If a State has adopted (15)requirements for the protection of patients' funds, requirements may be substituted for the provisions of this section: Provided, That (A) The State has first incorporated this substitution into its State Plan, and (B) It has been approved by HCFA as part of that Plan on the grounds that the State's requirements for each of these sections are equivalent or superior to those contained in this paragraph. (ii) If an individual facility has independently implemented a system for the protection of patients' funds, the facility's system may be substituted for the provisions of this section: Provided (A) This system is incorporated in the facility's provider agreement with the State, and (B) The State has incorporated this substitution into its State Plan, and (C) It has been approved by HCFA as part of that Plan on the grounds that the facility's system provides safeguards that are equivalent or superior to those contained in this paragraph.

APPENDIX B 269

(16) Resident property records. (i) The facility must maintain a current, written record for each resident that includes written receipts for all personal possessions deposited with the facility by the resident. (ii) The property record must be available to the resident and resident representative (as defined by 405.1121(m)(1)).

3. Condition of Participation—Medical Direction.

The facility retains, effective not later than 12 full calendar months from December 2, 1974, pursuant to a written agreement, a physician, licensed under State law to practice medicine or osteopathy, to serve as medical director on a part-time or full-time basis as is appropriate for the needs of the patients and the facility. If the facility has an organized medical staff, the medical director is designated by the medical staff with approval of the governing body. A medical director may be designated for a single facility or multiple facilities through arrangements with a group of physicians, a local medical society, a hospital medical staff, or through another similar arrangement. The medical director is responsible for the over-all coordination of the medical care in the facility to ensure the adequacy and appropriateness of the medical services provided to patients and to maintain surveillance of the health status of employees. (See 405.1911(b) regarding waiver of the requirement for a medical director.)

- (a) Standard: Coordination of medical care. Medical direction and coordination of medical care in the facility are provided by a medical director. The medical director is responsible for the development of written bylaws, rules, and regulations which are approved by the governing body and include delineation of the responsibilities of attending physicians. Coordination of medical care includes liaison with attending physicians to ensure their writing orders promptly upon admission of a patient, and periodic evaluation of the adequacy and appropriateness of health professional and supportive staff and services.
- (b) Standard: Responsibilities to the facility. The medical director is responsible for surveillance of

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 270

the health status of the facility's employees. Incidents and accidents that occur on the premises are reviewed by the medical director to identify hazards to health and safety. The administrator is given appropriate information to help ensure a safe and sanitary environment for patients and personnel. The medical director is responsible for the execution of patient care policies in accordance with 405.1121(1).

4. Condition of Participation—Physician Services.

Patients in need of skilled nursing or rehabilitative care are admitted to the facility only upon the recommendation of and remain under the care of a physician. To the extent feasible, each patient or his sponsor designates a personal physician.

- (a) Standard: Medical findings and physicians' orders at time of admission. There is made available to the facility, prior to or at the time of admission, patient information which includes current medical findings, diagnoses, and orders from a physician for immediate care of the patient. Information about the rehabilitation potential of the patient and a summary of prior treatment are made available to the facility at the time of admission or within 48 hours thereafter.
- Standard: Patient supervision by physician. The facility has a (b) policy that the health care of every patient must be under the supervision of a physician who, based on a medical evaluation of the patient's immediate and long-term needs, prescribes a planned regimen of total patient care. Each attending physician is required to make arrangements for the medical care of his patients in his absence. The medical evaluation of the patient is based on a physical examination done within 48 hours of admission unless such examination was performed within 5 days prior to admission. The patient is seen by his attending physician at least once every 30 days for the first 90 days following admission. The patient's total program of care (including medications and treatments) is reviewed during a visit by the attending physician at least once every 30 days for the first 90 days, and revised as necessary. A progress note is written and signed by the physician at the time

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 271

of each visit, and he signs all his orders. Subsequent to the 90th day following admission, an alternate schedule for physician visits may be adopted where the attending physician determines and so justifies in the patient's medical record that the patient's condition does not necessitate visits at 30-day intervals. This alternate schedule does not apply for patients who require specialized rehabilitative services, in which case the review must be in accordance with 405.1126(b). At no time may the alternate schedule exceed 60 days between visits. If the physician decides upon an alternate schedule of visits of more than 30 days for a patient, in the case of a Medicaid benefits recipient, the facility notifies the State Medicaid agency of the change in schedule, including justification, and the utilization review committee or the medical review team (see 405.1121(d)) promptly evaluates the patient's need for monthly physician visits as well as his continued need for skilled nursing facility services (see 405.1137(d)). If the utilization review committee or the medical review team does not concur in the schedule of visits at intervals of more than 30 days, the alternate schedule is not acceptable.

(c) Standard: Availability of physicians for emergency patient care. The facility has written procedures, available at each nurses station, that provide for having a physician available to furnish necessary medical care in case of emergency.

5. Condition of Participation—Nursing Services.

The skilled nursing facility provides 24-hour service by licensed nurses, including the services of a registered nurse at least during the day tour of duty 7 days a week. There is an organized nursing service with a sufficient number of qualified nursing personnel to meet the total nursing needs of all patients in the facility. (See 405.1911(a) regarding waiver of the 7-day registered nurse requirement.)

(a) Standard: Director of nursing services. The director of nursing services is a qualified registered nurse employed full-time who has, in writing, administrative authority, responsibility, and accountability for

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 272

the functions, activities, and training of the nursing services staff, and serves only one facility in this capacity. If the director of nursing services has other institutional responsibilities, a qualified registered nurse serves as her assistant so that there is the equivalent of a full-time director of nursing services on duty. The director of nursing services is responsible for the development and maintenance of nursing service objectives, standards of nursing practice, nursing policy and procedures manuals, written job descriptions for each level of nursing personnel, scheduling of daily rounds to see all patients, methods for coordination of nursing services with other patient services, for recommending the number and levels of nursing personnel to be employed, and nursing staff development (see 405.1121(h)).

- (b) Standard: Charge nurse. A registered nurse, or a qualified licensed practical (vocational) nurse, is designated as charge nurse by the director of nursing services for each tour of duty, and is responsible for supervision of the total nursing activities in the facility during each tour of duty. The director of nursing services does not serve as charge nurse in a facility with an average daily total occupancy of 60 or more patients. The charge nurse delegates responsibility to nursing personnel for the direct nursing care of specific patients during each tour of duty, on the basis of staff qualifications, size and physical layout of the facility, characteristics of the patient load, and the emotional, social, and nursing care needs of patients.
- (c) Standard: Twenty-four-hour nursing service. The facility provides 24-hour nursing services which are sufficient to meet total nursing needs and which are in accordance with the patient care policies developed as provided in 405.1121(I). The policies are designed to ensure that each patient receives treatments, medications, and diet as prescribed, and rehabilitative nursing care as needed; receives proper care to prevent decubitus ulcers and deformities, and is kept comfortable, clean, well-groomed, and protected from

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 273

accident, injury, and infection, and encouraged, assisted, and trained in self-care and group activities. Nursing personnel, including at least one registered nurse on the day tour of duty 7 days a week, licensed practical (vocational) nurses, nurse aides, orderlies, and ward clerks, are assigned duties consistent with their education and experience and based on the characteristics of the patient load. Weekly time schedules are maintained and indicate the number and classifications of nursing personnel, including relief personnel, who worked on each unit for each tour of duty.

- (d) Standard: Patient care plan. In coordination with the other patient care services to be provided, a written patient care plan for each patient is developed and maintained by the nursing service consonant with the attending physician's plan of medical care, and is implemented upon admission. The plan indicates care to be given and goals to be accomplished and which professional service is responsible for each element of care. The patient care plan is reviewed, evaluated, and updated as necessary by all professional personnel involved in the care of the patient.
- (e) Standard: Rehabilitative nursing care. Nursing personnel are trained in rehabilitative nursing, and the facility has an active program of rehabilitative nursing care which is an integral part of nursing service and is directed toward assisting each patient to achieve and maintain an optimal level of self-care and independence. Rehabilitative nursing care services are performed daily for those patients who require such service, and are recorded routinely.
- (f) Standard: Supervision of patient nutrition. Nursing personnel are aware of the nutritional needs and food and fluid intake of patients and assist promptly where necessary in the feeding of patients. A procedure is established to inform the dietetic service of physicians' diet orders and of patients' dietetic problems. Food and fluid intake of patients is observed, and deviations from normal are recorded and reported to the charge nurse and the physician.
- (g) Standard: Administration of drugs. Drugs and biologicals are administered only by physicians,

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution APPENDIX B 274

licensed nursing personnel, or by other personnel who have completed a State-approved training program in medication administration. Procedures are established by the pharmaceutical services committee (see 405.1127(d)) to ensure that drugs to be administered are checked against physicians' orders, that the patient is identified prior to administration of a drug, and that each patient has an individual medication record and that the dose of drug administered to that patient is properly recorded therein by the person who administered the drug. Drugs and biologicals are administered as soon as possible after doses are prepared, and are administered by the same person who prepared the doses for administration, except under single unit dose package distribution systems. (See 405.1101 (h).)

- (h) Standard: Conformance with physicians' drug orders. Drugs are administered in accordance with written orders of the attending physician. Drugs not specifically limited as to time or number of doses when ordered are controlled by automatic stop orders or other methods in accordance with written policies. Physicians' verbal orders for drugs are given only to a licensed nurse, pharmacist, or physician and are immediately recorded and signed by the person receiving the order. (Verbal orders for Schedule II drugs are permitted only in the case of a bona fide emergency situation.) Such orders are countersigned by the attending physician within 48 hours. The attending physician is notified of an automatic stop order prior to the last dose so that he may decide if the administration of the drug or biological is to be continued or altered.
- (i) Standard: Storage of drugs and biologicals. Procedures for storing and disposing of drugs and biologicals are established by the pharmaceutical services committee. In accordance with State and Federal laws, all drugs and biologicals are stored in locked compartments under proper temperature controls and only authorized personnel have access to the keys. Separately locked, permanently affixed compartments are provided for storage of controlled drugs listed in Schedule II of the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention &

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from the original paper book, not from files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 275

Control Act of 1970 and other drugs subject to abuse, except under single unit package drug distribution systems in which the quantity stored is minimal and a missing dose can be readily detected. An emergency medication kit approved by the pharmaceutical services committee is kept readily available.

6. Condition of Participation—Dietetic Services.

The skilled nursing facility provides a hygienic dietetic service that meets the daily nutritional needs of patients, ensures that special dietary needs are met, and provides palatable and attractive meals. A facility that has a contract with an outside food management company may be found to be in compliance with this condition provided the facility and/or company meets the standards listed herein.

- (a) Standard: Staffing. Overall supervisory responsibility for the dietetic service is assigned to a full-time qualified dietetic service supervisor. If the dietetic service supervisor is not a qualified functions with frequent, dietitian he regularly consultation from a person so qualified. (See 405.1121(i).) In addition, the facility employs sufficient supportive personnel competent to carry out the functions of the dietetic service. Food service personnel are on duty daily over a period of 12 or more hours. If consultant dietetic services are used, the consultant's visits are at appropriate times, and of sufficient duration and frequency to provide continuing liaison with medical and nursing staffs, advice to the administrator, patient counseling, guidance to the supervisor and staff of the dietetic service, approval of all menus, and participation in development or revision of dietetic policies and procedures and in planning and conducting inservice education programs (see 405.1121(h)).
- (b) Standard: Menus and nutritional adequacy. Menus are planned and followed to meet nutritional needs of patients in accordance with physicians' orders and, to the extent medically possible, in accordance with the recommended dietary allowances of the Food and Nutrition Board of the National Research Council National Academy of Sciences.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 276

c) Standard: Therapeutic diets. Therapeutic diets are prescribed by the attending physician. Therapeutic menus are planned in writing, and prepared and served as ordered, with supervision or consultation from the dietitian and advice from the physician whenever necessary. A current therapeutic diet manual approved by the dietitian is readily available to attending physicians and nursing and dietetic service personnel.

- (d) Standard: Frequency of meals. At least three meals or their equivalent are served daily, at regular hours, with not more than a 14-hour span between substantial evening meal and breakfast. To the extent medically possible, bedtime nourishments are offered routinely to all patients.
- (e) Standard: Preparation and service of food. Foods are prepared by methods that conserve nutritive value, flavor, and appearance, and are attractively served at the proper temperatures and in a form to meet individual needs. If a patient refuses food served, appropriate substitutes of similar nutritive value are offered.
- (f) Standard: Hygiene of staff. Dietetic service personnel are free of communicable diseases and practice hygienic food-handling techniques. In the event food service employees are assigned duties outside the dietetic service, these duties do not interfere with the sanitation, safety, or time required for dietetic work assignments. (See 405.1121(g).)
- (g) Standard: Sanitary conditions. Food is procured from sources approved or considered satisfactory by Federal, State, or local authorities, and stored, prepared, distributed, and served under sanitary conditions. Waste is disposed of properly. Written reports of inspections by State and local health authorities are on file at the facility, with notation made of action taken by the facility to comply with any recommendations.

7. Condition of Participation—Specialized Rehabilitative Services.

In addition to rehabilitative nursing (405.1124(e)), the skilled nursing facility

provides, or arranges for, under written agreement, specialized rehabilitative services by qualified personnel (i.e., physical therapy, speech pathology and audiology, and occupational therapy) as needed by patients to improve and maintain functioning. These services are provided upon the written order of the patient's attending physician. Safe and adequate space and equipment are available, commensurate with the services offered. If the facility does not offer such services directly, it does not admit nor retain patients in need of this care unless provision is made for such services under arrangement with qualified outside resources under which the facility assumes professional responsibilities for the services rendered. (See 450.1121(i).)

277

- (a) Standard: Organization and staffing. Specialized rehabilitative services are provided, in accordance with accepted professional practices, by qualified therapists or by qualified assistants or other supportive personnel under the supervision of qualified therapists. Other rehabilitative services may also be provided, but must be in a facility where all rehabilitative services are provided through an organized rehabilitative service under the supervision of a physician qualified in physical medicine who determines the goals and limitations of these services and assigns duties appropriate to the training and experience of those providing such services. Written administrative and patient care policies and procedures are developed for rehabilitative services by appropriate therapists and representatives of the medical, administrative, and nursing staffs.
- (b) Standard: Plan of care. Rehabilitative services are provided under a written plan of care initiated by the attending physician and developed in consultation with appropriate therapist(s) and the nursing service. Therapy is provided only upon written orders of the attending physician. A report of the patient's progress is communicated to the attending physician within 2 weeks of the initiation of specialized rehabilitative services. The patient's progress is thereafter reviewed regularly, and the plan of rehabilitative care is reevaluated as necessary, but

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 278

at least every 30 days, by the physician and the therapist(s).

- (c) Standard: Documentation of services. The physician's orders, the plan of rehabilitative care, services rendered, evaluations of progress, and other pertinent information are recorded in the patient's medical record, and are dated and signed by the physician ordering the service and the person who provided the service.
- (d) Standard: Qualifying to provide outpatient physical therapy services. If the facility provides outpatient physical therapy services, it meets the applicable health and safety regulations pertaining to such services as are included in Subpart Q of these regulations.

8. Condition of Participation—Pharmaceutical Services.

The skilled nursing facility provides appropriate methods and procedures for the dispensing and administering of drugs and biologicals. Whether drugs and biologicals are obtained from community or institutional pharmacists or stocked by the facility, the facility is responsible for providing such drugs and biologicals for its patients, insofar as they are covered under the programs, and for ensuring that pharmaceutical services are provided in accordance with accepted professional principles and appropriate Federal, State, and local laws. (See 405.1124(g), (h), and (i).)

(a) Standard: Supervision of services. The pharmaceutical services are under the general supervision of a qualified pharmacist who is responsible to the administrative staff for developing, coordinating, and supervising all pharmaceutical services. The pharmacist (if not a full-time employee) devotes a sufficient number of hours, based upon the needs of the facility, during regularly scheduled visits to carry out these responsibilities. The pharmacist reviews the drug regimen of each patient at least monthly, and reports any irregularities to the medical director and administrator. The pharmacist submits a written report at least quarterly to the pharmaceutical services committee on the status of the facility's pharmaceutical service and staff performance.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 279

(b) Standard: Control and accountability. The pharmaceutical service has procedures for control and accountability of all drugs and biologicals throughout the facility. Only approved drugs and biologicals are used in the facility, and are dispensed in compliance with Federal and State laws. Records of receipt and disposition of all controlled drugs are maintained in sufficient detail to enable an accurate reconciliation. The pharmacist determines that drug records are in order and that an account of all controlled drugs is maintained and reconciled.

- (c) Standard: Labeling of drugs and biologicals. The labeling of drugs and biologicals is based on currently accepted professional principles, and includes the appropriate accessory and cautionary instructions, as well as the expiration date when applicable.
- (d) Standard: Pharmaceutical services committee. A pharmaceutical services committee (or its equivalent) develops written policies and procedures for safe and effective drug therapy, distribution, control, and use. The committee is composed of at least the pharmacist, the director of nursing services, the administrator, and one physician. The committee oversees pharmaceutical service in the facility, makes recommendations for improvement, and monitors the service to ensure its accuracy and adequacy. The committee meets at least quarterly and documents its activities, findings, and recommendations.

9. Condition of Participation—Laboratory and Radiologic Services.

The skilled nursing facility has provision for promptly obtaining required laboratory, X-ray, and other diagnostic services.

(a) Standard: Provision for services. If the facility provides its own laboratory and X-ray services, these meet the applicable conditions established for certification of hospitals that are contained in 405.1028 and 405.1029, respectively. If the facility itself does not provide such services, arrangements are made for obtaining these services from a physician's office, a participating hospital or skilled nursing

facility, or a portable X-ray supplier or independent laboratory which is approved to provide these services under the program. All such services are provided only on the orders of the attending physician, who is notified promptly of the findings. The facility assists the patient, if necessary, in arranging for transportation to and from the source of service. Signed and dated reports of a clinical laboratory, X-ray, and other diagnostic services are filed with the patient's medical record.

(b) Standard: Blood and blood products. Blood handling and storage facilities are safe, adequate, and properly supervised. If the facility provides for maintaining and transfusing blood and blood products, it meets the conditions established for certification of hospitals that are contained in 405.1028(j). If the facility does not provide its own facilities but does provide transfusion services alone, it meets at least the requirements of 405.1028(j)(1), (3), (4), (6), and (9).

10. Condition of Participation—Dental Services.

The skilled nursing facility has satisfactory arrangements to assist patients to obtain routine and emergency dental care. (See 405.1121(i).) (The basic Hospital Insurance Program does not cover the services of a dentist in a skilled nursing facility in connection with the care, treatment, filling, removal, or replacement of teeth or structures supporting the teeth; and only certain oral surgery is included in the Supplemental Medical insurance Program.)

- (a) Standard: Advisory dentist. An advisory dentist participates in the staff development program for nursing and other appropriate personnel (see 405.1121(h)), and recommends oral hygiene policies and practices for the care of patients.
- (b) Standard: Arrangements for outside services. The facility has a cooperative agreement with a dental service, and maintains a list of dentists in the community for patients who do not have a private dentist. The facility assists the patient, if necessary, in arranging for transportation to and from the dentist's office.

11. Condition of Participation—Social Services.

The skilled nursing facility has satisfactory arrangements for identifying the medically related social and emotional needs of the patient. It is not mandatory that the skilled nursing facility itself provide social services in order to participate in the program. If the facility does not provide social services, it has written procedures for referring patients in need of social services to appropriate social agencies. If social services are offered by the facility, they are provided under a clearly defined plan, by qualified persons, to assist each patient to adjust to the social and emotional aspects of his illness, treatment, and stay in the facility.

- (a) Standard: Social service functions. The medically related social and emotional needs of the patient are identified and services provided to meet them, either by qualified staff of the facility, or by referral, based on established procedures, to appropriate social agencies. If financial assistance is indicated, arrangements are made promptly for referral to an appropriate agency. The patient and his family or responsible person are fully informed of the patient's personal and property rights.
- (b) Standard: Staffing. If the facility offers social services, a member of the staff of the facility is designated as responsible for social services. If the designated person is not a qualified social worker, the facility has a written agreement with a qualified social worker or recognized social agency for consultation and assistance on a regularly scheduled basis. (See 405.1121(i).) The social service also has sufficient supportive personnel to meet patient needs. Facilities are adequate for social service personnel, easily accessible to patients and medical and other staff, and ensure privacy for interviews.
- (c) Standard: Records and confidentiality of social data. Records of pertinent social data about personal and family problems medically related to the patient's illness and care, and of action taken to meet his needs, are maintained in the patient's medical record. If social services are provided by an outside

resource, a record is maintained of each referral to such resource. Policies and procedures are established for ensuring the confidentiality of all patients' social information.

12. Condition of Participation—Patient Activities.

The skilled nursing facility provides for an activities program, appropriate to the needs and interests of each patient, to encourage self care, resumption of normal activities, and maintenance of an optimal level of psychosocial functioning.

- (a) Standard: Responsibility for patient activities. A member of the facility's staff is designated as responsible for the patient activities program. If he is not a qualified patient activities coordinator, he functions with frequent, regularly scheduled consultation from a person so qualified. (See 405.1121(i).)
- (b) Standard: Patient activities program. Provision is made for an ongoing program of meaningful activities appropriate to the needs and interests of patients, designed to promote opportunities for engaging in normal pursuits, including religious activities of their choice, if any. Each patient's activities program is approved by the patient's attending physician as not in conflict with the treatment plan. The activities are designed to promote the physical, social, and mental well-being of the patients. The facility makes available adequate space and a variety of supplies and equipment to satisfy the individual interests of patients. (See 405.1134(g).)

13. Condition of Participation—Medical Records.

The facility maintains clinical (medical) records on all patients in accordance with accepted professional standards and practices. The medical record service has sufficient staff, facilities, and equipment to provide medical records that are completely and accurately documented, readily accessible, and systematically organized to facilitate retrieving and compiling information.

 (a) Standard: Staffing. Overall supervisory responsibility for the medical record service is

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 283

assigned to a full-time employee of the facility. The facility also employs sufficient supportive personnel competent to carry out the functions of the medical record service. If the medical record supervisor is not a qualified medical record practitioner, this person functions with consultation from a person so qualified. (See 405.1121(i).)

- (b) Standard: Protection of medical record information. The facility safeguards medical record information against loss, destruction, or unauthorized use.
- (c) Standard: Content. The medical record contains sufficient information to identify the patient clearly, to justify the diagnosis and treatment, and to document the results accurately. All medical records contain the following general categories of data: Documented evidence of assessment of the needs of the patient, of establishment of an appropriate plan of treatment, and of the care and services provided; authentication of hospital diagnoses (discharge summary, report from patient's attending physician, or transfer form), identification data and consent forms, medical and nursing history of patient, report of physical examination(s), diagnostic and therapeutic orders, observations and progress notes, reports of treatments and clinical findings, and discharge summary including final diagnosis and prognosis.
- (d) Standard: Physician documentation. Only physicians enter or authenticate in medical records opinions that require medical judgment (in accordance with medical staff bylaws, rules, and regulations, if applicable). Each physician signs his entries into the medical record.
- (e) Standard: Completion of records and centralization of reports. Current medical records and those of discharged patients are completed promptly. All clinical information pertaining to a patient's stay is centralized in the patient's medical record.
- (f) Standard: Retention and preservation. Medical records are retained for a period of time not less than that determined by the respective State statute, the

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 284

statute of limitations in the State, or 5 years from the date of discharge in the absence of a State statute, or, in the case of a minor, 3 years after the patient becomes of age under State law.

- (g) Standard: Indexes. Patients' medical records are indexed according to name of patient and final diagnoses to facilitate acquisition of statistical medical information and retrieval of records for research or administrative action.
- (h) Standard: Location and facilities. The facility maintains adequate facilities and equipment, conveniently located, to provide efficient processing of medical records (reviewing, indexing, filing, and prompt retrieval).

14. Condition of Participation—Transfer Agreement.

The skilled nursing facility has in effect a transfer agreement with one or more hospitals approved for participation under the programs, which provides the basis for effective working arrangements under which inpatient hospital care or other hospital services are available promptly to the facility's patients when needed. (A facility that has been unable to establish a transfer agreement with the hospital(s) in the community or service area after documented attempts to do so is considered to have such an agreement in effect.)

- (a) Standard: Patient transfer. A hospital and a skilled nursing facility shall be considered to have a transfer agreement in effect if, by reason of a written agreement between them or (in case the two institutions are under common control) by reason of a written undertaking by the person or body which controls them, there is reasonable assurance that:
- (1) Transfer of patients will be effected between the hospital and the skilled nursing facility, ensuring timely admission, whenever such transfer is medically appropriate as determined by the attending physician, and
- (2) There will be interchange of medical and other information necessary or useful in the care and treatment of individuals transferred between the institutions, or in determining whether such

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

individuals can be adequately cared for otherwise than in either of such institutions, and

285

Security and accountability for patients' personal effects are (3) provided on transfer. Any skilled nursing facility which does not have such agreement in effect, but which is found by a State agency (of the State in which such facility is located) with which an agreement under section 1864 is in effect (or, in the case of a State in which no such agency has an agreement under 1864, by the Secretary) to have attempted in good faith to enter into such an agreement with a hospital sufficiently close to the facility to make feasible the transfer between them of patients and the information referred to in paragraph (a)(2) of this section, shall be considered to have such an agreement in effect if and for so long as such agency (or the Secretary, as the case may be) finds that to do so is in the public interest and essential to ensuring skilled nursing facility services for persons in the community who are eligible for payments with respect to such services under the programs.

15. Condition of Participation—Physical Environment.

The skilled nursing facility is constructed, equipped, and maintained to protect the health and safety of patients, personnel, and the public.

(a) Standard: Life safety from fire. The skilled nursing facility meets such provisions of the Life Safety Code of the National Fire Protection Association (21st Edition, 1967) as are applicable to nursing homes; except that, in consideration of a recommendation by the State survey agency, the Secretary may waive, for such periods as deemed appropriate, specific provisions of such Code which, if rigidly applied, would result in unreasonable hardship upon a skilled nursing facility, but only if such waiver will not adversely affect the health and safety of the patients; and except that the provisions of such Code shall not apply in any State if the Secretary finds, in accordance with applicable provisions of section 1861(j)(13) of the Social Security Act, that in such

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 286

State there is in effect a fire and safety code, imposed by State law, which adequately protects patients in skilled nursing facilities. Where waiver permits the participation of an existing facility of two or more stories which is not of at least 2-hour fire resistive construction, blind, nonambulatory, or physically handicapped patients are not housed above the street level floor unless the facility is of 1-hour protected noncombustible construction (as defined in National Fire Protection Association Standard No. 220), fully sprinklered 1-hour protected ordinary construction, or fully 1-hour protected wood-frame Nonflammable medical gas systems, such as oxygen and nitrous oxide, installed in the facility comply with applicable provisions of National Fire Protection Association Standard No. 56B (Standard for the Use of Inhalation Therapy) 1968 and National Fire Protection Association Standard No. 56F (Nonflammable Medical Gas Systems) 1970.

- (b) Standard: Emergency power. The facility provides an emergency source of electrical power necessary to protect the health and safety of patients in the event the normal electrical supply is interrupted. The emergency electrical power system must supply power adequate at least for lighting in all means of egress; equipment to maintain fire detection, alarm, and extinguishing systems; and life support systems. Where life support systems are used, emergency electrical service is provided by an emergency generator located on the premises.
- (c) Standard: Facilities for physically handicapped. The facility is accessible to, and functional for, patients, personnel, and the public. All necessary accommodations are made to meet the needs of persons with semiambulatory disabilities, sight and hearing disabilities, disabilities of coordination, as well as other disabilities, in accordance with the American National Standards Institute (ANSI) Standard No. Al 17.1, American Standard Specifications for Making Buildings and Facilities Accessible to, and Usable by,

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 287

the Physically Handicapped. The Secretary (or in the case of a facility participating as a skilled nursing facility under title XIX only, the survey agency—see 42 CFR 449.33(a)(1)(i)) may waive in existing buildings, for such periods as deemed appropriate, specific provisions of ANSI Standard No. Al 17.1 which, if rigidly enforced, would result in unreasonable hardship upon the facility, but only if such waiver will not adversely affect the health and safety of patients.

- (d) Standard: Nursing unit. Each nursing unit has at least the following basic service areas: Nurses station, storage and preparation area(s) for drugs and biologicals, and utility and storage rooms that are adequate in size, conveniently located, and well-lighted to facilitate staff functioning. The nurses station is equipped to register patients' calls through a communication system from patient areas, including patient rooms and toilet and bathing facilities.
- Standard: Patient rooms and toilet facilities. Patient rooms are designed and equipped for adequate nursing care and the comfort and privacy of patients, and have no more than four beds, except in facilities primarily for the care of the mentally ill and/or retarded where there shall be no more than 12 beds per room. (An institution primarily engaged in the care of the mentally retarded or in the treatment of mental diseases cannot qualify as a participating skilled nursing facility under Medicare.) Single patient rooms measure at least 100 square feet, and multipatient rooms provide a minimum of 80 square feet per bed. The Secretary (or in the case of a facility participating as a skilled nursing facility under title XIX only, the survey agency—see 42 CFR 449.33(a)(1)(i)) may permit variations in individual cases where the facility demonstrates in writing that such variations are in accordance with the particular needs of the patients and will not adversely affect their health and safety. Each room is equipped with, or is conveniently located near, adequate toilet and bathing facilities.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 288

Each room has direct access to a corridor and outside exposure, with the floor at or above grade level.

- (f) Standard: Facilities for special care. Provision is made for isolating patients as necessary in single rooms ventilated to the outside, with private toilet and handwashing facilities. Procedures in aseptic and isolation techniques are established in writing and followed by all personnel. Such areas are identified by appropriate precautionary signs.
- (g) Standard: Dining and patient activities rooms. The facility provides one or more clean, orderly, and appropriately furnished rooms of adequate size designated for patient dining and for patient activities. These areas are well-lighted and well-ventilated. If a multipurpose room is used for dining and patient activities, there is sufficient space to accommodate all activities and prevent their interference with each other.
- (h) Standard: Kitchen and dietetic service areas. The facility has kitchen and dietetic service areas adequate to meet food service needs. These areas are properly ventilated, and arranged and equipped for sanitary refrigeration, storage, preparation, and serving of food as well as for dish and utensil cleaning and refuse storage and removal.
- (i) Standard: Maintenance of equipment, building, and grounds. The facility establishes a written preventive maintenance program to ensure that equipment is operative and that the interior and exterior of the building are clean and orderly. All essential mechanical, electrical, and patient care equipment is maintained in safe operating condition.
- (j) Standard: Other environmental considerations. The facility provides a functional, sanitary, and comfortable environment for patients, personnel, and the public. Provision is made for adequate and comfortable lighting levels in all areas, limitation of sounds at comfort levels, maintaining a comfortable room temperature, procedures to ensure water to all essential areas in the event of loss of normal water supply, and

adequate ventilation through windows or mechanical means or a combination of both. Corridors are equipped with firmly secured handrails on each side.

16. Condition of Participation—Infection Control.

The skilled nursing facility establishes an infection control committee of representative professional staff with responsibility for overall infection control in the facility. All necessary housekeeping and maintenance services are provided to maintain a sanitary and comfortable environment and to help prevent the development and transmission of infection.

- (a) Standard: Infection control committee. The infection control committee is composed of members of the medical and nursing staffs, administration, and the dietetic, pharmacy, housekeeping, maintenance, and other services. The committee establishes policies and procedures for investigating, controlling, and preventing infections in the facility, and monitors staff performance to ensure that the policies and procedures are executed.
- (b) Standard: Aseptic and isolation techniques. Written effective procedures in aseptic and isolation techniques are followed by all personnel. Procedures are reviewed and revised annually for effectiveness and improvement.
- (c) Standard: Housekeeping. The facility employs sufficient housekeeping personnel and provides all necessary equipment to maintain a safe, clean, and orderly interior. A full-time employee is responsible for the services and for supervision and training of personnel. Nursing personnel are not assigned housekeeping duties. A facility that has a contract with an outside resource for housekeeping services may be found to be in compliance with this standard provided the facility and/or outside resource meets the requirements of the standard.
- (d) *Standard: Linen*. The facility has available at all times a quantity of linen essential for proper

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 290

care and comfort of patients. Linens are handled, stored, processed, and transported in such a manner as to prevent the spread of infection.

(e) Standard: Pest control. The facility is maintained free from insects and rodents through operation of a pest control program.

17. Condition of Participation—Disaster Preparedness.

The skilled nursing facility has a written plan, periodically rehearsed, with procedures to be followed in the event of an internal or external disaster and for the care of casualties (patients and personnel) arising from such disasters.

- (a) Standard: Disaster plan. The facility has an acceptable written plan in operation, with procedures to be followed in the event of fire, explosion, or other disaster. The plan is developed and maintained with the assistance of qualified fire, safety, and other · appropriate experts, and includes procedures for prompt transfer of casualties and records, instructions regarding the location and use of alarm systems and signals and of fire-fighting equipment, information regarding methods of containing fire, procedures for notification of appropriate persons, and specifications of evacuation routes and procedures.
- (b) Standard: Staff training and drills. All employees are trained, as part of their employment orientation, in all aspects of preparedness for any disaster. The disaster program includes orientation and ongoing training and drills for all personnel in all procedures so that each employee promptly and correctly carries out his specific role in case of disaster.

18. Condition of Participation—Utilization Review.

The skilled nursing facility carries out utilization review of the services provided in the facility at least to inpatients who are entitled to benefits under the program(s). Utilization review has as its overall objectives both the maintenance of high quality patient care and assurance of appropriate and efficient utilization of facility services. There are two elements to utilization review: medical care evaluation studies that identify and examine patterns of care

provided in the facility, and review of extended duration cases which is concerned with efficiency, appropriateness, and cost effectiveness of care.

- (a) Standard: Written plan of utilization review activity. The skilled nursing facility has a currently applicable written description of its utilization review plan. Such description includes:
- (1) The organization and composition of the committee or group which will be responsible for the utilization review function;
- (2) Frequency of meetings;
- (3) The type of records to be kept;
- (4) The methods and criteria (including norms where available) to be used to define periods of continuous extended duration and to assign or select subsequent dates for continued stay review;
- (5) Methods for selection and conduct of medical care evaluation studies;
- (6) The relationship of the utilization review plan to claims administration by a third party;
- (7) Arrangements of committee reports and their dissemination;
- (8) Responsibilities of the skilled nursing facility's administrative staff.
- (b) Standard: Composition and organization of utilization review committee.
- (1) The utilization review function is conducted by a staff committee of the skilled nursing facility composed of two or more physicians, with participation of other professional personnel, or by a group outside the facility which is similarly composed and which is established by the local medical or osteopathic society and some or all of the hospitals and skilled nursing facilities in the locality, or by a group established and organized in a manner approved by the Secretary that is capable of performing such a function.
- (2) The medical care evaluation studies, as described in paragraph (c) of this section, and educational duties of the review program, and the review of admissions and long-stay cases need not be performed by the same committee or group and they

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 292

- need not be performed by a specially established group.
- (3) Review by the committee or group may not be conducted by any person who is employed by or who is financially interested in any skilled nursing facility or by any person who was professionally involved in the care of the patient whose case is being reviewed.
- Standard: Medical care evaluation studies. Medical care evaluation studies are performed to promote the most effective and efficient use of available health facilities and services consistent with patient needs and professionally recognized standards of health care. Studies emphasize identification and analysis of patterns of patient care, and suggest, where appropriate, possible changes for maintaining consistently high quality patient care and effective and efficient use of services. Each medical care evaluation study (whether medical or administrative in emphasis) identifies and analyzes factors related to the patient care rendered in the facility, and where indicated, results in recommendations for change beneficial to patients, staff, the facility and the community. Studies on a sample or other basis include, but need not be limited to: admissions. durations of stay, ancillary services furnished (including drugs and biologicals) and professional services performed on facility premises. At least one study must be in progress at any given time, and at least one study must be completed each year. The study will be accomplished by considering and analyzing data obtained from any one or a combination of the following sources:
- (1) Medical records or other appropriate data;
- (2) External organizations which compile statistics, design profiles, and produce other comparative data; and
- (3) By cooperative endeavor with the PSRO, fiscal intermediary(ies), providers of services, or appropriate agencies. The committee or group shall document the results of each medical care evaluation study and how such results have, where appropriate, been used to institute changes to improve the quality

of care and promote more effective and efficient use of facilities and services.

- (d) Standard: Extended stay review.
- Periodic review is made of each current inpatient skilled nursing facility beneficiary case of continuous extended duration, the length of which is defined in the utilization review plan, to determine whether further inpatient stay is necessary. The plan may specify a different number of days for different diagnostic classes of cases, or may use the same number of days for all cases. In any event the period(s) specified bears a reasonable relationship to current average length-of-stay statistics and does not exceed 30 days after admission. An exception to this 30-day limit may be made where the extended stay review date is based on: (i) The average, or some other appropriate point (e.g., median) of current length of stay data for diagnostic classes of cases selected by the committee or group in accordance with guidelines established by the Secretary, when the average (or other length of stay review point) for the individual's specific diagnostic class or category, based on functional capability, exceeds 30 days; or (ii) A period, established pursuant to section 1814(h)(1) of the Act, which exceeds 20 days.
- (2) The initial extended stay review takes place prior to or at the end of the period of extended duration specified pursuant to paragraph (d) (1) of this section. The review is based on the attending physician's reasons for and plan for continued stay and any other documentation the committee or group deems appropriate. Cases may be screened by a qualified nonphysician representative of the committee or group who uses criteria established by the physician members of the committee, provided that cases are referred to a physician member for further review when it appears that the patient no longer requires further inpatient care. Where the committee or group selects a nonphysician representative to screen extended stay review cases, it will select an individual with experience in such screening or

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 294

appropriate training in the application of the screening criteria used, or both. The Secretary may grant an additional period of time, beyond July 1, 1975, the effective date of this paragraph, for a committee or group of a skilled nursing facility to select or develop the written criteria and standards required by this paragraph: (i) Where the committee or group documents that it made every effort to comply by July 1, 1975, and that it is currently making substantial progress in developing the criteria and standards; and (ii) where the committee or group establishes a timetable for meeting the requirements which is acceptable to the Secretary.

- (3) Where a finding is made that the individual continues to need inpatient skilled nursing care, an additional stay is approved for a period the committee or group deems appropriate, provided that reviews are made at least every 30 days for the first 90 days and at least every 90 days thereafter. Before the expiration of each new period, the case must be reviewed again in like manner, with such reviews being repeated as long as the stay continues beyond the scheduled review dates and notice has not been given pursuant to paragraph (e) of this section.
- (e) Standard: Admission or further stay not medically necessary.
- (1) A final determination of the committee or group that an admission or continued stay is not medically necessary is made by at least two physician members of the committee or groups, except that the final determination may be made by one physician member where the attending physician, when given an opportunity to express his views, does not do so, or does not contest the finding that the admission or continued stay is not medically necessary. (See 405.166 regarding the restriction on payment after an adverse decision by the committee or group.)
- (2) If the committee or group, or its nonphysician representative where a physician member concurs, has reason to believe from the review of an admission or an extended duration case or a case reviewed as part of a medical care evaluation study that further stay

is no longer medically necessary (or that admissions were not medically necessary), the committee or group shall notify the individual's attending physician and afford him an opportunity to present his views before it makes a final determination. If the final determination of the committee or group is that further stay is no longer medically necessary, written notification of the finding is given to the facility, the attending physician, and the individual (or where appropriate, his next of kin) no later than two days after such final determination is made and, in no event in the case of an extended duration case, later than 3 working days after the end of the extended duration period specified pursuant to paragraph (d) of this section.

- (f) Standard: Administrative responsibilities. The administrative staff of the facility is kept directly and fully informed of committee activities to facilitate support and assistance. The administrator studies and acts upon recommendations made by the committee, coordinating such functions with appropriate staff members.
- (g) Standard: Utilization review records. Written records of committee activities are maintained. Appropriate reports, signed by the committee chairman, are made regularly to the medical staff, administrative staff, governing body, and sponsors (if any). Minutes of each committee meeting are maintained and include at least:
- (1) Name of committee,

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

- (2) Date and duration of meeting,
- (3) Names of committee members present and absent,
- (4) Description of activities presently in progress to satisfy the requirements for medical care evaluation studies, including the subject and reason for study, dates of commencement and expected completion, summary of studies completed since the last meeting, conclusions, and follow-up on implementation of recommendations made from previous studies, and
- (5) Summary of extended duration cases reviewed, including the number of cases, case identification

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

APPENDIX B 296

- numbers, admission and review dates, and decisions reached, including the basis for each determination and action taken for each case not approved for extended care.
- (h) Standard: Discharge planning. The facility maintains a centralized, coordinated program to ensure that each patient has a planned program of continuing care which meets his postdischarge needs.
- (1) The facility has in operation an organized discharge planning program. The utilization review committee, in its evaluation of the current status of each extended duration case, has available to it the results of such discharge planning and information on alternative available community resources to which the patient may be referred.
- (2) The administrator delegates responsibility for discharge *planning*, in writing, to one or more members of the facility's staff, with consultation, if necessary, or arranges for this service to be provided by a health, social, or welfare agency (see 405.1121(i)).
- (3) The facility maintains written discharge planning procedures which describe (i) how the discharge coordinator will function, and his authority and relationships with the facility's staff; (ii) the time period in which each patient's need for discharge planning is determined (preferably within 7 days after the clay of admission); (iii) the maximum time period after which a reevaluation of each patient's discharge plan is made; (iv) local resources available to the facility, the patient, and the attending physician to assist in developing and implementing individual discharge plans; and (v) provisions for periodic review and reevaluation of the facility's discharge planning program.
- (4) At the time of discharge, the facility provides those responsible for the patient's postdischarge care with an appropriate summary of information about the discharged patient to ensure the optimal continuity of care. The discharge summary includes at least current information relative to diagnoses, rehabilitation potential, a

> summary of the course of prior treatment, physician orders for the immediate care of the patient, and pertinent social information.

- Standard: Applicability of utilization review requirements approved under Title XIX. Notwithstanding the preceding paragraphs of this section, if the Secretary determines that the utilization review procedures established by a State pursuant to Title XIX of the Social Security Act are superior in their effectiveness to the procedures required under this section, any provision of the State plan for which the waiver of the requirements set forth in this section for utilization review in skilled nursing facilities is granted shall, to the extent deemed appropriate by the Secretary, be utilized by skilled nursing facilities in that State, instead of the procedures specified in this section.
- Correlation of PSRO review-Medicare utilization review activities. Review activities under section 1158(a) of the Act shall be in lieu of the requirements of this section if a Professional Standards Review Organization (PSRO) has assumed review responsibility in accordance with the applicable provisions of Part 463 of this chapter for services provided by or in the facility to inpatients who are entitled to benefits under this Part 405. (See 463.25, 463.26, and 463.28 for provisions concerning the correlation of functions under Titles XI-B and XVIII of the Act.

B. STANDARDS FOR INTERMEDIATE CARE FACILITIES (ICFS) OTHER THAN FACILITIES FOR THE MENTALLY RETARDED (42 CFR 442.300 THROUGH 442.346 (1974))

Administration

- 1. Methods of Administration. An ICF must have methods of administrative management that insure that requirements of Standards (2) through (15).
- Staffing. The ICF must have staff on duty 24 hours a day sufficient and qualifications to carry out the responsibilities, and programs of the ICF.

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

from XML files created from the original paper book, not from

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from the original paper book, not from print version of this publication as the files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed accidentally inserted. Please use the retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 298

- 3. *Administrator*.
- (a) The ICF must have an administrator who is:
- (1) A nursing home administrator with a current State license; or
- (2) A hospital administrator, if the ICF is a hospital qualifying as an intermediate care facility.
- (b) The administrator's responsibilities must include:
- (1) Managing the ICF; and
- (2) Implementing established policies and procedures.
 - 4. Resident Services Director.
- (a) The ICF must designate the administrator or a professional staff member as resident services director.
- (b) The duties of the resident services director must include coordinating and monitoring each resident's overall plan of care.
 - 5. Written Policies and Procedures: General Requirements. The ICF must have written policies and procedures that:
- (a) Govern all services provided by the ICF; and
- (b) Are available to the staff, residents, members of the family and legal representatives of residents, and the public.
- 6. Written Policies and Procedures: Admission. The ICF must have written policies and procedures that insure that it admits as residents only those individuals whose needs can be met:
- (a) By the ICF itself;
- (b) By the ICF in cooperation with community resources; or
- (c) By the ICF in cooperation with other providers of care affiliated with or under contract to the ICF.
- 7. Written Policies and Procedures: Transfer and Discharge. The ICF must have written policies and procedures that insure that:
- (a) It transfers a resident promptly to a hospital, skilled nursing facility, or other appropriate facility,

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not print version of this publication as the files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed accidentally inserted. Please use the retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 299

when a change occurs in the resident's physical or mental condition that requires care or service that the ICF cannot adequately provide; and

- (b) Except in an emergency, it:
- Consults the resident, his next of kin, the attending physician, and the responsible agency, if any, at least 5 clays before a transfer or discharge; and
- (2) Uses casework services or other means to insure that adequate arrangements are made to meet the resident's needs through other resources.
 - 8. Written Policies and Procedures: Chemical and Physical Restraints. The ICF must have written policies and procedures that:
- (a) Define the uses of chemical and physical restraints;
- (b) Identify the professional personnel who may, under 442.311(h), authorize use of these restraints in emergencies; and
- (c) Describe the procedures for monitoring and controlling the use of these restraints.
- 9. Written Policies and Procedures: Resident Complaints and Recommendations. The ICF must have written policies and procedures that:
- (a) Describe the procedures that the ICF uses to receive complaints and recommendations from its residents; and
- (b) Insure that the ICF responds to these complaints and recommendations.
- Written Policies and Procedures: Resident Records. The ICF must have written policies and procedures governing access to, duplication of, and dissemination of information from the resident's record.
- 11. Written Policies and Procedures: Residents' Bill of Rights. The ICF must have written policies and procedures that insure the following rights for each resident:

accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

300

- a) Information.
- (1) Each resident must be fully informed, before or at the time of admission, of his rights and responsibilities and of all rules governing resident conduct.
- (2) If the ICF amends its policies on residents' rights and responsibilities and its rules governing conduct, each resident in the ICF at that time must be informed.
- (3) Each resident must acknowledge in writing receipt of the information and any amendments to it.
- (4) Each resident must be fully informed in writing of all services available in the ICF and of the charges for these services including any charges for services not paid for by Medicaid or not included in the ICF's basic rate per day. The ICF must provide this information either before or at the time of admission and on a continuing basis as changes occur in services or charges during the resident's stay.
- (b) Medical condition and treatment.
- (1) Each resident must (i) Be fully informed by a physician of his health and medical condition unless the physician decides that informing the resident is medically contraindicated; (ii) Be given the opportunity to participate in planning his total care and medical treatment; (iii) Be given the opportunity to refuse treatment; and (iv) Give informed, written consent before participating in experimental research.
- (2) If the physician decides that informing the resident of his health and medical condition is medically contraindicated, the physician must document this decision in the resident's record.
- (c) Transfer and discharge. Each resident must be transferred or discharged only for:
- (1) Medical reasons;
- (2) His welfare or that of the other residents; or
- (3) Nonpayment except as prohibited by the Medicaid program.

been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

from the original paper book, not from

files created

from XML

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 301

d) Exercising rights. Each resident must be:

- (1) Encouraged and assisted to exercise his rights as a resident of the ICF and as a citizen; and
- (2) Allowed to submit complaints or recommendations concerning the policies and services of the ICF to staff or to outside representatives of the resident's choice or both, free from restraint, interference, coercion, discrimination, or reprisal.
- (e) Financial affairs. Each resident must be allowed to manage his personal financial affairs. If a resident requests assistance from the ICF in managing his personal financial affairs:
- (1) The request must be in writing; and
- (2) The ICF must comply with the recordkeeping requirements of 442.320.
- (f) Freedom from abuse and restraints.
- (1) Each resident must be free from mental and physical abuse.
- (2) Each resident must be free from chemical and physical restraints unless the restraints are (i) Authorized by a physician in writing for a specified period of time; or (ii) Used in an emergency under the following conditions: (A) The use is necessary to protect the resident from injuring himself or others. (B) The use is authorized by a professional staff member identified in the written policies and procedures of the facility as having the authority to do so. (C) The use is reported promptly to the resident's physician by that staff member.
- (g) Privacy.
- (1) Each resident must be treated with consideration, respect, and full recognition of his or her dignity and individuality.
- (2) Each resident must be given privacy during treatment and care of personal needs.
- (3) Each resident's records, including information in an automatic data bank, must be treated confidentially.
- (4) Each resident must give written consent before the ICF may release information from his record to someone not otherwise authorized by law to receive it.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 302

(5) A married resident must be given privacy during visits by his spouse.

- (6) If both husband and wife are residents of the ICF, they must be permitted to share a room.
- (h) Work. No resident may be required to perform services for the ICF.
- (i) Freedom of association and correspondence. Each resident must be allowed to:
- (1) Communicate, associate, and meet privately with individuals of his choice, unless this infringes on the rights of another resident; and
- (2) Send and receive personal mail unopened.
- (j) Activities. Each resident must be allowed to participate in social, religious, and community group activities.
- (k) Personal possessions. Each resident must be allowed to retain and use his personal possessions and clothing as space permits.
- 12. Written Policies and Procedures: Delegation of Rights and Responsibilities.
- (a) The ICF must have written policies and procedures that provide that all rights and responsibilities of a resident pass to the resident's guardian, next of kin, or sponsoring agency or agencies if the resident:
- (1) Is adjudicated incompetent under State law; or
- (2) Is determined by his physician to be incapable of understanding his rights and responsibilities.
- (b) If the resident is determined to be incapable of understanding his rights and responsibilities, the physician who made the determination must record the specific reason in the resident's record.
- 13. *Emergencies*. The ICF must:
- (a) Have a written plan for staff and residents to follow in case of an emergency such as a fire or an explosion and rehearse the plan regularly; and
- (b) Have written procedures for the staff to follow in case of an emergency involving a resident. These emergency procedures must include directions for:
- (1) Caring for the resident;

been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 303

(2) Notifying the attending physician and other individuals responsible for the resident; and

- (3) Arranging for transportation, hospitalization, or other appropriate services.
- 14. *Staff Training Programs*. The ICF must:
- (a) Conduct an orientation program for all new employees that includes a review of all its policies;
- (b) Plan and conduct an inservice staff development program for all personnel to assist them in developing and improving their skills; and
- (c) Maintain a record of each orientation and staff development program it conducts. The record must include the content of the program and the names of the participants.
- 15. *Health and Safety Laws*. The ICF must meet all Federal, State, and local laws, regulations, and codes pertaining to health and safety, such as provisions regulating:
- (a) Buying, dispensing, safeguarding, administering, and disposing of medications and controlled substances;
- (b) Construction, maintenance, and equipment for the ICF;
- (c) Sanitation;
- (d) Communicable and reportable diseases; and
- (e) Post mortem procedures.
- 16. Transfer Agreements.
- (a) Except as provided in paragraph (b) of this section, the ICF must have in effect a transfer agreement with one or more hospitals sufficiently close by to make feasible the prompt transfer of the resident and his records to the hospital and to support a working arrangement between the ICF and the hospital for providing inpatient hospital services to residents when needed.
- (b) If the survey agency finds that the ICF tried in good faith to enter into an agreement but could not, the ICF will be considered to meet the requirements of paragraph (a) of this section, as long as the survey agency finds that it is in the public interest and

accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 304

essential to assuring ICF services for eligible individuals in the community.

- 17. Arrangements with outside resources.
- (a) If the ICF does not employ a qualified professional to furnish a required institutional service, it must have in effect a written agreement with a qualified professional outside the ICF to furnish the required service.
- (b) The agreement must:
- (1) Contain the responsibilities, functions, objectives, and other terms agreed to by the ICF and the qualified professional; and
- (2) Be signed by the administrator or his representative and by the qualified professional.
- (c) The ICF must maintain effective arrangements with outside resources for promptly providing medical and remedial services required by a resident but not regularly provided within the ICF.
- 18. Resident Record System.
- (a) The ICF must maintain an organized resident record system that contains a record for each resident.
- (b) The ICF must make resident records available to staff directly involved with the resident and to appropriate representatives of the Medicaid agency.
- (c) Each resident's record must contain:
- (1) Identification information;
- Admission information, including the medical and social history of the resident;
- (3) An overall plan of care as described in 442.319;
- (4) Copies of the initial and periodic examinations, evaluations, progress notes, all plans of care with subsequent changes, and discharge summaries;
- (5) Description of treatments and services provided and medications administered; and
- (6) All indications of illness or injury including the date, time, and action taken regarding each.
- (d) The ICF must protect the resident records against destruction, loss, and unauthorized use.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 305

(e) The ICF must keep a resident's record for at least 3 years after the date the resident is discharged.

- Overall Plan of Care. The overall plan of care required by 442.318 must:
- (a) Set the goals to be accomplished by the resident;
- (b) Prescribe an integrated program of activities, therapies, and treatments designed to help each resident achieve his goals; and
- (c) Indicate which professional service or individual is responsible for each service prescribed in the plan.
- 20. Resident Financial Records.
- (a) The ICF must maintain a current, written financial record for each resident that includes written receipts for:
- All personal possessions and funds received by or deposited with the ICF; and
- (2) All disbursements made to or for the resident.
- (b) The financial record must be available to the resident and his family.

Safety Standards

- 21. Fire Protection.
- (a) Except as provided in 442.322 and 442.323 and paragraph (b) of this section, the ICF must meet the provisions of the Life Safety Code of the National Fire Protection Association, 1967 edition, that apply to institutional occupancies.
- (b) If the Secretary finds that the State has a fire and safety code imposed by State law that adequately protects residents in ICF's, the State survey agency may apply the State code for the purposes of the Medicaid certification instead of the Life Safety Code.
- 22. Fire Protection: Exception For Smaller Icf's. The State survey agency may apply the lodgings or rooming houses section of the residential occupancy requirements of the Life Safety Code of the National Fire Protection Association, 1967 edition, instead of the institutional

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from the original paper book, not from accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 306

occupancy provisions required by 442.321 to an ICF that has 15 beds or less if the ICF is primarily engaged in the treatment of alcoholism and drug abuse and a physician certifies that each resident is:

- (a) Ambulatory;
- (b) Engaged in an active program for rehabilitation designed to and reasonably expected to lead to independent living; and
- (c) Capable of following directions and taking appropriate action for self-preservation under emergency conditions.
- 23. Fire protection: Waivers.
- (a) The State survey agency may waive specific provisions of the Life Safety Code required by 442.321, for as long as it considers appropriate, if:
- (1) The waiver would not adversely affect the health and safety of the residents:
- (2) Rigid application of specific provisions of the Code would result in unreasonable hardship for the ICF as determined under guidelines contained in the HCFA Long-Term Care Manual; and
- (3) The waiver is granted in accordance with criteria contained in the Long-Term Care Manual.
- (b) If the State survey agency waives provisions of the Code for an existing building of two or more stories that is not built of at least 2hour fire-resistive construction, the ICF may not house a blind, nonambulatory, or physically handicapped resident above the streetlevel floor unless it is built of:
- (1) One-hour protected, noncombustible construction as defined in National Fire Protection Association Standard No. 220;
- (2) Fully sprinklered, 1-hour protected, ordinary construction; or
- (3) Fully sprinklered, 1-hour protected, wood frame construction.

Environmental and Sanitation Standards

- 24. Resident living areas. The ICF must:
- (a) Design and equip the resident living areas for the comfort and privacy of each resident; and

accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 307

Have handrails that are firmly attached to the walls in all corridors used by residents.

- 25. Residents' rooms.
- Each resident room must:
- (1) Be equipped with or conveniently located near toilet and bathing facilities;
- (2) Be at or above grade level;
- Contain a suitable bed for each resident and other appropriate furniture:
- Have closet space that provides security and privacy for clothing and personal belongings;
- Contain no more than four beds
- (6) Measure at least 100 square feet for a single-resident room or 80 square feet for each resident for a multi-resident room; and
- Be equipped with a device for calling the staff member on duty. (7)
- (b) For an existing building, the State survey agency may waive the space and occupancy requirements of paragraphs (a)(5) and (6) of this section for as long as it is considered appropriate if it finds that:
- (1) The requirements would result in unreasonable hardship on the ICF if strictly enforced; and
- The waiver serves the particular needs of the residents and does not (2) adversely affect their health and safety.
- Bathroom facilities. The ICF must: 26.
- (a) Have toilet and bathing facilities that are located in or near residents' rooms and are appropriate in number, size, and design to meet the needs of the residents:
- Provide an adequate supply of hot water at all times for resident use; and
- Have plumbing fixtures with control valves that automatically regulate the temperature of the hot water used by residents.
- Linen supplies. The ICF must have available at all times enough linen for the proper care and comfort of the residents and have clean linen on each bed.

accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from the original paper book, not from files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed etained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 308

- 28. Therapy and isolation areas.
- (a) The ICF's therapy area must be of sufficient size and appropriate design to:
- (1) Accommodate the necessary equipment;
- (2) Conduct an examination; and
- (3) Provide treatment.
- (b) The ICF must make provision for isolating residents with infectious diseases.
- 29. Dining, recreation, and social rooms.
- (a) The ICF must provide one or more areas, not used for corridor traffic, for dining, recreation, and social activities.
- (b) A multipurpose room may be used if it is large enough to accommodate all of the activities without their interfering with each other.
- 30. Building accessibility and use.
- (a) The ICF must:
- (1) Be accessible to and usable by all residents, personnel, and the public, including individuals with disabilities; and
- (2) Meet the requirements of American National Standards Institute (ANSI) standard No. A117.1 (1961), American standard specifications for making building and facilities accessible to and usable by the physically handicapped.
- (b) The State survey agency may waive, for as long as it considers appropriate, provisions of ANSI standard No. A117.1 (1961) if:
- (1) The construction plans for the ICF or a part of it were approved and stamped by the responsible State agency before March 18, 1974;
- (2) The provisions would result in unreasonable hardship on the ICF if strictly enforced; and
- (3) The waiver does not adversely affect the health and safety of the residents.

Meal Service

31. *Meal service*. The ICF must:

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX B 309

 (a) Serve at least three meals or their equivalent each day at regular times, with not more than 14 hours between a substantial evening meal and breakfast;

- (b) Procure, store, prepare, distribute, and serve all food under sanitary conditions; and
- (c) Provide special eating equipment and utensils for residents who need them.
- 32. *Menu planning and supervision*.
- (a) The ICF must have a staff member trained or experienced in food management or nutrition who is responsible for:
- (1) Planning menus that meet the nutritional needs of each resident, following the orders of the resident's physician and, to the extent medically possible, the recommended dietary, allowances of the Food and Nutrition Board of the National Research Council, National Academy of Sciences (Recommended Dietary Allowances (8th ed., 1974) is available from the Printing and Publications Office, National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C. 20418); and
- (2) Supervising the meal preparation and service to insure that the menu plan is followed.
- (b) If the ICF has residents who require medically prescribed special diets, the ICF must:
- (1) Have the menus for those residents planned by a professionally qualified dietitian, or reviewed and approved by the attending physician; and
- (2) Supervise the preparation and serving of meals to insure that the resident accepts the special diet.
- (c) The ICF must keep for 30 days a record of each menu as served.

Medications

- 33. *Licensed pharmacist*. The ICF must either:
- (a) employ a licensed pharmacist; or
- (b) Have a formal arrangement with a licensed pharmacist to advise the ICF on ordering, storage, administration, disposal, and recordkeeping of drugs and biologicals.

been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed etained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 310

- 34. *Orders for medications*.
- (a) The resident's attending or staff physician must order all medications for the resident.
- (b) The order may be either oral or written.
- (c) If the order is oral:
- The physician must give it only to a licensed nurse, pharmacist, or another physician; and
- (2) The individual receiving the order must record and sign it immediately and have the attending physician sign it in a manner consistent with good medical practice.
- 35. *Methods to control medication dosage*. The ICF must have written policies and procedures for controlling medication dosage, by automatic stop orders or other methods, when the physician does not include in the order a specific limit on the time or number of doses. These procedures must include notice to the attending physician that the medication is being stopped as of a certain date or after a certain number of doses.
- 36. Review of medications.
- (a) A registered nurse must review medications monthly for each resident and notify the physician if changes are appropriate.
- (b) The attending or staff physician must review the medications quarterly.
- 37. Administering medications.
- (a) Before administering any medication to a resident, a staff member must complete a State-approved training program in medication administration.
- (b) The ICF may allow a resident to give himself a medication only if the attending physician gives permission.

Health Services

- 38. Health services.
- (a) The ICF must provide for each resident health services that:

been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from the original paper book, not from files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 311

- Meet the requirements of 442.339 through 442.342; and
- Include treatment, medications, diet, and any other health service prescribed or planned for the resident.
- (b) The ICF must provide these services 24 hours a day.
- 39. Supervision.
- (a) The ICF must have a registered nurse or a licensed practical or vocational nurse to supervise the ICF's health services full time, 7 days a week, on the day shift.
- The nurse must have a current license to practice in the State. (b)
- If the ICF employs a licensed or practical or vocational nurse to supervise health services, the ICF must have a formal contract with a registered nurse to consult with the licensed practical or vocational nurse at regular intervals, but not less than 4 hours each
- (d) To be qualified to serve as a health services supervisor, a licensed practical or vocational nurse must:
- (1) Be a graduate of a State-approved school of practical nursing;
- Have education or other training that the State authority responsible for licensing practical nurses considers equal to graduation from a State-approved school of practical nursing; or
- (3) Have passed the Public Health Service examination for waivered licensed practical or vocational nurses.
- The ICF may employ as charge nurse an individual who is licensed by the State in a category other than registered nurse or licensed practical or vocational nurse if:
- The individual has completed a training program to get the license that included at least the same number of classroom and practice hours in all nursing subjects as in the program of a State-approved school of practical or vocational nursing; and

been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from the original paper book, not from files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX B 312

(2) The State agency responsible for licensing the individual submits a report to the Medicaid agency comparing State-licensed practical nurse or vocational nurse course requirements with those for the program completed by the individual.

- 40. 24-hour staffing. The ICF must have responsible staff members on duty and awake 24 hours a day to take prompt, appropriate action in case of injury, illness, fire, or other emergency.
- 41. *Individual health care plan.*
- (a) Appropriate staff must develop and implement a written health care plan for each resident according to the instructions of the attending or staff physician.
- (b) The plan must be reviewed and revised as needed but at least quarterly.
- 42. *Nursing care*. The ICF must provide nursing care for each resident as needed, including restorative nursing care that enables each resident to achieve and maintain the highest possible degree of function, self-care, and independence.

Other Services

- 43. Rehabilitative services.
- (a) The ICF must provide rehabilitative services for each resident as needed.
- (b) The ICF must either provide these services itself or arrange for them with qualified outside resources.
- (c) The rehabilitative services must be designed to:
- (1) Maintain and improve the resident's ability to function independently;
- (2) Prevent, as much as possible, advancement of progressive disabilities; and
- (3) Restore maximum function.
- (d) The rehabilitative services must be provided by:
- (1) Qualified therapists or qualified assistants, as defined in 42 CFR 405.1101(m), (n), (q), (r), and (t), in accordance with accepted professional practices; and

APPENDIX B 313

(2) Other supportive personnel under appropriate supervision.

- (e) The rehabilitative services must be provided under a written plan of care that is:
- (1) Developed in consultation with the attending physician and, if necessary, an appropriate therapist; and
- (2) Based on the attending physician's orders and an assessment of the resident's needs.
- (f) The resident's progress under the plan must be reviewed regularly and the plan must be changed as necessary.
- 44. Social services.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

retained, and some typographic errors may have

accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the

from the original paper book, not from

files created

from XML

- (a) The ICF must provide social services for each resident as needed.
- (b) The ICF must either provide these services itself or arrange for them with qualified outside resources.
- (c) The ICF must designate one staff member, qualified by training or experience, to be responsible for:
- (1) Arranging for social services; and
- (2) Integrating social services with other elements of the plan of care.
- (d) These services must be provided under a written plan of care that is:
- (1) Placed in the resident's record; and
- (2) Evaluated periodically in conjunction with the resident's overall plan of care.
- 45. Activities program. The ICF must:
 - a) Provide an activities program designed to encourage each resident to maintain normal activity and to return to self-care;
- (b) Designate one staff member, qualified by training or experience in directing group activity, to be responsible for it;
- (c) Have a plan for independent and group activities for each resident that is:
- (1) Developed according to his needs and interests;
- (2) Incorporated in his overall plan of care;
- (3) Reviewed, with his participation, at least quarterly; and

APPENDIX B 314

- (4) Changed as needed.
- (d) Provide adequate recreation areas with sufficient equipment and materials to support the program.
- 46. Physician services.
- (a) The ICF must have policies and procedures to insure that the health care of each resident is under the continuing supervision of a physician.
- (b) The physician must see the resident whenever necessary but at least once every 60 days unless the physician decides that this frequency is unnecessary and records the reasons for that decision.

C. STANDARDS FOR HOSPITALS AND SNFS PROVIDING ICF SERVICES (42 CFR 442.254)

- (a) If a hospital or SNF participating in Medicare or Medicaid is also a provider of ICF services other than ICF/MR services, it must meet the following ICF standards
- (1) Section 442.304, resident services director.
- Section 442.317(a), (b), agreements with outside resources for institutional services.
- (3) Section 442.319, plan of care.
- (4) Section 442.320, resident financial records.
- (5) Section 442.324(b), handrails.
- (6) Sections 442.338 through 442.342, health services.
- (7) Section 442.343, rehabilitative services.
- (8) Section 442.344, social services.
- (9) Section 442.345, activities program.
- (10) Section 442.346, physician services.
- (b) If a hospital or SNF participating in Medicare or Medicaid is also a provider of ICF/MR services, it must meet the standards in Subpart G of this part.

accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

from

from the original paper book, not

files created

from XML

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

retained, and some typographic errors may have

Appendix C

Report of Survey of State Health Facility Licensure and Certification Agencies

PURPOSE

The Institute of Medicine Committee on Nursing Home Regulation conducted a mail survey of 50 state and the District of Columbia health facility licensure and certification agencies to

- obtain data about the resources committed by each jurisdiction to inspect and certify nursing homes under the Medicaid and Medicare programs, and
- obtain data on the statutory availability and use by states of various types of intermediate sanctions for enforcing compliance with nursing home standards.

The survey was designed with the cooperation and assistance of the officers and board members of the National Association of State Health Facility Licensure and Certification Directors. The survey questionnaire was developed, and pretested in September 1984 on three health facility licensure and certification directors. On the basis of the pretest, 18 questions were modified. The final version covered eight topics:

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from XML files created from the original paper book, not from About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX C 316

- (1) organization of nursing home activities,
- (2) survey agency personnel and budget,
- (3) survey agency workload,
- (4) state standards,
- (5) special surveyor training,
- (6) survey procedures and coordination agreements,
- (7) enforcement, and
- (8) survey directors' views on federal regulation.

A copy of the questionnaire is attached to this Appendix.

Clearance to conduct the survey was received from the Office of Management and Budget on November 28, 1984. The questionnaires were mailed, with an endorsement from the Association of State Health Facility Licensure and Certification Directors, on November 29, 1984. The recipients were the 51 current Health Facility Licensure and Certification directors. Forty-seven responded.

From January to March 1985, staff collected and analyzed the data, which were then used to produce descriptive and inferential statistics, to make interstate comparisons, and to observe changes in survey agency resources and enforcement activities from 1980 to 1984. The survey data were also merged with existing state demographic and nursing home data available from the Medicare/Medicaid Automated Certification System (MMACS), and with other data from the HCFA Office of Research and Development and from published literature, so that factors contributing to state variations could be determined. Because of the population size, and the nominative level of most of the data, the major analyses performed were (1) frequencies for all variables, and (2) two-bytwo and two-by-three contingency table comparisons of major variables such as survey agency budgets, staff, numbers of surveys completed, surveyor training, and survey and enforcement procedures. Frequencies, medians, and ranges of various responses of variables are reported in the attached copy of the actual survey. Significant associations and correlations are discussed in the "Summary of Findings" section.

Data validity was assessed. Because the committee intentionally designed the survey to gather information

that could not be obtained from other sources, Medicare and Medicaid budget data supplied by the HCFA were the only external data available to check the validity of the information collected by the survey. Staff compared the total federal Medicare and Medicaid 1983/1984 allocations as reported in the survey with federal Medicare and Medicaid allocations to the states as reported by the HCFA. Of the comparisons (43 Medicare and 39 Medicaid), 16 of the survey figures and those provided by the HCFA were identical; 44 were within a tolerable error. Of the remaining 22 discrepancies, only 4 could not be corrected. With these corrections, the data demonstrated external validity.

The survey data also were checked for their power to discriminate. Questions that received the same answer from all, or nearly all, of the respondents, and questions that had received little or no response, were not used for correlational analyses. In the first case, the information collected does not discriminate among respondents. In the second, insufficient information was collected. Although the consistency or the unavailability of data were themselves interesting and noted in the frequency analyses, the responses received were not useful as variables for comparative analyses and were therefore excluded from further analysis.

Questions were considered nondiscriminating if 37 or more (80 percent) of the 47 respondents answered the question in the same way. Questions were considered to provide insufficient information if 37 or more (80 percent) of the respondents failed to answer the question.

The survey data provided the committee with factual information concerning the feasibility and desirability of changing the current survey and certification system. Many of the committee's conclusions on the survey process, on state agency resources, and on state enforcement activities are based on survey findings.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Major findings for each of the eight topics covered by the survey are summarized below. In each case, the number

of respondents is given as a proportion of the total respondents.

Organization of Nursing Home Regulation Activities

All 47 responding agencies conduct Medicare certification inspections; 46 conduct licensure, Medicaid certification inspections, and complaint investigation visits to nursing homes. Two-thirds conduct life safety code inspections (32/47) and just over a third (17/47) also are responsible for inspection of care visits. Very few make certificate-of-need determinations (7/47) or set Medicaid nursing home reimbursement rates (2/47).

The majority of the agencies are also responsible for licensing and certification activities for other types of health facilities. All but three handle acute care hospitals, all but two handle home health agencies and hospices, and most also are responsible for board-and-care facilities (33/47).

Survey Agency Personnel and Budget

State agencies vary greatly in the size of their budget and staff per nursing home. The percentage of total survey agency resources allocated to nursing-home-related activities ranges from a high of 93 percent to a low of 14 percent; the median is 56 percent. The amount of money allocated for regulatory activities per nursing home ranges from a minimum of \$1,296 to a maximum of \$13,018, with a median of \$4,700. The number of nursing homes per available full-time equivalent (FTE) licensing and certification field surveyor varies from a low of 0.78 to a high of 41.96, with a median of 13.00.

Nineteen states reported that their licensing funds increased by less than 50 percent from 1980 to 1984; 17 reported that their funds increased by more than 50 percent. About half the states reported that their total budget decreased between 1980 and 1984; the other half reported that their budget increased between 1980 and 1984. Half the states reported that the number of field surveyors had decreased between 1980 and 1984; the other half reported that the number had increased.

Twenty-two reported that total staff decreased between 1980 and 1984; 19 reported that total staff increased.

Survey Agency Workload

Of the 17 state survey agencies performing inspection-of-care (IOC) reviews in addition to licensure and certification surveys, 9 indicated that these reviews are done by the same team at the same visit as the certification survey. In the other states, IOC is done by a different team or during a separate visit. Thirty-four states reported that complaints are investigated by the regular surveyors; 10 reported that they have a separate survey staff to investigate complaints.

The length of facility certification visits varies by state, by facility classification, and by type of visit. Combined licensing and certification surveys for the average-quality 100-bed nursing home ranged from 1.0 to 12.0 persondays for ICFs (with a median of 5.9), and from 1.5 to 18 person-days for SNFs (with a median of 6.8). Post-certification follow-up visits ranged from 0.5 to 4.0 person-days for ICFs (with a median of 1.5), and from 0.5 to 6.0 person-days for SNFs (with a median of 2.0). Post-certification visits average about one per facility. Complaint visits vary in length by state, but not by type of facility. The longest average visit is 2.0 and the shortest 0.4 person-days, with a median of 1.0 for both SNFs and ICFs.

Eleven states reported that the total number of visits to facilities decreased between 1980 and 1984; 20 reported that the total number of visits to facilities increased. The change in the number of follow-up visits made between 1980 and 1984 ranged from a decrease of 1,013 to an increase of 631 (or a 96 percent decrease to a 215 percent increase).

State Regulatory Standards

Just over half (24/47) of the respondents judged that their state's licensure requirements for ICFs are more

stringent than those of the federal government, one-quarter (11/47) said they were the same, and one-quarter (12/47) said they were less stringent. One-third (17/47) of the directors asserted that their state's licensure requirements for SNFs are more stringent than the federal requirements, one-third (14/47) said they were about the same, and one-third (14/47) said they were less stringent.

Special Surveyor Training

Thirty-three states reported that they conduct special enforcement training for surveyors. The median number of hours of training is 7.5, but ranged in different states from 1 to 96 hours. Nine states reported that training is conducted by internal staff, 1 said training is conducted by external staff, 2 use outside consultants, and 22 said that they use a combination of the above. Twenty-six pay for training in a line item in the agency budget, seven include training funds in another line item, one uses funds external to the agency, and two use a combination of internal and external funds.

All of the states that have special enforcement training think that it has improved the surveyor's work and that training should continue.

Survey Procedures and Coordination Arrangements

Most of the agencies conduct licensure inspections once every 12 months (40/47) and certification inspections once every 12 months (42/47). All states reported that licensure and certification surveys are combined, with roughly three-quarters always doing combined surveys (33/47); the remainder combine surveys only some of the time. Seven states indicated that they use a screening or abbreviated survey to determine which facilities should receive a full-licensure or certification survey.

Most agencies reported that their surveyors review previous licensure (45/47), previous certification (47/47), inspection-of-care reports (34/47), and complaint

reports (42/47) before conducting a survey. Thirty-three states indicated that surveyors always conduct "hands-on" assessments of residents during certification surveys. Most surveyors complete HCFA Form 2567 at the office, most within 10 days of the inspection (41/47). The number of days varies from 2 to 18.

Thirty-three states indicated that some aspect of their licensure and/or certification procedures has been changed in recent years.

Enforcement

Nearly all state survey agencies responding indicated that they have at least several intermediate licensure sanctions available to them, but very few are applying any formal sanctions, federal or state. Eighty-five percent of the total actions are taken in 13 states. Most respondents, however, did rate their state's enforcement efforts favorably.

Thirty-nine states said that any surveyor has the authority to cite a deficiency; three said that the team leader must make the decision to cite; two said that a supervisor must make the decision; and three states listed "other" authorities.

Thirty-six states reported that the number of standards out of compliance that would cause the nursing services condition to be marked out-of-compliance "depends." Usually they said it depended on "the severity" of the violation. Five states listed specific standards which 'would put the nursing services condition out of compliance: standards 124, 134, and 181 (director of nurses, 24-hour nursing, and administration of drugs, respectively). Two states said any standard out of compliance would put the condition out of compliance; one said one standard was sufficient; two said two; and one said three.

Thirty state directors thought that one onsite visit to a facility is adequate to verify a plan of correction; 13 said that several visits are necessary; 3 said that none are necessary. Most states do a routine follow-up visit for each full survey; it lasts one-third as long as the

original visit. Most survey agency directors think this is a reasonable procedure.

Twenty-three states reported that they do not have attorneys on staff who are specially designated to deal with enforcement actions. Ten states have one attorney who specializes, five have more than one. Only 6 reported that they have hearing officers designated for nursing home enforcement; 28 do not. Four have special investigators; 30 do not. Two have special assignment surveyors.

When the states take court action, 13 have a staff attorney available to defend them; 31 have a departmental attorney available, and 3 have no attorney available. Twenty said that their attorney carried out their request to file an action all of the time, 11 said most of the time, 12 said some of the time, and 2 have never requested an action.

States have, on the average, 8 available sanctions under their state licensure laws. The survey inquired about 14. Some states had all 14, and some had only a few. Most states have the authority to revoke a facility's license (44/47), to decertify a facility (40/47), and to seek a court injunction (37/47).

Additionally, 36 states reported having authority to relocate residents from substandard facilities; 35 have the authority to issue conditional licenses; 32 have the authority to suspend all new admissions; 30 have the authority to impose criminal penalties for patient abuse; 26 have administrative fining authority; 25 have the authority to take licensure records into consideration in certificate-of-need recommendations; 21 have the authority to place a facility into receivership; 19 report having the authority to withhold Medicaid payments to noncompliant facilities; 15 have the authority to issue probationary licenses; 9 have the authority to reduce the Medicaid reimbursement rates of noncompliant nursing homes; and 7 have the authority to appoint a monitor to a facility (see attached copy of survey questionnaire).

In states that have the sanction, the survey agencies usually have the authority to recommend a sanction but not necessarily the authority to decide whether to carry out a sanction. In 9 of the 14 categories, most of the state agencies that have the sanction have the authority to

recommend the sanction, but less than half have the authority to decide whether to use the sanction.

323

The availability of sanctions in a state seems to be associated with (1) whether surveyors receive special enforcement training, (2) the agency budget per nursing home, (3) the total number of state agency visits to nursing homes, and (4) the survey agency director's opinion of the survey process regulations. States that have special enforcement training are more likely to have more types of sanctions available. States with high budgets per nursing home also have high numbers of sanctions available. States that make a lot of visits are likely to have more sanctions available. And agency directors who are content with the procedural regulations are more likely to have more sanctions available to them.* States that have committed significant efforts to strengthening nursing home regulation, whether in special staff training, increased survey agency budgets, or frequency of inspection visits, are also those that have elected to have a variety of sanctions available. Perhaps political pressures have stirred all of these interests simultaneously, or perhaps the greater training and resource allocations have uncovered the need for more sanctions.

Regarding enforcement actions, 20 states report that they have written guidelines for when and how to take a formal enforcement action; 27 do not.

The total numbers of enforcement actions taken by states in each category in 1983 ranged from one to dozens, to several hundred in a few categories (civil fines, criminal penalties, and withholding of payments). However, at least 75 percent of the actions taken in each category were taken by one, two, or three states. (It was not necessarily the same state in each category; states seem to favor one or two sanctions.) The median number of types of enforcement actions used by an agency was two. The median total number of actions taken was 11.

The number of reported actions taken increased in all but one category (conditional licensing) from 1980 to

^{*} Findings are significant at the .10 level of confidence.

1983-1984. In 1983, 15 states revoked the license of at least 1 facility; 15 suspended admissions to one or more facilities; 14 relocated residents from a facility; 14 issued conditional licenses; 13 issued fines; 13 decertified facilities; 10 took licensure records into account on certificate-of-need recommendations; 9 obtained injunctions; 8 placed a facility into receivership; 5 issued probationary licenses; 3 withheld Medicaid payments to a facility; 3 appointed a monitor to a facility; and 1 reduced Medicaid rates to a facility.

Of those reporting having taken enforcement actions, the number of types of actions taken and the total number of actions taken seem to be correlated with (1) special enforcement training, (2) whether recent changes in the survey process have taken place, (3) minimum number of required nursing hours, (4) percentage of agency resources allocated to nursing homes, (5) survey agency budget per nursing home, (6) total numbers of visits in 1983-1984, (7) changes in state licensing funds, (8) number of sanctions available, and (9) statewide per capita income. More training was positively linked with using more types of enforcement actions, as well as implementing more actions. Changes in the survey process were also positively linked with numbers of types and numbers of actions taken. States with higher nursing requirements, and those with more monetary resources and more staff/time resources allocated to nursing homes, implement more kinds of sanctions and more sanctions. Larger increases in state licensing funds from 1980 to 1983-1984 are related to fewer enforcement actions; smaller increases are related to more types and numbers of enforcement actions. The number of available sanctions is directly related to their use. And a higher per capita income is related to a higher number of types of sanctions applied.

The correlations with enforcement activity seem to be a reflection of the amount of political interest states take in nursing homes. Those that have higher nursing requirements, special training, more available sanctions, that have made recent changes in the survey process, and that allocate more resources to nursing home surveying seem to be more active in enforcement. Or perhaps these factors make it easier for states to bring enforcement

actions. States that take more enforcement actions have more knowledge, better rules, and more resources for monitoring the situation.

Agencies tend to rate sanctions favorably. In 11 of the categories, well over half of those using the sanction rated it as very effective or effective. Fifteen agencies said that their overall enforcement efforts were very effective, 29 said their efforts were effective, and 3 said their efforts were not effective. These opinions did not correlate with availability and use of sanctions. Agencies may be reluctant to downgrade the effectiveness of the sanctions available to them, or their own efforts. When actions were taken to court, three agency directors said that the court supported the agency's position all of the time, 20 said most of the time, 15 said some of the time, and 9 have never taken a facility to court. Again, these opinions were not related to use of sanctions.

Twenty states said that particular sanctions are effective because they affect the income of the provider. Other reasons given included the ability to implement the action quickly (7), the ability to remove an operator (4), and publicity (5). The obstacle to enforcement that was mentioned most often was time delays in implementing a sanction, both administrative and legal (11). Others mentioned the difficulty of administering some of the sanctions (3), potential harm to residents (transfer trauma, decreases in funds being taken out on patients) (4), and too little impact on the provider's income (2). More states listed reasons for the success of sanctions than listed obstacles (37 as opposed to 19). This is because several did not rate unfavorably any of the sanctions they used.

Views on Federal Regulations

The majority of respondents believe that current federal certification regulations could ensure nursing home services of adequate quality with certain modifications. A few forwarded specific suggestions for changes.

Eight state agency directors reported that they believe that current federal SNF Conditions of Participation can

ensure adequate nursing home services as they are; 9 believe that they could ensure this quality if some unnecessary or unmeasurable provisions were deleted; 20 believe that they could ensure this quality if certain additions and modification were included; and 10 believe that they cannot ensure adequate-quality nursing home services without a major overhaul and reorientation. Six directors believe that current federal ICF Standards can ensure adequate-quality nursing home services as they are; 8 believe that certain deletions are needed and 16 believe that certain additions are needed. Thirteen believe that these standards cannot ensure adequate-quality nursing home services without a major overhaul and reorientation. Regarding the current federal survey procedures, 11 state agency directors think that the regulations work reasonably well as they are; 7 think they would work with some deletions; 20 think they would work with changes and additions; 7 think they would work if the federal government gave states more support; and 2 think they need to be completely revised.

Regarding specific changes, only two respondents identified a specific federal survey and certification standard as inhibiting the quality of patient care: the utilization control condition. The utilization control condition was also mentioned consistently as not worth the time and cost of surveying (11/47). Twenty-three other standards were stated to be not worth the time and cost by 1, 2, or 3 respondents. Consistently mentioned as ineffective were the utilization control condition (11/47) and the quarterly staffing reports standard (5/47). Twenty-seven other standards were mentioned by either 1, 2, or 3 respondents. Consistently named as needing modification were the conditions for nursing services (5/47), medical director (4/47), and physician services (4/47). Thirty-three others were mentioned by 1, 2, or 3, respondents. Few agencies listed more than one federal regulation as ineffective, or not worth the time and cost. Few agencies listed more than two choices for regulations which should be retained in a modified form.

The five SNF Conditions of Participation identified most often as being the most important for ensuring adequate-quality patient care were nursing services

(36/47), dietetic services (30/47), pharmaceutical services (24/47), physician services (19/47), and physical environment (13/47).

Thirty-two agency directors agreed that the federal regulations should incorporate minimum nurse-to-patient staffing ratios. Thirty-six replied that the regulations, procedures, and forms for surveying skilled and intermediate-level facilities should be combined into one comprehensive survey. Thirty-four thought that states should require certification of nurse's aides. Thirty-four thought that the survey process should include a screening instrument. Twenty-eight said the time-limited agreement should be dropped. Forty-five agreed that the survey should include patient assessment. Thirty wanted survey results publicly posted. Forty-six disagreed with the proposal to allow JCAH accreditation to replace surveys.

SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE

The attached copy of the IOM Committee on Nursing Home Regulation Survey of Health Facility Licensure and Certification Directors contains the frequencies of responses for each of the questions asked. For questions that had unique responses from each state, such as budget, staffing, and survey visits, the median, the lowest number, and the highest number are given.

print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

from the original paper book, not from

files created

from XML

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot

accidentally inserted. Please use the

retained, and some typographic errors may have

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX C 328

Survey of State Licensure and Certification Agency Directors

Form Approved OMB No.:0938-0395

<u>Instructions</u>. This survey is being conducted by the Committee on Nursing Home Regulation of the Institute of Medicine, National Academy of Sciences. In order to provide a complete picture of each state's nursing home regulatory system to the study Committee, this questionnaire seeks information about state laws, organizations, staffing, workload, and procedures.

Please fill out the following questionnaire as completely as possible, and return it in the enclosed envelope by <u>December 15, 1984</u>. There are lines whenever short answers are required. There are parentheses whenever a check mark is required. Please use an "X" for the check mark. In order to complete the questionnaire, you may need to confer with others.

In the questionnaire, "survey agency" refers to the state agency which administers licensure and/or certification surveys of nursing homes, and "Medicaid agency" refers to the single state agency which administers Title XIX funds.

Thank you very much for your cooperation.

If you have any questions regarding the questionnaire, please call Mike McGeary at the Institute of Medicine (202) 334-2312.

- 1. Name of State:
- 2. Name of respondent:
- Title of respondent:
- 4. Name of organizational unit headed by respondent:
- 5. Name of department in which unit is located:
- 6. Phone number of respondent (required in case clarifying information is needed):

HCFA-466

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution OMB No. 0938-0395 HCF

STATE:		

A. Organization of Nursing Home Regulation Activities

7. Does the survey and certification unit do any of the following activities concerning nursing homes in your state:

	Activity	Yes/no	If no, name responsible agency and its dept
а.	State licensure surveys of nursing homes?	46/1	
b.	Medicaid certification surveys?	46/0	
c.	Medicare certification surveys?	47/0	
d.	Inspection of care reviews?	17/29	
e.	Setting of Medicare reimbursement rates for nursing homes?	2/44	
f.	Complaint investi- gations concerning nursing homes?	46/1	
g.	Life safety code inspections of nursing homes?	32/15	
h.	Certificate of need determinations	7/37	

8. Does your agency also survey any of the following types of health facilities?

	faci	lities?		
		Facility type	Yes/no	If no, name of responsible agency
	a.	Hospitals	44/3	
	b.	Home health agencies	45/2	
	c.	Hospices	45/2	
	d.	Board and care/domiciliary/ rest homes	33/14	
	e.	Supervised or congregate living facilities	13/33	4
F	A-466			

nttp)://\	ww	۷
created from the original paper book, not from the	ypesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be	lication as the authoritative version for attribution.	v
XML files o	and other	n of this pub	
as been recomposed from >	ord breaks, heading styles,	Please use the print version	
representation of the original work ha	are true to the original; line lengths, w	may have been accidentally inserted.	
About this PDF file: This new digital	original typesetting files. Page breaks	retained, and some typographic errors	

OMB	No.	0938-0395	STATE:
	9.	Are nursing home surveys officially delegated county level government agencies?	by your state to any city or
	a.	(43) No.	

(4) Yes, they are delegated to (do not include your own

district office, please list):

B. Survey Agency Personnel and Budget*

10. What is the total number of all full-time equivalent persons in your survey agency? (Include those who work on other than nursing home surveys.)

Median = 43.5; Range = 3 to 530

11. What were your licensing and certification expenditures for all facilities for fiscal years 1980 and 1983 or 1984 (the most recent year for which you have data)?

	FY ends**	:	1980	(check appr year) 1983 1984 ()	
	lget egory	Median	Range	Median	Range
a.	SNF 18	101,139	3,346- 1,689,724	117,970	2,327- 2,486,881
ъ.	Non-SNF 18	246,699	48,827- 1,863,714	286,130	13,376- 4,500,121
с.	Total Title 18	240,743	65,820- 3,533,438	307,113	36,123- 6,494,925
d.	Federal Title 19	396,425	41,000- 4,294,143	411,115	51,876- 3,673,755
e.	State match for Title 19	56,915	2,913- 2,129,361	209,773	11,633- 3,244,319
f.	Total Title 19	541,981	66,175- 7,049,190	636,659	63,509- 6,964,348
g٠	State licensure only	206,880	45,386- 7,365,516	376,928	79,376- 6,964,348
h.	TOTAL	1,321,052	131,995-15,592,224	1,526,960	99,632-35,450,768

^{*}Please attach an organization chart of your agency and department.
**If your FY ends on a different date for each of the following questions, please
note date; otherwise write S for same as listed in question 11.

HCFA-466

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the

MO	ſB No.	0938-039	95				STATE:_	
10) No.		.11-63			ees engaged	/m =11 ha	
12						activities		arcii
		F	Y ends:		198	0	(check a	ppropriate
								183 () or)
	Por	ition			Median	Range	Median	Range
		ition						
	a.	Survey	ors		23	3-200	26	3-151
	ь.	Others superv						
			strative		13	2-114	14	2-114
	c.	TOTAL	,		48	6-250	44	
•								<u>6-246</u>
13				ntage of y on effort			total stat	e survey and
		Median	Range					
	a.	<u>56</u> %	14-93	Nursing	homes (S	NF and/or I	CF)?	
	ь.	<u>20</u> %	2-65	(e.g., I	CF/MRs,	care facili hospices, h	ome health	agencies,
						omiciliary/ pervised li		
	c.	20%	0-54	Other he	alth fac	ilities (e.	g., hospit	als,
		_				RDs, etc.)?		
		100%		TOTAL				
14	. If	your agei	ncy cond	ucts inspe	ction of	care review	ws, what w	ere your
	you	have the	e most r			se leave bla		ar for which done in
	you	r agency	•					
							(check a	ppropriate 183 ()
		FY e	nds:		198	0	or 1984	()
	Bud	get		Median	Range		Median	Range
	а.	Title 1	9	540,721	17,419	-6,575,526	570,066	77,570- 8,506,510
	ь.	State ma	atch	349,045	5,806	-2,586,882	288,904	33,496- 3,448,966
	c.	Total I	ос					
		expen	ditures	1,019,700	23,225	-9,162,408	770,088	129,284-11,195,547
HC	CFA-46	6						

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be

Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution of the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution of the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution 12.								
on the								
at ta								
Į j								
sic								
9 9								
> 0								
<u> </u>								
омв (та	No. 0938-0395				STA	ATE:		
00								
15.	How many full-time e	quivalen	t employe	s in you	r agency	were	engage	d in
8 8	inspection of care re							
th edi					(che	eck app	ropria	te
. S	777 1		100		year	1983	()	
	FY ends:_		198	J	or .	1984 ()	
tio tip	Position	Median	Range	Median	Range			
<u> </u>	a. RNs	11	0- 84	9.5	0-84			
<u>D</u>	 Social workers and others 	9	0-373	5.5	0-268			
Nis Nis								
± ±	c. Total FTEs	26	0-439	18.0	0-308			
16.	In addition to the p	ersonnel	who carr	y out sur	vey and	inspec	tion c	f
	care functions who a whose specific duties							el
S S	facilities or indivi-							If
	yes, please indicate	full-ti	me equiva	lent posi	tions or	n the a	ppropr	iate
" [line.)							
0	a. Attorneys			sponse States 2	0 1 3 10	2 3	<u>4</u>	8 11
th th	a. Accorneys		" .	states 2.	5 10	2 1	1	
Φ 0	 Hearing officers, law judges 	/admin.		28	8 4	1 1		
n n	iaw Judges							
88	c. Investigators			31	3		1	
lea	d. Special assignmen	nt surve	yors	30	0 1			1
<u> </u>	e. Other (specify):							
, p	e. Other (specify):					_		
1								
17.	Does your agency have	e under	state law	a nursin	g home	complai	nt and	abuse
[[a]	reporting system?							
e II	a. (34) Yes.							
Į p	b. (7) No, but su	ch a sys	tem is op-	erated by	another	agenc	y (ple	ase
30	specify):							
								-
990	c. (6) No, there	is no st	atutory c	omplaint :	system.			
may have been accidentally inserted.	If your agency handle	es nursi	ng home c	omplaints	, are th	ney inv	estiga	ted by:
ia x	a. (35) the regula							
;					_			
n n	b. (10) a separate	ly staff	ed unit o	t <u>Median</u>	= 5; <u>Rar</u>	nge = 1	-30 F	TEs?
	c. (0) others? (p	lease sp	ecify): _					_
HCF.	7A-466							
e e e								
3 ⊆								
a de								
. 50 . 10								
0								
\$								
n He								
108								
p								
al								
refained, and some typographic errors								
ine in								
tai								
5 2								

OMB	No.	0938-0395

C. Survey Agency Workload

19. How many <u>noncertified</u> nursing homes with SNF and/or ICF-like services did your agency license (as of September 1984) that have no federally certified beds?

$\underline{Median = 7.5}; \underline{Range = 0-211}$

20. How many visits to certified SNFs and ICFs did your agency make in 1980 and in 1983 or 1984?

	FY ends:	1980		(check appro Year) 1983 (or 1984 ()	
Тур	e of Visit	Median	Range	Median	Range
a.	Full licensure or certification surveys	250.5	15- 5,331		18- 5,432
ь.	Abbreviated or partial surveys	_0	0- 405	0	0- 708
c.	Post certification revisits	268	0- 1,827	187	0- 2,280
d.	Complaint investigations	151.5	0- 5,371	142	0- 7,218
e.	Inspection of care visits	166.5	0- 1,975	102	0- 1,900
f.	Other visits	59	0- 1,157	76	0- 6,004
	Total	914	24-14,370	1,091.5	26-21,839

HCFA-466

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

etained, and some typographic errors may have

been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

APPENDIX C 334

мв	No.	0938-0395

٥

STATE:

21. In an average visit, how many <u>person-days</u> would your agency spend on site conducting the following activities in a nursing home of average size - approximately 100 beds - and quality? (E.g., a three person team spending two days in a facility would spend six person-days).

			SNF	<u>10</u>	<u>ICF</u>		ICF
		Median	Range	Median	Range	Median	Range
a.	Certification and Licensure Survey(s)	6.8	<u>1-18</u> da	5.9	<u>1-12</u> da	6.5	<u>1.5-20</u> da
ъ.	Inspection of Care	8.0	<u>3-14</u> da	<u>7.5</u>	<u>2-17</u> da	8.0	3.0-20 da
c.	Post Certification Revisits	2.0	<u>0.5-6</u> da	1.5	<u>0.5-6</u> da	2.0	<u>0.5-25</u> da
d.	Complaint Investigations	1.0	<u>0.4-2</u> da	1.0	<u>0.4-2</u> da	1.0	<u>0.4- 4</u> da
e.	Other:	0.5	<u>.5-6</u> da	1.0	<u>0.5-6</u> da	1.0	<u>0.5- 2</u> da

- 22. Do all the surveyors in your agency work out of the central office?
 - a. (24) Yes, they are all based at the central office.
 - b. (22) No, we have <u>Median = 4; Range = 1-17</u> field or district offices and/or <u>Median = 0; Range = 0-8</u> staff who work out of their homes.

D. State Regulatory Standards

- 23. In comparison with current federal Conditions of Participation and standards, are your state's licensing requirements for skilled facilities:
 - a. (14) Exactly or about the same as the federal rules?

 - c. (17) More stringent than the federal rules? The major differences are:

HCFA-466

OMB	No.	0938-0	395 STATE:
24.			son with current federal standards, are your state's requirements for intermediate facilities:
	a.	(11)	Exactly or about the same as the federal rules?
	ь.	(12)	Lower/less stringent than the federal rules? The major differences are:
	c.	(24)	Higher/more stringent than the federal rules? The major differences are:
			E. Special Surveyor Training
25.	enf doc in	orcemen umentat enforce	surveyors received "specific" training to better justify t actions when necessary, including 1) how to prepare better ion of evidence; 2) how to be a better participant/witness ment proceedings; 3) how to work with the court, with the r state attorneys, and hearing officers?
	a.	(33)	Yes. (If yes, answer question $\underline{26}$.)
	b.	(14)	No. (If no, skip to question 31 .)
26.	How	many h	ours of such training does each surveyor receive in a year?
		7.5 M	Range = 1-96
27.	Who	conduc	ts the training?
	a.	(9)	Staff internal to our agency
	b.	(1)	State staff external to our agency, e.g. the District Attorney's office $\label{eq:constraint} % \begin{array}{ll} & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ \end{array}$
	c.	(2)	Outside consultants
	d.	(22)	Combination of the above
28.	Who	pays f	or the training? Where do the funds come from?
	a.	(26)	Line item in our budget
	b.	(7)	Included in another line item
	c.	(1)	Funds external to agency
HCF.	A-46	6	

омв	No.	0938-03	395 STATE:
29.	Has	the tra	aining assisted the surveyor to carry out his/her duties?
	a.	(33)	Yes: comment, how
	b.	(0)	No: comment, how
30.	Shor	uld the	training continue?
	a.	(34)	Yes.
	b.	(0)	No.
		F.	Survey Procedures and Coordination Arrangements
21	4	liconou	are and certification surveys combined?
31.			
	a.	(2)	Our state only conducts the federal certification survey
	b.	(33)	Yes, all the time.
	c.	(11)	Yes, sometimes. Please explain:
	,	(1)	N. I. a. I.
	d.	(1)	No, but they are both done by this agency on different visits
	e.	(0)	No, our agency does one; another agency does the other
32.			ntly are facilities in your state given the full licensure ication surveys?
	а.	All fac	ilities are surveyed for licensure every <u>12</u> months.
	b. /	All fac	ilities are surveyed for certification every 12 months.
	c. '	The time	e period between full surveys varies, depending on:
		9 resp	
	-		
HCF	A-46	О	

OMB	No. 0938-0395	STATE:
33.	If a full survey is not always given, do you abbreviated survey to determine which facilicensure or certification survey?	
	a. (7) Yes.	
	b. (22) No.	
34.	During licensure/certification surveys, do "hands-on" assessment of residents?	surveyors conduct a
	a. (33) Always, as as matter of agency po	licy.
	b. (12) Sometimes, if necessary to collect	t information.
	c. (2) Rarely.	
35.	Have you changed your licensure and/or cert in recent years?	tification survey procedur
	a. (14) No.	
	b. (33) Yes; the major changes are:	
36.	Does your agency have written guidelines on how surveyors should interpret State regula	
	a. (16) Yes. (If yes, please return a copy this questionnaire.)	y of the guidelines with
	b. (31) No.	
37.	When is the statement of deficiency form (A	HCFA 2567) completed?
	a. (3) At the facility, for the exit integral	erview.
	b. (41) At the survey agency office within days after the survey is completed	
	c. (3) Other, explain:	

OMB	No. 0938-0395	STATE:
38.	Who has the authority to deci 1569 form or T-number on the statement of deficiency on th	de whether or not an F-number on the HCFA HCFA 3070 form is not met, resulting in a e HCFA 2567 form?
	a. (39) Any surveyor.	
	b. (3) The survey team lead	er.
	c. (2) A supervisor.	
	d. (3) Other (please specif	y):
	have to be deficient for the marked "not met"? Check the appropriate box and	nursing services condition (F123) to be explain if required.
	a. (2) any one b. (1) 1 c. (2) 2 d. (1) 3 e. (0) 4 f. (0) 5	g. (0) 6 h. (0) 7 i. (0) 8 j. (0) 9 k. (5) only specific F's, namely Director of Nursing (3); 24-hr nursing (4); administration of drugs (3
		1. (36) it depends on
40.	Which of the following docume to conducting a survey? Chec a. (45) previous licensure b. (47) previous certificatic. (11) MMACS d. (34) inspection of care re. (42) complaints f. (0) none of the above g. (7) ombudsman reports h. (16) other i. () total Median = 4;	on

HCFA-466

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

OMB	No.	0938-0395

STATE:	

41. A number of agencies in addition to the survey unit collect or receive information about conditions in specific nursing homes. When information is received indicating that a facility is providing questionable care, what other units or agencies do you usually notify? Do they usually notify the survey agency when they receive information? Please check the appropriate boxes.

Agency	We Info Yes Regularly	Yes No Yes Some- times	They Inf Yes Regularly	orm Us Yes Some- times	<u>No</u>
a. Medicaid Agency	_36	_8 _1		12	3
b. State Ombudsman	_14	_246		24	2
c. Your own agency's complaint unit	_27	_20	23	_3_	1_
d. Your own agency's consultant unit	_19	_ 2 _ 4	20	4	1_
e. Certificate of Need unit		13 16		8	15
f. Resident Advocacy Groups	4	_9 _25	6	_20	13
g. State Department of Aging	_10	21 8	12	_26	3
h. HCFA Regional Office	35	_110	34	_9	1_
i. Inspection of Care Un	it <u>27</u>	_66	_29		3
j. Medicaid Fraud Unit	_12	26 4	6	25	6
k. Other:	5	_81	4	8	2
		_10		_1	0_

HCFA-466

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

APPENDIX C 340

OMB	No. 0938-0395	STATE:
42.	If your agency conducts inspection of care reviews,	they are done:
	certification survey. Both	a and c: 9 a and d: 0 b and c: 1
		b and d: 3
	c. (0) By the same team which conducts the certification survey.	
	d. (2) By a separate team.	
43.	Are inspection of care review findings cited as par documentation of deficiencies on the HCFA 2567 form	
	a. (14) Yes (if yes, how frequently?): i. (8) o	ften/all the time.
		ometimes/about half he time.
	iii. (1) r	arely/almost never.
	b. (17) No.	

HCFA-466

accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

from the original paper book, not from

files created

from XML

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX C 341

OMB No. 0938-0395

STATE:		

G. Enforcement

- 44. Different states have different legal provisions for enforcing their nursing home standards. Below is a table that lists down on the first column several provisions. There are six other column headings labeled A through F.* As instructed please complete columns A through F. For Column A, "State Has Provision," if your state has the provision, place a "y" on the appropriate line. If it does not, place an "n" on the appropriate line. Column B, "Recommending Agency," we are also interested if the survey agency and/or some other agency recommends the legal action. If your agency recommends the action, place a "y" on the appropriate line. If another agency recommends, write the name of the agency on the provided line. In many states different agencies determine whether the legal provision will be carried out depending on the sanction. For each sanction please list the appropriate agency or individual in Column C, "Deciding Agency." In Column D, "Number of Recommendations Carried Out," we would like to know the number of times the recommended actions were carried will ke to know the number of times the recommended actions were carried out in 1980 and 1983. Please write the numbers on the provided lines. In Column E, "Order of Importance," please rank order your perspective of the importance to the regulatory process of each of the provisions using the numbers 1,2,3 or 4 where
 - 4 = Very important
 - 3 = Important
 2 = Unimportant
 - = Very unimportant

Finally, in Column F, "Order of Effectiveness," please rank order how effective you feel these provisions are in assuring compliance. Please rank each of the provisions using the numbers 1,2,3 or 4 where

- 4 = Very effective
- 3 = Effective
 2 = Uneffective
- 1 = Very uneffective

If you do not use some of these sanctions, place an "X" on the line.

*The following table is a modified version of the table used in the original survey. A few columns have been changed to show more clearly the composite response from the 47 states that replied to the survey. Columns A, B, and C are the same here as in the original survey. Columns D, E, and F constitute an expansion of the original column D, which simply requested the number of actions taken by each state in 1980 and 1983. (The new columns D, E, and F deal with 1983 only; figures for 1980 were dropped because of a low response rate.) The new column G shows the number of states that ranked the sanction effective and the number that ranked it ineffective and is similar to original column F ("Order of Effectiveness"). The original column E ("Order of Importance") was dropped because the responses were basically the same as those in column G.

OMB No. 0938-0395

SINIE.	STATE:	
--------	--------	--

	A	3	В	С	D	E	F	G
Legal Provision	State Has	Recommer Survey Agency	Other (identify)	Deciding Agency	# States Carrying Out 1983	1983 Range of # Actions Taken	1983 Total # Actions	Effective/ Ineffective
Civil or admini- strative fines	26	24	_1	<u>17</u>	<u>13</u>	2-450	900	19/5
Court-appointed receiver	21	<u>19</u>	_3	_8	_8	1-4	_12	15/3
State-appointed monitor	_1	_8	_7	_4	_3	1	_3	4/2
Suspension of all admissions	<u>32</u>	24	_6	17	<u>15</u>	1-29	<u>96</u>	26/5
Consideration of past record in evaluation of cer- tificate of need								
application	<u>25</u>	<u>17</u>	12	_7	<u>10</u>	1-36	105	26/11
Court injunctions against substan- dard operation	<u>37</u>	<u>36</u>	_1	<u>17</u>	_9	<u>1-3</u>	<u>13</u>	19/11
State-initiated relocation of residents from substandard homes Reduced Medi- caid rates	<u>36</u>	31	_5	21	14	1-8	<u>27</u>	22/8
for inferior performance	_9	_6	12	_3	_1	10	<u>10</u>	4/2
Conditional or provisional licensing	<u>35</u>	34	_2	22	14	<u>1-72</u>	268	23/8
Probationary license	<u>15</u>	14	_6	_8	_5	1-72	154	9/3
Criminal penalties for patient abuse	30	<u>16</u>	14	9	_5	1-300	376	13/11
License revocation	44	41		28	<u>15</u>	1-13	59	33/4
Involuntary decerti- fication	40	<u>39</u>	_1	22	<u>13</u>	1-55	129	26/7
Withholding of payments	<u>19</u>	_8	14	_5	_3	4-263	272	3/2

Per State: Total sanctions available: Median = 8; Range = 1-14
Number of types of sanctions applied: Median = 2; Range = 1-12
Total number of sanctions applied: Median = 11; Range = 1-457

HCFA-466

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from

from the original paper book, not

files created

from XML

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

original typesetting files.

APPENDIX C 343

authoritative version for attribution and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot OMB No. 0938-0395 STATE: 45. Does your agency have written guidelines on when or how formal enforcement action should be taken against a facility with deficiencies? a. (20) Yes. (If yes, please return a copy of the guidelines with print version of this publication as h. (27) No. 46. Does your state have a law requiring mandatory reporting of patient a. (38) Yes. b. (9) No. 47. Does your state have a law permitting residents to sue facilities to protect their rights? a. (24) Yes. b. (18) No. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, 48. Does your state have other legal provisions which can be used to enforce quality of care standards? a. (30) No. b.(16) Yes. Send copy or list: _ 49. Does your state have a system which rates nursing homes and publicly Please use discloses the ratings? b. (6) Yes, it is operated by Survey Agency. 50. Do nursing homes with good compliance records (e.g., few deficiencies) receive higher Medicaid reimbursement rates or receive an incentive payment? accidentally inserted. a. (6) Yes. b. (41) No. skip to question 52 51. What proportion of the homes in your state are currently receiving the higher rate(s)? Median = 30%; Range = 28-32% 52. When you recommend court action, is there an attorney on staff to take care of this? a. (13) Yes, the attorney is part of my agency's staff (31) Yes, the attorney is part of the state or district attorney's staff but is assigned to my unit. retained, and some typographic errors may have c. (3) No. (0) Don't know; we have never requested court action. HCFA-466

омв	No. 0938	-0395 STATE:
53.		recommend court action, does the state attorney general request by filing $\ensuremath{\operatorname{suit}}\xspace?$
	a. (20)	All of the time
	b. (11)	Most of the time
	c. (12)	Some of the time
	d. (2)	Don't know; we have never requested court action.
54.		have taken a facility to court, do you think the courts d the agency's position?
	a. (3)	All of the time
	b. (20)	Most of the time
	c. (15)	Some of the time
	d. (9)	Don't know; we've never taken a facility to court.
	enforcement getting terminat the speede.g. new	several questions address the effectiveness of various ent efforts. For these questions effectiveness is define the facilities to comply with nursing home regulations, ing contracts with facilities that fail to comply, as weld and thoroughness with which the sanction is carried out admissions to the facility were stopped immediately on companies to refer to your answers to question 44.
55.	In gener	al, would you say your agency or state enforcement effort n
	a. (15)	Very effective?
	b. (29)	Effective?
	c. (3)	Not effective?
	Why are	the sanctions you ranked "number 4" listed in question 44, "Order of Effectiveness," effective?
56.		
56.	Affect Quick Public	income of provider (20) implementation (7) ity (5)
56.	Affect Quick Public	implementation (7)
	Affect Quick Public Abilit	implementation (7) ity (5)

authoritative version for attribution

from

from the original paper book, not

files created

from XML

true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles,

Please use

accidentally inserted.

retained, and some typographic errors may have

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

are

Page breaks

original typesetting files.

and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot

print version of this publication as

APPENDIX C 345

OMB No. 0938-0395

STATE:	

H. Views on Federal Regulations

- 58. The current federal <u>Conditions of Participation for skilled nursing facilities</u>:
 - . (8) Can ensure nursing home services of adequate quality as they are.
 - . (9) Can ensure nursing home services of adequate quality, if they deleted some unnecessary or unmeasurable provisions.
 - (20) Could ensure adequate quality services if they included certain additions and modifications.
 - (10) Cannot ensure adequate quality services without a major overhaul and reorientation.
- 59. The current federal standards for intermediate nursing facilities:
 - a. (6) Can ensure nursing home services of adequate quality as they are.
 - (8) Can ensure nursing home services of adequate quality, they deleted some unnecessary or unmeasurable provisions.
 - (20) Could ensure adequate quality services if they included certain additions and modifications.
 - d. (13) Cannot ensure adequate quality services without a major overhaul and reorientation.

Which of the following statements do you feel is an accurate description of the situation in your state?

- 60. The current federal survey procedures:
 - (11) Work reasonably well as they are in assuring that Medicareand Medicaid-funded residents do not receive substandard services.
 - (7) Would work as well if certain unnecessary or unmeasurable items were dropped.
 - c. (7) Would work reasonably well if HCFA gave the states more support when they move to terminate substandard facilities.
 - d. (20) Would work adequately if some changes and additions were made.
 - e. (2) Need to be completely revised.

HCFA-466

OMB	No. 0938-0395 STATE:
61.	Which, if any, federal survey and certification regulations (including both the Conditions of Participation and the Subpart S regulations) inhibit quality patient care?
	Utilization Control (2)
62.	Which, if any, federal survey and certification regulations (including both the Conditions of Participation and the Subpart S regulations) are currently ineffective and should be dropped completely?
	Utilization Control (11)
	Quarterly Staff Reports (5)
63.	Which, if any, federal survey and certification regulations (including both the Conditions of Participation and the Subpart S regulations) should be retained in a modified or alternative form?
	Nursing Services (5) Medical Director (4)
	Medical Director (4) Physician Services (4)
64.	Which, if any, federal survey and certification regulations (including both the Conditions of Participation and the Subpart S regulations) are neither effective nor worth the time and cost?
	Utilization Control (11)
65.	List what you feel are the five most important federal survey and certification regulations (including both the Conditions of Participation and the Subpart S regulations) for ensuring adequate quality patient care?
	1. Nursing Services (36)
	2. <u>Dietetic Services</u> (30)
	3. Pharmaceutical Services (24)
	4. Physician Services (19)
	5. Physical Environment (13)
66.	What, if anything, should be in the federal survey and certification regulations (including both the Conditions of Participation and the Subpart S regulations) that is not there now?
	Resident Assessment Outcomes (13)
	Intermediate Sanctions (6) Staff Ratios (5)
	Staff Ratios (5)
HCF	A-466

омв	No. 09	938-0395		STATE:
67.	nursi	homog should be made :	more flexib. stories of a	ys of all federally certified le to permit less frequent compliance and more than ies of noncompliance.
a.	(12)	Strongly agree)	23
ь.	(11)	Agree	ý	
c.	(10)	Disagree)	24
đ.	(14)	Strongly disagree	}	24
68.	monfu	ime-limited agreement re lness as an enforcement ty of facilities to pred	tool is out	hould be dropped because its weighed by the consequent ing of survey visits.
a.	(14)	Strongly agree)	28
b.	(14)	Agree	ý	
c.	(12)	Disagree)	19
d.	(7)	Strongly disagree)	
69.	flexi	ort screening instrument ble survey cycles to ide frequent full surveys.	should be u	used in conjunction with more a facilities should receive
a.	(11)	Strongly agree)	34
ъ.	(23)	Agree somewhat	Ś	34
c.	(6)	Disagree)	13
d.	(7)	Strongly disagree	Ś	13
70	It is	s desirable and practica he certification survey	l to include process.	e a patient-centered assessment
a.	(30)	Strongly agree)	45
ъ.	(15)	Agree	Ś	
с.	(0)	Disagree)	1
d.	(1)	Strongly disagree)	1
нС	FA-466			

OMB	No. 0938	-0395			STATE:				
71.		of alert nursing home resinions be included as part							
	a. (10)	Strongly agree)	18					
	b. (8)	Agree	Ś	10					
	c. (3)	Disagree)	3					
	d. (0)	Strongly disagree	Ś	,					
72.	72. How many on-site visits should be required to verify correction with all items identified as deficiencies in a Statement of Deficiencies/Plan of Correction form?								
	a. (30)	One on-site revisit is a most cases.	lequate	and more pr	actical in				
	b. (13)	Several; there should be there are multiple dead							
	c. (3)	None, because on-site vis common deficiencies can telephone or mail.							
73.		ation by JCAH or some other d to stand in place of stand.							
	a. (1)	Strongly agree)	1					
	b. (0)	Agree)	1					
	c. (11)	Disagree)	46					
	d. (35)	Strongly disagree	Ś	40					
74.	posting general	ral regulations should rec should include whether or and list the specified ele ce. This posting should b	not thements	e facility i found not to	s in compliance in be in				
	a. (17)	Strongly agree)	30					
	b. (13)	Agree	Ś	50					
	c. (13)	Disagree)	17					
	d. (4)	Strongly disagree)						
HCFA	-466								

2 0 .	PPENDIA C					
tion						
anr						
i, a						
or a						
we n fe						
horsio						
lg,						
ttir Ve						
ati	OMB	No. 0938	-0395			STATE:
for						
pecific ie auth	75.	intermed	lations, procedures iate level facilitionsive survey.			
g-s th		a. (18)	Strongly agree)	
tin ag			Strongly agree) 36	
set		b. (18)	Agree)	
rpe		c. (9)	Disagree)	
r t)		d. (1)	Strongly disagree) 10)	
the spu		(-,				
and or	76.		he inspection of car of surveying nursing			
styles, version		a. (26)	Yes, they both show different teams so problems can be co process while the	that sited and	ignificant in corrected in	spection of care the survey
heading the print		b. (6)	Yes, and to save conshould be done by same visit.			
breaks, ase use t		c. (7)	No, the two function agencies or depart foci (patient vs. better surveilland	tments, facilit	because they y) and/or two	have different
e true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be nay have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution.		d. (7)	No, they are separ- under the same su- and human service findings of each	pervisor s depart	in the state ment so that	health or health the pertinent
enç ins						£
ally	//.		regulations should ation of nurses aid		a requirement	for state
rit et i)	
ide		a. (14)	Strongly agree) 34	
igi		b. (20)	Agree)	
10 U		c. (10)	Disagree)	
the		d. (2)	Strongly disagree) 12	
re true to						
original typesetting files. Page breaks ar retained, and some typographic errors m	нсі	FA-466				
bre						
Je l hic						
^o aç rap						
S. F						
ije typ						
ng f						
original typesetting files. Page breaks ar retained, and some typographic errors m						
d s						
/pe an						
al ty						
jins aine						
orić eta						

Improving the Quality of Care in Nursing Homes http://www.nap.edu/catalog/646.html

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the

are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution		
or att		
howe sion f		
ting, e ver		
rmat	OMB No. 0938-0395	STATE:
fic fo Ithori		
pecil	78. Specific minimum nursing staff the federal regulations.	to patient ratios should be adopted in
as th	a. (13) Strongly agree) 32
setti	b. (19) Agree)
type	c. (13) Disagree d. (2) Strongly disagree)))
ther s pul		
nd o		
ion c		
style versi		
ding		
head		
aks, use		
bre: ase		
vord . Ple		
hs, v		
engt		
ine l tally		
iden		
origii acc		
the open		
ave l		
ay ha	HCFA-466	
s are		
error		
ge b		
. Pae		
original typesetting files. Page breaks a retained, and some typographic errors		
ting		
eset nd sı		
d, al		
ginal		
ori		

Appendix D

Selected Data on Nursing Homes and Residents

The following tables show national and state statistics on characteristics of the nursing home industry, of the nursing home population, and of state regulatory agencies. These tables show information the committee considered important for understanding the nursing home industry, its residents, and its regulators. They do not represent all of the information gathered and used by the committee for its study. The following tables are attached:

TABLE A National Totals of Certified Facilities by Certification Status, 1981. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Medicare Medicaid Automated Certification System. 1981.)

TABLE B Number of Facilities by Certification Status and State, 1981. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Medicare Medicaid Automated Certification System. 1981.)

TABLE C Number and Percentage of Facilities by Level of Care and State, 1981. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Medicare

Medicaid Automated Certification System. 1981.)

TABLE D Number of Certified Facilities by Ownership Status and State, 1981. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Medicare Medicaid Automated Certification System. 1981.)

TABLE E Number of Facilities and Percentage by Bed Size and State, 1981. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Medicare Medicaid Automated Certification System. 1981.)

TABLE F Total Nursing Home Beds During 1978, 1980, and 1983, and Percentage Change in Number of Beds, by State, 1978-1983. (SOURCE: Aging Health Policy Center, University of California. 1983.)

TABLE G Comparison of Nursing Home Beds per 1,000 Population Aged 65 and Over in 1978, 1980, and 1983 and Percentage Change During 1978-1983, by State. (SOURCE: Aging Health Policy Center, University of California. 1983.)

TABLE H Total Nursing Home Beds per Licensed Nurse, Total Licensed Nurses, and Ratio of RNs to LPNs, by State, 1981. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Medicare Medicaid Automated Certification System. 1981.)

TABLE I Number of Facilities, by State and by Level of Care, with Fewer Than Five Licensed Nurses, 1983. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Office of Research and Demonstrations, Research in Progress. 1984.)

TABLE J Number of Licensed Nurses Needed in Facilities with Fewer Than Five Licensed Nurses, by State and Type of Facility, 1983. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Office of Research and Demonstrations, Research in Progress. 1984.)

TABLE K State Minimum Requirements for Nursing Hours per Resident-Day, 1985. (SOURCE: American Health Care Association. 1985.)

TABLE L State Minimum Requirements for Nurse's Aide Training, 1985. (SOURCE: American Health Care Association. 1985.)

TABLE M Average SNF and ICF Medicaid Reimbursement Rates per Resident-Day, by State, 1982. (SOURCE: Analysis of State Medicaid Program Characteristics. La Jolla, California. 1983.)

TABLE N Total SNF and ICF Resident-Days of Care (in thousands) Reimbursed by Medicaid, by State, 1982. (SOURCE: Analysis of State Medicaid Program Characteristics. La Jolla, California. 1983.)

TABLE O Elderly Population by State, 1981. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Medicare Medicaid Automated Certification System. 1981.)

TABLE P U.S. Life Expectancy (by sex) at Birth, Age 65, and Age 85, 1960-2040. (SOURCES: Social Security Administration, Office of the Actuary, 1983, and U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1984.)

TABLE Q Projected Number (in thousands) of U.S. Nursing Home Residents by Age and Sex, 1980-2040. (SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, Office of Analysis and Epidemiology. 1977.)

TABLE R Percentage Distribution of Nursing Home Residents Who Were Dependent in Activities of Daily Living, 1973-1974 and 1977. (SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, National Nursing Home Survey. 1977.)

TABLE S Health Care Financing Administration Expenditures (in millions of dollars) for State Survey Activities, 1977-1984. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Health Standards Quality Bureau. 1984.)

TABLE T Total 1980 Expenditures (in millions of dollars) for State Survey Agency Activities, and Percentage Change in 1983-1984. (SOURCE: Institute of Medicine Survey. 1985.)

TABLE U Total State Survey Agency Staffing in 1980 and Percentage Change in 1983-1984. (SOURCE: Institute of Medicine Survey. 1985.)

TABLE V Total Survey Visits Made by State Survey Agencies in 1980 and Percentage Change in 1983-1984. (SOURCE: Institute of Medicine Survey. 1985.)

TABLE W Percentage of Facilities Cited with A-Key Deficiencies, by State, 1983. (SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Medicare Medicaid Automated Certification System. 1981.)

TABLE A National Totals of Certified Facilities by Certification Status, 1981

		•	*	
FACILITY	MEDICARE	MEDICARE/	MEDICAID	TOTAL
	ONLY	MEDICAID	ONLY	
SNF ONLY	Not available	1,999	533	2,532
		(15%)	(4%)	(19%)
SNF/ICF	Not applicable	1,333	666	1,999
DISTINCT	**	(10%)	(5%)	(15%)
PART				
SNF/ICF DUAL	Not applicable	1,866	1,199	3,065
	**	(14%)	(9%)	(23%)
ICF ONLY	Not applicable	Not applicable	Not applicable	5,730
	**	• •		(43%)
TOTAL	Not available	5,197	8,129	13,326
		(39%)	(61%)	

355

APPENDIX D 356

State	Total Certified	Total SNF	Total SNF/	Total SNF/	Total ICF
	Facilities	Only	ICF Distinct Part	ICF Dual	Only
AK	13	0	0	10	3
AL	206	5	149	33	19
AR	207	81	1	1	124
AZ	25	25	0	0	0
CA	1,184	914	27	207	36
CO	173	5	22	117	29
CT	231	164	41	0	26
DC	6	0	1	2	3
DE	26	3	9	4	10
FL	306	29	25	246	6
GA	301	28	26	176	71
HI	34	13	3	10	8
IA	427	6	11	8	402
ID	62	2	0	54	6
IL	687	27	45	314	301
IN	424	16	103	14	291
KS	368	8	18	29	313
ICY	204	24	70	1	109
LA	225	10	2	1	212
MA	513	45	217	3	248
MD	174	8	5	79	82
ME	145	5	11	1	128
MI	421	41	9	242	129
MN	454	65	197	50	142
MO	237	10	21	56	150
MS	143	20	2	97	24
MT	94	2	55	26	11
NC	202	43	101	2	56
ND	83	0	6	51	26
NE	217	5	7	18	187
NH	74	6	19	0	49
NJ	233	14	8	191	20
	43	2	2	0	39
NV	26	2	1	20	3
NY	570	330	192	3	45
OH	856	23	28	317	488
OK	363	7	2	0	354
OR	178	28	22	2	126
PA	556	362	151	7	36
RI	106	3	56	1	46
SC	123	7	0	85	31
SD	114	1	21	36	56
TN	229	5	5	47	172
TX	976	80	124	2	770
UT	80	0	6	34	40
VT	44	6	17	0	21
VA	163	10	41	1	111
WA	262	11	25	188	38
WI	438	3	49	273	113
WV	74	0	2	32	40
WY	26	0	0	17	9
TOTAL	13,326	2,504	1,955	3,108	5,759

TABLE C Number and Percentage of Facilities by Level of Care and State, 1981

		d Percentage of Fa		l of Care and State	
State	SNF and SI		ICF Only		Total Facilities
	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage	
AK	10	77	3	23	13
AL	187	91	19	9	206
AR	83	40	124	60	207
AZ	25	100	0	0	25
CA	1,148	97	36	3	1,184
CO	144	83	29	17	173
CT	205	89	26	11	231
DC	3	50	3	50	6
DE	16	62	10	38	26
FL	300	98	6	2	306
GA	230	76	71	24	301
HI	26	76	8	24	34
IA	25	6	402	94	427
ID	56	90	6	10	62
IL	386	56	301	44	687
IN	133	31	291	69	424
KS	55	15	313	85	368
KY	95	47	109	53	204
LA	13	6	212	94	225
MA	265	52	248	48	513
MD	92	53	82	47	174
ME	17	12	128	88	145
MI	292	69	129	31	421
MN	312	69	142	31	454
MS	119	83	24	17	143
MO	89	37	150	63	239
MT	83	88	11	12	94
NC	146	72	56	28	202
ND	57	69	26	31	83
NE	30	14	187	86	217
NH	25	34	49	66	74
NJ	213	91	20	9	233
NM	4	9	39	91	43
NV	23	88	3	12	26
NY	525	92	45	8	570
OH	368	43	488	57	856
OK	9	2	354	98	363
OR	52	29	126	71	178
PA	520	94	36	6	556
RI	60	57	46	43	106
SC	92	75	31	25	123
SD	58	51	56	49	114
TN	57	25	172	75	229
TX	206	21	770	79	976
UT	40	50	40	50	80
VA	52	32	111	68	163
VT	23	52	21	48	44
WA	224	85	38	15	262
WI	325	74	113	26	438
WV	34	46	40	54	74
WY	17	65	9	35	26

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

APPENDIX D 358

TABLE D Number of Certified Facilities by Ownership Status and State, 1981

					State/Local		Voluntary/Other Nonprofit				
_		For Pr			-Owned	Total			-Related		ntar
State	Total	No.	7,	No.	7	No.	7,	No.		No.	7,
AK	13	3	23	3	23	7	54	1	8	6	46
AL	206	169	82	25	12	12	6	10	5	2	1
AR	207	159	77	19	9	29	14	5	2	24	12
AZ	25	14	56	2	8	9	36	1	4	8	32
CA	1,184	949	80	32	3	203	17	83	7	120	10
co	173	114	66	17	10	42	24	11	6	31	18
CT	231	192	83	3	1	36	16	13	6	23	10
DC	6	1	17	1	17	4	66	2	33	2	33
DE	26	11	42	3	12	12	46	4	15	8	31
FL	306	227	74	15	5	64	21	29	10	35	11
GA	301	239	79	36	12	26	9	11	4	15	5
ΗI	34	12	35	11	32	11	33	3	9	8	24
IA	427	278	65	18	4	131	31	49	12	82	19
ID	62	38	61	14	23	10	16	_2	3	8	13
IL	687	479	70	50	7	158	23	71	10	87	13
IN	424	366	86	5	1	53	13	36	9	17	4
KS	368	216	59	44	12	108	29	53	14	55	15
KY	204	140	69	12	6	52	25	15	7	37	18
LA	225	197	88	. 7	3	21	9	14	6	7	3
MA	513	440	86	15	3	58	11	21	4	37	. 7
MD	174	117	67	11	6	46	27	15	9	31	18
ME	145	118	81	4	3	23	16	4	3	19	13
MI	421	292	69	53	13	76	18	38	9	38	9
MN	454	175	38	86	19	193	43	98	22	95	21
MO	237	140	59	19	8	78	33	18	8	60	25
MS	143	112	78	22	15	9	6	2	1	7	5
MT	94	34	36	29	31	31	33	6	6	25	27
NC	202	154	76	10	5	38	19	17	9	21	10
ND	83	18	22	1	1	64	77	28	34	36	43
NE	217	85	39	48	22	84	39	23	11	61	28
NH	74	38	52	12	16	24	32	7	9	17	23
NJ	233	157	67	24	10	52	23	27	12 19	25 13	11 30
NM	43	17	39	5	12	21 0	49	8		0	0
NV	26 570	20 293	77 51	6 54	23 10	223	0 39	0 72	0 13	151	26
NY NY		704	82	34 32	4	120	14	74	9	46	5
OH OK	856 363	318	88	32 8	2	37	10	21	6	16	4
OR.	178	133	75	16	9	29	16	14	8	15	8
PA.	556	269	48	58	11	229	41	145	26	84	15
RI	106	87	82	0	0	19	18	7	7	12	11
SC SC	123	88	72	26	21	9	7	4	3	5	4
SD	114	42	37	4	3	68	60	20	18	48	42
EN .	229	150	66	49	21	30	13	17	7	13	6
rx.	976	875	90	15	1	86	9	50	5	36	4
JT	80	65	81	9	11	6	8	1	1	5	7
/A	163	108	66	16	10	39	24	11	7	28	17
/T	44	29	66	0	0	15	34	2	5	13	29
VA.	262	206	79	10	4	46	17	22	8	24	9
VI	438	212	48	82	19	144	33	66	15	78	18
īv	74	47	64	6	8	21	28	6	8	15	20
 IY	26	10	39	5	10	11	42	ĭ	4	10	18
	13,326	9,357	70	1,052	8	2,917	22	1,258	9	1,659	13

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution 359

State	Total Facilities	Percentage of Facilities by Size				
		1-60 Beds	61-120 Beds	121+ Beds		
AK	13	69	23	8		
AL	206	27	46	28		
AR	207	22	59	19		
ΑZ	25	16	44	40		
CA	1,184	34	47	19		
CO	173	36	39	25		
CT	231	36	34	29		
DC	6	50	0	50		
DE	26	31	46	23		
FL	306	25	48	26		
GA	301	23	54	23		
HI	34	56	24	21		
IA	427	39	48	13		
ID	62	45	40	15		
IL	687	15	44	41		
IN	424	38	35	27		
KS	368	56	38	6		
KY	204	26	48	26		
LA	225	13	56	31		
MA	513	38	38	24		
MD	174	25	33	43		
ME	145	58	35	7		
MI	421	25	43	32		
MN	454	24	48	28		
MO	239	27	49	24		
MS	143	47	41	12		
MT	94	57	31	12		
NC	202	24	55	21		
ND	83	41	47	12		
NE	217	38	49	13		
NH	74	43	39	18		
NJ	233	17	40	43		
NM	43	28	65	7		
NV	26	31	46	23		
NY	570	15	35	50		
OH	856	46	37	17		
OK	363	41	50	9		
OR	178	34	51	15		
PA	556	29	36	35		
RI	106	48	32	19		
SC	123	31	46	23		
SD	114	47	46	6		
TN	229	27	45	28		
TX	976	25	51	24		
UT	80	53	43	5		
VA	163	26	34	40		
VT	44	59	32	9		
WA	262	31	44	26		
WI	438	25	40	35		
WV	74	47	47	5		
WY	26	46	50	4		

TABLE F Total Nursing Home Beds During 1978, 1980, and 1983, and Percentage Change in

State	Total Beds			Percentage Change 1978-1983
	1978	1980	1983	
AK	823	823	814	-1.1
AL	19,954	20,522	21,476	7.6
AR	18,548	19,111	20,405	10.0
ΑZ	5,354	6,197	7,834	46.3
CA	110,826	111,556	113,612	2.5
CO	20,066	18,305	18,030	-10.1
CT	24,169	26,127	26,395	9.2
DC	1,881	1,748	2,573	36.8
DE	2,997	3,646	4,269	42.4
FL	34,003	37,420	44,745	31.6
GA	31,496	32,881	36,689	16.5
HI	2,171	2,620	2,605	20.0
IΑ	32,125	32,277	34,021	5.9
ID	4,454	4,637	4,645	4.3
IL	85,888	87,284	87,918	2.4
IN	41,010	42,445	50,078	22.1
KS				
	26,227	25,793	26,356	0.5
KY	16,167	18,154	18,884	16.8
LA	22,541	25,600	26,980	19.7
MA	45,300	46,830	46,050	1.7
MD	19,322	20,582	23,056	19.3
ME	8,693	8,872	9,191	5.7
MI	46,026	46,477	48,275	4.9
MN	44,492	45,681	44,940	1.0
MO	34,706	38,142	45,134	30.0
MS	12,399	12,245	14,051	13.3
MT	6,270	6,267	6,317	0.7
NC	17,424	19,652	21,880	25.6
ND	5,956	6,277	6,757	13.4
NE	18,284	18,108	18,536	1.4
NH	6,253	6,696	6,981	11.6
NJ	26,790	29,659	31,229	16.6
NM	2,910	3,276	4,531	55.7
NV	2,009	2,170	2,470	22.9
NY	90,178	92,162	95,727	6.2
19	65,126	70,714	74,334	14.1
OK	28,122	28,944	29,797	6.0
OR	14,653	14,922	15,254	4.1
PA	66,673	72,205	78,632	17.9
RI	8,228	8,685	9,252	12.4
SC	9,875	11,362	12,899	30.6
SD	7,386	7,589	7,731	4.7
ΓN	18,505	23,003	26,596	43.7
ГХ	99,000	101,101	100,986	2.0
UT	5,758	5,548	5,600	-2.7
VA	16,283	19,177	22,625	38.9
VT	2,852	2,826	3,111	9.1
WA	28,225	26,876	27,379	-3.0
WI	50,542	51,689	53,627	6.1
WV	4,789	5,086	7,038	47.0
WY	1,962	2,050	2,098	6.9
U.S.	1,315,691	1,372,019	1,450,413	10.2

SOURCE: Aging Health Policy Center, University of California.

TABLE G Comparison of Nursing Home Beds to 1,000 Population Aged 65 and Over in 1978,

State			During 1978-1983	Percentage Change 1978-1983
State	1978	otal Beds per 1000 Population 65 and Over 078 1980 1983		refeelinge Change 1976-1983
AK	82.3	71.4	58.1	-29.4
AL.	48.8	46.6	45.8	-29.4 -6.1
AR	63.5	61.2	62.0	-2.4
AK AZ	19.8	20.2	22.0	11.4
CA	49.3	46.2	43.4	-11.9
CO	86.5	74.0	66.8	-22.8
CT	69.5	71.6	66.3	-4.5
DC	26.1	23.6	34.8	33.1
DE	54.5	61.5	65.7	20.5
FL	22.3	22.2	24.0	7.4
GA	66.6	63.6	65.2	-2.1
HI	32.4	34.4	29.3	-9.7
IA	85.2	83.3	84.2	-1.2
ID	51.2	49.5	44.2	-13.6
IL	71.3	69.2	66.1	-7.4
IN	73.1	72.5	80.3	9.8
KS	88.3	84.2	82.6	-6.4
KY	41.8	44.3	43.8	4.9
LA	60.9	63.4	63.3	4.0
MA	64.7	64.5	60.4	-6.7
MD	52.2	52.0	53.1	1.7
ME	65.4	63.0	61.7	-5.6
MI	53.0	50.9	49.1	-7.4
MN	96.3	95.2	88.5	-8.1
MO	55.4	58.8	67.0	21.0
MS	45.9	42.3	46.4	1.0
MT	77.4	74.1	67.9	-12.3
NC	31.6	32.6	32.8	3.7
ND	76.4	78.0	79.5	4.1
NE	90.5	88.1	87.0	-3.9
NH	65.1	65.0	62.9	-3.4
NJ NM	32.5	34.5	33.9	4.2
NM	28.0	28.3	34. g	24.6
NV	35.9	33.0	30.5	-15.0
NY	43.0	42.7	43.1	0.0
OH	57.9	60.5	59.5	2.6
OK	79.0	77.0	75.8	-4.0
OR	51.4	49.2	45.8	-10.9
PA	45.6	47.2	48.0	5.1
RI	68.0	68.4	68.5	0.8
SC	38.3	39.5	40.2	5.0
SD	83.0	83.4	81.4	-1.9
TN	38.7	44.4	48.0	24.0
TX	78.3	73.7	68.7	-12.2
UT	56.5	50.8	45.5	-19.3
VA	34.8	38.0	40.8	17.4
VT	51.9	48.6	50.2	-3.2
WA	70.4	62.3	57.6	-18.1
WI	92.7	91.6	89.4	-3.6
WV	21.6	21.4	28.0	30.0
WY	54.5	55.1	52.5	-3.8
State	57.4	57.5	55.8	-2.8
Avg	31.7	31.3	33.0	2.0

SOURCE: Aging Health Policy Center, University of California.

from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

APPENDIX D 362

TABLE H Total Nursing Home Beds per Licensed Nurse, Total Licensed Nurses, and Ratio of

State	SNF and ICF Beds per Licensed Nurse	Total Licensed Nurses	RN/LPN Ratio
AK	4.5	143	1.3
AL	8.4	2,469	0.3
AR	11.0	1,799	0.3
AZ	16.2	199	1.6
CA	9.3	12,308	0.7
CO	10.8	1,753	1.3
CT	6.8	3,645	1.6
DC	6.5	179	1.3
DE	7.1	393	1.5
FL	11.0	3,155	0.8
GA	9.0	3,405	0.4
HI	4.8	524	1.1
IA	11.8	2,891	0.8
ID	8.3	575	0.9
IL	12.7	7,095	1.2
IN	16.9	2,462	0.9
KS	16.9	1,520	0.9
ICY	12.6		0.8
		1,611	
LA	11.3	2,181	0.3
MA	7.5	6,000	1.1
MD	9.2	2,273	1.1
ME	8.5	1,075	1.1
MI	10.1	4,582	0.9
MN	10.1	4,588	0.9
MS	5.6	2,195	0.3
MO	12.2	2,151	0.6
MT	8.2	772	1.1
NC	8.2	2,649	0.8
ND	9.7	677	1.1
NE	13.8	1,263	0.8
NH	7.1	949	1.9
NJ	8.1	3,979	1.7
NM	9.0	396	0.5
NV	6.6	344	1.5
NY	5.8	16,228	0.9
ОН	9.0	7,867	0.8
OK	18.8	1,507	0.4
OR	11.6	1,282	1.3
PA	7.6	9,075	1.1
RI	7.3	1,171	1.3
SC	6.9	1,577	0.7
SD	11.5	685	1.2
TN	9.6	2,556	0.3
TX	12.9		0.3
		7,757	
UT	8.9	586	0.6
VA	7.1	2,877	0.7
VT	7.0	426	1.1
WA	8.5	2,926	1.5
WI	10.4	5,155	1.0
WV	7.8	733	0.8
WY	9.7	196	1.2

TABLE I Number of Facilities, by State and by Level of Care, with Fewer Than Five Licensed Nurses, 1983

State	SNF Only	SNF/ICF	ICF Only	Total	Percentage
AK	0	0	0	0	0
AL	0	3	11	14	7
All	0	0	41	41	20
ΑZ	6	0	0	6	24
CA	71	9	15	95	8
CO	0	4	9	13	8
CT	5	0	9	14	6
DC	0	0	Ó	0	0
DE DE	0	0	2	2	8
FL	4	37	1	42	14
GA	0	0	3	3	14
			3	4	
HI	1	0	3		1
IA	1	0	107	108	25
ID	1	5	2	8	13
IL	4	49	46	99	14
IN	0	0	156	156	37
KS	3	6	246	255	69
KY	1	1	69	71	35
LA	0	0	6	6	3
MA	0	0	96	96	19
MD	0	0	14	14	8
ME	1	0	44	45	31
MI	2	28	36	66	16
MN	7	14	67	88	19
MS	1	0	8	9	6
MO	2	2	58	62	26
MT	0	4	6	10	11
NC	2	1	9	12	6
ND	0	4	10	14	17
NE NE	1	0	133	134	62
	0	0	5		
Nit			5	5	7 6
NJ	0	8	6	14	
NM	0	0	1	1	2
NV	1	0	0	1	4
NY	4	1	5	10	2
OH	2	15	185	202	24
OK	1	0	244	245	67
OR	12	0	48	60	34
PA	23	1	11	35	6
RI	0	3	32	35	33
SC	0	0	6	6	5
SD	0	2	46	48	42
TN	0	1	16	17	7
TX	2	1	206	209	21
UT	0	3	22	25	31
VA	0	0	6	6	4
VT VT	0	1	2	3	7
WA	5	15	24	44	17
	0	9	75	84	19
WI WV	0	0	75 9	84 9	19 12

SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Office of Research and Demonstrations, Research in Progress. 1984.

TABLE J Number of Licensed Nurses Needed in Facilities with Fewer Than Five Licensed

State	SNF Only	SNF/ICF	ICF Only	Total
AK	0	0	0	0
AL	0	2	21	23
AR	0	0	63	63
AZ	12	0	0	12
CA	110	10	31	151
CO	0	6	14	20
CT	10	0	12	22
DC	0	0	0	0
DE	0	0	2	2
FL	8	61	1	70
GA	0	0	3	3
HI	1	0	7	8
IA	2	0	160	162
ID	1	7	3	11
IL	7	, 97	87	191
IN	0	0	255	255
KS	6	10	555	571
KY	2	10	166	169
		0		
LA	0		10	10
MA	0	0	144	144
MD	0	0	22	22
ME	1	0	95	96
MI	5	62	74	141
MN	12	22	134	168
MS	3	0	13	16
MO	4	4	106	114
MT	0	4	12	16
NC	2	0	13	15
hid	0	6	15	21
NE	1	0	267	268
NH	0	0	10	10
NJ	0	10	21	31
NM	0	0	1	1
NV	0	0	0	0
NY	8	1	11	20
OH	2	25	299	326
OK	1	0	498	499
OR	8	0	4	12
PA	30	1	12	43
RI	0	3	84	87
SC	0	0	10	10
SD	0	4	90	94
TN	0	1	23	24
TX	5	1	345	351
UT	0	3	46	49
VA	0	0	8	8
VT	0	0	3	3
WA	10	23	55	88
WI		12	182	86 194
WV	0	0	182	194
	1.1	()	I X	1 X

SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Office of Research and Demonstrations, Research in Progress. 1984.

TABLE	K State Minim	um Requiremen	ts for Nursing Hours per Resident-Day, 1985
State	SNF	ICF	Notes
AK	_	_	Follows federal requirements
AL	0.32-0.8		Varies by shift; refers to RN, LPN only
AR	0.17		Refers to RN, LPN only
AZ	2.5		•
CA	2.8	0.9	
CO	2.0		
CT	1.9	0.87	
DC	2.4		
DE	2.5	2.25	
FL	0.53-1.0		Varies by shift
GA	2.0		
HI	3.2-4.0		Varies by number of residents
IA	1.68-2.24	1.7	Varies by number of residents; RN, LPN only
ID	1.5		
IL	2.5	1.0-1.7	
IN	2.5	1.5	
KS	2.0	1.75	
KY	_		Follows federal requirements; RN for SNF
LA	2.0	1.0	•
MA	2.6	2.0	
MD	2.0		Varies by number of residents
ME	0.5-1.12		Varies by shift and number of residents
HI	2.25		Varies by shift and number of residents
MN	2.0		·
MS	2.33	0.4-0.53	Varies by shift and number of residents
MO	0.8-1.6		Varies by shift and number of residents
MT	0.4-0.9		Varies by shift and number of residents
NC	1.1-1.2		Varies by shift and number of residents
ND	_	_	Follows federal requirements
NE	_	_	Follows federal requirements; requires RN
NH	0.32		Refers to RN only
NJ	2.75	1.25-2.5	,
NM	_	_	Follows federal requirements
NV	2.25-3.0	0.25-2.0	
NY	1.0-4.0		Varies by functional status of residents
OH	1.4	0.16-0.53	Varies by shift
OK	2.0	0.8	Varies by number of residents
OR	2.5	1.61	·
PA	2.5	2.0	
RI	0.58-1.5		Varies by shift and number of residents
SC	0.53-1.73	0.9	Varies by number of residents; RN, LPN only
SD	1.16	1.28	
TN	0.16		Refers to RN, LPN only
TX	0.53	0.26	Refers to RN, LPN only
UT	2.5	2.0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
VA	0.32	* *	Refers to RN, LPN only
VT	1.9	1.6	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
WA	_		No minimum
WI	2.0	1.25-2.0	
WV	_	_	Follows federal requirements; requires PN
WY	2.25	1.5	

SOURCE: American Health Care Association. 1985.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

State	Applicability	Hours		Timing
	,	Classroom	Clinical	_
CA	Nursing homes	50	100	Complete training
	only			within 9 months of
	•			date of employment
CT	Nursing homes	25	50	Complete training
	only			within 90 days of
				employment
FL	Nursing homes	Varies; aide		Enrolls in next course
	only	must pass exam		
L	Nursing homes	80	40	Begun within 45 days
				of employment and
				completed within 120
	TT ' 1	20	20	days
A	Hospitals and	30	30	Begun at time of
7 C	nursing homes	Total 00 1		employment
KS	Nursing homes only	Total 90 hours	ct patient care skills	Begun by 91st day of employment,
	omy		ed prior to giving	completed within 6
		hands-on care	ed prior to giving	months
MD	Nursing homes	30	28	Completed within
*11 <i>/</i>	ransing nomes	50	20	180 days
ME	Hospitals and	60	60	Preemployment and
VIL	nursing homes	00	00	begun within first
				month
MN	Nursing homes	Total 30 hours		Begun within 2
	only	2000 20 110015		months
MO	Nursing homes	35	100	Begun within 60
-	6 - 3	-		days, completed
				within 12 months
NΕ	Nursing homes	Total of at least		Completed within
	=		porting suspected	120 days of
		abuse or neglect		employment
NΗ	Nursing homes,	30	70	Preemployment, but
	hospitals, and			facilities having
	home health			certified program and
	agencies			instructor are given
				90 days to begin
an.	TT '4 1 1	20	20	program
OR	Hospitals and	32	28	Begun/completed
o t	nursing homes	15	20	within 12 months
RI	Nursing homes	15	30	Begun following a 30- or 60-day
				probationary period
				determined by
				facility policy
ГΧ	Nursing homes	19	Open until	3 hours' orientation
	rarsing nomes	1)	skills	within 10 days;
			inventory	completed within 4
			satisfied	months
VΑ	Nursing homes	30	50	Within 90-120 days
				of employment
WA	Nursing homes	25	50	Completed within 6
	5			months

SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Office of Research and Demonstrations, Research in Progress. 1984.

State	SNF Rate	ICF Rate	
AK	97.39*	104.26	
AL	37.61	25.81	
AR	26.35	25.35	
CA	36.10*	28.90*	
CO	30.90	30.92	
CT	41.49*	26.57*	
DC	65.90*	50.87*	
DE	44.28*	44.28*	
FL	36.26	33.21	
GA	28.20	25.94	
HI	71.56*	58.18*	
IA	59.69	25.89	
ID	32.39	31.33	
IL	28.35	34.04	
IN	41.98	32.68	
KS	27.88*	22.16*	
KY	49.92	31.95	
LA	31.85*	26.62*	
MA	44.40	33.24	
MD	36.14*	36.14*	
ME	64.47	40.30	
MI	36.72	36.72	
MN	44.81*	35.88*	
MS	31.32	29.12	
MO	42.10	32.53	
MT	36.75*	36.75*	
NC	46.73	33.49	
ND	40.85	30.00	
NE	44.64	26.07	
NH	53.62	44 54	
NJ	51.91	43.81	
NM	51.14	32.08	
NV	48.26	43.61	
NY	78.70	49.21	
OH	42.26	36.80	
OK	30.00	26.53	
OR	42.34	32.85	
PA	42.26	37.62	
RI	43.48	38.95	
SC	42.99	32.05	
SD	30.08	26.88	
TN	46.50*	27.40*	
TX	35.51	26.79	
lit	39.32*	34.06*	
VA	61.90	42.66	
VT	44.07	44.07	
WA	35.08	34.37*	
WI	42.00*	32.00*	
WV	44.39	37.46	
WY	33.71*	33.71*	
U.S.	42.88	35.98	

SOURCE: Analysis of State Medicaid Characteristics, La Jolla, California. 1983.

* 1981 data.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

TARLE N Total SNE and ICE Resident-Days of Care (in thousands) Reimbursed by Medicaid

State	SNF Days	ICF Days	Total Days	
AK	4	159*	163	
AL	_	5,718	5,718	
AR	2,568	3,168	5,736	
AZ	_	_		
CA	23,854	2,215	26,064	
CO	1,179	2,788	3,767	
CT	5,125	949	6,074	
DE	17	434	451	
FL	2,075	5,546	7,621	
GA	3,310	5,521	8,831	
HI	313	420	733	
IA	30	5,800	5,830	
ID	338	626	964	
IL	4,872	13,332	18,204	
IN	1,400*	7,406*	8,806*	
KS	124	4,297	4,421	
KY	723	3,806	4,529	
LA	124	6,601	6,725	
MA	5,248	6,019	11,267	
MD	4,527	4,527	4,527	
ME	52	2,438	2,490	
HI	2,699	8,974	11,673	
MN	8,071	5,210	13,281	
MS	2,012	1,821	3,833	
MO	132	5,378	5,510	
MT	79	1,355	1,434	
NC	2,011	3,281	5,292	
ND	662	583	1,245	
NE	187	2,566	2,753	
NH	27	1,490	1,517	
NJ	452	6,670	7,122	
NM	25	797	822	
NV	30	595	625	
NY	18,550	7,335	25,885	
OH	7,579	7,561	15,140	
OK		6,206	6,206	
OR	131	2,840	2,971	
PA	10,752	4,591	15,343	
RI	57	2,105	2,162	
SC	3,119	3,119	6,238	
SD	150	1,381	1,531	
TN	306	6,722	7,028	
TX	1,423	21,667	23,090	
UT	225	1,076	1,301	
VA	276	4,440	4,716	
VA VT	20	743	763	
WA	8	8	16	
WA WI	6,900	7,000	13,900	
WV	520*	7,000 523		
VV V	426	323 426	523 852	

SOURCE: Analysis of State Medicaid Characteristics, La Jolla, California; 1983.

* 1981 data.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

State	State Population	State Population		Percentage of	of State
				Population	
		65 Years and	85 Years and	65 Years	85 Years
		Over	Over	and Over	and Over
ΑK	412,000	11,798	780	2.9	6.6
AL	3,917,000	436,338	37,963	11.1	8.7
AR	2,296,000	306,952	28,019	13.4	9,1
ΑZ	2,794,000	308,222	21,846	11.0	7.1
CA	24,196,000	2,400,017	234,995	9.9	9.8
CO	2,965,000	250,151	26,074	8.4	10.4
CT	3,134,000	370,905	38,811	16.8	10.5
DC	631,000	70,074	8,055	11.1	11.5
DE	598,000	60,739	5,680	10.2	9.4
FL	10,183,000	1,626,466	128,205	16.0	7.9
GA	5,574,000	511,582	42,865	9.1	8.4
HI	981,000	77,613	6,071	7.9	7.8
IΑ	2,899,000	391,503	47,288	13.5	12.1
ID	959,000	97,707	8,957	10.2	9.2
IL	11,462,000	1,256,995	124,195	11.0	9.9
IN	5,468,000	590,198	56,868	10.8	9.6
KS	2,383,000	307,320	35,377	12.9	11.5
KY	3,662,000	407,365	37,548	11.1	9.2
LA	4,308,000	385,639	37,380	9.0	9.7
MA	5,773,000	723,376	81,324	12.5	11.2
MD	4,263,000	390,757	35,826	9.2	9.2
ME	1,133,000	144,618	15,416	12.8	10.7
MI	9,204,000	935,958	88,287	10.2	9.4
MN	4,094,000	487,635	57,077	12.0	11.7
MS	2,531,000	283,613	27,459	11.2	9.7
MO	4,941,000	644,610	65,941	13.1	10.2
MT	793,000	87,670	9,301	11.1	10.6
NC	5,953,000	606,456	49,280	10.2	8.1
ND	658,000	82,844	8,807	12.6	10.6
NE	1,577,000	207,141	25,083	13.1	12.1
NH	936,000	105,766	10,490	11.3	9.9
NJ	7,404,000	866,691	79,645	11.7	9.2
NM	1,328,000	118,353	10,115	8.9	8.5
NV	845,000	69,547	4,246	8.3	6.1
NY	17,602,000	2,137,685	221,811	12.1	10.4
OH	10,781,000	1,182,861	115,930	11.0	9.8
OK	3,100,000	366,271	35,671	11.8	9.7
OR	2,651,000	308,877		11.7	9.9
OK PA			30,425 141 335	13.0	9.9 9.1
ra RI	11,871,000	1,543,787 126,589	141,335 12,908	13.0	10.2
	953,000 3 167 000				
SC SD	3,167,000	287,630	22,251	9.1 13.6	7.7
SD	686,000	92,788	11,168		12.0
TN	4,612,000	511,766	44,460	11.1	8.7
ΓX	14,766,000	1,345,669	118,969	9.1	8.8
UT	1,518,000	112,166	9,691	7.4	8.6
VA	5,430,000	502,867	45,489	9.3	9.0
VT	516,000	59,314	6,389	11.5	10.8
WA	4,217,000	438,947	44,337	10.4	10.1
WI	4,742,000	578,070	59,906	12.2	10.4
WV	1,952,000	235,914	20,799	12.1	8.8
WY	492,000	38,711	3,758	7.9	9.7
U.S.	229,311,000	25,492,531	2,440,571	11.1	9.5

369

TABLE P U.S. Life Expectancy (by sex) at Birth, Age 65, and Age 85, 1960-2040

Date and Age	Male	Female	
1960			
Birth	66.66	73.24	
65	12.91	15.89	
85	4.61	5.11	
1980			
Birth	69.94	77.52	
65	14.04	18.36	
85	5.09	6.32	
<u>1982</u> *			
Birth	70.63	78.10	
65	14.50	18.79	
85	5.24	6.60	
2000			
Birth	73.65	81.11	
65	15.65	20.66	
85	5.98	7.75	
2040			
Birth	75.70	83.36	
65	17.10	22.46	
85	6.89	9.00	

SOURCE: Social Security Administration, Office of the Actuary. Life Tables for the United States: 1900-2050, Actuarial Study No. 89, 1983.

^{*} From U.S. Bureau of the Census, Estimates and Projections, Series P-25, No. 952, <u>Projections of the Population of the United States</u>, by Age, Sex, and Race, 1983 to 2080. pp. 147-148, Table B-4A, 1984.

371

TABLE Q Projected Number (in thousands) of U.S. Nursing Home Residents by Age and Sex, 1980-2040

Sex and Age	1980	2000	2020	2040
TOTAL				
All ages	1,511.3	2,541.3	3,370.8	5,227.1
Under 65	196.4	225.8	241.5	248.1
65 & over	1,314.9	2,316.1	3,129.3	4,979.0
65-74	226.6	265.1	434.4	424.5
75-84	525.4	849.8	1,005.6	1,651.4
85 & over	562.8	1,201.2	1,639.4	2,903.1
MALE				
All ages	421.5	640.9	864.8	1,303.6
Under 65	93.3	107.4	115.0	118.3
65 & over	328.2	533.5	749.5	1,185.3
65-74	86.6	104.8	175.0	172.2
75-84	134.5	224.7	280.0	469.0
85 & over	107.1	204.0	294.8	544.0
FEMALE				
All ages	1,089.8	1,900.9	2,506.1	3,923.5
Under 65	103.1	118.3	126.5	129.8
65 & over	986.7	1,782.6	2,379.5	3,793.7
65-74	140.0	160.3	259.4	252.3
75-84	390.9	625.1	725.6	1,182.4
85 & over	455.7	997.2	1,394.6	2,339.1

SOURCE: National Center for Health Statistics, Office of Analysis and Epidemiology. 1977.

TABLE R Percentage Distribution of Nursing Home Residents Who Were Dependent in Activities of Daily Living, 1973-1974 and 1977

Activity	1973/74	1977
I. Total Percentage Dependent in:		
Bathing	70.7	86.3
Dressing	58.9	69.4
Toileting	52.7	52.5
Transferring	51.6	66.1
Continence	33.8	45.3
Eating	17.6	32.6
II. Cumulative Percentage Dependent in Activities of Daily Living, Katz	Index	
Not dependent	23.5	9.6
Dependent in one activity	12.7	12.4
Dependent in bathing and one other activity	8.4	12.2
Dependent in bathing, dressing, and one other activity	4.5	8.5
Dependent in bathing, dressing, toileting, and one other activity	14.3	9.6
Dependent in bathing, dressing, toileting, transferring, and one other activity	16.0	15.6
Dependent in all six activities	14.4	23.3
Other combinations of dependencies	6.2	8.9
- -	100.0	100.0

SOURCES: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Center for Health Statistics, Nursing Home Costs—1972, United States, National Nursing Home Survey, August 1973 - April 1974, <u>Vital and Health Statistics</u>, Series 13, No. 38; November Home Survey, 1977 Summary for the United States, <u>Vital and Health Statistics</u>, Series 13, No. 43, June 1980.

TABLE S Health Care Financing Administration Expenditures (in millions of dollars) for State Survey Activities, 1977-1984

Fiscal Year	Medicare	Medicaid	Total
1977	23.6	33.2	56.8
1978	24.9	36.2	61.1
1979	25.3	34.4	59.7
1980	27.4 (+ 8.3%)	38.4 (+11.6%)	65.8 (+10.2%)
1981	24.6 (-10.2%)	34.2 (-10.9%)	58.8 (-10.6%)*
1982	13.6 (-44.7%)	31.8 (- 7.0%)	45.4 (-22.8%)
1984	35.6	32.2	67.8

SOURCE: Health Care Financing Administration, Health Standards Quality Bureau. 1984.
* Federal matching for surveyor salaries, travel, and training was cut from 100 to 75 percent in 1981.

TABLE T Total 1980 Expenditures (in millions of dollars) for State Survey Agency Activities, and Percentage Change in 1983-1984

	1980		1983/1984	
Expenditures	Statewide	National	Statewide	National
•	Median	Total	Median (% Change)	Total (% Change)
Title 18	0.4	18.5	0.7	32.0
			(+75%)	(+73%)
Title 19	1.0	39.3	1.1	49.3
			(+10%)	(+25%)
State	0.2	21.3	0.3	29.0
Licensing			(+50%)	(+36%)
Total		79.1		110.3

 $SOURCE: Institute\ of\ Medicine,\ Survey.$

TABLE U Total State Survey Agency Staffing in 1980 and Percentage Change in 1983-1984

	1980		1983-1984	
	State Median	National Total	State Median (% Change)	National Total (% Change)
RNs	23	1,463	26 (+13%)	1,742 (+19%)
Other	13	902	14 (+7%)	962 (+7%)
Total		2,365	(+19%)	2,704 (+8%)

SOURCE: Institute of Medicine, Survey. 1985.

TABLE V Total Survey Visits Made by State Survey Agencies in 1980 and Percentage Change in 1983-1984

	1980		1983/1984	
	Statewide	National Total	Statewide	National
	Median		Median (%	Total (%
			Change)	Change)
Full Licensing/	280	21,458	285.5	24,619
Certification			(+2%)	(+15%)
Post Certification	275.5	14,619	193.5	15,880
			(-30%)	(+8%)
Complaint	154	15,556	143	24,438
Investigation			(-7%)	(+57)
Inspection of Care	248	5,929	110	8,408
			(-56%)	(+42%)
Total		36,104	. ,	48,726
Visits				(+46%)

SOURCE: Institute of Medicine, Survey. 1985.

State	Percentage Facilities with No A-Key	Percentage Facilities with 1 or More A-
	Deficiencies	Key Deficiencies
AK	78	22
AL	75	25
AR	30	70
ΑZ	65	35
CA	55	45
CO	48	52
CT	67	33
DC	00	100
DE	60	40
FL	66	34
GA	62	38
HI	82	18
IΑ	68	32
ID	78	22
IL	72	28
IN	52	48
KS	51	49
KY	59	41
LA	54	46
MA	51	49
MD	81	19
ME	65	35
MI	80	20
MN	83	17
MS	54	46
MO	74	26
MT	68	32
NC	72	28
ND	68	32
	30	70
NE NH	69	31
	44	56
NJ		
NM NV	33	67 38
NV	62	
NY	54	46
OH	68	32
OK	67	33
OR	89	11
PA	89	11
RI	78	22
SC	70	30
SD	31	69
TN	71	29
TX	75	25
UT	44	56
VA	74	26
VT	54	46
WA	77	23
WI	95	05
WV	67	33
WY	41	59

APPENDIX E 378

Appendix E

Key Indicators of Quality of Care

Key indicators are resident outcomes that suggest the presence of either good or bad care. They should be chosen because they indicate the extent of a facility's compliance with regulatory criteria, that is, the elements, standards, and conditions of participation. Key indicators of inadequate care are *prima facie* evidence of a problem, but further investigation is required to determine whether the problem stems from bad care or from factors that are not within the facility's control. Key indicators can be used to distinguish between adequate and poor-quality care and between adequate and good or excellent care.

The following illustrative list contains key indicators that have been tested and used by various states or facilities. Some apply to all residents, others only to residents in one or two of the four case-mix groupings proposed in Chapter 4.

EXAMPLES OF KEY INDICATORS OF CARE QUALITY TO BE USED BY SURVEYORS

Medications. Excessive use of tranquilizers and antipsychotic drugs, medication errors, and adverse drug

APPENDIX E 379

interactions are evidence of poor quality in nursing homes.¹⁻⁷ Thus, one means of measuring the quality of a nursing home's performance would be to examine the use of chemical restraints and medication errors.

Survey procedures and protocols for determining proper medication administration for nursing home residents have been developed and are being used. 8-12 Elements from these protocols for proper drug administration could be used in examining facility records, observing medication passes for a sample of residents in the facilities, and observing residents. Using the "case-mix referencing" system for selecting samples of residents, the survey could focus its observation on those particularly at risk for overmedication (for example, residents with depression or anxiety).

Decubitus Ulcers. Another potential indicator of poor quality of care is the development of bed sores.^{13,14} Protocols have been developed for identifying and measuring the severity of such skin breakdowns and pressure sores.^{10,13-15} The survey would particularly concentrate on a sample of very physically dependent residents (those who are bed- and chair-fast) and measure the incidence and severity of decubiti.

Urinary Tract Infections. The development of infections among nursing home residents with indwelling urinary catheters may also be a sign of poor care. One measure of quality, for purposes of comparing facility performance, would be the incidence of urinary tract infections among the residents in the facility who are catheterized.

Management of Urinary Incontinence. Another indicator of quality might be the use of indwelling catheters as opposed to bladder training programs and prompt staff attention to individuals when they need to urinate. Many view the excessive use of indwelling catheters as a sign of poor care, and protocols have been developed for their proper use. 10,14,16,17,21,22 Thus another measure of quality would be the number of indwelling catheters among incontinent residents in nursing homes. The survey should take into account whether the facility has attempted a bladder training program for catheterized residents.

Dehydration. Dehydration among nursing home residents is frequently cited by physicians in admitting hospitals as a major problem.^{23,24} It is also a predictor of poor care and has been proposed as one of the sentinel health events that should be preventable, given adequate care. As Himmelstein and colleagues note,²⁴ in the absence of documentation in the resident's record of rapid free water loss, dehydration usually indicates inadequate attention to fluid intake. The survey would focus in particular on every physically dependent and severely mentally impaired resident in surveying for dehydration.

Other Examples of Medical, Nursing, and Rehabilitative Care Indicators. Other key indicators of medical and rehabilitative care include the blood pressure of hypertensive residents (because elevated diastolic pressure has been shown to correlate directly with events such as heart attack and stroke), changes in weight, contractures, existence of physical restraints, decline in functional status, and the ability to perform the activities of daily living (ADL).

Nursing and Personal Care. Issues relating to nursing and personal care are very relevant to both quality of care and quality of life experienced by nursing home residents and to their sense of well-being, satisfaction, and mental and social functioning. ²⁶ In their outcome-oriented licensure survey, the Iowa Department of Health utilizes an index of service delivery on 17 nursing and personal care items, involving observation and resident interviews. ^{8,9} When the observations and interviews are completed on all 17 items, a score is constructed to indicate the level and quality for this service. A similar set of items and scoring procedures could be developed for the federal survey. Examples of items include whether residents' hair and nails are clean and neat, whether they are dressed in their own clothing, whether the clothing is clean, and whether residents receive daily oral hygiene. In addition, the surveyors might observe whether call lights and other resident requests for assistance are promptly acknowledged, whether indwelling catheter tubes are clean, and whether catheter tubes and bags touch the floor.

Mental Status. While the elderly in nursing homes suffer from mental disorders that affect younger persons (for example, schizophrenia, neuroses), the two most frequent diagnoses among nursing home residents are depression and intellectual impairment (organic brain syndrome, confusional states, dementia).²⁷ In the case of depression, the elderly are just as responsive to psychiatric treatment as younger people.²⁸ Depression, demoralization, and social isolation have been measured and associated with social functioning,²⁶ physical health status, premature mortality,²⁹⁻³² and activity levels.³³ Thus, greater attention should be paid to mental health aspects of care, including appropriate assessment and management techniques for mental and behavioral problems, and specialized activities programs?

One possible indicator of quality in this domain is appropriate use of medications for this population, particularly for residents with depression. Some measures of resident satisfaction (discussed below) may also capture important elements of mental status, particularly depression, demoralization, and social isolation.

There is substantial evidence that environmental circumstances of older persons have an influence on personal well-being. 34,35 For example, environments that foster autonomy, integration, and personalized care promote higher morale, life satisfaction, and better adjustment. 36,37 Some of the measures of facility-level capacity and performance, such as availability and appropriateness of activities, and some of the residents' satisfaction items, will be relevant to this domain of quality.

Diet, Nutrition, and Food Service. Diet, nutrition, and food service are especially important to quality of care and life for residents of a nursing home. Therapeutic diets, for instance, are vital to the physical health status of some residents (for example, those with conditions such as hypertension and diabetes). Adequate nutrition is essential to the physical health status of all residents. Residents with functional impairments may require assistance in eating or special utensils. Without such needed assistance, the quality of the diet or

menu is meaningless, since such residents may not, in effect, "receive" the food they require and the facility provides. Finally, the quality of the food—whether it is warm when served, well seasoned, and whether residents have some choice in their menus—has been found to be a major element of their rating of the "quality" of a facility.^{38,39} As Rosalie Kane observes,⁴⁰ "Most people sit down to meals rather than to diets; the criteria for a satisfying meal may not be the same as those for a satisfactory diet, yet both are relevant." A key indicator of food quality, adequacy, and choice could be the proportion of residents not eating their entire meals or residents' personal observations about food quality.

Activities and Social Participation. A variety of activities and choices among activities have been shown to be significant elements of residents' concepts of quality.³⁸ Environmental circumstances, the availability of individualized activities, opportunities for social interaction and participation in activities inside and outside the nursing home that reduce social isolation are associated with improved mental and physical status.^{34-37,40}

Quality of Life. The quality of the living environment, particularly cleanliness and the ability of residents to have personal possessions and furnishings in their rooms, is one of the prime components of residents' concepts of quality. The quality of the living environment is related to the physical safety of residents (for example, in bathrooms) and their health (cleanliness is related to risk of infection). Staff attitudes and treatment of residents also affect quality of life. The dignity with which residents are treated and the friendliness and caring of staff, especially aides, are critical prerequisites to a quality life experience. Opportunities for personal choice in the details of daily life—mealtimes, time to rise and retire, activities, and clothing—can allow residents a small but important measure of control over their surroundings and personal lives and significantly enhance the quality of life in a nursing home.

OPERATIONAL USE OF KEY INDICATORS

The proposed standard survey relies on key indicators to determine whether a facility is providing high quality, moderate but acceptable quality, or potentially poor quality of care and quality of life. Taken together, the indicators must therefore discriminate among the degrees of quality. And the "pass/fail" score for each must be developed. For facilities failing the key indicators in the standard survey, a full or partial extended survey will be conducted, more fully to investigate whether there are care or life deficiencies and the reasons for them.

Following is a brief illustrative list of possible key indicators in various domains of quality of care and life and the types of follow-up investigation that would be required in the extended survey.

Nursing Care. Key Indicator: A given percentage of residents with weight loss of 5 pounds within 30 days (source of data: medical records and observations of residents). In the extended survey, the procedures would include examining records for acceptable reasons for weight loss (diagnosis of cancer, obesity, recent physical activity level changes), examining the current dietary program (caloric intake), observing residents for treatable conditions (poor or missing teeth, depression), observing meal presentation (temperature and taste of food), observing and interviewing residents regarding eating habits, need for assistive devices or staff assistance, food preferences, and investigating nursing staff levels and policies regarding food supplementation and nursing assistance in eating.

Key Indicator: A given proportion of residents with urinary tract infections associated with indwelling catheters (source of data: medical records). The extended survey procedures would include interviewing nursing staff and examining nursing procedures regarding fluid administration; investigating nursing staff levels; and investigating physician oversight of residents' care.

Key Indicator: A given percentage of residents physically restrained (source of data: observation of residents, medical records). In the extended survey, surveyors would investigate reasons for restraints to

determine justification from medical records and staff interviews; investigate quality of care for restrained residents by observing positioning, release, and exercising of residents (from medical record reviews and staff interviews); and investigate nursing staff levels and nursing procedures.

Mental Status. Key Indicator: A given percentage of mentally unimpaired residents with depression (source of data: resident mental status interviews and medical records). The extended survey would encompass investigating the causes (physical disability, drugs, dissatisfaction with quality of care or life); and determining whether depression has been diagnosed and noted in the record and whether a plan of treatment has been formulated and is being carried out.

Medical Care. Key Indicator: Number of medications per resident exceeding a threshold level (source of data: medical records, resident interviews, and observation of medication administration). The extended survey would entail review of medical records and care planning procedures to determine whether medications are reconsidered monthly; review of drug interactions; investigation of the adequacy of pharmacy review; investigation of the extent of Medical Director involvement in the drug prescription process; investigation of nursing procedures regarding physician contacts; investigation of nursing oversight of medication complications; and investigation of the adequacy of care planning.

Dietary Service. Key Indicator: Are a given percentage of residents eating most of the food served? (Source of data: observation of meal service.) The extended survey would investigate nursing staff levels; investigate availability of assistive devices; investigate whether residents not eating are missing teeth or have other dental or medical problems impeding eating; interview residents as to whether they are given an opportunity to make choices and express preferences for food; and investigate excessive and rigid use of therapeutic diets.

Quality of Life. Key Indicator: Do a given percentage of residents report having friends among the staff? (Source of data: resident interviews.) The

extended survey would investigate whether resident isolation has been identified and recorded in medical record and review care plan to determine if it is being addressed, and investigate staff training by interviewing staff and examining training procedures.

Key Indicator: Do a given percentage of resident rooms have personal memorabilia, rugs, curtains, pictures, plants? (Source of data: observation.) The extended survey would involve interviews with residents to determine why rooms lack personalization, and interviews with staff and the administrator. Facility policies regarding personal possessions in rooms would also be reviewed.

NOTES

- Mathematica Policy Research. January 1985. Evaluation of the State Demonstrations in Nursing Home Quality Assurance Processes. Final Report to the Health Care Financing Administration.
- Ray, W. A., C. F. Federspiel, and W. Schaffner. 1980. A Study of Anti-Psychotic Drug Use in Nursing Homes: Epidemiological Evidence Suggesting Misuse. *American Journal of Public Health* 70(May):485-491.
- Virginia Joint Legislative Audit and Review Commission. March 28, 1978. Long-Term Care in Virginia. The Virginia General Assembly. Richmond.
- Howard, J. 1977. Medication Procedure in a Nursing Home: Abuse of PRN Orders. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 25:83-84.
- U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. July 1975. Long-Term Care Facility Improvement Study: Introductory Report. Office of Nursing Home Affairs. Washington, D.C.
- 6. Kalchtaler, T., E. Caccaro, and S. Lichtiger. 1977. Incidence of Poly-Pharmacy in a Long-Term Care Facility. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 25:308-313.
- Requarth, C. H. 1979. Medication Usage and Interaction in the Long-Term Care Elderly. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing* 5(March-April):33-37.

8. Lee, Y. S., and S. Braun. 1981. Health Care for the Elderly: Designing a Data System for Quality Assurance. *Computers, Environment, and Urban Systems* 6(Spring):49-82.

- Lee, Y. S. 1984. Performance of Intermediate Care Facilities in Iowa: A Preliminary Analysis.
 Performed for the Iowa Department of Health, Division of Health Facilities [or Nursing
 Homes and Quality of Health Care: The First Year of Results of an Outcome-Oriented
 Survey. Journal of Health and Human Resource Administration 7(Summer):32-60].
- Bisenius, M. F. 1984. Quality of Health Care in Iowa Nursing Homes: Results from the ICF Outcome-Oriented Survey, December 1, 1982 - November 20, 1983. Iowa State Department of Health, Division of Health Services, Des Moines.
- Zawadski, R. T., G. B. Glazer, and E. Lurie. 1978. Psychotropic Drug Use Among Institutionalized and Noninstitutionalized Medicaid Aged in California. *Journal of Gerontology* 33(November):825-834.
- Simpson, W. 1984. Medications and the Elderly: A Guide for Promoting Proper Use. Rockville, Maryland: Aspen Systems.
- Michoki, R. J., and P. P. Lamy. 1976. The Care of Decubitus Ulcers Pressure Sores. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 245(May):217-224.
- Michoki, R. J., and P. P. Lamy. 1976. The Problem of Pressure Sores in a Nursing Home Population: Statistical Data. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 24(July):323-328.
- 15. Shanks, N., et. al. 1983. Evaluation of the Reimbursement Provisions of Amended Substitute House Bill 176. A Report to the Ohio Department of Public Welfare. Center for Health Services Research, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center. Denver.
- Zimmer, J. G. 1979. Medical Care Evaluation Studies in Long-Term Care Facilities. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 27:62-72.
- Garibaldi, R. A., Brodine, S., and S. Matsumiya. 1981. Infections in Nursing Homes: Policies, Prevalence, and Problems. New England Journal of Medicine 305(September):731-735.

 Ouslander, J. G., and R. L. Kane. 1984. The Costs of Urinary Incontinence in Nursing Homes. *Medical Care* 22(January):69-79.

- Ouslander, J. G., R. L. Kane, and I. B. Abrass. 1982. Urinary Incontinence in Elderly Nursing Home Patients. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 248:1194.
- Irvine, P. W., N. Van Buren, and K. Crossley. 1984. Causes for Hospitalization of Nursing Home Residents: The Role of Infection. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 32 (February): 103-107.
- Platt, R., B. F. Polk, B. Murdock, and B. Rosner. 1980. Mortality Associated with Nosocomial Urinary-Tract Infection. New England Journal of Medicine 307:637.
- Miller, M. B. 1975. Iatrogenic and Nursigenic Effects of Prolonged Immobilization of the Ill Aged. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 23(August):360-369.
- Illinois Department of Public Health and Medicus Systems Corporation. November 1976.
 Regulatory Use of a Quality Evaluation System for Long-Term Care. Final report to U.S.
 Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Contract No. HSM 110-73-499.
- Himmelstein, D. U., A. A. Jones, and S. Woolhandler. 1983. Hypernatremic Dehydration in Nursing Home Patients: An Indicator of Neglect. Journal of the *American Geriatrics Society* (August).
- 25. Helen Smits, personal communication, 1984.
- 26. Gurland, B., L. Dean, and P. Cross. 1983. The Effects of Depression on Individual Social Functioning in the Elderly. In L. Breslau and M. Haug (eds.), *Depression in the Elderly:* Causes, Care, and Consequences. New York: Springer Publications.
- Brody, E. M., M. P. Lawton, and B. Liebowitz. 1984. Senile Dementia: Public Policy and Adequate Institutional Care. American Journal of Public Health 74(December):1381-1383.
- Zimmer, J. G., N. Watson, and A. Treat. 1984. Behavioral Problems among Patients in Skilled Nursing Facilities. American Journal of Public Health 74:1118-1121.

files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be authoritative version for attribution print version of this publication as the from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed been accidentally inserted. Please use the retained, and some typographic errors may have

APPENDIX E 388

 Cohen, G. D. 1977. Approach to the Geriatric Patient. Medical Clinics of North America 61 (4):855-866.

- Anderson, N., and L. Stone. 1969. Nursing Homes Research and Public Policy. The Gerontologist 9:214-218.
- Greenfield, S., N. Solomon, R. Brook, and A. Davies-Avery. 1978. Development of Outcome Criteria and Standards to Assess the Quality of Care for Patients with Osteoarthritis. *Journal of Chronic Diseases* 31:375-388.
- 32. Keeler, E., R. Kane, and D. Solomon. 1981. Short-and Long-Term Residents of Nursing Homes. *Medical Care* 19(March):363-370.
- Larson, R. 1978. Thirty Years of Research on the Subjective Well-Being of Older Americans. *Journal of Gerontology* 33:109-125.
- Lawton, M. 1980. Residential Quality and Residential Satisfaction Among the Elderly. Research on Aging 2:309-328.
- Lawton, M. 1982. Competence, Environmental Pressure, and the Adaptation of Older People. In M. Lawton, P. Windley, and T. Byerts (eds.), Aging and the Environment: Theoretical Approaches. New York: Springer.
- Kahana, E., J. Liang, and B. J. Felton. 1980. Alternative Models of Person-Environment Fit:
 Prediction of Morale in Three Homes for the Aged. *Journal of Gerontology* 35 (July):584-595.
- Noelker, L., and Z. Harel. 1978. Predictors of Well-Being and Survival among Institutionalized Aged. The Gerontologist 19:562-567.
- 38. National Citizens' Coalition for Nursing Home Reform. 1985. A Consumer Perspective on Quality Care: The Residents' Point of View. Washington, D.C.
- 39. DiBernardis, J., and D. Gitlin. November 1979. Identifying and Assessing Quality Care in Long-Term Care Facilities in Montana. Report to the Department of Social Rehabilitation Services, State of Montana, under contract no. 80-070-0016. Center of Gerontology, Montana State University. Bozeman.
- Kane, R. 1981. Assuring Quality of Care and Quality of Life in Long-Term Care. Quality Review Bulletin 7(October):3-10.

GLOSSARY 389

Glossary

Accredited a hospital accredited by the Joint Commission on the Accreditation of

Facility: Hospitals (JCAH) or the American Osteopathic Association (AOA), or a

SNF, ICF, or HHA accredited by the JCAH.

Activities of basic self-care activities, including eating, bathing, dressing, transferring **Daily Liv-** from bed to chair, bowel and bladder control, and independent ambulation, **ing (ADL):** which are widely used as a basis for assessing individual functional status.

Acute Care: medical care designed to treat or cure disease or injury, usually within a

limited time period. Acute care usually refers to physician and/or hospital

services whose duration is less than 3 months.

Adult Day- social and health services provided for physically or mentally impaired

Care: individuals in a nonresidential, day-care setting.

Aged: persons aged 65 and over.

Age- the rate of occurrence of an event (for example, death, marriage, birth,

Specific illness) for a specified age group in a population.

Rate:

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

from the original paper book, not from the

files created

from XML

Aging of the increasing proportion in the total population of older (age 65 and over)

the Popula- relative to younger (less than age 65) persons. It is generally

tion:

GLOSSARY

measured in percentage distribution by age group, but also measured in median age, the age at which 50 percent of the population is older and 50

percent is younger.

390

A-Key Defi- violations of certain Conditions of Participation that were identified as ciencies: being of primary importance by the HCFA in 1981. Violations of these conditions were, at that time, considered more serious than the remaining,

or B-level, deficiencies. Allowable costs of operating a facility, which are reimbursable by the state under the Costs: state Medicaid program.

Alzheimer's the most common form of dementia, an organic brain disease leading to Disease: progressive loss of brain function and eventual death. The cause is unknown and there is no effective standard medical treatment.

Annual the process of inspecting a health care facility for compliance with state licensing regulations and/or Federal Conditions and Standards of **Survey:** Participation.

Assessment testing instruments or procedures to measure and evaluate. In long-term **Technology:** care, instruments or procedures used to measure the physical, mental, and social functioning of individuals.

Assistive a tool, prosthesis, or adaptive equipment that helps an individual **Device:** compensate for certain functional impairments, such as a hearing aid for hearing loss, glasses for vision loss, a cane to aid walking, or a universal cuff for difficulty in eating.

Average the average amount spent by a state for each Medicaid long-term-care Per Diem resident each day. **State Rates:**

Bed-Fast. a condition in which one is confined to bed and not able to walk, sit, or **Bed-Bound:** move about independently.

Bed-tothe number of beds certified for a specific health care service to every 1,000 Population persons in the group intended to use the service. For example, the number Ratio: of SNF beds per 1,000 persons aged 65 and over.

Nurse:

nurse or practical

GLOSSARY	391
Board and Care Homes:	nonmedical facilities that Provide room and board and some degree of protective supervision on a 24-hour basis. Examples include adult foster homes, group homes, larger residential care facilities, and retirement homes.
Case Mix:	the combination of diagnoses, medical care, and social care needs present in the population of a health care facility.
Case-Mix Payments:	a reimbursement system based on the principle that payment for services should take into account the illness level of the resident. Each resident is assessed at some standard time interval and receives services appropriate to those determined needs. The <i>case mix model</i> develops an average patient profile for each facility. The state then pays that average rate for all Medicaid residents in that facility. The <i>case mix system model</i> establishes a rate for each patient which is determined at each assessment.
Categorically Needy:	under Medicaid, categorically needy cases are aged, blind, or disabled individuals or families and children who are otherwise eligible for Medicaid and who meet financial eligibility requirements for Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC), Supplemental Security Income (SSI), or an optional state supplement.
Ceiling, Cap:	highest allowable cost payable by the state under the state Medicaid program.
Certificate of Need (CON):	a certification made by the state under P.L. No. 92-641 that determines that a certain health service is needed and authorizes a specific operator, at the operator's request, to provide that service.
Certifica- tion for Medicaid:	the survey's determination regarding a Medicaid provider's compliance with health and safety requirements.
Certifica- tion for Medicare:	a recommendation made by the state survey agency to the federal agency regarding the compliance of providers with the Conditions of Participation and Conditions of Coverage.
Charge	a person who is (1) licensed by the state in which practicing as a registered

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

GLOSSARY 392

> (vocational) nurse who (a) is a graduate of a state-approved school of practical (vocational) nursing, or (b) has 2 years of appropriate experience following licensure by waiver as a practical (vocational) nurse, and has achieved a satisfactory grade on a proficiency examination approved by the state's Secretary of Health, or on a state licensure examination which the Secretary finds at least equivalent to the proficiency examination (such determinations of proficiency do not apply with respect to persons initially licensed by a state or seeking initial qualifications as a practical (vocational) nurse after December 31, 1977); and (2) is experienced in nursing service administration and supervision in areas such as rehabilitative or geriatric nursing, or acquires such preparation through formal staff development programs.

Charges:

the dollar rates that a provider of the services places on the services provided. The provider's cost and charges are not necessarily identical, because the charge may also contain a handling and/or profit rate.

Chronic **Condition:**

a physical or mental illness or disorder characterized by a long duration (usually more than 3 months) or frequent recurrence.

Class-Based or Flat-Rate Reimbursement **Systems:**

rates set statewide or for groups of facilities in a particular state, based on the cost history of the entire group. The state may determine groups by geographic regions, size, ownership status, or any other characteristics it chooses.

Cohort:

a population group that shares a common property, characteristic, or event, such as a year of birth or year of marriage. The most common cohort is the "birth cohort," a group of individuals born within a defined time period, usually a calendar year or a 5-year interval.

Visit:

Complaint a brief visit made by the state survey agency to a health care facility in response to a complaint made about the facility to the agency.

tion:

Conditions the regulatory criteria, as outlined in 42 CFR 405.1122 and the following, of Participa- by which a state survey agency determines whether a skilled nursing facility is eligible to participate in the

GLOSSARY

Ratio:

tion:

pervisor:

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

Medicare or Medicaid program. Conditions are composed of a number of items (standards), which may be composed of several additional items (elements). Standards and elements are intended to explicate Conditions.

393

Cost: actual expenses incurred for inputs. For example, the cost of nursing home care includes direct costs such as staff salary, facility, equipment, supplies, and indirect costs such as mortgage, general and administrative fees, and cost of capital.

Cost-toa constant used by researchers and policymakers to calculate the charges or Charge cost of a given input when only partial or incomplete charge or cost figures are readily available.

Decertifica- the process of suspending or revoking a health care facility's certification to tion or participate in the Medicare and/or Medicaid programs. Termina-

Decubitus a break in the surface of the skin that appears in areas under pressure in Ulcer, Dereclining or sitting because of a circulatory defect in the area under cubiti: pressure. Also called bed sores, pressure sores. Deficienthe designation a surveyor makes on finding a facility out of compliance

with Conditions and Standards of Participation. cies: the loss of intellectual mental function, due to many different acute and Dementia:

chronic diseases, including Alzheimer's disease, which may affect the white matter and blood supply of the cerebrum.

a familial constitutional disorder of carbohydrate metabolism that is Diabetes **Mellitus:** characterized by inadequate secretion or utilization of insulin, by excessive amounts of sugar in the blood and urine, and by thirst, hunger, and loss of weight.

Diagnosisa classification system that groups patients according to diagnosis, type of Related treatment, age, and other relevant criteria. In October 1983, Medicare Groups instituted a prospective reimbursement system based on 467 DRGs. Under this system, hospitals are paid a set fee for treating patients in a single DRG (DRGs): category, regardless of the actual cost of care for the individual.

a person who (1) is a qualified dietician; or (2) is a graduate of a dietetic

from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

GLOSSARY 394

technician or dietetic assistant training program (corresponding or classroom), approved by the American Dietetic Association; or (3) is a graduate of a state-approved course that provided 90 or more hours of classroom instruction in food service supervision and has experience as a supervisor in a health care institution with consultation from a dietician; or (4) has training and experience in food service supervision and management in a military service.

Dietician: a person who (1) is eligible for registration by the American Dietetic

Association under its requirements in effect on January 17, 1974; or (2) has a baccalaureate degree with major studies in food and nutrition, dietetics, or food service management, has 1 year of supervisory experience in the dietetic service of a health care institution, and participates annually in

continuing dietetic education.

Director of a registered nurse who is licensed by the state in which practicing, and has
 Nursing 1 year of additional education or experience in such areas as rehabilitative
 Services: or geriatric nursing, and participates annually in continuing nursing

education.

Disability: the inability to perform an activity in the manner or in the range considered

normal because of physical or mental impairment.

Discharge: a formal release from a hospital or a skilled nursing facility (SNF).

Discharges include persons who died during their stay, or were transferred

to another facility.

Distinct a nursing home which is certified by the state agency to provide both **Part Facili-** skilled and intermediate care in separate designated areas of the facility. **ty:**

Drug Ad- an act in which a single dose of a prescribed drug is given to a patient by an **ministration:** authorized person in accordance with all laws and regulations governing

such acts. The complete act of administration entails removing an individual dose from a previously dispensed, properly labeled container (including a unit dose container), verifying it with the physician's orders, giving the individual dose to the proper patient, and promptly recordingthe time and dose given.

vices:

GLOSSARY 395

Drugs and substances included (or approved for inclusion) in the United States Biologicals: Pharmacopoeia, the National Formulary, or the United States Homeopathic Pharmacopoeia, or in New Drugs or Accepted Dental Remedies (except for any drugs and biologicals unfavorably evaluated therein), or as approved by the pharmacy and drug therapeutics committee (or equivalent committee) of the medical staff of the hospital furnishing such drugs and biologicals for

Dually Cer- a nursing home which is certified by the state agency to provide both tified Facili-skilled and intermediate care in all areas of the facility. tv:

use in such hospital.

Elements: regulatory certification requirements which explicate standards and conditions of participation. See Conditions of Participation and Standards of Participation.

Expendiunder Medicaid, an amount paid out by a state agency for the covered medical expenses of eligible participants. ture: Extended

items and services furnished to an inpatient of a skilled nursing facility Care Serincluding (1) nursing care provided by or under the supervision of a registered professional nurse; (2) bed and board in connection with the furnishing of such nursing care; (3) physical, occupational, or speech therapy furnished by the skilled nursing facility or by others under arrangements with them made by the facility; (4) medical social services; (5) such drugs, biologicals, supplies, appliances, and equipment furnished for use in the skilled nursing facility, as are ordinarily furnished by such facility for the care and treatment of inpatients; (6) medical services provided by an intern or resident-in-training of a hospital with which the facility has in effect a transfer agreement, under a teaching program of such hospital, and other diagnostic or therapeutic services provided by a hospital with which the facility has such an agreement in effect; and (7) such other

> services necessary to the health of the patients as are generally provided by skilled nursing facilities; excluding, however, any item or service if

GLOSSARY

Extended

Rates:

Heavy-

etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from the original paper book, not from files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

396

it would not be included if furnished to an inpatient of a hospital. a comprehensive survey requiring surveyor to review all conditions, standards, and elements, and to interview a large number of residents.

Survey: standards, and elements, and to interview a large number of resired rates set for each facility based on that facility's cost history.

Specific
Reimbursement

Follow-up a brief return visit made by the state survey agency to a health care facility Visit: within 90 days of an annual survey in order to determine a facility's progress on correcting violations found by the survey agency during the annual survey.

Functional the inability to attend to one's own needs, including the basic activities of **Depen-** daily living. Dependence may result from the changes that accompany natural aging, or from a disease or related pathological condition.

Functional inability to perform basic self-care functions such as eating, dressing, and Impair- bathing, or instrumental activities of daily living, including home management activities such as cooking, shopping, or cleaning, because of a physical, mental, or emotional condition.

Handicap: a disadvantage resulting from a physical or mental impairment or disability that limits or prevents the fulfillment of a role that is normal (for that

individual) in a given environment.

residents of skilled or intermediate care facilities who require a great deal

Care Resion of attention for medical care, nursing care, and/or assistance with activities of daily living. Bed-fast or severely demented residents are examples of heavy-care residents.

Home Care: medical, social, and supportive services provided in the home, usually intended to maintain independent functioning and avoid institutionalization.

Home a public or private organization providing skilled nursing services, other therapeutic services and other assisting services in the patient's home, and which meets certain conditions to ensure the health and safety of the (HHA): individuals who receive the services.

397

Hospitala designated area of a hospital certified by the state to provide skilled and/ **Based** or intermediate care.

Facility:

GLOSSARY

Impaira physical or mental abnormality that can be readily identified or diagnosed. ment:

Indepensee Inspection of Care.

dent Professional Review:

of Care:

Input Mea- examination of resources, activities, or tools used to provide a service in surement: order to determine the quality of service provided.

Inspection a regular program of medical review (including medical evaluation) by one or more medical review teams (composed of physicians or registered nurses and other appropriate health and social service personnel) to determine (1) the care being provided in nursing facilities; (2) the adequacy of the services available in particular nursing facilities (or institutions) to meet the current health needs and promote the maximum physical well-being of patients receiving care in the home (or institution); (3) the necessity and desirability of the continued placement of patients in the nursing home (or institution); and (4) the feasibility of meeting the patient's health care needs through alternative institutional or noninstitutional services.

Instrumen- home management and independent living activities such as cooking, tal Activicleaning, using a telephone, shopping, doing laundry, providing ties of Daily transportation, and managing money.

Living (IADL):

Intermedian institution furnishing health-related care and services to individuals who ate Care do not require the degree of care provided by hospitals or skilled nursing **Facility** facilities as defined under Title XIX (Medicaid) of the Social Security Act. (ICF):

Intermedi- penalties short of termination of a facility's Medicaid or Medicare contract, ate Sancwhich are imposed by states against health care facilities found out of compliance with state or federal regulations. tions:

Key Indica- measures of quality of care and quality of life which focus on care given to tors: residents, the results (outcome) of such care, and the manner (process)

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from from the original paper book, not files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

in which the care is given, for example, use of certain drugs, and incidence of infections and decubiti.

398

Level of Care:

GLOSSARY

the amount of medical care and assistance with activities of daily living needed by individuals in a group. Traditionally, level of care refers to the SNF and ICF groups.

Licensed Nursing Personnel: registered nurses or practical (vocational) nurses licensed by the state in which they practice.

Life Care/ munities:

communities that provide a range of services for elderly residents, **Continuing** including homes or apartments for independent living, home care services, Care Com- infirmary, and sometimes nursing home services. Payment of an initial membership or entrance fee and a monthly fee guarantees the individual

Life Expectancy: **Life Safety** regulatory criteria used by the state health agency or fire marshall to Code

most types of health and social services for the rest of his/her life. a measure of the average remaining years of life at specified ages for different subgroups (for example, by sex and race) of a population.

determine whether a physical plant is structurally safe and adequately (LSC), Fire prepared against fire. Safety

Code:

ers:

Long Stay- nursing home residents who are no longer able to live outside of institutions and who generally reside in nursing homes for many months or years, often until they die.

Care:

Long-Term a variety of ongoing health and social services provided for individuals who need assistance on a continuing basis because of physical or mental disability. Services can be provided in an institution, the home, or the community, and include informal services provided by family or friends as well as formal services provided by professionals or agencies.

Long-Term- any skilled nursing facility, intermediate care facility, nursing home, adult Care Facili- care home, or similar institution regulated by a state.

tv:

Medicaid:

a federal/state program, authorized by Title XIX of the Social Security Act, to provide medical care for low-income individuals. Federal regulations specify mandated services, but states can determine optional

GLOSSARY

services and eligibility standards. The federal government's share of costs

399

ranges from 50 to 78 percent and is based on per capita income in the state. state reimbursement systems in which a facility's costs are reimbursed after Medicaid the expenditure. Each state may have different allowable costs and ceilings, Retrospective Reimand may vary costs by factors such as region or size of facility. bursement

Systems: Medically

Needy:

under Medicaid, medically needy cases are aged, blind, or disabled individuals or families and children who are otherwise eligible for Medicaid, and whose income resources are above the limits for eligibility as categorically needy (AFDC or SSI) but because of their medical problem are considered within limits set under the Medicaid state plan.

Medicare: a federally funded health insurance program authorized by Title XVIII of the Social Security Act to pay for medical care for elderly and disabled beneficiaries. Medicare reimburses part of the costs for acute care and some types of long-term care. Beneficiaries pay an annual deductible and copayments for most covered services. The program is divided into two sections: Part A, which covers hospital and inpatient physicians' services, and an optional Part B, which covers outpatient physician and some other

outpatient services.

Medicare a uniform federal payment system that is based on a facility's costs for **Cost-Based** providing that service. Reim-

bursement:

Medicare a data base system operated by the Health Care Financing Administration Medicaid to collect data from state survey agencies on certification activities. Automated Certifica-

tion System (MMACS):

Nurse-Bed the number of full-time equivalent nursing personnel to the number of beds. Ratio: The ratio can be presented at the facility, local, state, regional, or national

Nurse's ing Aide, Nursing Assistant:

people who, under the supervision of a licensed nurse, provide medical care Aide, Nurs- and assistance with activities of daily living to residents, and who are not themselves licensed to independently provide care.

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution files created from the original paper book, not from from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

GLOSSARY 400 Nursing a residential long-term-care facility that provides 24-hour care, skilled Home: nursing care, and personal care on an inpatient basis. The definition of a nursing home varies by state. Nursing services provided under the direction or supervision of one or more Services: registered nurses or licensed practical or vocational nurses. Ombudsa state representative or a representative of a public agency or a private nonprofit organization (which is not responsible for licensing or certifying man: long-term care services) who (1) investigates and resolves complaints made

nonprofit organization (which is not responsible for licensing or certifying long-term care services) who (1) investigates and resolves complaints made by or on behalf of older individuals who are residents of long-term-care facilities relating to administrative action that may adversely affect the health, safety, welfare, and rights of such residents; (2) monitors the development and implementation of federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and policies with respect to long-term-care facilities in that state; (3) provides information as appropriate to public agencies regarding the problems of older individuals residing in long-term-care facilities; (4) provides for training volunteers and promotes the development of citizen organizations to participate in the ombudsman program; and (5) carries out such other activities as the State Health Commissioner deems appropriate.

Outcome Measurement: Out-ofexamination of the results of a service in order to determine the quality of the service provided.

Pocket Expendiamounts not covered by any third-party payor that must be paid directly by the consumers, out of their own pockets.

Expenditures:

Patient As- a standard resident assessment system developed and used by a private sessment nursing home chain, the National Health Corporation, located in Computer- Murfreesboro, Tennessee.

ized (PAC) System:

Patient Care and Services a new survey protocol developed by the Health Care Financing Administration.

(PaCS):
Patient

Care Profile: a standard resident assessment system developed by Mr. William Thoms, a nursing home administrator in New Hampshire. It is now being used by

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from the original paper book, not from files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

GLOSSARY 401

the Hillhaven Corporation, a national nursing home chain.

the dollar amount that is transferred on behalf of the recipient from one or **Payment:** more agents to the provider of the service.

Physicians' professional services performed by physicians, including surgery,

Services: consultation, and home, office and institutional calls.

Plan of the form by which a facility documents its procedures and time frame for

Correction: correcting violations of certification regulations cited by the state survey

agency.

the examination of methods of providing a service in order to evaluate the **Process**

Measurequality of the service provided. ment:

Profession- a physician or other professional medical organization (consisting of al Standards

physicians and other health professionals with independent admitting hospital privileges) that enter into an agreement with the U.S. Department **Review Or-** of Health and Human Services to assume the responsibility for the review

ganization of the quality and appropriateness of services covered by Medicare, (PSRO): Medicaid, and the Maternal and Child Health program. PSROs determine whether services are medically necessary, provided in accordance with

professional standards, and, in the case of institutional services, rendered in the appropriate setting.

Prospective systems in which the day rate or line item rate is set beforehand, based on a Reim-

formula that takes into account historical expenditures. Typically these **bursement** systems are adjusted annually and use an inflation or similar factor as the Systems: basis for future adjustment.

tion:

Rehabilita- social or medical care designed to restore patients to their former capacity or to a condition of health or independent activity. a standard method of grouping nursing home residents in accordance with

Resource Utilization Groups (RUGS):

the services they require (and, therefore, with the staff and other resources needed to supply those services).

retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from from the original paper book, not files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

GLOSSARY 402

tive Reim-

Retrospec- systems in which the amount of reimbursement is based on the cost of the services already provided. These amounts are usually controlled or limited **bursement** by a cap, a ceiling, or percent of actual costs incurred.

Systems: Risk Fac-

tors:

characteristics, behaviors, substances, or environmental and other factors that are statistically associated with an increased likelihood of developing a

ers:

given condition. Short Stay- nursing home residents who generally come from hospitals and wil be

Skilled Nursing **Facility** (SNF):

discharged home or will die in a very short time.

defined by the federal government as an institution that has a transfer agreement with one or more participating hospitals, and that is primarily engaged in providing to inpatients skilled nursing care and rehabilitative services, and that meets specific regulatory certification requirements.

Social Worker:

a person who is licensed, if applicable, by the state in which practicing, is a graduate of a school of social work accredited or approved by the Council on Social Work Education, and has 1 year of social work experience in a health care setting.

Spend-Down:

under the Medicaid program, a method by which an individual establishes Medicaid eligibility by reducing gross income through incurring medical expenses until net income (after medical expenses) meets Medicaid financial requirements. A resident spends down when she/he is no longer

sufficiently covered by a third-party payor (usually Medicare) and has exhausted all personal assets. The resident then becomes eligible for Medicaid coverage.

Standard Survey:

a semiannual inspection based on review of a facility's performance with regard to key indicators and interviews with a stratified sample of residents. the regulatory criteria, as outlined in 42 CFR 442.300 and the following, by

Standards tion:

of Participa- which a state survey agency determines whether an intermediate care facility is eligible to participate in the Medicaid

GLOSSARY

(SSI):

nence:

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution from the original paper book, not from files created from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

program. Standards are composed of elements. See also Conditions of Participation.

403

State Plan: a comprehensive written commitment by a Medicaid agency to administer

or supervise the administration of a Medicaid program in accordance with federal requirements.

State Sur- the state health agency or other appropriate state or local agency that **vey Agency:** performs survey and review functions for Medicare and Medicaid.

Substate a representative of the state ombudsman who performs ombudsman responsibilities in a given area of the state. See also Ombudsman. man:

Supplemen- a program of income support for low-income aged, blind, and disabled **tal Security** persons, established by Title XVI of the Social Security Act. **Income**

Supplemen-
tary Medi-
cal Insur-
ance (SMI):a voluntary insurance program (also known as Medicare Part B) that
provides insurance benefits for physician and other medical services in
accordance with the provisions of Title XVIII of the Social Security Act,
for aged and disabled individuals who elect to enroll under such program.
The program is financed by premium payments by enrollees, and

Swing-Beds: beds located in a hospital that are certified by the state for use by patients in need of acute or skilled care.

contributions from funds appropriated by the federal government.

Title III of federal legislation that provides funding to states for development and the Older coordination of services for the elderly. The Administration on Aging allocates Title III funds to states primarily on the basis of the proportion of each state's population aged 60 and over.

24-Hour services for which nursing personnel are on duty 24 hours a day. The term **Nursing** "nursing personnel" includes registered nurses and licensed practical or

Services: vocational nurses.

Urinary inability to control urinary function. **Inconti-**

Utilization a review, on a sample or other basis, of admissions to the institution, the **Review:** duration of stays

duration of stays

GLOSSARY 404

therein, and the professional services (including drugs and biologicals) furnished, to determine the medical necessity of the services and the most efficient use of available health facilities and services. It is made by either a staff committee of the institution composed of two or more physicians with or without participation of other professional personnel, or by a group outside the institution that is similarly composed and that is established by the local medical society and some or all of the hospitals and skilled nursing facilities in the locality, or (if there has not been established such a group serving such institution) that is established in such other manner as may be approved by the state's Secretary of Health.

Waivers:

exemption from meeting a particular regulatory requirement. Waivers for certification requirements may be given by states to facilities. Waivers for program requirements may be given by the federal government to states.

from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

from the original paper book, not from the etained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot from XML files created About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed

DRG

HSQB

Acronyms and Initialisms

AAA	- Area Agency on Aging
AAHA	- American Association of Homes for the Aging

AARP - American Association of Retired Persons

ADL - Activities of Daily Living

AHCA - American Health Care Association

AoA - Administration on Aging

ASHFLCD Association of State Health Facility Licensing

Certification Directors

GAO - U.S. General Accounting Office

HCFA - Health Care Financing Administration (U.S. Department of

Health and Human Services)

- Diagnosis-Related Group

HEW - U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare

HHA - Home Health Agency

HHS - U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

> - Health Standards Quality Bureau (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Care

Administration)

ICF - Intermediate Care Facility

IOC - Inspection of Care

IOM - Institute of Medicine ACRONYMS AND INITIALISMS

IPR - Independent Professional Review

JCAH - Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospitals

MMACS - Medicare Medicaid Automated Certification System

NCCNHR - National Citizen's Coalition for Nursing Home Reform

NCHS - National Center for Health Statistics

NIA - National Institute on Aging

NNHS - National Nursing Home Survey

OAA - Older Americans Act

ONHA - Office of Nursing Home Affairs

ORD - Office of Research and Development (U.S. - Department of

Health and Human Services, Health Care Financing

406

Administration)

OTA - Office of Technology Assessment (U.S. Congress)

PRO - Professional Standards Review Organization

SNF - Skilled Nursing Facility

SSA - Social Security Administration

SSI - Supplemental Security Income

UR - Utilization Review

VA - U.S. Veterans Administration

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

INDEX 407

Index

Access to residents and records, 31, 81, 173-174, 180 Accreditation, 1, 185 Activities of daily living assistance in, 8, 9, 47, 48 distribution of dependencies in, 372 Administration proposed Condition of Participation on, 29-31, 81, 88-89 of regulations, 6 Administration on Aging, 42, 174, 185 Admissions authority to ban, 164 suspension of, 165-166 Alzheimer's disease, 58, 92, 197 American Academy of Family Practice, 4 American National Standards Institute, Standard 55-1981, 31-32 American Nurses Association, Division of Gerontological Nursing, 187 Antidiscrimination legislation, 94. See also Medicaid, discrimination Automatic cancellation clause, 151, 157-158 B Barthel Index, 57 Bed supply control of, 5, 17, 18 policy, 23, 43-44, 190, 199 Beds demand, 10, 23, 196-197	per 1,000 population, 199, 361 per licensed nurse, 102, 362 totals during 1975-1983 by state, 360 Bedsores, see Decubitus ulcers Beverly Enterprises, 187 Board and care homes, 8 Board of Internal Medicine, 4 C Care conferences, notification, 30 Case mix referencing in survey protocols, 110, 115-118, 191 reimbursement systems, 66, 92 staffing according to, 102 stratification, 131 use for measuring outcomes, 63-64 Certificates of need, 189 Certification "distinct part," 94 expenditures, 169 federal-state role relationships, 38, 104 of geriatric competence, 4 requirements, 32 state resources committed to, 315 temporary, 156 Certification regulations conceptual basis, 71 costs of revision, 247 dissatisfaction with, 70 distinction between SNFs and ICFs, 69 HCFA requirement to modify, 15 post-1974 efforts to rayise, 245
Medicare and Medicaid, 9 notification of lapse of hold period, 28 occupancy rates, 199	post-1974 efforts to revise, 245 proposed, 247 proposed changes in, 25-32, 206-207

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution accidentally inserted. Please use the retained, and some typographic errors may have

purpose of, 6 verification, 321-322 state views on, 325-327 Council of State Governments, 240 Charge nurses, nursing home duties of, 101. See also Nurses Data collection Civil fines, 166 improvements needed in, 22 Cognitive function testing, 59, 116 instruments, 56 Cognitive impairment, 84 on surveys, 37 Commission on Chronic Illness, 239 Day-care centers, 8 Complaint investigation, 34, 105, 108, 121, Decertification 124-125, 138 appeals of, 159-160 Comprehensive Assessment and Referral Evalgrounds for, 149, 156-157 uation Instrument, 59 invocation, 13, 104 Conditions of participation need for, 154 administration (proposed), 29-31, 81, 88-89 of SNFs, 78 dental services, 280 voluntary, 157 dietetic services, 83, 275-276 Decubitus ulcers, 62, 80, 84, 116-119, 121, disaster preparedness, 29, 290 379 federal, state, and local regulatory compli-Dehydration, 84, 118, 119, 121, 380 ance, 254-255 Demographic trends, 10, 17, 196-197 governing body and management, 29, 31, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 95. 255-269 lawsuit against, 16 improvements needed in, 22, 77-98 Depression, 49 infection control, 289-290 Deregulation of nursing homes, 4 laboratory and radiological services, 29, Directors of nursing, nursing home duties of, 279-280 101-102 medical direction, 29, 269-270 Domiciliary care, 8 medical records, 29, 282-284 nurse's aide training, 29, 81 nursing services, 79-80, 83, 271-275 Elderly, cause of functional impairments in, 52 patient activities, 282-284 Employment estimates for nursing and personal pharmaceutical services, 278-279 care facilities, 10 physical environment, 285-289 Enforcement physical services, 270-271 attitudes and, 13, 147-149 proposed, 80-81 data availability, 170 resident assessment, 25-26 federal funding of, 169-170 residents' rights, 27-29, 81 formal, initiation of, 153 skilled nursing facility, 26-27, 77-80 goal of, 148 social services, 32, 83, 99, 281-282 inadequacies, 146-147 specialized rehabilitation services, 276-278 laxity, 7 transfer agreement, 29, 284-285 legal staff for, 322 utilization review, 29, 290-297 policies, improvements needed in, 22, vagueness in, 79-80 147-149 Congregate care, 8 of residents' rights, 85 Consultants to nursing homes, 150 state variations in, 40, 241, 321-325 Consultation, guidelines needed on, 154 written guidelines for, 323 Consumer advocates Enforcement procedures concerns, 7 detailed, 154 effectiveness of, 41 federal, 150-161 lack of, 5 state, 162-169 role, 19-20, 173-183 Expenditures, nursing home care, 10 Consumer protection, 173, 178 Extended care facilities (ECFs) Contractures, 84, 118, 119, 121 federal standards for, 14 Correction plans funding of, 241 content, 152 problems, 241 duration and number, 154 See also Nursing homes evaluation of, 150 Extended survey federal criteria for, 152 basis, 115, 123, 383 guidelines needed on, 154 finding followed by sanctions, 154 noncompliance with, 152 triggering, 120-123 revision of, 154-155 See also Surveys state review procedures for, 152

Intellectual impairment/behavioral problem F assessment, 58-60 Federal funding Intermediate care facilities (ICFs) enforcement activities, 169-170 accreditation, 1 OAA payments, 239 certification regulations, 14, 69-74 ombudsman programs, 41, 179 cost of elimination of, 212 state survey and certification activities, 36 development of regulations for, 244 state survey agencies, 132-135 establishment, 242 Federal regulation of nursing homes, history of, failing to meet conditions, 149 238-253 Medicaid reimbursement rates for, 72, 367 Financial information, nursing home care, 18-19 number and percentage by state, 72, 357 Free market, see Deregulation of nursing homes regulatory requirements, 9 Functional competency/impairment assessment, resident-days of care reimbursed, 368 57-58 See also Nursing homes G Intermediate care facility standard administration, 297-305 Geriatric Mental Status Schedule, 59 Geriatrics, importance of, 3, 186 current, 297-314 Gerontology, nurses' training in, 101, 186-187 environmental and safety, 306-308 health services, 310-312 meal service, 308-309 Health Care Financing Administration medications, 309-310 expenditures for state survey activities, physician services, 314 133-135, 373 rehabilitative services, 312-313 hearing and appeal procedures, 159 safety, 305-306 look-behind authority, 138-139 social services, 313 monitoring staff and responsibilities, 137-140 Intermediate care services, standards for facilirequirement to modify federal certification ties providing, 314 regulations, 15 Health insurance coverage for nursing home care, 17 Joint Commission on Accreditation of Hospi-Hill-Burton tals, 1, 185-186 fire and health standards, 13, 240 hospital construction program, 238 Katz Index of Activities of Daily Living, 57 Hill-Burton Act, 239 Kenny Self-Care Evaluation, 57 Hillhaven Corporation, 65, 187 Kerr-Mills Act, 239 Home health services, 8 Key indicators of resident care Hospitals providing ICF services, standards for, dietary, 381-382 314 environmental, 114, 382 Hyperthermia, 97 examples of, 378-382 Hypothermia, 97 operational use of, 383-385 use in surveys, 34, 64, 113-116, 118-120 Incentives, good nursing home performance, L 35, 126-127, 188-189 Licensed practical nurses in nursing homes, 73, Index of Activities of Daily Living, 48 101-103 Infections, 84, 118, 121, 379 Life expectancies, 370 Information reporting requirements, 17 Life safety code Inspections deficiencies, 245 food, 33 inspections, 33 life safety code, 33 Linn's Rapid Disability Scale, 57 number of, 133 Long-term care nursing home, 1, 104 demonstration projects, 200 state resources committed to, 315 financing, 199 Inspections of care types, 8 current requirements, 105 Long-Term Care Ombudsman Program, 20 integration with survey, 38, 211 Long-term-care services regulations governing, 141 alternatives to, 197 review frequency, 140 available in 1985, 8 Intellectual impairment, 49

community-based, 5 state activities, 105 for disabled elderly, 8 Montana resident classification scheme, 64 home-based, 5 National Center for Health Statistics surveys, Malnutrition, 84, 115, 121 19, 192 Management Minutes System, 65 National Citizens' Coalition for Nursing Home Medicaid Reform study on care quality, 51-52 advent of, 241-245 National Committee on Vital and Health Statisbeds, number of, 9 tics, 192 discrimination, 29, 30, 81, 91-95. National Health Corporation, 65, 187 See also Antidiscrimination legislation National League for Nursing, 187 eligibility, 5, 18, 75, 104, 190 National Summary of State Nursing Home expenditures for nursing home care, 194 Ombudsmen Reports for the United fraud unit, 125 States, 92 funds, allocation of, 245 New York State Department of Health, caselegislation, amendments, 14 mix reimbursement system, 65-66 program, sanctions under, 165 Noncompliance surveillance program, 141 extended survey for, 122 termination, 154-157 history of, 156 utilization control program, 141 Notification of resident transfer or discharge, Medicaid budgets 28-29, 81, 95-96 federal contributions to, 194 Nurses growth control, 5, 18, 23, 198, 367 number of licensed, 362 nursing home duties of, 73 increases, 74 Medicaid matching funds ratio of RNs to LPNs in 1981, 362 reduction of, 139 shortage of, 74 withholding from states, 37, 38 training in gerontology, 101, 186-187 Medicaid payments wages, 101 facilities not receiving, 9, 78 See also Charge nurses; to nursing homes, 5 Licensed practical nurses; policies, see Medicaid reimbursement, policies Registered nurses suspension for new admissions, 13, 158-161 Nurse's aides Medicaid Provider Agreement, 30 importance, 52 Medicaid reimbursement problems, 11, 101 policies, 17, 18, 22-23, 43, 193-196 training, 29, 30, 73, 81, 89-91, 366 rates, 6, 17, 57, 72, 76, 92-93, 198 turnover rate, 11, 73, 90, 101 Medicaid statutes wages, 101 amendment, 39-40 Nursing duty imposed on Secretary of HHS by, 16 care indicators, 380 Medical Assistance for the Aged, 239 hours per resident-day, state minimum, 365 Medical care indicators, 380 labor assessment, 65 Medical records access, 28-29, 173-174 time requirements, 65, 200 Medicare Nursing home care advent of, 241-245 alternatives to, 23, 199-200 beds, number of, 9 conflicts of values and ethics in, 52-53 budgets for certification, 133 cost assessments, 65-66 certification, federal funding for, 133 expenditures, 10 eligibility, 75 goals, 48 participation in 1966-1967, 148 high-quality, requirements for providing, payments, facilities not receiving, 9 Medicare and Medicaid acts, passage of, 240 inadequacies in, 21 Medications, as key indicators of resident care, need for, 197 378-379 payment for, 17 Mental depression, 116 Nursing home compliance Mental Status Ouestionnaire, 59 determinations, 107 Mini-Mental State Examination, 59 with federal standards, 14 Nursing home costs Monitoring nursing home performance, 12, 32-38, 75, for resident assessment system, 212 104-145 reduction measures, 10, 194 outcomes, 64 Nursing home industry

growth, 7, 238
professionalism in, 185-188
Nursing home regulation
activities, survey of, 318 federal role, 12, 142-145
goals, 2
history, 13
improving effectiveness, 191
resident-centered, outcome-oriented, 27
state role, 12, 142-145
state/federal role restructuring, 142-145
strengthening government role, 21-22
Nursing home service
needs assessments, 65-66
use and cost predictions, 57
Nursing homes
access problems, 92, 195
accreditation, 1
administrators, professionalism of, 186 admission eligibility criteria, 72-73, 198
A-key deficiencies by state, 377
attributes of quality in, 45-50
authority to close, 167-168
basis for certifying, 243
bed demand, 10, 196-197
bed supply, 5, 197-200
certification, post-survey phase, 151-152
chains, quality assurance programs of, 187
characteristics, lack of information on, 18
choosing, 5, 6
chronic problems, 149
chronically out of compliance, 146
community involvement in, 19-20, 171, 184-185
consumer involvement in, 171
compliance determinations, 107
compliance with federal standards, 14
construction, 190, 239
deficiencies, correction of, 153
deregulation, 4
distinctions between ICFs and SNFs, 71-74
elimination of distinctions between types, 25
expenditures, 239
fire, 242
food, 51
food poisoning in, 242
for-profit percentage, 10, 194 goals of federal regulation, 67-68
government-owned and -operated percentage
10
health professional school ties with, 186
history of federal regulation, 238-253
information systems, scope and design of,
190-193
inspection and cost reports, 41, 174
LPNs needed in, 363-364
management and staff motivation, 171,
185-189

```
Medicare and Medicaid, 143
 motivation and attitudes of owners, managers,
     and staffs, 20
 national totals by certification status, 355
 nonprofit percentage, 10
 number and percentage by bed size and state,
 number of by certification status and state, 356
 number operating in 1954, 236
 number operating in 1985, 9
 occupancy rates, 5, 190, 201-202
 operations, information collection on, 193
 ownership status by state, 358
 ownership, definition of, 161
 paper reviews of, 144-145
 performance monitoring, 32-38, 104-145
 personalization of rooms, 11
 physical environment in, 31-32, 47-48,
     97-98
 physician roles in, 186
 poor vs. good quality, 11
 populations, 5, 8, 9
 problems, 2, 242
 recertification, 147, 149
 regulated types, 9, 71
 resurvey of, 34
 revenues from Medicaid, 5
 rooms, single vs. multiple occupancy, 44
 social services, 31
 staff turnover, 112, 173
 staff-to-resident ratios, 54
 staffing, 10, 32, 44, 49-50, 72-74, 80,
     98-103, 173, 190, 200-201
 standard for certification of, 147-148
 standards, state variations in, 241
 state differences in licensing criteria, 72
 state inspection of, 1
 substandard, 148
 survey agency consultation with, 150
 temperatures, 97-98
 time devoted to survey process, 80
 transfer opportunities, 6
 use of resident assessment data, 75
 in violation of Medicaid standards, 243
 withholding federal funds from, 242
 See also Extended care facilities;
 Intermediate care facilities
o
Office of Long-Term Care, 246
Office of Nursing Home Affairs, 14, 244, 245
Old Age Assistance, 238, 239
Older Americans Act, 20, 41, 44, 97,
     175-176, 180, 206
OMB Circular A-122, effect on ombudsman
     program, 42, 180-181
Ombudsman programs
```

```
AoA commitment to, 179
                                                     structural component, 53-54
 constraints, 180
                                                   Quality assurance
  funding of, 179
                                                     components, 12, 60-61, 69-71
 legal support for, 180
                                                     interpreting and using information for, 61-68
 national extent of, 177-178
                                                     programs, nursing home chains, 187
 national leadership for, 42, 179
                                                   Quality of care
 responsibilities, 176-177, 180
                                                     effects of Medicaid reimbursement policies
 state survey agency relationships with, 108,
                                                         on, 23
     182-183
                                                     factors affecting, 17-21, 41-42, 45-50,
                                                         60-61, 171-189
 statutory authority for, 175-176, 179
 strengthening of, 41-42, 179
                                                     incentives to ensure, 188
  written agreements with, 42
                                                     indicators, see Key indicators of resident care
Ombudsmen
                                                     instruments for assessing, 56-60
 access to residents, 31, 96-97, 180
                                                     measurement of, 61-62, 64, 83
 complaint handling by, 177
                                                     process for ensuring, 10
 definition, 177
                                                     standards of reference, 62-63
 lobbying by, 180
                                                   Quality of life
 role, 177, 178
                                                     condition of participation, 27, 79, 81-83
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act, 138, 158
                                                     effects of Medicaid reimbursement policies
Organic brain syndrome, 59
Outcomes
                                                     factors affecting, 41-42, 51-53, 171-189,
 case mix in measuring, 63
                                                         382
 components, 55-56, 74
                                                     process for ensuring, 10
 measurement of care quality, 64, 74-75,
     83-84, 118-120
                                                   Receivership, 166-168
 negative, 84, 114, 121, 122
                                                   Recertification, 147, 149, 155-156
 positive, 84, 114
                                                   Recommendations
Overmedication, 84, 116
                                                     amendment of Medicaid statutes, 39-40,
                                                         155, 168, 205
Paperwork reduction, 89
                                                     amendment of Social Security Act Title XIX,
Patient Appraisal and Care Evaluation, 246
                                                         36, 135
Patient Assessment Computerized system, 65
                                                     changes in federal certification criteria,
Patient Care and Services (PaCS), 130-132
                                                         25-32, 74, 77, 80, 81, 85-89, 91,
                                                         95-98, 204
Patient care management system, 16
                                                     complaint handling, 34, 125
Patient Care Profile, 65
                                                     consolidated 'Administration' condition,
Patient Classification for Long-Term Care, 56,
     249
                                                         29-31, 88-89, 204
Patient classification system, information needs
                                                     cost implications of, 210-212
     of, 56
                                                     data collection and analyses, 37, 137
                                                     elimination of distinctions between SNFs and
Personal care indicators, 380
                                                        ICFs, 25, 74, 204
Philadelphia Geriatric Center Mental Status
     Questionnaire, 59
                                                     elimination of institutional reports, 30, 89,
Physical environment in nursing homes, 31-32,
                                                         204
     81, 97-98
                                                     enforcement, 38, 168, 170, 205-206
Physical restraints, 84, 116, 118, 121
                                                     environmental standards, 31-32, 98-100
Populations
                                                     extended survey for sample of facilities, 36,
  85 and older, 10
                                                     federal funding, 36, 135
 elderly, by state, 369
  over age 75, 10
                                                     federal oversight of survey operations, 37,
Private-pay rates, 94
                                                         38, 139-140
Prognostic adjustment factor, 64
                                                     federal-state certification role relationships,
Provider
                                                         38, 145
 agreement termination, 156-157
                                                     incentives, 35, 127
                                                     integration of inspection of care, 38, 142
 concerns, 7
Psychotropic drugs, 54, 118
                                                     Medicaid discrimination, 30, 95, 204
                                                     Medicare/Medicaid survey and certification
                                                         requirements, 32, 111
Quality assessment criteria
                                                     notification, 30, 96, 204
 outcome component, 55-56
                                                     nurse's aide training, 30, 91
 process component, 54-55
```

original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution

INDEX 413

nursing home inspection and cost reports, 41,	Resident assessment
174	audit, 113-114, 191
nursing home staffing, 32, 100	data computerization, 77, 187, 191-192
ombudsmen, 31, 41-42, 97, 181-183	data system, 25-26, 43, 48, 49, 61-67, 73-77, 84, 102, 119, 128,132, 135,
quality assessment in survey process, 34, 124, 205	191-193, 207-211
quality of life as a condition of participation,	data uses, 75, 115, 119, 191
27, 81, 204	instrument development, 76, 79, 117
resident assessment, 25-26, 77, 204	scores, 115-116
resident interviews, 35, 124	system, cost to nursing home, 212
resident participation in facility decision-	Resident care
making, 31, 96, 204	management system, proposed, 15
resident-centered, outcome-oriented approach	needs, 46-47
to regulation, 27, 85, 204	planning, 49-51, 75
residents' rights as condition of participation,	Resident mix
27-29, 86-88, 204	in SNFs and ICFs, 10
resurvey, 34, 123, 155	optimization, I'/
rewriting of SNF conditions and standards,	Resident participation
26, 80, 204	in advisory and family councils, 29, 87
room occupancy, 44, 202 social services, 31-32, 97-99, 204	in care planning, 51 forms of, 31
strengthening state regulation, 36, 135	in management decision-making, 19-20, 29,
survey development, 35-36, 120, 205	31, 81, 96, 172-173
survey instruments and protocols, 33, 115,	in social, religious, and political activities, 29, 51, 88
survey team staffing, 37, 136	Resident-staff relationships, 11, 52, 173
survey timing, 32-33, 113	Residents
surveyor qualifications, 37, 136	75 and older, 10, 46, 73
surveyor training, 36, 37, 129, 137	85 or older, 10, 196-197
withholding Medicaid matching funds from	ability of to choose among nursing homes, 5
states, 37, 38, 140	abuse, 3, 121, 173
Registered nurses	accidents, notification of, 30
in nursing homes, 101-103	bed-bound, 80, 116, 117
minimum number in nursing homes, 73	characteristics, 46
Regulation, see Federal regulation of nursing	charge assessment, 65
homes, history of; Nursing home regulation	classification instruments, 57-58
Regulations, 6, 7	clinically depressed, 121
combining SNF and ICF requirements, 15	dependencies of in activities of daily living,
HCFA-proposed, 15	differences in social singumentances 46
proposed, 16	differences in social circumstances, 46 disabilities, 5
state, steps to strengthen, 36 state, use of resident assessment data, 75	discharge, 28
See also Certification regulations	financial status, 6
Regulatory changes	functional status, 48-49
opposition to, 2	heavy care, 9, 73, 91-93, 103, 196, 198,
proposed, 1, 2, 16	199, 212
Regulatory costs of recommendations, 211-212	interviews with, 35, 121, 123-124
Regulatory policies affecting quality of care,	lack of information on, 18
17-19	lack of privacy, 51
Regulatory quality assurance goals, 67-68	length of stay, 46-47
Regulatory standards, violations of, 15	Medicaid/Medicare, 17
Regulatory system	mental status, 49, 116-117, 118, 121, 381,
components for quality assurance, 12	384
goals, 12	needs, insensitivity to, 107-108
improvements needed in, 22-23	neglect of, 3, 121, 173
Rehabilitation	non-English speaking, 28 ombudsman access to, 31, 96-97
exercises, 52 services, intensive short-term, 9	outcomes, factors influencing, 55
Rehabilitation Act, 1974 amendments to sec-	physical inactivity of, 84
tion 504, 93	physically dependent, 117, 119, 121
Rehabilitative care indicators, 380	1 J J y,,,

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution retained, and some typographic errors may have

physically independent, 118 decertification of, 78 population, heterogeneous, 8 development of regulations for, 244 private-pay, 5, 17 federal standards for, 14 projected number in 1980-2040, 371 implementation of regulations for, 242 receiving public assistance, 239 Medicaid reimbursement rates for, 72 relocation of from substandard facilities, 322 Medicaid reimbursement rates per residentsatisfaction assessment of, 60 day, 367 number and percentage by state, 72, 357 social activities, 51 spending down by, 5, 19, 93-94 number failing to meet conditions of participastratification, 116 tion, 149 transfer of, 28, 167 providing ICF services, standards for, 314 treatment plan, 48 regulatory requirements, 9, 69-74 resident-days of care reimbursed, 368 under age 65, 8 weight loss in, 119, 120 staffing, 72 Residents' rights use of ECF standards for, 242 language arrangements for non-English Social isolation, 84, 85 speakers, 28, 86 Social Security Act amendment of Title XIX, 36, 135, 204-206 legal, 28, 86 medical and social records, 28, 87 1950 amendments, 238 1956 amendments, 239 notification of transfer, discharge, lapse of bed-hold periods, 28 -29, 86 section 1864, 143-144 standard-setting amendment, 240 sanctions for violations of, 165 standard, elevation to a condition, 15, 27, 81, Title XIX, 133 85-88 Social services, nursing home, 31, 81, 99-100 violations of, 7 Social workers required for nursing facilities, 32 written facility policies, 28, 87 Standard survey written statement of, 28 basis of, 114-115, 123 deficiencies found in, 154 Resource Utilization Groups classification sysprocess, scope of, 33-34 tem, 57, 66 protocol, 131 resident categories, 120 Sanctions scope of, 118, 121 against chronic or repeat violators, 39-40 shorter, 110 appeals of, 159 validity of, 128 application of, 148 See also Surveys factors influencing use, 162, 323-324 Standardized instruments for resident assessfavorably rated, 164, 325 ment, 64, 74 federal, 13, 154, 156 Standards imposition of, 151 ambiguity of, 7 initiation of, 154 improvements needed in, 22 intermediate, 39, 159, 162-169 inadequacies in, 7, 70 number applied in 1983, 162, 323-324 licensure, state variations in, 13, 72-73 number available by state, 322 state regulatory, 319-320 obstacles to successful use, 164 See also Intermediate Care Facility standards; procedures for implementing, 165 Process standards repeat deficiencies, 155 State licensure and certification agencies, surresidents' rights violations, 165 vey of, 315-350 state, 162-168 State regulatory capability, increasing, 132-140 state availability and use, 13, 315 State survey agencies state variation in, 321 activities, expenditures for, 133-135, statutory availability and use, 315 373-374 types, 155-161, 163, 165-168 budgets, state variations in, 318-319 use of prior survey findings in applying, 160 consultation, 150 withholding certificates of need, 189 enforcement procedures and guidelines of, 153 Senile dementia, 49, 58 funding and staffing variations, 109, 375 Skilled nursing facilities (SNFs) HCFA expenditures for, 133-135 accreditation of, 1 performance evaluation, 138 certification regulations, 14 conditions of participation, 26, 77-98, 254-297

authoritative version for attribution original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot files created from the original paper book, not from print version of this publication as from XML About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed accidentally inserted. Please use etained, and some typographic errors may have

INDEX 415

```
relationships with ombudsman programs,
                                                     costs, 135
     108, 182-183
                                                     current requirements, 105
  sanction authority, 322-323
                                                     data sources, 123-124
  staffing, 375
                                                     federal look-behind actions, 13
                                                     follow-up procedures, 112, 149, 150-154
  workloads, 319
Stroke patients, rehabilitation services for, 9
                                                     forms, 70, 130-131
                                                     instruments, 33, 116, 123, 127-128,
Survey agency
                                                         209-210
 personnel, state variations in, 318-319
                                                     intensity of, 107
  sanction application by, 148
  staffs, 40, 107, 109, 169, 211
                                                     of nursing homes and residents, 19
  statement of deficiencies, 151
                                                     of state licensure and certification agencies,
                                                         315-350
Survey instruments
  design, 116-117
                                                     outcome-oriented, 119
                                                     policies, current, 148
  reliability and validity of, 127-128
                                                     predictability of, 106-107, 110
Survey operations
  dissemination of data on, 137
                                                     purpose, 116
                                                     questionnaire, 327-350
  federal oversight of, 37, 104, 138, 149
Survey procedures
                                                     requirements, 32
  consolidation of Medicare and Medicaid, 111
                                                     results, consistency of, 129
 current, 148
                                                     scoring procedures, 109, 122
 development of, 209
                                                     timing and frequency of, 32-33, 106-107,
  state variation in, 320-321
                                                         111-113
                                                     validation, 138
Survey process
 complaint handling in, 34
                                                     visits, 1980 total, 376
 continuing improvement of, 127-129
                                                     See also Extended survey;
 criticism of, 129
                                                     Standard survey
 enforcement problems in, 246
  extended, scope of, 33-34
                                                   U.S. Senate Special Committee on Aging, 14,
  federal requirements for, 15-16
                                                         91, 240
  improvements needed in, 22, 70
                                                   Urinary incontinence, 84, 116, 379
  insensitivity to resident needs, 107-108
                                                   Utilization review, 141-142
 problems with, 105-109
 purpose, 104
 quality assessment in, 34
                                                   Violations
 redesign of, 109-129
                                                     authority to punish, 148
  simplification of, 88
                                                     major, 161
 state variations in, 108
                                                     regulatory standards, 15
  time requirements for nursing homes, 80
                                                     repeat, 160-161
Survey protocols
                                                     residents' rights, 7
  basis, 109
  case-mix referencing in, 110, 115-118
                                                   Well-being
 development, 35, 117
  focus of, 122
                                                     objective, 53
                                                     subjective, 54, 59
 HCFA, 130
 resident-outcome oriented, 131
  short, 114
  testing of, 36, 128
Survey team composition, 37, 136
Surveyors
 attitudes, 150
 authority, 321
 concerns, 79
 judgment, 71, 79-80, 108, 109, 120,
     131-132
 number of, 133, 139
 qualifications, 36, 37, 136
 responsibilities, 150
 roles, 149
 training, 36, 129, 136-137, 152, 169, 170,
     244, 320
Surveys
  after changes in ownership, 112
```

consumer involvement in, 125-126